

Application of pharmacoepidemiological approaches to generate real-world evidence on the use and impact of metastatic colorectal cancer medicines

HAYA MAH'D ASS'AD YASIN B.Sc., M.Sc.

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Strathclyde Institute of Pharmacy and Biomedical Sciences (SIPBS) The University of Strathclyde

Glasgow, UK

August 2023

Declaration

This thesis is the result of the author's original research. It composed by the author and has not been previously submitted for examination which has led to award of the degree.

The copyright of the thesis belongs to the author under the terms of the United Kingdom Copyright Acts as qualified by the University of Strathclyde regulation 3.50. Due acknowledgment must always be made of the use of any material contained in or derived from this thesis.

Signed: Haya Yasin

Date: 18/08/2023

Acknowledgements

"In the name of Allah, the most Gracious, the most Merciful"

First, I wish to thank my supervisors, Professor Marion Bennie, and Dr. Amanj Kurdi for their guidance and support that were critical in helping me navigate the challenges of my research. I am grateful for the time and effort they invested in me, and for the lessons and skills that they imparted.

I would like to thank all CMOP team members for their guidance throughout the project. Special thanks for my colleague, Dr. Tanja Mueller for all the long discussions, feedback, and advice. And for all my colleagues in the office.

To my second family and friends in Glasgow for their support in the most difficult times. A very special thanks to my colleague and sister Fatema for many long talks and discussions.

And finally, a deep appreciation for my family, and my beloved parents. In loving memory of my dear mother, who passed away just before the completion of this thesis. Her unwavering support, encouragement, and belief in my abilities were a constant source of inspiration for me.

Publications and Poster Presentations

- <u>Yasin, H</u>., Kurdi, A., Mueller, T., Clarke, J., Baillie, K., Graham, J., & Bennie, M. (2022). Describing systemic anti-cancer therapy pathways in metastatic colorectal cancer patients using real-world data. Poster presented at the the 25th Annual BOPA Symposium, Liverpool, UK.
- Yasin, H., Kurdi, A., Mueller, T., Weir, N., Mahmoud, F., & Bennie, M. (2022a). Comparative effectiveness and safety of first-line systemic anti-cancer treatments of metastatic colorectal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Paper presented at the the 25th Annual BOPA Symposium, Liverpool, UK.
- Yasin, H., Kurdi, A., Mueller, T., Weir, N., Mahmoud, F., & Bennie, M. (2022b). Comparative effectiveness and safety of first-line systemic anticancer treatments for metastatic colorectal cancer in real-world settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Paper presented at the ICPE conference, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Yasin, H., Kurdi, A., Muller, T., Weir, N., Mahmoud, F., & Bennie, M. (2020). Realworld effectiveness and safety of systemic treatments for metastatic colorectal cancer: A protocol for systematic review and network meta-analysis Poster presented at the EuroDURG, Szeged, Hungary.

Table of Contents

Declaration	1	1
Acknowled	gements	2
Publication	s and Poster Presentations	3
List of Tabl	es	8
List of Figu	res	11
Abstract		14
Thesis sum	mary	15
List of abbr	eviations	19
1 Chap	ter 1: Background	23
1.1	Thesis outline	23
1.2	Colorectal cancer	23
1.2.1	Colorectal cancer epidemiology	23
1.2.2	Anatomy of the colon and rectum	24
1.2.3	, Risk factors and pathogenesis	25
1.2.4	CRC staging.	27
1.2.5	Clinical presentation and diagnosis of CRC.	31
1.2.6	Management of CRC	
1.2.7	Management of metastatic colorectal cancer in Scotland.	
1.3	Real-world data and real-world evidence	41
1.4	Thesis rationale	43
1.5	Thesis methodology overview	45
2 Chap	ter 2: Comparative effectiveness and safety of first-line metastatic colorectal cance	er 47
medicines:	a systematic review and meta-analysis of real-world studies	47
2.1	Introduction	47
22	Methods	48
221	Inclusion and exclusion criteria	49
2.2.1	Systematic search strategy	54
2.2.2	Data extraction	56
2.2.5	Assessment of risk of hias	57
2.2.4	Data synthesis	59
2.2.6	Meta-analysis method	60
2.2	Poculto	71
2.3	Literature coarch outcome	1 / ۲۱
2.3.1 2.2.1	Literature Search Outcome	1 / כד
2.3.2	Clinical characteristics of the studies' participants	د / / ح
2.3.3	Disk of hise regulte	/4 7/
2.3.4	RISK UI DIdS FESUILS	/4
2.3.5 2.3.6	Synthesis of effectiveness and safety outcomes of first-line mCRC medicines Meta-analysis results	90
2.4	Discussion	138

	2.4.1	Summary of the key findings	138
	2.4.2	Overall survival meta-analysis	141
	2.4.3	Progression-free survival meta-analysis	
	2.4.4	Objective response meta-analysis	145
	2.5	Strengths and limitations	
	2.6	Conclusion	
2	Chan	ter 2. Data sources and data management	151
3	Chap	ter 5. Data sources and data management	
	3.1	Introduction	
	3.1.1	Record linkage framework in Scotland	151
	3.1.2	Data governance in Scotland	154
	3.1.3	Safe havens in Scotland	154
	3.1.4	The Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme (CMOP)	155
	3.2	Data sources	155
	3.2.1	Community Health Index (CHI)	155
	3.2.2	Chemotherapy Electronic Prescribing and Administration System (CEPAS)	157
	3.2.3	National Records of Scotland (NRS) – death data	159
	3.2.4	The Scottish Morbidity Records (SMR)	
	3.2.5	Scottish Care Information (SCI) store	
	3.2.6	Elective & emergency operations (OPERA)	
	3.2.7	Radiotherapy treatment records (ARIA)	
	3.2.8	Laboratory information management system (LIMS)	
	3.3	Thesis data overview	
	3.3.1	Socio-demographic information	
	3.3.2	Metastatic colorectal cancer treatment	
	3.3.3	Cancer diagnostic information and tumour-related variables	
	3.3.4	Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters	
	3.3.5	Comorbidities	
	3.4	Data management	
	3.4.1	Data access and governance	
	3.4.2	Data structure and content	
	3.4.3	Data preparation and cleaning	
4	Chap	ter 4: Baseline characteristics of metastatic colorectal cancer patients initiating	g systemic
ar	iti-cancer	therapy in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde	183
	4.1	Introduction	183
	4.2	Methods	
	4.2.1	Study design and cohort identification	
	4.2.2	Data sources and variables	
	4.2.3	Statistical analysis	
	4.3	Results	
	431	Overview of the cohort	191
	4.3.2	Index SACT distribution	193
	4.3.3	Baseline characteristics.	
	4.4	Discussion	199
	<u> </u>	Summary of key findings	199
	<u> </u>	Comparison with literature	
			200
	4.5	Strengths and limitations	
	4.6	Conclusion	

5 Cha anti-cance	pter 5: Factors influencing the selection of first-line metastatic colorectal can er treatments in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde	cer systemic 206
5.1	Introduction	
5.2	Methods	
5.2.	1 Study design and cohort identification	
5.2.	2 Exposures and outcomes	
5.2.	3 Statistical analysis	
5.2.	4 Assumption of multinomial logistic regression model	
5.2.	5 Handling missing data.	212
5.3	Results	
5.3.	1 Overview of the cohort	
5.3.	2 Factors influencing the selection of first-line mCRC SACTs	
5.3.	3 Patients-related factors	
5.3.	4 tumour- related factors	
5.3.	5 Treatment response factors	218
54	Discussion	225
5.4.	1 Summary of the key findings.	
5.4	2 Patient-related factors	226
5.4.	3 Tumour-related factors	
5.4.	4 Treatment response-related factors.	
55	Strengths and limitations	231
5.5		
6.1	Introduction	
6.2	Methods	
6.2.	1 Study design and population	
6.2.	2 Exposure and treatment lines.	235
6.2.	3 Study co-variates.	
6.2.	4 Outcomes	237
6.3	Results	
6.3.	1 Cohort overview	
6.3.	2 Survival analysis	
6.3.	3 Secondary outcomes	
61	Discussion	261
6.4	1 Summary of key findings	261
6.4.	2 Comparison with literature	
6.5	Strengths and limitations	
6.6	Conclusion	
7 Cha	pter 7: General discussion	271
71	Key findings	271
7.1	1 Baseline characteristics of mCRC natients in NHS GGC	271 271
7.1.	 Treatment pathways and factors influencing the selection of first-line mC 272 	RC SACTs.
7.1.	3 Treatment outcomes for mCRC patients	274

7.5	Implications of the thesis	
7.3	1 Implications for policymakers	279
7.3	2 Implications for practice	
7.4	Future work and recommendations for conducting further research	
7.5	Final conclusion	
		200
8 Kei	erences	280
9 Apj	endices	322
Appen	dix I	
Appen	dix II	
Appen	dix II	
Appen	dix III	
	dix IV	
Appen		
Appen Appen	dix V	
	dix IV	

List of Tables

TABLE 1.1 COLORECTAL CANCER STAGING ACCORDING TO THE AMERICAN JOINT COMMITTEE ON CANCER (AJCC) (ADAPTED FROM THE AMERICAN CANCER) (WEISER, 2018).29
TABLE 1.2 MEDICINES USED FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF MCRC, THEIR MECHANISM OF ACTION AND MOST COMMON SEVERE ADVERSE EFFECTS
TABLE 2.1: RECIST VERSION 1.0 AND RECIST VERSION 1.1 CRITERIA
TABLE 2.2: EXTRACTION FORM ITEMS. 56
TABLE 2.3: TYPES OF DOMAINS AND BIASES WITHIN ROBINS-I 58
TABLE 2.4: EXAMPLE OF THE OUTCOME DATA PAIRS GENERATED FROM WEBPLOTDIGITIZER
TABLE 2.5: DESCRIPTION OF THE OUTCOMES OF THE 29 STUDIES INCLUDED IN SYNTHESISING THE POOLED ESTIMATES USING META-ANALYSES APPROACH.81
TABLE 2.6 ADDITIONAL EFFECT SIZES GENERATED BY THE STUDIES AND INCLUDED IN SEPARATE MA.
TABLE 2.7: MODERATOR ANALYSIS OF STUDY CHARACTERISTICS VARIABLES FOR THE OVERALL SURVIVAL META-ANALYSIS. 96
TABLE 2.8: MODERATOR ANALYSIS OF THE CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PARTICIPANTS FOR THE OVERALL SURVIVAL META-ANALYSIS 98
TABLE 2.9 MODERATOR ANALYSIS OF STUDY CHARACTERISTICS VARIABLES FOR THE PROGRESSION- FREE SURVIVAL META-ANALYSIS. 108
TABLE 2.10. MODERATOR ANALYSIS OF THE CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PARTICIPANTS FOR THE PROGRESSION-FREE SURVIVAL META-ANALYSIS.109
TABLE 3.1. THE SCOTTISH REGIONAL HEALTH BOARDS
TABLE 3.2. RENAMING SACT REGIMEN DURING THE ANALYSIS. 170
TABLE 3.3. TREATMENT CATEGORISATION BASED ON SACT INTENSITY. 171
TABLE 3.4. EXAMPLES OF OPCS-4 CODES AND THEIR CORRESPONDING DESCRIPTIONS 172
TABLE 3.5. THE ECOG PS (ADOPTED FROM (OKEN ET AL., 1982)). 174
TABLE 3.6. REFERENCE RANGES FOR INFLAMMATORY BIOMARKERS AND BLOOD CELL COUNT PARAMETER VARIABLES
TABLE 3.7. WEIGHTS AND ICD-10 CODES USED TO CALCULATE CHARLSON COMORBIDITY INDEX (QUAN ET AL., 2005)
TABLE 3.8. EXAMPLES FOR CONVERTING DATA TO THE APPROPRIATE TYPE
TABLE 4.1. STUDY POPULATION INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA

TABLE 4.2 SUMMARY OF THE DATASETS USED IN THE STUDY	39
TABLE 4.3. VARIABLES USED TO DESCRIBE THE BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS OF MCRC PATIENTS AND	ID
THE CODING METHOD	90
TABLE 4. 4 TREATMENT DISTRIBUTION FOR PATIENTS IN NHS GREATER GLASGOW AND CLYDE HEALT	.н
BOARD INITIATING SYSTEMIC ANTI-CANCER TREATMENTS FOR METASTATIC COLORECTA	4Г
CANCER BETWEEN 2015 AND 2016 (N=220)	ЭЗ
TABLE 4.5 BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS FOR THE MCRC PATIENTS INITIATING SACT IN NHS GREATE	ER
GLASGOW AND CLYDE BETWEEN 2015 AND 2016, OVERALL AND STRATIFIED BY SACT (N=220))*
	96
TABLE 5.1 SUMMARY OF THE VARIABLES SELECTED IN THE STUDY TO EVALUATE THE ASSOCIATION	N
BETWEEN THE SELECTION OF FIRST-LINE MCRC SACT AND PATIENT, TUMOUR, AND TREATMEN	NT
RESPONSE FACTORS	10
TABLE 5.2 THE NUMBER AND FREQUENCY OF MISSING IN DATA FOR VARIABLES INCLUDED IN TH	НЕ
STUDY	14
TABLE 5.3 CANDIDATE VARIABLES CONSIDERED IN THE UNIVARIATE MULTINOMIAL LOGISTI	IC
REGRESSION MODEL FOR THE FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SELECTION OF FIRST-LINE MCR	{C
SACS AND THEIR P-VALUES	19
TABLE 5.4 ASSOCIATION OF BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS WITH THE SELECTION OF MCRC SACTS USING MULTIVARIATE MULTINOMIAL LOGISTIC REGRESSION MODELS	G 21
TABLE 5.5 THE MULTIVARIATE MULTINOMIAL LOGISTIC REGRESSION MODEL AFTER ACCOUNTING FO)R
MISSING IN DATA BY PERFORMING THE LAST OBSERVATION CARRIED FORWARD AND MULTIPL	LE
IMPUTATIONS OF THE MISSING DATA	23
TABLE 5.6 THE SQUARED VARIANCE INFLATED FACTORS FOR THE MULTICOLLINEARITY ASSUMPTION)N
OF THE PRIMARY MULTINOMIAL LOGISTIC REGRESSION MODEL	24
TABLE 6.1. SUMMARY OF THE VARIABLES SELECTED IN THE COX MODEL TO EVALUATE THEI	IR
ASSOCIATION WITH THE MEDIAN OS WITH THE APPLIED CODING METHOD	36
TABLE 6.2 THE NUMBER AND FREQUENCY OF MISSING DATA FOR INFLAMMATORY BIOMARKERS AN	ID
BLOOD CELL COUNT PARAMETERS VARIABLES USED IN SURVIVAL ANALYSIS	12
TABLE 6.3 OVERALL SURVIVAL AND SURVIVAL PROBABILITY FOR NEW MCRC SACT USERS STRATIFIED	:D
BY SACT REGIMEN	15
TABLE 6.4 CANDIDATE VARIABLES CONSIDERED IN THE UNIVARIATE COX REGRESSION FOR TH OVERALL SURVIVAL. 24	1E 19
TABLE 6.5. ASSOCIATION OF BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS WITH OVERALL SURVIVAL USING MULTIVARIATE COX-PROPORTIONAL HAZARDS MODELS 25	IG 52
TABLE 6.6. THE COX REGRESSION MODEL AFTER ACCOUNTING FOR MISSING IN DATA BY PERFORMING	IG
MULTIPLE IMPUTATIONS AND LAST OBSERVATION CARRIED FORWARD METHODS	54
TABLE 6.7. THE NUMBER AND FREQUENCY OF THE MOST COMMON PATHWAYS FOR NEW MCRC SAC	CT
USERS IN THE STUDY (N=220)	58

E PATIENTS CONTINUING	PATHWAYS FOR THE	SACT	WITH	ASSOCIATED	e median os	6.8.	TABLE
				ECOND-LINE	RST-LINE TO SE	ROM	F
						~ ~ ¬	

TABLE 6.9. TIME FROM FIRST LINE SACT TO SECOND-LINE SACT FOR NEW MCRC SACT USERS (N=220).

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1 THE ANATOMY OF THE COLON AND RECTUM
FIGURE 1.2. MAPK SIGNALLING PATHWAY IN COLORECTAL CANCER (ADAPTED FROM (BOS, 1989)). 27
FIGURE 1.3 TREATMENTS APPROVED IN SCOTLAND FOR UNRESECTABLE METASTATIC COLORECTAL CANCER SINCE 2008
FIGURE 2.1 THE PROCESS OF USING ROBINS-I TOOL (ADOPTED FROM (SCHUNEMANN ET AL., 2019).
FIGURE 2.2 COMPUTATION OF RELATIVE RISK AND THE NATURAL LOGARITHM OF VARIANCE
FIGURE 2.3: FLOW CHART OF SCREENING PROCESS TO IDENTIFY RELEVANT STUDIES
FIGURE 2.4 WEIGHT BAR RISK OF BIAS PLOT OF THE 29 ELIGIBLE STUDIES USING THE COCHRANE ROBINS-I TOOL
FIGURE 2.5 RISK OF BIAS TRAFFIC LIGHT PLOT FOR THE 29 ELIGIBLE STUDIES USING THE COCHRANE ROBINS-I TOOL
FIGURE 2.6: FOREST PLOT OF OVERALL SURVIVAL OF FIRST-LINE SACTS FOR MCRC, STRATIFIED BY THE FOUR FIRST LINE SACT GROUPS
FIGURE 2.7: FOREST PLOT FOR OVERALL SURVIVAL OF FIRST-LINE BEVACIZUMAB COMBINATIONS WITH CHEMOTHERAPY
FIGURE 2.8: FUNNEL PLOT OF THE OVERALL SURVIVAL ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF FIRST-LINE MCRC SACTS
FIGURE 2.9: HISTOGRAM OF OVERALL SURVIVAL DATA FOR OUTLIERS' DISTRIBUTION
FIGURE 2.10: INFLUENTIAL OBSERVATIONS OF OVERALL SURVIVAL DATA BY COOK'S DISTANCE 101
FIGURE 2.11 TRIM AND-FILL FUNNEL PLOT FOR ALL INCLUDED STUDIES IN THE OVERALL SURVIVAL META-ANALYSIS
FIGURE 2.12 TRIM AND-FILL FUNNEL PLOT FOR STUDIES INCLUDED IN OVERALL SURVIVAL META- ANALYSIS AFTER ELIMINATING OUTLIERS
FIGURE 2.13 FOREST PLOT OF PROGRESSION-FREE SURVIVAL OF FIRST-LINE SACTS FOR MCRC 105
FIGURE 2.14: FOREST PLOT FOR PROGRESSION- FREE SURVIVAL OF FIRST-LINE BEVACIZUMAB COMBINATIONS WITH CHEMOTHERAPY
FIGURE 2.15: FUNNEL PLOT OF THE PROGRESSION FREE SURVIVAL ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF FIRST-LINE MCRC SACTS
FIGURE 2.16: HISTOGRAM OF PROGRESSION-FREE SURVIVAL DATA FOR OUTLIERS' DISTRIBUTION. 111

FIGURE 2.17: INFLUENTIAL OBSERVATIONS OF PROGRESSION-FREE SURVIVAL DATA BY COOK'S DISTANCE
FIGURE 2.18: FOREST PLOT OF THE OVERALL RESPONSE OF FIRST-LINE SACTS FOR MCRC
FIGURE 2.19. FOREST PLOT FOR THE OVERALL RESPONSE RATE OF FIRST-LINE BEVACIZUMAB COMBINATIONS WITH CHEMOTHERAPY
FIGURE 2.20: FUNNEL PLOT OF THE OVERALL RESPONSE RATE ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF FIRST- LINE MCRC SACTS
FIGURE 2.21: HISTOGRAM OF OVERALL RESPONSE RATE DATA FOR OUTLIERS' DISTRIBUTION 117
FIGURE 2.22: INFLUENTIAL OBSERVATIONS OF OVERALL RESPONSE RATE DATA BY COOK'S DISTANCE.
FIGURE 2.23 TRIM AND-FILL FUNNEL PLOT FOR ALL INCLUDED STUDIES IN THE OVERALL RESPONSE RATE META- ANALYSIS
FIGURE 2.24 TRIM AND-FILL FUNNEL PLOT FOR STUDIES INCLUDED IN OVERALL RESPONSE RATE AFTER ELIMINATING OUTLIERS
FIGURE 2.25: FOREST PLOT OF DISEASE CONTROL RATE OF FIRST-LINE SACTS FOR MCRC
FIGURE 2.26 FOREST PLOT FOR THE DISEASE CONTROL RATE OF FIRST-LINE BEVACIZUMAB COMBINATIONS WITH CHEMOTHERAPY
FIGURE 2.27: FUNNEL PLOT OF THE DISEASE CONTROL RATE ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF FIRST- LINE MCRC SACTS
FIGURE 2.28: HISTOGRAM OF DISEASE CONTROL RATE DATA FOR OUTLIERS' DISTRIBUTION
FIGURE 2.29: INFLUENTIAL OBSERVATIONS OF DISEASE CONTROL RATE DATA BY COOK'S DISTANCE.
FIGURE 2.30. FOREST PLOT OF HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITIES OF FIRST-LINE SACTS FOR MCRC 126
FIGURE 2.31. FOREST PLOT FOR THE HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITIES OF FIRST-LINE BEVACIZUMAB COMBINATIONS WITH CHEMOTHERAPY
FIGURE 2.32: FUNNEL PLOT OF THE HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF FIRST-LINE MCRC SACTS
FIGURE 2.33. HISTOGRAM OF HAFMATOLOGICAL TOXICITY DATA FOR OUTUERS' DISTRIBUTION 130
FIGURE 2.34: INFLUENTIAL OBSERVATIONS OF THE HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITY DATA BY COOK'S DISTANCE
FIGURE 2.34: INFLUENTIAL OBSERVATIONS OF THE HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITY DATA BY COOK'S DISTANCE

FIGURE 2.37: FUNNEL PLOT OF THE NON-HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF FIRST-LINE MCRC SACTS
FIGURE 2.38: HISTOGRAM OF THE NON-HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITY DATA FOR OUTLIERS' DISTRIBUTION
FIGURE 2.39: INFLUENTIAL OBSERVATIONS OF THE NON- HAEMATOLOGICAL TOXICITY DATA BY COOK'S DISTANCE
FIGURE 3.1. CHI LINKABLE SCOTTISH HEALTH RECORDS
FIGURE 3.2. EXAMPLES OF EXPOSURE RE-CODING WHERE TREATMENTS WERE MERGED INTO THE SAME LINE
FIGURE 3.3. EXAMPLES OF EXPOSURE RE-CODING WHERE A NEW LINE OF THERAPY WAS INITIATED.
FIGURE 3.4 PREPARATION AND CLEANING OF THE DATASETS USED IN THIS THESIS
FIGURE 4.1. THE STUDY TIMELINE
FIGURE 4.2. COHORT SELECTION CRITERIA FLOWCHART FOR MCRC PATIENTS IN NHS GGC INITIATING SYSTEMIC ANTI-CANCER TREATMENTS FOR METASTATIC COLORECTAL CANCER BETWEEN 2015 AND 2016
FIGURE 5.1. WOSCAN RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF MCRC IN THE 1L SETTINGS AS GUIDED BY THE NATIONAL SIGN 126 GUIDELINE
FIGURE 6.1 KAPLAN-MEIER CURVE SHOWING OVERALL SURVIVAL FOR THE STUDY COHORT FROM INDEX SACT DATE (N=220)
FIGURE 6.2 KAPLAN-MEIER SURVIVAL CURVES SHOWING OVERALL SURVIVAL FOR THE INDEX SACT FOR THE NEW MCRC SACT USERS (N=218) *
FIGURE 6.3. SANKEY DIAGRAM SHOWING THE SACT PATHWAYS FOR NEW MCRC SACT USERS FROM

Abstract

Introduction: Metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) is characterised by multiple treatment strategies. Randomised clinical trials are not always aligned with clinical practice, and greater use of real-world (RW) studies has been suggested to inform health care decisions by providing results that reflect RW practice.

Methods: This thesis utilised multiple methods. First, a systematic review and meta-analyses (SRMA) of RW studies including mCRC patients treated with first-line (1L) systemic anticancer therapy (SACT) was conducted to explore the comparative safety and effectiveness, including overall survival (OS), progression free survival (PFS) and objective response of 1L mCRC SACTs. Second, a retrospective observational cohort study using linkage of routinely collected data of mCRC patients treated with 1L SACT in NHS GGC from 01/01/2015 to 31/12/2016 was performed to investigate the factors influencing selection of 1L mCRC SACTs, treatment pathways, and treatment outcomes including median OS (mOS) and time-to-next-treatment (TTNT) of mCRC patients.

Results: Between 2015 and 2016, A total of 220 new mCRC SACT users were identified in NHS GGC, with 52.3% (N=115) of the patients treated with a doublet of FOLFOX or FOLFIRI, 22.3% (N=49) with 5FU, 19.5% (N=43) with cetuximab+FOLFIRI, and 5% (N=11) of patients treated initially with aflibercept+FOLFIRI. Treatment choices for 1L mCRC were made based on patients' age and gender, tumour RAS status, and previous treatment response.

The median overall survival (mOS) for these patients was statistically influenced by the initial mCRC SACT and the performance status. The combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI demonstrated a statistically significant prolonged mOS compared to 5FU (HR 0.4 (95% CI 0.24-0.85) and the longest time to next treatment (TTNT (12.93 months (95%CI 5.85-15.25)). The SRMA also indicated an OS, PFS, and overall response rate benefit for bevacizumab+chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone with a statistically increased risk of non-haematological toxicities and a non-statistically significant increased risk for haematological toxicity.

Conclusions: Real-world evidence can help understand the impact of mCRC SACT on evidence-based practice.

Thesis summary

Introduction: Colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the most common cancers worldwide and the second leading cause of cancer-related death. Approximately 40-50% of all CRC patients will develop metastatic CRC (mCRC). mCRC is characterised by multiple treatment strategies, and the last two decades have witnessed major advances in the management of mCRC, accompanied by a global change in clinical management guidelines (CMGs), which present challenges for clinicians in deciding the optimal treatment plan for their patients.

Despite the fact that randomised controlled trials (RCTs) are considered to be the gold standard for evidence-based practice, it is now widely accepted by health bodies that evidence-based practice should embrace other sources such as electronic health records and other sources of real-world evidence (RWE). Consequently, RWE is currently used to provide complementary evidence to RCTs to inform regulatory decisions and develop CMGs. Generating evidence about how patients may respond to treatments in routine clinical practice enables patients and clinicians to make better-informed treatment decisions.

Aims and objectives: The aim of this thesis was to increase evidence generation from clinical practice regarding the use of first-line mCRC medicines in real-world settings to better inform clinical decisions and optimise clinical outcomes among mCRC patients treated in a real-world setting. The objectives were: to compare the effectiveness and safety of first-line mCRC medicines in observational studies; to describe the characteristics of mCRC patients initiating first-line mCRC SACT in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde health board (NHS GGC) in Scotland; to examine the factors associated with the prescribing of first-line mCRC SACTs in patients treated in NHS GGC, and; to determine the clinical outcomes and treatment pathways of first-line SACT regimens for mCRC patients in NHS GGC.

Methods: First, a systematic review and meta-analysis (SRMA) was conducted. Relevant databases were searched from inception until July 2021. Inclusion criteria were observational studies; published in English; patients \geq 18 years; mCRC; first-line SACT for treatment of mCRC. No restrictions were placed on the country of publication. The effectiveness outcomes included overall survival (OS), the primary outcome, progression-free survival (PFS), and objective response, which was assessed by the overall response rate (ORR) and disease control rate (DCR). Safety was assessed by the occurrence of grade 3 or 4 adverse effects based on the national cancer institute common terminology criteria for adverse events (NCI

CTCAE). The results were synthesised using a random-effect meta-analysis model based on hazard ratio and 95% confidence interval (95% CI) for survival outcomes, while risk ratio and 95% CI was used for safety outcome and objective response. Subgroup analysis was performed to explore differences between different treatment strategies. Heterogeneity was assessed using I².

Second, a retrospective observational cohort study using linkage of routinely collected data from 10 national and local Scottish datasets of patients diagnosed with mCRC and receiving SACT in NHS GGC from 01/01/2015 to 31/12/2016 was conducted. Patients were identified through the chemotherapy electronic prescribing and administration system (CEPAS), and datasets were linked retrospectively using the Scottish community health index (CHI) number as a common identifier. Summary statistics were used to describe the baseline characteristics of the patients. To examine the association of relevant covariates with the selection of each first-line (1L) mCRC systemic anti-cancer therapy (SACT) regimen, a multinomial logistic regression model was employed using odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI between the outcome (SACT prescribing) and the exposure covariate. Median overall survival (mOS) was estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method and chi-squared test used to compare differences between the treatment groups. Patients were followed up until death, loss to follow up or end of the study on February 28, 2018, whichever occurred first. To assess the impact of mCRC SACT on the overall survival under the adjustment of different covariates, hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% Cls were calculated using Cox proportional hazard models. Finally, patients' pathways across SACT lines were described and visualised using a Sankey diagram.

Results: For the SRMA, the search strategy identified 5662 studies, of which 29 met the inclusion criteria and were included in the overall survival meta-analysis. The pooled HR (95% CI) for overall survival, including all SACTs, was 1.19 (1.1-1.29). The overall heterogeneity of included studies was 76.6%. Subgroup analysis identified a significant difference between different treatment comparisons (p=0.01). The pooled overall survival was significant for chemotherapy only versus Bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (HR: 1.15 (95% CI 1.05-1.26), favouring the latter combination.

For PFS, 20 studies were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled HR (95% CI), including all SACTs, was 1.19 (1.08-1.3), with an overall heterogeneity of 64.4% for the included studies. Subgroup analysis showed a significant difference between different comparisons (p=0.001).

16

The pooled PFS was significant for (1) chemotherapy only versus bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (pooled estimate: HR 1.36 (95% CI 1.05-1.26) and (2) bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy versus bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (pooled estimate: HR 1.22 (95%1.07-1.38).

For the safety outcomes, 13 studies were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled relative risk (RR, 95% CI) of haematological and non-haematological toxicities was 1.25 (0.89-1.76) and 1.03 (0.73-1.46), respectively, with no statistically significant difference between different treatment strategies for the haematological toxicities (p > 0.05). However, the pooled estimate for non-haematological toxicities was significant for two subgroups (1) bevacizumab+ XELIRI versus bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI (pooled RR: 1.66 (1.03-2.7), and bevacizumab+ FOLFOXIRI versus bevacizumab+ XELOXIRI (pooled RR: 3.5 (1.9-6.4).

In NHS GGC, a total of 220 new mCRC SACT patients were identified between the years 2015 and 2016. Most patients received a doublet of either FOLFOX (N=68, 30.9%) or FOLFIRI (n=47, 21.4%) as an initial SACT, whilst 49 (22.3%) patients received 5FU monotherapy, and 56 (26.1%) patients received triplet therapy of cetuximab + FOLFIRI (n=43, 19.5%) or aflibercept + FOLFIRI (N=11, 5%).

The included cohort comprised slightly more male patients (N=115, 52.3%) than female patients (N=105, 47.7%), with a median age of 66 years for the entire cohort. Around one-third of all patients in our study resided in the most deprived areas (30.9%, N=68), and 20% (N=44) of the patients resided in the least deprived areas. A total of 14 patients (6.4%) had a poor performance status before initiating index SACT, while 22.7% (N=50) of the patients had a good performance status (PS=0). Around one-third (30.5%, N= 67) of the patients had the primary tumour located in the right side of the colon, and only 26.8% (N=59) of the entire cohort underwent primary tumour resection. Mutation in the BRAF gene was detected in 7.7% (N=17) of the patients, while wild-type RAS tumour was found in 35% (N=77) of the tested patients.

Overall, 46 unique SACT pathways were identified. A total of 166 (75.5%) patients received only one SACT line, and 54 (24.5%) patients received at least two different lines of SACT during the study. Of these, 6 (11.1%) and 11 (20.4%) patients had their treatment intensified from monotherapy to a doublet or triplet SACT or from a doublet SACT to a triplet SACT, while 8 (14.8%) patients had their initial SACT stepped down in the second line (2L) from a

triplet to a doublet or from a doublet to a monotherapy. Only six patients received three treatment lines during the study. The most prescribed 2L SACT was FOLFIRI (N=19, 35.2%), followed by FOLFOX (N=16, 29.6%). By the end of the study, 183 patients were deceased.

This study identified patient, tumour, and treatment response-related factors associated with selecting 1L mCRC SACTs. Among the patient-related factors, older patients were 10% more likely to be prescribed 5FU than younger patients (OR 1.1 (95% CI 1.05-1.16)). Female patients were less likely to be prescribed an intensive therapy such as the triplet regimen cetuximab+FOLFIRI than male patients (OR 0.19, (95% CI 0.06-0.59)). Of the explored tumour-related factors, harbouring RAS wild-type tumour demonstrated more likelihood of being prescribed cetuximab+FOLFIRI (OR 65.2 (95% CI 16.1-122.8)). And among the treatment response-related factors, patients who had undergone resection of the primary tumour were significantly more likely to be prescribed a 1L SACT of either FOLFIRI (OR 3.64, 95% CI 1.64-8.1) or cetuximab+FOLFIRI (OR 4.4, 95% CI 1.4-13.8).

The median OS for the total cohort was 13.3 months (95% CI 10.8-15.4), with the longest observed median OS being 23.72 months (95% CI 13.75-NA) for patients treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI as 1L regimen while patients treated with a 5FU monotherapy as 1L regimen had the shortest median OS of 9.57 months (95%CI 7.81-15.41). The multivariate Cox regression model adjusting for the baseline characteristics of the patients showed that the combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI (HR 0.4, 95% CI 0.24-0.85) was significantly associated with less hazards of death compared to 5FU monotherapy. Furthermore, initial treatment with doublet therapy of FOLFOX (HR 0.7, 95% CI 0.52-1.18) or FOLFIRI (HR 0.93, 95% CI 0.49-1.22) was associated with a non-statistically significant improvement in OS compared to monotherapy of 5FU. The model also indicated that poor PS (PS \geq 2) had a negative impact on the median OS and was associated with more inferior survival outcomes (HR 4.3, 95% CI 1.52-10.30) compared to patients with PS= 0.

Conclusion: Real-world evidence can help to better understand the impact of SACTs on mCRC, including the effectiveness and safety of different treatments in routine clinical practice, the factors that influence treatment choice, and the interplay between these factors and treatment outcomes.

List of abbreviations

1L	First-Line
2L	Second Line
3L	Third Line
5FU	5-fluorouracil+leucovorin
A&E	Accident And Emergency
AE	Adverse Events
AJCC	American Joint Committee on Cancer
APC	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
ARIA	Radiotherapy Treatment Records
ASR	Age-Standardised Rate
ASR	Age-Standardised Rate
BRAF	B-Raf Proto-Oncogene Serine/Threonine Kinase
CCI	Charlson Comorbidity Index
CEA	Carcino-Embryonic Antigen
CEL	Chief Executive Letter
CEPAS	Chemotherapy Electronic Prescribing and Administration System
СНІ	Community Health Index
CHIAG	Community Health Index Advisory Group
CI	Confidence Interval
CIMP	Cpg Island Methylator Phenotype
CMG	Clinical Management Guideline
СМО	Chief Medical Officer
СМОР	Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme
CORECT-R	Colorectal Repository
CR	Complete Response
CRC	Colorectal Cancer
СТ	Chemotherapy
CTCAE	Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic-T-Lymphocyte Associated Antigen
DCR	Disease Control Rate
dMMR	Deficient Mismatch Repair
DPYD	Dihydropyridine Dehydrogenase
DQA	Data Quality Assurance
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Group
eDRIS	Electronic Data Research and Innovation Services
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
EHR	Electronic Health Records

ENCEPP	European Network for Centres of Pharmacoepidemiology and Pharmacovigilance	
EOCRC	Early-Onset CRC	
EORTC	European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer	
ES	Effect Size	
ESMO	European Society for Medical Oncology	
EU	European	
FAP	Familial Adenomatous Polyposis	
FDA	Food And Drug Administration	
FDG-PET	Fludeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography	
FOFLOX	5-Fluorouracil, Leucovorin, Oxaliplatin	
FOLFIRI	5-Fluorouracil, Leucovorin, Irinotecan	
GGC	Greater Glasgow and Clyde	
GIT	Gastrointestinal Tract	
GP	General Practitioner	
GROS	General Register Office for Scotland	
HFSR	Hand-Foot Skin Reaction	
HR	Hazard Ratio	
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease	
ICD	International Classification of Diseases	
ICD-O	International Classification of Diseases for Oncology	
ICI	Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	
IIA	Independence Of Irrelevant Alternatives	
IQR	Interquartile Range	
ISD	Information And Statistics Division	
KM	Kaplan-Meier	
KRAS	Kirsten Rat Sarcoma	
LIMS	Laboratory Information Management System	
LOCF	Last Observation Carried forward	
log	Logarithmic Transformation	
MA	Meta-Analysis	
МАРК	Mitogen-Associated Protein Kinase	
MAR	Missing At Random	
MCAR	Missing Completely at Random	
mCRC	Metastatic Colorectal Cancer	
MeSH	Medical Subject Headings	
MI	Multiple Imputations	
MLR	Multinomial Logistic Regression	
MMR	Mismatch Repair	
MNAR	Missing Not at Random	
MoAB	Monoclonal Antibodies	

mOS	Median Overall Survival	
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Image	
MSI	Microsatellite Instability	
MSI-H	High Microsatellite Instability	
NCCN	National Comprehensive Cancer Network	
NCI	National Cancer Institute	
NCICTG	National Cancer Institute of Clinical Trials Group	
NHS	National Health Service	
NHS GGC	National Health Service Greater Glasgow and Clyde	
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence	
NLR	Neutrophiles To Lymphocytes Ratio	
NoSCAN	North Of Scotland Cancer Network	
NRS	National Records of Scotland	
NRS	Non-Randomised Studies	
NSS	National Services Scotland	
OPCS-4	Office Of Population Censuses and Surveys Procedural Codes, 4th Revision	
OPERA	Elective & Emergency Operations	
OR	Odds Ratio	
ORR	Overall Response Rate	
OS	Overall Survival	
P&CFS	Practitioner And Counter Fraud Services	
PAC	Privacy Advice Committee	
PBPP	Public Benefit and Privacy Panel	
PD	Progressive Disease	
PD-1	Programmed Cell-Death-1 Protein	
PFS	Progression-Free Survival	
PH	Proportional Hazard	
PHS	Public Health Scotland	
PI	Prediction Interval	
PICO	Participants, Intervention, Comparison, And Outcome	
PIS	Prescribing Information System	
PR	Partial Response	
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses	
PSD	Practitioner Services Division	
RAS	Rat Sarcoma Viral Oncogene Homolog	
RCT	Randomised Control Trial	
RECIST	Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumours	
RoB	Risk Of Bias	
ROBINS-I	Risk Of Bias in Non-Randomised Studies-Of Interventions	
RR	Risk Ratio	

RWD	Real-World Data	
RWE	Real-World Evidence	
SACT	Systemic Anti-Cancer Therapy	
SBoSP	Scottish Bowel Screening Programme	
SCAN	South-East Scotland Cancer Network	
SCI	Scottish Care Information	
SCR	Scottish Cancer Registry	
SD	Stable Disease	
SE	Standard Error	
SG	Scottish Government	
SGHSC	The Scottish Government Health and Social Care Directorates	
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network	
SIMD	Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation	
SMC	Scottish Medicine Consortium	
SMR	Scottish Morbidity Records	
SMR00	Scottish Morbidity Records - Outpatient Appointments and Attendances	
SMR01	Scottish Morbidity Records - General Acute Inpatient and Day Case	
SMR06	Scottish Morbidity Records - The Scottish Cancer Registry	
SQ	Signalling Questions	
SR	Systematic Review	
SR-MA	Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis	
ТВ	Tumour Burden	
TP53	Tumour Protein 53	
TTE	Time-To-Event	
TTNT	Time To Next Treatment	
UFT	Tegafur Plus Uracil	
UK	United Kingdome	
USA	United States of America	
USC	Urgent Suspicion of Cancer	
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor	
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor	
VPN	Virtual Private Network	
WoSCAN	West of Scotland Cancer Network	

1 Chapter 1: Background

1.1 Thesis outline

This thesis describes the study of systemic anti-cancer treatments (SACTs) used by patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde (NHS GGC) using routinely collected healthcare data. In addition, the published real-world evidence on the comparative effectiveness and safety of metastatic colorectal medicines is presented using a meta-analysis. This thesis comprises seven chapters, starting with a background chapter introducing metastatic colorectal cancer and the concepts of real-world evidence in pharmacoepidemiology. The second chapter is a systematic review and a meta-analysis that summarises the published real-world evidence comparing effectiveness measures, including overall survival (OS), progression-free survival (PFS), objective response, and safety measured by the occurrence of severe toxicities for first-line mCRC SACTs. Chapter 3 introduces the data sources and data variables, in addition to describing the data management processes in data governance, access, preparation, and data manipulation. Following in chapter 4 is a description of the baseline characteristics of the included cohort, which also prepares for the subsequent chapters 5 and 6. Chapter 5 describes the patient, treatment, and tumour-related factors that influenced the selection of first-line SACTs for mCRC patients in NHS GGC. Chapter 6 details the clinical outcomes, including overall survival and time to next treatment, plus the treatment pathways for mCRC initiating first-line mCRC SACT in NHS GGC.

1.2 Colorectal cancer

1.2.1 Colorectal cancer epidemiology

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer worldwide and the second leading cause of cancer-related death, with almost 1.93 million new cases and 940,000 CRC-caused deaths in 2020 (Xi and Xu, 2021). The global burden of CRC is expected to increase by 60% by the year 2030, with more than 2.2 million new cases and 1.1 million deaths (Arnold et al., 2017a). The incidence of CRC across the two genders remains stable over the years, with the incidence approximately 25% higher in males compared to females (Bray et al., 2018, Arnold et al., 2017a). The global pattern and mortality rates of CRC vary widely. In general, it has been observed that CRC incidence and mortality are increasing in

low and middle-income countries as they become westernised, which reflects an increased prevalence of risk factors for CRC that are associated with westernisation, such as physical inactivity, unhealthy diet, obesity, and smoking prevalence in low-middle income countries, while the risk is stabilising or decreasing in high-income countries, particularly those countries that have enforced screening for CRC (Favoriti et al., 2016, Siegel et al., 2019, Xi and Xu, 2021). Classically, the incidence rates of CRC rise with increasing age. However, in recent years, a rising global incidence of early-onset CRC (EOCRC) has been observed in younger age groups before the age of 50 years, which was found to be related to westernised diets, stress, synthetic food diets, and sedentary lifestyle (Hofseth et al., 2020).

1.2.2 Anatomy of the colon and rectum

The lower digestive system comprises the cecum, ascending colon, transverse colon, descending colon, sigmoid colon, and rectum. The large intestine (colorectum) starts at the cecum, a 2 to 3-centimetre-long pouch (Figure 1.1). The ascending colon ascends from the cecum along the right abdominal posterior wall to the right upper quadrant and the undersurface of the liver, where the hepatic flexure moves toward the midline to become the transverse colon. The transverse section crosses the abdominal cavity in the upper left quadrant toward the spleen. At this point, the transverse colon turns downward to the splenic flexure. The descending colon continues along the left side of the abdomen before turning medially and inferiorly to form the S-shaped sigmoid colon. From the end of the sigmoid colon to the anal canal, the rectum comprises the final 12 to 25 cm of the large intestine (Irving and Catchpole, 1992).



Figure 1.1 The anatomy of the colon and rectum.

1.2.3 Risk factors and pathogenesis.

Both environmental and genetic factors contribute towards the risk of CRC, with the mode of presentation of CRC following one of the following three patterns reflecting these risk factors:

1- Sporadic (non-hereditary) CRC, in which no family history is involved. This pattern of CRC occurs in around 70% of the patients, with patients above the age of 50 years being the most affected age group (Carethers and Jung, 2015). Sporadic CRCs develop from normal colonic mucosa by one of three suggested genetic and morphologic pathways; first, by the progressive accumulation of genetic alterations, such as mutations in adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) in earlier stages and mutations in rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog (RAS) and tumour protein 53 (TP53) in later stages (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990). Second is the Microsatellite instability (MSI), accounting for around 15% of sporadic CRCs. This pathway is activated when DNA mismatch repair genes are disrupted (MMR deficiency), which is responsible for proofing newly synthesised DNA and correcting replication mistakes. When this system is deactivated, DNA mutations rapidly rise, allowing cancerous cell lines to proliferate. B-Raf proto-oncogene serine/threonine kinase

(BRAF) is an oncogene that can stimulate cell proliferation, and it is frequently mutated in MSI cancers, increasing the proliferation of malignant cells. These tumours frequently form in the colon's proximal region (right side of the colon) and are characterised by elevated mucin production and low-grade differentiation (Boland and Goel, 2010). The third pathway, known as CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP), involves inactivating tumour suppression genes, which leads to abnormal growth of malignant cells (Toyota et al., 1999).

- 2- Hereditary CRC, which can be subclassified into two groups depending on the presence of colon polyps:
 - a. Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), which includes the presence of polyps. This syndrome is caused by a mutation in the APC gene. Most patients with FAP develop hundreds of polyps in the colon, and almost all patients with this genetic mutation will develop CRC by the age of 40 years (Half et al., 2009)
 - b. Lynch syndrome (hereditary nonpolyposis CRC), which does not involve the presence of polyps. This syndrome represents 3% of all CRCs, and it is associated with an increased risk of CRC and other types of cancer, such as endometrial ovarian, gastric, small bowel, pancreatic, and urothelial cancer (Lynch et al., 2015)
- 3- Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD): Chronic colitis due to IBD is associated with an increased risk of CRC. The extent, duration, and activity of the disease are deemed to be the primary determinants for CRC. IBD explains 1% of all CRCs (Stidham and Higgins, 2018).

Approximately 40% of CRC patients harbour a Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog (KRAS) or neuroblastoma N-Ras (NRAS) tumour gene mutation. In comparison, 10% of CRC patients carry a mutation of the BRAF gene. Mutations in these genes result in dysregulation of the mitogen-associated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. The activation of this pathway is responsible for cell proliferation, differentiation, angiogenesis, and metastasis. One of the most important receptors for the MAPK pathway is the transmembrane protein endothelial growth factor receptor (EGFR). As shown in Figure 1.2, the ligand binding to EGFR results in the activation of the EGFR receptor, which causes a cascade activation of RAS, RAF, MEK, and

ERK1. Ultimately, this pathway induces cell proliferation, differentiation, angiogenesis, and metastasis (Yarden, 2001, Bos, 1989). In the context of CRC, the most common cause of the MAPK pathway dysregulation is the presence of activating mutations of genes encoding for the RAS and RAF proteins (Bos, 1989).



Figure 1.2. MAPK signalling pathway in colorectal cancer (Adapted from (Bos, 1989)).

1.2.4 CRC staging.

Staging cancer provides a standardised framework for describing the extent of a disease. The stage of a CRC consists of three components, primary tumour (T), the status of the regional nodes (N), and distant metastasis (M), which together are combined to form stage groupings from I to IV. Stage groupings allow the classification of prognosis, which is useful for treatment choice. Table 1 illustrates the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) 8th Edition TNM staging for CRC (Weiser, 2018). Noteworthy, this edition of TNM staging has introduced a modification to the M category by adding a new M stage incorporating peritoneal metastasis based on growing evidence supporting it as a sign of a poor prognosis.

However, the current M category still covers a heterogenous group of metastatic CRCs in terms of survival outcomes and potential treatment strategies (Primrose et al., 2013).

Approximately 25% of patients with CRC present with overt metastatic disease at the time of primary diagnosis, and 40-50% of all CRC patients will develop metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC). (Van Cutsem et al., 2014b, van der Geest et al., 2015). Metastases are considered the leading cause of CRC-related mortality, and patients with mCRC have a poor prognosis, with a 5-year survival rate of 14% compared to 90% and 71% for patients with localised CRC (stages I, IIA, and IIB), and regional cancer (stages IIC and III), respectively (Mattiuzzi et al., 2019). Nevertheless, recent advances in the treatment of mCRC as shown to increase survival for 2-3 years (Biller and Schrag, 2021).

Table 1.1 Colorectal cancer staging according to the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) (adapted from the American Cancer) (Weiser, 2018).

AJCC Stage	Stage grouping	Stage description
0	Tis NO MO	The cancer is in its earliest stage, known as carcinoma in situ (Tis). It has not grown beyond the inner layer of the colon or rectum
I	T1 or T2 N0 M0	The cancer has grown through the mucosa into the submucosa (T1), and it may also have grown into the muscularis propria (T2). It has not spread to nearby lymph nodes (N0) or to distant sites (M0)
IIA	T3 N0 M0	The cancer has grown into the outermost layers of the colon or rectum but has not gone through them (T3). It has not reached nearby organs. It has not spread to nearby lymph nodes (N0) or to distant sites (M0)
IIB	T4a N0 M0	The cancer has grown through the wall of the colon or rectum but has not grown into other nearby tissues or organs (T4a). It has not yet spread to nearby lymph nodes (N0) or to distant sites (M0)
IIC	T4b N0 M0	The cancer has grown through the wall of the colon or rectum and is attached to or has grown into other nearby tissues or organs (T4b). It has not yet spread to nearby lymph nodes (N0) or to distant sites (M0)
IIIA	T1 or T2 N1/N1c M0 T1	The cancer has grown through the mucosa into the submucosa (T1), and it may also have grown into the muscularis propria (T2). It has spread to 1 to 3 nearby lymph nodes (N1) or into areas of fat near the lymph nodes but not the nodes themselves (N1c). It has not spread to distant sites (M0).
	N2a M0	The cancer has grown through the mucosa into the submucosa (T1). It has spread to 4 to 6 nearby lymph nodes (N2a). It has not spread to distant sites (M0)
IIIB	T3 or T4a N1/N1c M0	The cancer has grown into the outermost layers of the colon or rectum (T3) or through the visceral peritoneum (T4a) but has not reached nearby organs. It has spread to 1 to 3 nearby lymph nodes (N1a or N1b) or into areas of fat near the lymph nodes but not the nodes themselves (N1c). It has not spread to distant sites (M0)
	T2 or T3 N2a M0	The cancer has grown into the muscularis propria (T2) or into the outermost layers of the colon or rectum (T3). It has spread to 4 to 6 nearby lymph nodes (N2a). It has not spread to distant sites (M0).

AJCC Stage	Stage grouping	Stage description
	T1 or T2	The cancer has grown through the mucosa into the submucosa (T1), and it may also have grown into
	N2b	the muscularis propria (T2). It has spread to 7 or more nearby lymph nodes (N2b). It has not spread to
	M0	distant sites (M0)
IIIC	T4a	The cancer has grown through the wall of the colon or rectum (including the visceral peritoneum) but
	N2a	has not reached nearby organs (T4a). It has spread to 4 to 6 nearby lymph nodes (N2a). It has not
	M0	spread to distant sites (M0)
	T3 or T4a	The cancer has grown into the outermost layers of the colon or rectum (T3) or through the visceral
	N2b	peritoneum (T4a) but has not reached nearby organs. It has spread to 7 or more nearby lymph nodes
	M0	(N2b). It has not spread to distant sites (M0)
	T4b	The cancer has grown through the wall of the colon or rectum and is attached to or has grown into
	N1 or N2	other nearby tissues or organs (T4b). It has spread to at least one nearby lymph node or into areas of fat
	M0	near the lymph nodes (N1 or N2). It has not spread to distant sites (M0)
IVA	Any T Any N M1a	The cancer may or may not have grown through the wall of the colon or rectum (Any T). It might or might not have spread to nearby lymph nodes (Any N). It has spread to 1 distant organ (such as the liver or lung) or distant set of lymph nodes, but not to distant parts of the peritoneum (the lining of the abdominal cavity) (M1a)
IVB	Any T Any N M1b	The cancer might or might not have grown through the wall of the colon or rectum (Any T). It might or might not have spread to nearby lymph nodes (Any N). It has spread to more than 1 distant organ (such as the liver or lung) or distant set of lymph nodes, but not to distant parts of the peritoneum (the lining of the abdominal cavity) (M1b)
	Any T Any N M1c	The cancer might or might not have grown through the wall of the colon or rectum (Any T). It might or might not have spread to nearby lymph nodes (Any N). It has spread to distant parts of the peritoneum (the lining of the abdominal cavity), and may or may not have spread to distant organs or lymph nodes (M1c)

1.2.5 Clinical presentation and diagnosis of CRC.

Patients with CRC can present with one of three modes: 1- suspicious signs and symptoms, 2- asymptomatic but diagnosed through routine screening, or 3- patients who present with emergency symptoms such as intestinal obstruction, haemorrhage, or peritonitis (Hamilton et al., 2005). The majority of the patients with early stages of CRC present with no symptoms, and these are usually diagnosed through routine screening (Hamilton et al., 2005). However, a strong body of evidence suggests that screening for CRC increases the detection of early-stage cancer diagnosis (Stage I and stage II), resulting in reduced cancer-specific mortality (Hardcastle et al., 1996, Mandel et al., 1993) in addition to reducing the incidence of CRC through the removal of cancerous polyps (Mandel et al., 2000). Regrettably, most CRCs are diagnosed after the onset of symptoms (Force et al., 2021). These symptoms typically occur as a result of the tumour growth in the lumen or in the adjacent structures. For patients presenting with a localised tumour, the most common symptoms include melena (black tarry stool), haematochezia (presence of red fresh blood in the stool), microcytic anaemia, abdominal pain, and change in bowel habits (Moiel and Thompson, 2011, Hamilton et al., 2005).

For patients presenting at the metastatic stage, the signs and symptoms usually depend on the site of metastasis. The regional lymph nodes are the most common metastatic site, followed by the liver, the lung, and the peritoneum (Riihimaki et al., 2016). The presence of pain in the right upper quadrant of the abdomen, abdominal distention, early satiety or periumbilical nodules usually suggest metastatic disease (Holch et al., 2017).

The liver is the most common organ involved in CRC metastasis occurring in 20-25% of patients presenting with metastatic disease at the time of initial diagnosis (Riihimaki et al., 2016). Peritoneal metastasis occurs in 7-10% of the patients at initial diagnosis (Koppe et al., 2006), while lung metastasis is reported to occur in 6-8% of colon cancer and 10-18% of rectal cancer metastases (Jördens et al., 2021). Finally, bone metastasis occurs in 2-12% of mCRC patients (Mege D, 2013). The prognosis of the disease varies by the site of metastasis, with lung-only metastasis resulting in the best prognosis, whereas bone-only metastasis and brain-only metastasis have the worst prognosis (Wang et al., 2020).

CRC may be suspected based on one or more of the aforementioned signs and symptoms, or it may be asymptomatic and detected by routine screening of average- and high-risk

individuals. Once a CRC is suspected, a colonoscopy may be performed as the next step (Świderska et al., 2014). A colonoscopy-guided biopsy is used to confirm primary cancer, while a biopsy of the liver, lung, or lymph nodes confirms the metastases (Świderska et al., 2014). Colonoscopy can detect synchronous neoplasms, which is defined as two or more distinct primary tumours in one patient diagnosed within six months of the primary CRC (Lam, 2014), whereas a CRC metastasis diagnosed after six months of the primary diagnosis denotes a metachronous metastasis (Rao and Jayaraman, 2011).

1.2.6 Management of CRC

Treatment options for CRC rely mainly on the stage of the disease, patient's performance status, and the tumour molecular profile. Primary CRC without metastasis is treated by surgical resection with curative intent (Hohenberger et al., 2009, Sehgal and Coffey, 2014). Surgery is considered the only curative method for the localised primary tumour, which aims to completely remove the tumour, the vascular pedicles, and the lymph vascular drainage of the site of the tumour (Vogel et al., 2017). Additionally, in emergency settings, presenting with symptoms of colonic obstruction, bleeding, or perforation warrant resection of the tumour with palliative intent (De Rosa et al., 2015). For locally advanced rectal cancer, neoadjuvant (perioperative) radiotherapy with or without chemotherapy is usually administered to patients who have undergone curative resection of the primary tumour, aiming to eradicate micrometastases, hence reducing the likelihood of tumour recurrence and improving the cure rate, with oxaliplatin-containing chemotherapy usually recommended (Dubé et al., 1997).

For stage IV CRC (metastatic colorectal cancer), the management strategy involves a multifactorial approach based on treatment aim (survival prolongation, controlling progression, tumour shrinkage, etc.), tumour-related characteristics (e.g., number and localization of metastases) and patient-related factors (e.g., co-morbidity, performance status) (Schmoll et al., 2012). Patients' prognosis declines as the number of metastatic sites increase (Köhne et al., 2002). Moreover, the resectability of the primary tumour and the metastasis is a crucial component in making the decision regarding the treatment modality for patients presenting with metastatic disease. In general, potentially curative resection of the metastases is the goal for patients presenting with one site of surgically resectable metastasis, especially in metachronous settings. However, for patients presenting with more

32

than one site of metastasis, controlling the disease progression is usually the aim of the treatment (Chakedis and Schmidt, 2018).

Several therapeutic options are available for patients presenting with synchronous metastasis, especially if the metastatic sites are amenable to surgical resection (Chakedis and Schmidt, 2018). Nevertheless, the prognosis in the synchronous settings is generally worse than the metachronous settings, with only 6% of the patients presenting with synchronous metastasis eligible for curative resection in contrast to 17% of the patients presenting with metachronous metastasis (Chakedis and Schmidt, 2018, Manfredi et al., 2006). Traditionally, for patients presenting with potentially resectable metastasis, the primary tumour in the colon or rectum is resected surgically, followed by systemic anticancer therapy (SACT), and then excision of the metastasis is considered (Manfredi et al., 2006). However, for patients presenting with potentially unresectable metastasis, downstaging SACT conversion therapy is administered in an attempt to convert the metastasis from unresectable into a resectable metastasis (Chakedis and Schmidt, 2018). Unfortunately, most patients present with initially unresectable metastasis, where SACT is administered and resumed to control the progression of the disease. For these patients, the treatment intent is palliative rather than curative, with the treatment goal of prolonging overall survival and maintaining the quality of life (Chibaudel et al., 2011).

Systemic anticancer therapies used in unresectable mCRC are presented in table 1.2, outlining the medicines used, their indication, and selected severe toxicities occurring in more than 10% of the patients. However, these medicines fall broadly into the following categories:

1- Chemotherapeutic agents, which encompass three cytotoxic drugs; Fluoropyrimidine chemotherapy (5-fluorouracil [5-FU], Capecitabine, Tegafur), which is recognised as the backbone of first-line palliative chemotherapy for mCRC (Rougier and Mitry, 2009), Irinotecan, and oxaliplatin. The later chemotherapeutic drugs are widely used in combination with 5-FU and leucovorin (folinic acid) as firstor second-line treatment for mCRC (de Gramont et al., 2000, Yamaguchi et al., 2016). Moreover, the use of monoclonal antibodies in combination with 5-FU/oxaliplatin or irinotecan has become common to improve survival rates in patients with mCRC (Yamaguchi et al., 2016, Meyerhardt et al., 2012a).

- 2- Molecular targeted treatments, this treatment group encompass two subgroups:
 - a. Antiangiogenic agents, which act by inhibiting the formation of new blood vessels, hence preventing tumour cell proliferation. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitors (VEGF) such as bevacizumab, aflibercept, and regorafenib bind to VEGF receptors and block receptor activation, hence, preventing tumour cell proliferation.
 - b. Anti-epidermal growth factor agents (anti-EGFR), including cetuximab and panitumumab act by inhibiting the EGFR, which modulates tumour cell growth, signalling, differentiation, and proliferation. (Grandis and Sok, 2004). It was found that only patients with wild-type KRAS tumours respond to anti-EGFR treatment (Lievre et al., 2008). Thereby, the KRAS tumour gene has been validated as a negative predictive marker for anti-EGFR treatment activity (Chibaudel et al., 2011).
- 3- Immunotherapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) that target programmed cell-death-1 protein (PD-1), such as nivolumab and pembrolizumab (Sahin et al., 2019) were shown to have a beneficial effect on patients with high microsatellite instability (MSI-H) or deficient mismatch repair (dMMR) mCRC that has progressed beyond using chemotherapy.
- 4- Other treatment groups include BRAF kinase inhibitors such as encorafenib, which in combination with cetuximab is used for patients with confirmed BRAF V600 mutation after prior chemotherapy.

Advances in mCRC therapies have directly resulted in an improvement of median overall survival (mOS) from approximately 11–12 months in the 5-FU single-agent era to more than 24 months with multiple regimens in the modern era (Kopetz et al., 2009, Ikoma et al., 2017). The addition of irinotecan (5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, irinotecan [FOLFIRI]) and oxaliplatin (5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin [FOLFOX]) has led to increased efficacy and raised overall survival (OS) to a median of about 20 months (Tournigand et al., 2004b). Moreover, the addition of biologicals, such as bevacizumab or cetuximab and panitumumab, to those standard regimens has led to OS times of about 24 months (Saltz et al., 2008, Van Cutsem et al., 2011, Douillard et al., 2014a). Although the introduction

of these therapies has led to an improved OS, it has been recognized that the presence of mutations in RAS biomarkers infers that the patient will not respond to EGFR inhibitors such as cetuximab, whilst mutation in BRAF biomarkers has a negative prognostic value.
Table 1.2 Medicines used for the management of mCRC, their mechanism of action and most common severe adverse effects.

Pharmacological group	Medicine	Mechanism of action	Activity	Most common severe
				adverse effects
Fluorouracil (5FU)	5FU/leucovorin Capecitabine S-1 Tegafur plus uracil (UFT)	Antimetabolite Inhibits thymidylate synthase (Longley et al., 2003)	In mCRC, Neoadjuvant chemoradiation in stage II and stage III rectal cancer (de Gramont et al., 1997b)	Neurotoxicity, cardiovascular complications Diarrhoea, nausea, poor appetite, photophobia, leukopenia, thrombocytopenia (Pinedo and Peters, 1988)
Oxaliplatin	Oxaliplatin	Alkylating agent	mCRC in combination with	Peripheral neuropathy,
		Binds to DNA and prevent DNA	5FU/leucovorin (FOLFOX) or	abdominal pain, nausea, diarrhoea,
		replication and transcription (Raymond	In combination with capecitabine	vomiting, fever, elevated liver
		et al., 1998)	(XELOX),	enzymes, anaemia, and
			Stage III adjuvant chemotherapy in	thrombocytopenia (Raymond et al.,
			combination with fluorouracil after	1998, Cassidy and Misset, 2002)
			complete resection of primary	
			tumour (Stein and Arnold, 2012)	
Irinotecan	Irinotecan	Topoisomerase I Inhibitor: binds to	mCRC either as first or second line	Diarrhoea, nausea, abdominal pain,
		topoisomerase-I DNA and prevents	in combination with	vomiting, cholinergic syndrome,
		relegation of the cleaved DNA strands	5FU/leucovorin (FOLFIRI)	alopecia, anaemia, leukocytopenia,
		leading to termination of cellular	In combination with capecitabine	neutropenia, elevated liver
		replication (Xu and Villalona-Calero,	(XLEIRI)	enzymes. (Vanhoefer et al., 2001,
		2002).	In combination with	Bailly, 2019).
			5FU/leucovorin and oxaliplatin	
			In combination with canecitabine	
			and oxaliplatin (XELOXIRI),	
			For progressive disease following	
			initial 5-FU based therapy	
			(Vanhoefer et al., 2001).	
Anti-EGFR	Cetuximab	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor	Cetuximab: KRAS- wild type mCRC	Dermatological toxicity, weight
		(EGFR) Inhibitor: binds to the EGFR and	as single agent or in combination	loss, hypomagnesemia,
		competitively inhibits the binding of	with irinotecan or FOLFIRI (Blick	constipation, nausea, elevated liver
		EGF, resulting in the blockade of	and Scott, 2007)	

Pharmacological group	Medicine	Mechanism of action	Activity	Most common severe
				adverse effects
		phosphorylation and activation of the	Panitumumab: KRAS-wild type	enzymes, peripheral neuropathy
		receptor-associated kinases, thereby	mCRC as first-line in combination	(Blick and Scott, 2007)
		inhibiting cell growth, inducing	with FOLFOX or as single agent	
		apoptosis and decreased vascular	following disease progression	
		endothelial growth factor production	despite the use of oxaliplatin or	
		(Vincenzi et al., 2008).	irinotecan-based chemotherapy	
			(Amado et al., 2008).	
VEGF-receptor 2 blockers	Bevacizumab	Bind to vascular endothelial growth	Bevacizumab: for mCRC in	Hypertension, venous
	Ramucirumab	factor (VEGF) and prevent its binding to	combination with fluorouracil-	thromboembolism, leukopenia,
		the receptor, hence, inhibits metastatic	based chemotherapy (Hurwitz et	nausea, abdominal pain, diarrhoea,
		tissue growth (Ellis, 2006).	al., 2004).	headache thrombocytopenia
			Ramucirumab: for resistant mCRC	(Kazazi-Hyseni et al., 2010, Hurwitz
			or mCRC that progressed after	et al., 2004)
			bevacizumab and oxaliplatin based	
			chemotherapy: in combination	
			FOLFIRI until disease progression or	
			death (Tabernero et al., 2015).	
VEGF-receptor 1 blocker	Aflibercept	Prevent VEGF-A and VEGF-B from	In resistant mCRC or mCRC that	Hypertension, weight loss,
		binding to their receptors, hence	progressed after using an	diarrhoea, stomatitis, proteinuria,
		leading to antiangiogenics and tumour	oxaliplatin based therapy: in	haemorrhage, leukopenia,
		regression (Ciombor and Berlin, 2014).	combination with FOLFIRI until	neutropenia, thrombocytopenia,
			disease progression or death (Van	elevation in the liver enzymes,
			Cutsem et al., 2012).	elevated serum creatinine (Wang
				and Lockhart, 2012)
VEGF inhibitor	Regorafenib	Multikinase inhibitor targeting kinases	Treatment of mCRC patients	Hypertension, alopecia,
		involved in tumour angiogenesis and	previously treated with	dermatological toxicities, reduced
		oncogenesis, hence, inhibiting tumour	fluoropyrimidine, oxaliplatin, and	appetite, diarrhoea, anaemia,
		growth.	irinotecan-based therapy, an anti	thrombocytopenia,
			VEGF, or ant-EGFR therapy.	hyperbilirubinemia, elevated liver
				enzymes, fatigue
Thymidine Phosphorylase	Trifluridine and tipiracil	Trifluridine is a thymidine-based nucleic	In mCRC patients previously	Fatigue, nausea, reduced appetite,
Inhibitor		acid analogue that is incorporated into	treated, oxaliplatin, and irinotecan-	anaemia, neutropenia,

Pharmacological group	Medicine	Mechanism of action	Activity	Most common severe
				adverse effects
		DNA and interferes with DNA synthesis	based chemotherapy, an anti-VEGF	thrombocytopenia, Infection,
		and inhibits cell proliferation.	therapy.	asthenia (Mayer et al., 2015)
		Tipiracil is a potent thymidine		
		phosphorylase inhibitor preventing the		
		rapid degradation of trifluridine (Lenz		
		et al., 2015).		
Immune check point	Nivolumab and ipilimumab	Nivolumab and pembrolizumab:	Microsatellite instability mCRC or	Oedema, hypertension, pruritis,
inhibitors	Pembrolizumab	Immune check point inhibitor that	mismatch repair deficient:	hyperglycaemia, hyperkalaemia,
		inhibits the programmed death-1	nivolumab alone or in combination	nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea,
		receptor (PD-1) resulting in antitumour	with ipilimumab in patients who	elevated liver enzymes, asthenia
		immune response.	have progressed following	Overman et al., 2018)
		ipilimumab: a recombinant	treatment with fluoropyrimidine,	
		immunoglobulin monoclonal antibody	oxaliplatin or irinotecan-based	
		that binds to cytotoxic-t-lymphocyte	therapy Overman et al., 2018).	
		associated antigen (CTLA-4). When		
		combined with Nivolumab, an		
		enhanced T-cell function occurs		
		resulting in improved anti-tumour		
		response (Overman et al., 2018).		
BRAF kinase inhibitor	Encorafinib	ATP competitive inhibitor of protein	BRAF V600E mCRC in combination	Alopecia, hyperkeratosis,
		kinase B-raf (BRAF) which suppresses	with cetuximab until disease	hyperglycaemia, constipation,
		the MAPK pathways (Dummer et al.,	progression or death (Kopetz et al.,	decreased appetite, diarrhoea,
		2018). The combination of encorafinib	2019, Tabernero et al., 2021).	vomiting, anaemia, elevated liver
		and ant-EGFR has a great anti-tumour		enzymes, arthralgia, increased
		activity (Tabernero et al., 2021).		serum creatinine (Tabernero et al.,
				2021)
KEY: 5FU= Fluorouracil; S-1 mCRC	= metastatic colorectal cancer; DNA	= Deoxyribonucleic acid; EGFR= epidermal Grow	th Factor Receptor; KRAS = Kirsten rat sarce	oma viral oncogene; VEGF= vascular
endothelial growth factor; BRAF=	protein kinase B-raf.			

1.2.7 Management of metastatic colorectal cancer in Scotland.

In Scotland, medicines are only routinely available on NHS prescription if approved for use by the Scottish Medicine Consortium (SMC) (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2022). The process starts with pharmaceutical companies presenting evidence from published clinical trials, preclinical data, and pricing details which may adjust the cost-effectiveness analysis of the medicine. The SMC committee examines the evidence then, a decision is made as to whether or not the medicine will be used within NHS Scotland (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2022). Figure 1.3 shows the timeline in which mCRC medicines were licenced for use in NHS Scotland.

In Scotland, clinical management guidelines are developed by the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) for NHS Scotland (Miller, 2002). According to the SIGN 126 guideline for the management of colorectal cancer, all mCRC patients should be offered SACT. The choice of first-line SACT depends on the patient's fitness, comorbidity, and the aim of treatment. Patients with good performance status and adequate organ function should be initially treated with FOLFOX, XELOX, or FOLFIRI. However, patients who cannot tolerate combination chemotherapy, 5FU or raltitrexed should be considered. Cetuximab, combined with FOLFOX or FOLFIRI, should be considered a first-line treatment for patients with RAS wild-type tumours. For second-line SACT, irinotecan (FOLFIRI or XELIRI) should be used following first-line oxaliplatin (FOLFOX) and vice versa (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011a). The SMC has also approved aflibercept in combination with FOLFIRI to be used in resistant mCRC or mCRC that has progressed despite the use of an oxaliplatin-containing regimen in the first-line (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2014). Noteworthy, the SIGN 126 guidance for the management of mCRC provides limited detailed recommendations on the choice of appropriate SACT based on the individual characteristics of the patients.



Figure 1.3 Treatments approved in Scotland for unresectable metastatic colorectal cancer since 2008.

KEY; EGFR=epidermal growth factor receptor; FOLFIRI= Folinic acid-Fluorouracil-Irinotecan regimen; KRAS =Kirsten rat sarcoma; MMR= mismatch repair; MSI= Microsatellite instability; NHS= National Health Services; mCRC: metastatic colorectal cancer; VEGF= Vascular endothelial growth factor

1.3 Real-world data and real-world evidence.

Randomised control trials (RCTs) are viewed as the current gold-standard primary study design for the determination of the efficacy and safety of medical interventions (Schulz et al., 2010). In RCTs, the investigators are able to reduce bias and confounding by utilizing randomization and strict patient inclusion and exclusion criteria. However, since they are conducted under idealized and rigorously controlled conditions and often exclude large portions of patients, including children, the elderly and patients with multiple co-morbidities, the external validity of RCTs might be compromised since the populations enrolled in RCTs may differ significantly from those found in everyday practice. Also, RCTs do not always reflect the heterogeneous patient population encountered in clinical practice (Fortin et al., 2006). Moreover, RCTs often have short follow-up durations, preventing the detection of rare or long-term adverse events of interventions. In these circumstances, studies of observational design are used to assess the effectiveness of an intervention in non-experimental, 'real world' settings at the population level as well as providing a line of complementary evidence to that provided by RCTs (Blonde et al., 2018).

Data from real-world studies can provide evidence that informs payers, clinicians, and patients on how an intervention works outside the research setting, which provides essential information on the long-term safety and effectiveness of a drug in large populations, and for assessment of comparative effectiveness with other treatments (Blonde et al., 2018). The study of the utilisation and effects of medicines in large populations is termed pharmacoepidemiology (Montastruc et al., 2019). In pharmacoepidemiology, Real-world evidence (RWE) refers to the clinical findings on the use, risk, and benefit of using medicines generated from the analysis of real-world data (RWD) (Bérard, 2021).

The value of RWD has been recognized by regulatory bodies such as the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) in the UK, which use RWD as a key component of healthcare technology assessments to guide clinical decision-making (NICE, 2022, FDA, 2022). The overarching objective of utilising RWD is to develop decision-support tools and practise guidelines, monitor post-marketing safety and adverse events of approved medicines, and support the efficacy of therapeutic products while allowing assessment of the effects of off-label use. (Ramamoorthy and Huang, 2019). For that purpose, many resources can be utilised, including large national administrative

databases and health registries, electronic health records (EHR), insurance claims, pharmacy data, and data obtained from wearable and mobile (Curtis et al., 2019).

Since pharmacoepidemiology relates to both the pharmacological evaluation of medicines and different methods used in epidemiology, its methodology is observational (Sommet and Pariente, 2019). Two main approaches are used in pharmacoepidemiology: 1- the descriptive (non-comparative) approach and 2- the etiologic (comparative) approach. The descriptive method examines phenomena in a retrospective or prospective manner. Descriptive studies are conducted to examine the modalities of exposure and the characteristics of exposed and unexposed subjects. In the context of pharmacoepidemiology, descriptive studies allow for quantifying the use of medicines in a large population (Wettermark, 2013). In contrast, the etiologic approach examines the association between exposure to medicine and occurrences of a beneficial or adverse effect (Montastruc et al., 2019). The major problem with etiological studies involves the effect of modifiers or factors on the exposure or the outcome, in what is termed confounding. In clinical trials, confounding is avoided through randomisation. However, in observational etiological studies, pharmacoepidemiologists have proposed several methods to avoid confounding bias, including propensity score matching and adjustment in the statistical analysis (Suissa, 2009). Additionally, selection bias, which refers to the instances in which some eligible participants or outcome events are excluded, is one of the major flaws in real-world studies, which can also be adjusted statistically (Hammer et al., 2009).

To date, RWD has lower acceptability in regulatory decision-making, especially when the outcome of interest is treatment effectiveness (Skovlund et al., 2018). The European Network for Centres of Pharmacoepidemiology and Pharmacovigilance (ENCePP) has identified four criteria that determine the acceptability of RWE in supporting regulatory decision-making: 1-RWE should be derived from a good quality data source, 2- RWE should have both internal and external validity, 3- RWE should be consistent (or heterogeneity should be explained), and 4- RWE should be adequate in terms of the amount of provided information (Cave et al., 2019). Furthermore, the study design from which the evidence is derived must use valid methods to minimise the bias, with the recommendation to use the target trial framework to design the RWE study (Groenwold, 2021). Emulating target trials has emerged with the target trial emulation known as the application design concepts from RCTs to the analysis of

42

the observational study, hence, linking the analysis to the RCT it is emulating (Labrecque and Swanson, 2017).

1.4 Thesis rationale

In the process of developing treatment decisions and clinical management guidelines, obtaining evidence from clinical trials is crucial, with RCTs considered the gold standard for evaluating therapeutic interventions (Frieden, 2017). However, with the increased cost of cancer medicines and the challenges with conducting RCTs, it is now increasingly recognised that RCTs do not fully reflect real-world settings due to the strict inclusion and exclusion criteria applied in RCTs and the short follow-up period (Kim et al., 2018). Moreover, research has demonstrated that cancer RCTs represent only 10% of cancer patients treated in routine clinical practice (Karim et al., 2019). Hence, it remains unclear whether the findings of these RCTs can be generalisable to the remaining 90% of the patients and whether patients in real-world settings respond to treatments in a similar manner as clinical trial participants (Karim et al., 2019). Usually, patients who are ineligible to be enrolled in cancer RCTs include patients who are older, frailer, or patients with comorbidities and organ dysfunction (Duma et al., 2019, Dunn et al., 2017). This, however, poses problems regarding the generalisability of the findings and evidence derived from the RCTs (Fortin et al., 2006).

A similar case holds true for RCTs in CRC. For example, in the X-ACT trial, in which the approval of capecitabine as adjuvant therapy for stage III CRC was granted, a total of 1987 patients were included, with only patients 18-75 years of age permitted to participate (Twelves et al., 2005). Although capecitabine is frequently used in older patients with CRC, imposing these age criteria has resulted in a lack of data regarding the effect of capecitabine in the advanced-age population. Moreover, the time to initiate treatment is also a concern that is often examined in real-world studies. In the X-ACT trial, the adjuvant therapy was mandated to be initiated within eight weeks of surgery (Twelves et al., 2005). However, whether this timeframe is consistently followed in practice is unclear. Multiple real-world studies have explored this issue and shown that the time to initiate adjuvant therapy after surgery is variable, with some patients waiting between 12 to 16 weeks after surgical resection of the primary tumour (Cheung et al., 2009, Gresham et al., 2015, Peixoto et al., 2015b).

Furthermore, the effect of delayed administration of adjuvant therapy for CRC patients has shown poor survival outcomes for delayed receipt (i.e., more than eight weeks) of adjuvant

therapy after surgical resection of the primary tumour (Peixoto et al., 2015b). Additionally, RWD has provided an effective tool in assisting health technology assessment and funding decisions. For example, Ho et al. indicated that treatment attrition among patients with mCRC is high and that only 42% of patients in the real world reached the third-line situation and were eligible for cetuximab or panitumumab monotherapy, thus considerably modifying the projected budget impact (Ho et al., 2016).

Despite the information produced by RWD in CRC and the underrepresentation of cancer patients in clinical trials, it is still recognised that cancer clinicians continue to place RCTs in high regard as a source of evidence (Saesen et al., 2022). Nevertheless, generating information and evidence about how patients may respond to treatments in routine clinical practice enables patients and clinicians to make better-informed treatment decisions. Moreover, given the vital role of systemic anti-cancer medicines in the management of mCRC in terms of prolonging overall survival, additional information is thereby needed to provide a sufficient evidence base to inform treatment decisions for mCRC patients initiating firstline treatment. This is important in determining the further course of the disease for several reasons:

- First, the characteristics of mCRC patients treated in clinical practice may differ from that of patients participating in clinical trials and understanding the variability in the characteristics is vital to allow for a better understanding of the treatment decisions and outcomes in real-world settings.
- Second, guideline recommendations for the choice of first-line mCRC medicine are not detailed despite the fact that not every mCRC medicine is appropriate for every patient. Therefore, identifying the factors that influence prescribing decisions is important to help to optimise individual patient care and achieve the best treatment outcomes.
- Third, no direct comparison between all first-line mCRC SACTs in real-world settings
 has been performed and understanding the comparative effectiveness and safety of
 first-line mCRC medicines is crucial for clinicians and patients in addition to decisionmakers and payers.

For this thesis, it was hypothesised that differences exist between the use of first-line mCRC medicines in real-world practice and clinical trial settings. It was proposed that the effectiveness and safety of these medicines may vary when applied to a broader population of mCRC patients. Furthermore, it is assumed that patient characteristics, prescribing factors, and clinical outcomes associated with the use of first-line mCRC medicines will differ in real-world clinical practice compared to clinical trials.

This thesis aims to increase evidence generation from clinical practice regarding the use of first-line metastatic colorectal cancer medicines in real-world settings to better inform clinical decisions and optimise clinical outcomes among mCRC patients treated in a real-world setting. The objectives are to:

- Conduct a systematic review and a meta-analysis to compare the effectiveness and safety of first-line mCRC medicines,
- 2- Understand the characteristics of mCRC patients initiating first-line mCRC SACT in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde health board (NHS GGC) in Scotland,
- 3- Examine the factors associated with the prescribing of first-line mCRC SACTs in patients treated in NHS GGC,
- 4- Determine the clinical outcomes and treatment pathways of first-line SACT regimens for mCRC patients in NHS GGC.

1.5 Thesis methodology overview

The first objective, covered in chapter 2, was met through performing 6 random effect metaanalyses of all observational studies exploring the comparative effectiveness and safety of first-line mCRC SACTs, including overall survival, progression-free survival, and objective response (which encompass both overall response rate and disease control rate), in addition to the comparative safety (including both haematological and non-haematological toxicities).

The second, third, and fourth objectives (chapter 4, 5, and 6) used routinely collected administrative health data from the largest health board in Scotland, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde (NHS GGC), with objective two utilising descriptive statistics to describe the sociodemographic, clinical, and disease characteristics of mCRC patients initiating SACT therapy in NHS GGC, the following objective was met through using multinomial logistic regression to explore the factors that influence the clinician's selection of mCRC for the patients. For treatment outcomes, median overall survival was estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method, with Cox models used to assess the impact of mCRC SACT on the overall survival under the adjustment of different covariates. Finally, Patients' pathways across SACT lines until death, loss at follow-up, or end of the study were described and visualised using a Sankey diagram. The methodological details used for each objective will be provided in greater details in each respective chapter.

2 Chapter 2: Comparative effectiveness and safety of firstline metastatic colorectal cancer medicines: a systematic review and meta-analysis of real-world studies.

2.1 Introduction

Clinical outcomes of metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) patients have improved significantly over the last couple of decades, which can be attributed mainly to the increased efficacy of systemic anti-cancer treatments (SACTs) (Van Cutsem et al., 2014b, Arnold et al., 2017a). For unresectable, untreated mCRC, median overall survival of 6-9 months has been reported with a clear consensus that SACTs prolong median overall survival (OS) in patients with mCRC up to 30 months (Petrelli et al., 1989, Douillard et al., 2000, Giacchetti et al., 2000, de Gramont et al., 2000, Saltz et al., 2000, Cunningham et al., 2004, Tournigand et al., 2004a, Hurwitz et al., 2004, Kohne et al., 2005, Kabbinavar et al., 2005).

SACTs remain the mainstay of the management of mCRC treatment across all the treatment lines (Kopetz et al., 2009), with the therapeutic options for first-line treatment expanded, especially with the emergence of targeted treatments to include combinations of chemotherapeutic agents alone (5FU, oxaliplatin, irinotecan) or in combination with monoclonal antibodies (MoAbs) targeting epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR; cetuximab and panitumumab) or vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR; bevacizumab), thereby providing effective first-line therapeutic regimens for mCRC (Saltz et al., 2004). Nevertheless, the increased number of available treatments and combinations for first-line along with the high inter-patient variability of CRC has resulted in more challenges concerning the choices of treatment that should be used as the first line of treatment (Vera et al., 2015).

Many clinical trials were performed to compare the clinical outcomes following a first-line treatment in mCRC. Although clinical trials remain the current gold-standard primary study design for the determination of the efficacy and safety of medical interventions (Schulz et al., 2010), they cannot be used to assess all relevant combinations for treatment given the required time and cost and the rate at which new therapies and combinations are being made available; thus, evidence from RCTs might not fully inform treatment choices.

47

Observational studies based on RWD are often considered a substitute when RCTs are unavailable or not feasible. Data from real-world studies can provide a complement to clinical trials evidence on comparative effectiveness and safety research by providing results on how an intervention works outside the settings of research, which provide essential information on the long-term safety and effectiveness of a drug in large populations and patients who are frequently excluded from clinical trials (Blonde et al., 2018).

Several observational studies have been conducted to compare the clinical outcomes of various mCRC SACTs to address the need for comparative evidence. The results of these studies have been variable, which could be attributed to the heterogeneity in the study designs, applied analytical methods, different characteristics of the patients included in these studies, and the variable levels of confounding and selection bias introduced to observational studies as a result of lack of randomisation. However, a meta-analysis that quantifies and summarises the findings of these studies is lacking.

Aims and objectives.

This review aims to systematically synthesise and summarises the published real-world evidence comparing effectiveness measures, including overall survival (OS), progression-free survival (PFS), objective response, and safety measured by the occureness of severe toxicities for first-line mCRC SACTs. Furthermore, this review aims to determine whether the comparative effectiveness and safety estimates show significant heterogeneity across studies.

2.2 Methods.

This systematic review and meta-analysis (SR-MA) was reported according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies evaluating healthcare intervention (Moher et al., 2009). The protocol for the current SR-MA was registered in the international prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO) (Registration number: CRD42020164593). Due to the nature of the review (a meta-analysis), ethical approval was not necessary for the legislation (Wormald and Evans, 2018).

2.2.1 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Only comparative, observational retrospective or prospective cohort studies published in English from inception until 31st July 2021 were included in this SR-MA. Studies with no comparison were not included in this review. Moreover, single case series, case studies, conference abstracts, and qualitative studies were excluded. Although no previous SRs have been conducted to compare the effectiveness and safety of all first-line mCRC SACTs, SRs, MAs, or studies reporting previously published data for first-line mCRC SACTs were similarly excluded to avoid duplicates in the data (Senn, 2009). Studies that did not provide relevant information to compute effect sizes (ESs) were also excluded unless data could be obtained from the authors.

Guided by the PICO framework (Participants, Intervention, comparison, and outcome), the following eligibility criteria were considered for the SR-MA (Richardson, 1995).

2.2.1.1 Participants

Studies were included if the participants were 18 years or over. Studies with participants younger than the age of 18 years were excluded. Included participants must have been diagnosed with unresectable mCRC. Studies that included patients who were diagnosed with stage I-III CRC were not included in this review. No gender or ethnicity restrictions were placed on the population of this review.

2.2.1.2 Intervention/ Comparator

Given the nature of this comparative effectiveness MA, different interventions were compared against each other. Hence, both the intervention and comparison elements of the PICO framework were combined into the same section.

Studies were included if they investigated the comparative effectiveness of first-line mCRC SACTs. Those SACTs included single agents (e.g., capecitabine) any combination of chemotherapeutic agents (e.g., FOLFOX) or a combination of chemotherapy with targeted therapy (e.g., bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI). Studies that investigated the effect of first-line mCRC SACTs in settings other than metastatic CRC (e.g., adjuvant therapy) were excluded from the review. Additionally, studies that compared treatment strategies (e.g., combination chemotherapy versus sequential chemotherapy), frequency of administration (e.g., once

weekly versus twice weekly), dose intensity (e.g., single dose versus double dose) were not included in the present review.

2.2.1.3 Outcomes

This MA measured the effectiveness and safety of first-line SACTs administered for unresectable mCRC. The effectiveness measures investigated included overall survival, progression-free survival, and objective response, while the safety measures included the occurrences of severe adverse events. The outcomes were divided into primary and secondary outcomes.

Primary outcome: overall survival

The primary outcome measure for the present MA was overall survival (OS), measured by the time interval between initiating treatment of interest and death from any cause (Fiteni et al., 2014). OS is the most widely acknowledged method used for evaluating the outcomes of cancer therapy (Driscoll and Rixe, 2009). It was also agreed by the American and European oncology groups that OS should be the primary outcome measure in clinical studies (Ellis et al., 2014, Wild et al., 2016). Studies in this MA were included if they reported OS as an outcome.

Secondary outcomes

In addition to the primary outcome of this MA, OS, two other effectiveness measures were included: progression-free survival (PFS) and objective response. The safety was also measured by the occurrences of severe toxicities. For the current review, studies that reported any of the secondary outcomes without reporting OS were excluded as OS is the primary outcome in which the quality of the studies was assessed based on.

Progression-free survival (PFS)

PFS is defined as the time from initiating treatment of interest to disease progression or death from any cause in the metastatic stage (Fiteni et al., 2014). PFS has been validated and accepted as a clinically meaningful endpoint, and it was shown to be superior to OS in instances where collecting data on OS may require a prolonged observation period to attain sufficient data to achieve a statistical power (Brody, 2012, Ellis et al., 2014). However, when used alone, PFS is not considered to provide sufficient evidence of benefit to patients (Ellis et al., 2014). Hence, OS is considered a measure of effectiveness in new cancer therapies,

with a significant effect on OS, implying a significant impact on PFS (Ferguson et al., 2000, Gyawali et al., 2018). As a result of that, PFS was considered a secondary outcome in this MA.

Objective response

The objective response is defined as the assessment of tumour burden (TB) after a specific treatment (Zubrod CG, 1960, Gehan and Schneiderman, 1990). One of the methods that have been widely embraced for evaluating the objective response of solid tumours to treatment is The Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumours (RECIST). This method was developed and published by an international collaboration comprising the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC), the National Cancer Institute (NCI) of the United States, and the National Cancer Institute of Clinical Trials Group (NCIC CTG) to assess the objective response of solid tumours treated by cytotoxic chemotherapies according to anatomic imaging (e.g., Computed topography scans (CT scan), Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)) (Miller et al., 1981, Therasse et al., 2000). Since the efficacy of a chemotherapy is typically associated with tumour shrinkage over time, RECIST has been utilised as a surrogate endpoint for OS in clinical trials (Burzykowski et al., 2008, Borcoman et al., 2018) and hence was explored as a secondary outcome in this review.

According to RECIST, objective status at the patient level is evaluated using unidimensional tumour measures of target lesions, nontarget lesions, and new lesions. RECIST rules were initially introduced in 2000 (RECIST V1.0) and revised in 2009 (RECIST V1.1). These rules classify the objective response of the tumour to treatment into four categories: Complete response (CR), partial response (PR), stable disease (SD) and progressive disease (PD) (Therasse et al., 2000, Eisenhauer et al., 2009). Table 2.1 shows RECIST rules for both version 1.0 and 1.1. Alternative categorical endpoints were suggested and explored to report the results of the objective response within RECIST to facilitate clinical decision making in routine practice and to serve as a significant endpoint for reporting the results in clinical trials as follows: Overall response rate (ORR), which is defined as the percentage of patients with tumour who respond completely or partially to a specific treatment within a definite period of time and Disease Control Rate (DCR) which is a composite of ORR and stable disease (Aykan and Ozatli, 2020). ORR and DCR were used to assess the objective response in the current review.

	RECIST guideline (Version 1.0)	RECIST guideline (Version 1.1)	
	(Therasse et al., 2000)	(Eisenhauer et al., 2009)	
Method	Sum of longest diameters of	Sum of longest diameters of	
	target lesions	non-nodal target lesions and	
	(unidimensional)	short axis of nodal target lesions	
		(unidimensional)	
Number of	Target lesions: maximum 5 per	Target lesions: Maximum 2 per	
measured lesions	organ, 10 in total	organ, 5 in total	
Response assessment	t		
Complete response	Disappearance of all target	Disappearance of all known	
(CR)	lesions at 4 weeks	disease, confirmed at 4 weeks,	
		lymph nodes must be < 10 mm	
		short axis	
Partial response	≥30% decrease in the sum of	≥30% decrease in the sum of the	
(PR)	the longest diameter of the	longest diameter of the target	
	target lesions compared with	lesions compared with baseline	
Dragnasius diasaa	baseline	> 20% in an and of at least 5 mm	
Progressive disease	220% increase in the sum of	220% increase of at least 5 mm	
	target lesions compared with	diameter of the target lesions	
	the smallest sum of the	compared with the smallest sum	
	longest diameter recorded	of the longest diameter	
	since treatment started.	recorded.	
	OR	OR	
	The appearance of 1 or more	The appearance of new lesions,	
	new lesions	including those detected by	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		FDG-PET	
Stable disease (SD)	Stable disease (SU) Neither PK nor PD Neither PK nor PD		

Table 2.1: RECIST version 1.0 and RECIST version 1.1 criteria.

KEY: RECIST= Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumours, CR: complete response; PR: partial response; PD: progressive disease; FDG-PET: fludeoxyglucose positron emission tomography; SD: stable disease.

Severe toxicities

In Phase IV trials, safety is evaluated through various methods, including adverse event reporting, where data on adverse events arising during the treatment course is documented. However, this approach encounters several limitations, such as underreporting of adverse events, reporting bias, incomplete data, and disparities in reporting quality. Moreover, the absence of a control group in Phase IV trials presents challenges in establishing causality between treatment and outcomes (Suvarna, 2010). Other safety assessment methods in Phase IV trials encompass post-marketing surveillance, entailing continuous monitoring of safety signals and reports from healthcare providers and patients once the treatment enters the market post-clinical trials (Vlahovic-Palcevski and Mentzer, 2011). Post-marketing surveillance methods encompass diverse strategies, including spontaneous reporting systems, pharmacovigilance databases, signal detection, electronic health records integration, patient registries, comparative effectiveness research, and collaborative efforts with healthcare professionals, all aimed at continuously monitoring the safety and effectiveness of medical treatments in real-world settings (Vlahovic-Palcevski and Mentzer, 2011).

Post-marketing surveillance methods facilitate the identification and evaluation of potential safety issues, offer insights into real-world treatment effects, and guide regulatory decisions. For example, spontaneous reporting systems, a component of post-marketing surveillance, involve soliciting voluntary reports from healthcare professionals, patients, and consumers regarding adverse events encountered during treatment. These reports are directed to regulatory agencies or manufacturers, and the ensuing data is subject to analysis for potential safety indicators (Edwards, 1999). Additional techniques within post-marketing surveillance encompass signal detection, which employs advanced statistical and data mining methodologies to identify potential safety signals from significant volumes of adverse event reports (Meyboom et al., 1997). These methodologies aid in prioritising events warranting further scrutiny. Despite their great benefits, these methods are limited by underreporting and reporting bias of adverse events, challenges in confirming causality, incomplete or variable data quality, and difficulties in comparing data due to variability in reporting standards and sampling biases (McNeil et al., 1999).

The occurrence of severe adverse events (AE) was measured based on the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) grading system which was developed by the NCI to describe the severity of organ toxicity for patients receiving SACT. This scaling system uses a range of grades from 1 to 5 to denote the severity of each AE in an ascending order with 1 standing for mild toxicity, 2 for moderate toxicity, 3 for severe toxicity, 4 for life threatening toxicity, and 5 indicating death (National Cancer Insitute, 2017). Studies that reported adverse events using methods other than the NCI-CTCAE were not included for the safety outcome due to the variability in reporting.

The CTCAE grading system is widely utilised in safety assessment in regulatory pharmacovigilance studies in the field of cancer to systematically assess and grade adverse events. Data collection is conducted prospectively from various sources, and the severity of AEs is categorized according to CTCAE criteria. The collected safety data, including CTCAE-

53

based AE information, is submitted to regulatory authorities to inform decision-making and regulatory actions (Crestan et al., 2020). The US National Cancer Institute has recently introduced a new tool called PRO-CTCAE (Patient-reported outcomes CTCAE) to aid patients in reporting symptomatic toxicity during cancer clinical trials. PRO-CTCAE serves as a companion to the CTCAE and is designed to enhance patient involvement in reporting their own experiences of treatment-related symptoms (Kluetz et al., 2016).

For the current review, severe toxicities with grade \geq 3 were investigated and categorised into haematological and non-haematological toxicities. Severe toxicities were specifically chosen because reporting of toxicities in RCT and observational publications is often restricted to severe toxicities (Zhang et al., 2016, Phillips et al., 2019). Haematological toxicities included hypertension, anaemia, bleeding, neutropenia, febrile neutropenia, leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, venous and arterial thromboembolic events, whereas nonhaematological toxicities included acne, allergic reactions, anorexia, asthenia, diarrhoea, gastrointestinal (GI) perforation, hand-foot skin reaction (HFSR), liver dysfunction, mucositis, nausea, neuropathy, proteinuria, and stomatitis.

2.2.2 Systematic search strategy

2.2.2.1 Databases searched.

The following medical and allied health professionals' electronic databases were searched from their respective inception dates until the 31st of Dec 2019 and was later supplemented until the 31st of July 2021 (the date of starting data analysis): MEDLINE (OVID), EMBASE (OVID), and CINAHL. The citation databases Scopus and Web of Science were also searched. A number of additional search strategies were also applied to ensure that the literature search was as comprehensive as possible. The ancestry approach to find relevant papers from the reference lists of included studies was utilised. additionally, the following clinical trial registers were searched for unpublished prospective comparative cohort studies: 1- EU clinical trials register (<u>https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/</u>), and 2- the US national library of medicine registry of clinical trials (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/</u>). Moreover, ProQuest and Ethos dissertation databases were searched for additional unpublished work. Finally, key journals such as Annals of Oncology, BMC cancer, and Clinical Colorectal Cancer were hand-searched as they were likely to contain information relevant to the population, the interventions, or the outcomes of interest.

2.2.2.2 Search terms.

Articles were identified by the use of key terms guided by the PICO framework. The search keywords contained terminology from the United Kingdom and the United States of America, as well as truncation. Additionally, synonyms of each search domain containing both free text and Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) were utilised. Finally, an age filter was used to guarantee that research with people aged 18 years and over was included.

The search strategy was independently assessed by an academic librarian at the University of Strathclyde as well as a postdoctoral researcher with expertise in conducting systematic reviews. For the full Medline search strategy see appendix I.

2.2.2.3 Study selection

Following a search in each of the aforementioned resources, sourced studies were imported into the Endnote software, where an initial removal of duplicated articles was performed. Sourced studies were then imported into Covidence online software, a software program specifically developed to facilitate the production of systematic reviews (<u>https://www.covidence.org/</u>), where the remaining duplicates were removed, and a two-stage screening was performed: first, an initial study screening was executed in which the titles and abstracts of the studies were evaluated to determine whether they matched the study inclusion criteria. This was followed by full text screening where the full text was read and assessed for inclusion in the review. PRISMA flow diagram which illustrate the process of identifying, screening, including, and excluding all items with explicit justification was generated (Moher et al., 2009) (See section 2.3.1 - results).

The study selection process was entirely performed by the principal reviewer (HY). In addition to that, each of the screening steps was independently and separately reviewed by two independent researchers in which a 10% random subset was generated for each researcher at each screening step. The level of agreement between the reviewers for each step was calculated as a percentage and was classified as poor (less than 70%), fair (70-79%), good (80-89%) and excellent (>90%) (Watkins and Pacheco, 2000). Disagreements between the reviewers where they occurred were resolved following discussions.

2.2.3 Data extraction

A data extraction form was piloted based on the PICO framework in Microsoft[®] Excel using a 10% random subset of the included articles. This step was performed to ensure that the information to be extracted was both standardised and relevant. The primary reviewer (HY) extracted pertinent data from each included publication, and it was then independently reviewed by two independent researchers using a 10% random subset selected for each researcher. The extraction items are listed in Table 2.2.

Domain	Extracted data
Identifications	Study number, lead author, publication year, country, funding
	source.
Methods	Design, study duration, setting, data source, duration of
	follow-up, RECIST version, survival method measurement.
Population	Age, gender, performance status (ECOG), comorbidities,
	RAS/BRAF mutation, mucinous histology, primary tumour
	location, number of organs involved, localisation of
	metastasis, disease stage at diagnosis, tumour sidedness,
	primary tumour resection.
Intervention	SACT name, SACT dose, number of cycles, duration of
	treatment, frequency of administration, previous
	neo/adjuvant therapy.
Outcome	Outcome definition, sample size. For each outcome:
	OS: survival probability, median OS, HR (95% CI)
	PFS: survival probability, median PFS, HR (95% CI)
	RECIST: number of evaluable patients, CR, PR, SD, PD
	Grade ≥ 3 toxicities: haematological and non-haematological
	toxicities.
KEY: RECIST=Response evaluation of	riteria in solid tumour, ECOG=Eastern cooperative oncology group, SACT=Systemic anti-

Table 2.2: Extraction form items.

KEY: RECIST=Response evaluation criteria in solid tumour, ECOG=Eastern cooperative oncology group, SACT=Systemic anticancer treatment, OS=Overall survival, PFS= progression-free survival, HR= Hazard ratio, CI= confidence interval, CR= complete response, PR= partial response, SD= stable disease, PD = progressive disease

2.2.4 Assessment of risk of bias

To conduct a SR-MA, it is critical to assess the methodological quality of the primary included studies; this assessment would be necessary before including the primary studies in the SR-MA. While quality encompasses internal and external validity (Campbell, 1957, Higgins and Green, 2011), methodological quality is frequently used to refer to internal validity. Internal validity is also recommended by the Cochrane Collaboration as a measure of "risk of bias (RoB)" (Higgins and Green, 2011).

The internal validity and methodological rigour of each study within this review was assessed using the "Risk of Bias in Non-randomised studies-of Interventions" (ROBINS-I) (Sterne et al., 2016b). This tool was developed by the Cochrane Bias Methods Group, with input from a wide international group of leading epidemiologists and methodologists. ROBINS-I focuses on internal validity by evaluating seven distinct bias domains; the first three domains of bias feature the pre or at-intervention bias arising in non-randomised studies (NRS), which are distinct from the biases that arise in RCTs, whereas the four remaining domains represent the bias arising post intervention in both observational studies and RCTs (Sterne et al., 2016b).

After determining the outcome in which the risk of bias will be assessed, it is essential to consider any confounder or cointerventions deemed to have the potential to lead to biased outcomes. These confounders/cointerventions were identified from the literature and clinical management guidelines to be the factors that moderate survival for patients with mCRC. For this review, the main outcome, which is overall survival, was assessed for the risk of bias with the most significant prognostic factors including the performance status (Sargent et al., 2009) and SACT (Aparicio et al., 2003, Stillwell et al., 2011, Eker et al., 2015).

Domain stages	Type of bias		
	1- Confounding bias		
Pre-intervention domain	2- Selection of participants at study		
At- intervention domain	3- Classification of interventions		
	4- Deviation from intended intervention.		
Post intervention domain	5- Missing data		
	6- Measurement of outcomes		
	7- Selection of reported results		

Table 2.3: Types of domains and biases within ROBINS-I.

In addition, signalling questions (SQs) are provided by the tool developers to help the review assessor determine the appropriate assessment for each domain. ROBINS-I defines bias as a systematic difference between the outcomes of the NRS and the outcomes anticipated from an unrestricted hypothetical target trial. This is because the NRS is intended to replicate an RCT and comparing it to a hypothetical target trial enables assessment of the bias in the NRS data in comparison to a hypothetical RCT addressing the same question (Sterne et al., 2016b). Table 2.3 provides more information on the bias domains within ROBINS-I, and Figure 2.1 depicts the assessment process of using ROBINS-I.

The principal reviewer (HY) assessed the quality of included studies, and two independent reviewers validated a random 10% of included studies. Any disagreements were settled through conversation and resolved through consensus.



Figure 2.1 The process of using ROBINS-I tool (adopted from (Schunemann et al., 2019).

Risk of bias was classified as low, moderate, serious, critical, or no information. Studies with no flaw in any of the 7 categories were deemed to have low risk of bias. Studies with one or more flaws received a rating equivalent to the highest risk of bias in any one category. For example, if a study scored low risk of bias in 6 domains but serious risk of bias in one domain, the overall risk of bias for this study would be serious risk of bias. Robvis visualising tool, a web app designed to visualise the assessment of risk of bias was used to tabulate and visualised risk of bias for all studies (https://www.riskofbias.info/welcome/robvisvisualization-tool) (McGuinness and Higgins, 2021).

Throughout the assessment of risk of bias process, the ROBINS-I guidance published by Cochrane methods bias group was followed to ensure an accurate assessment for each of the seven domains in each study (Sterne et al., 2016b). Furthermore, a random 10% of the included studies were validated for the risk of bias by one independent researcher. An agreement for each domain accounted for one point. At the end of the validation process, the points were summed and divided by the total number of assessed domains to calculate the percentage of agreement.

2.2.5 Data synthesis

Traditional, pairwise MA is a statistical tool for pooling the results of several comparable studies that perform a direct comparison of the same two interventions (Borenstein et al., 2009). A MA provides a more precise estimate of a treatment effect by increasing the overall

sample size of the study, which is critical to make inferences from a large body of evidence (Sutton et al., 2000, Nordmann et al., 2012). In general, a MA is a two-stage process: the first stage involves calculating the appropriate summary statistics of effect measure for each of the outcomes of the included studies, while the second stage involves combining these statistics into a weighted average of effects for each of the outcome of the included studies (Cooper and Hedges, 1994, Normand, 1999, Deeks and Higgins, 2010).

2.2.6 Meta-analysis method

The most common approach for implementing a MA is the inverse-variance method. This method assigns weights for each effect size based on the inverse of the effect size variance, given that the variance is calculated as the square of the effect size' standard error (SE). This means that a study's effect size with small SE (hence, variance) is given a larger weight in a MA than a study with higher SE for the effect size (Hedges, 1983). This can be illustrated in formula 1.

$$w = \frac{1}{\mathrm{SE}^2}$$
 ... Formula 1

Where w is the weight calculated and given to each study, SE is the standard error of the effect size, and SE² is the variance.

Although rigorously conducted MAs can be useful tools in evidence-based medicine, MAs can produce misleading effect sizes if critical issues are not handled appropriately; this can include the choice of the proper model (random effect model or fixed effect model), selecting the correct type of ES, investigating heterogeneity, and assessing publication bias (Egger et al., 2001, Haidich, 2010).

2.2.6.1 Meta-analysis models

When pooling data from multiple comparable studies in an MA, it is important to make a reasonable assumption about the distribution of effect sizes (ESs) among the included studies and how to model them. An MA can be modelled in two ways: the fixed effect or random effect models (Borenstein et al., 2009). The fixed effect model assumes that all studies included in the MA have been sampled from the same population (i.e., homogenous population), resulting in one common (true) effect size. As a result, sample ESs are assumed

to be derived from a homogenous population and that any differences in the distribution of ESs are attributed only to sampling error (i.e., within-study variance) (Cohn and Becker, 2003, Borenstein et al., 2009). However, in practice, the assumption of homogeneity required for a fixed-effect model is frequently implausible (Field, 2003). In contrast, the random effect model allows for heterogeneity between studies by assuming that the population ESs could vary randomly between studies due to factors such as the methods utilised and the research context (Cohn and Becker, 2003, Field, 2003, Hunter and Schmidt, 2008). The random effect model estimates the average effect size across a range of similar populations; hence results can be generalised to other populations (Borenstein et al., 2009). The main difference between the two models is regarding the source of error that is accounted for. For both models, there is a within-study error that arises from the sampling error. However, the random effect model assumes an additional source of error, which is the between-study error as a result of sampling populations from individual super-population (Michael Borenstein, 2009, Mikolajewicz and Komarova, 2019).

Rational for the use of the random effect model

The choice of using a fixed or random effect methods depends on two factors: 1- the assumptions that can be made regarding the population from which studies are sampled, and 2- the types of inferences to be made from the MA (Field, 2003).

Firstly, Real-world data have wide variable population parameters. It has been observed that substantive moderator variables exist in all study domains resulting in variability in population parameters such as the methodological approaches implemented in each study (Hunter and Schmidt, 1990, Osburn, 1992, National research council, 1992). Besides, real-world data tends to have heterogenous population effect sizes even in the absence of known moderator variables, and as a result of that, it was suggested that real-world data does not fit the assumptions of fixed population parameters. (Schmidt and Hunter, 1998). Secondly, while the fixed effect model can be used to make inferences applied only to the studies included in the MA, the inferences drawn from a random effect model can be extended to a population of studies larger than the sample (i.e., use MA to make generalisations beyond the studies included in the MA. (Hedges and Vevea, 1998, Cohn and Becker, 2003). For these two reasons, this MA was modelled using the random effect model.

Although the random effect model accounts for heterogeneity by assuming that a range of effect sizes in individual studies is around the average effect size to estimate, the model itself does not explain the heterogeneity. Traditionally, the between-study variance is denoted as τ^2 in the meta-analytic literature.

2.2.6.2 Heterogeneity assessment

Heterogeneity is an important element that should be considered when conducting an MA. it arises from the variability among the included studies. As stated in section 2.2.6.1, there are mainly two sources of variability: the within-study variability due to sampling error and the between-study variability (Huedo-Medina et al., 2006). Within-study variability is inevitable in any MA because every study uses a different sample. Nevertheless, between-study variability is attributed to the effect of many characteristics that vary across studies, such as the variation in participants, interventions, study design, risk of bias... etc (Brockwell and Gordon, 2001, Field, 2003, Hunter and Schmidt, 2008). Hence, assessing the heterogeneity in an MA is a key issue since the presence or absence of between-study variability can influence the model of the MA.

The conventional method used to assess the presence of true heterogeneity (between-study variability) in a MA has been to utilise the Q test (Cochran's Q). This statistical test examines the null hypothesis that all studies included in an MA evaluate the same effect. Failing to reject the homogeneity hypothesis leads the MA to adopt the fixed-effect model because it assumes that the ESs differ only due to sampling error. By contrast, rejecting the homogeneity hypothesis can result in implementing the random effect model that includes both within-study variability and between-study variability (Cochran, 1954). However, the Q test has poor power to detect the true heterogeneity among studies when an MA includes a small number of studies. It has an excessive power to detect negligible heterogeneity with a high number of studies included in an MA, especially when these studies are large (Osburn et al., 1983, Sackett et al., 1986, Paul and Donner, 1992, Hardy and Thompson, 1998, Sterne and Egger, 2001, Higgins et al., 2002). As a result, the Q test has been used only to inform about the presence or absence of heterogeneity in an MA but not the extent of the heterogeneity.

An alternative method that has been suggested to assess the extent of heterogeneity is the I^2 test statistic. The I^2 was proposed by Higgins and Thomson (Higgins et al., 2003) to quantify the degree of heterogeneity between the studies of the MA. It can be interpreted as the

62

percentage of the overall variability in a group of ESs due to true heterogeneity (betweenstudy variability) (Higgins et al., 2003). For instance, I^2 value of zero percent would be interpreted that all variability in ESs is due to sampling error. In contrast, an I^2 value of 50% indicates that half of the total variability across ESs is due to true heterogeneity and not only due to sampling error. A value of 100% means that all the variation in the meta-analysis is attributed to true heterogeneity rather than to sampling error. Higgins et al. suggested the following classification to help interpret the magnitude of heterogeneity where $I^2=25$, $I^2=50$, and $I^2=75$, indicates low, medium, and high heterogeneity, respectively.

Nevertheless, despite its widespread use in the literature, I² is not an absolute indicator of heterogeneity, and its significance remains highly dependent on the precision of the research included (Borenstein et al., 2009). I² is simply the percentage of the overall variability that is not attributed to sampling error. Hence, when the sample size of the included studies increases, the sampling error decreases, while I² might approach 100% merely because the included studies have a larger sample size. Although the use of the variance (τ^2) confers a solution for this problem since τ^2 is insensitive to the number of studies, it is difficult to draw conclusions about the clinical implications of the observed heterogeneity (Borenstein et al., 2009).

Another estimator was proposed to circumvent this limitation which is the prediction interval (PI). This approach predicts where the true effects are to be expected for similar studies that might be conducted in future based on current evidence (IntHout et al., 2016).

2.2.6.3 Effect size calculation and estimation

An effect size (ES) is a numerical value that indicates the magnitude of a treatment effect (Borenstein et al., 2009). For the current MA, four distinctive outcomes were measured. Selection of the appropriate ES is dictated by several considerations, including 1- the comparability of ESs across the included studies and the independency of the ES from study design aspects (e.g., sample size, covariates), 2- the ability to calculate the ES from the information provided by the primary studies, 3- the availability of other details that describe the ES such as the sampling distribution which allows for calculating the variance and confidence interval of the ES. In addition to that, the type of data is an important determinant for the type of ES used. (Borenstein et al., 2009). For the current MA, 2 types of ESs were used based on the type of outcome data.

OS and PFS - Hazard ratio (HR) was used to summarise time-to-event (TTE) data which are OS and PFS. Since both outcomes measure survival, time to death is the outcome of interest, and the term event within time to event will be substituted by death over the rest of the chapter when a reference is made for survival outcomes. Within the same context, TTE analysis is also known as survival analysis.

HR is known to be the most appropriate and acceptable method to express the intervention effect of TTE data as it measures the instantaneous risk of developing death, taking into consideration the concept of censoring, which arises from the unavailability of information pertaining to death due to loss at follow up or non-occurrence of death before the end of the study (Parmar et al., 1998, Higgins and Green, 2011).

An MA of HRs involves obtaining the HR for each single study (or treatment comparison where a study contains multiple independent treatment comparisons), performing a natural logarithmic transformation of the HR ((log)HR) then pooling the log HRs into an inverse variance weighted MA. Two methods were used to extract the log (HR) and its variance for each comparison:

Direct method: this method involves extracting HR and 95% CI from a Cox proportional hazard model whenever reported in the primary study and incorporating mCRC SACT. Cox models produce direct estimates of the HR and its corresponding 95% CI. A logarithmic transformation of HR is done through simple calculation, whereas the variance is calculated from the CI via the following equation.

$$\operatorname{var}(\ln(\operatorname{HR}_{i})) = \left[\frac{\operatorname{UPPCI}_{i} - \operatorname{LOWCI}_{i}}{2\Phi^{-1}(1 - \alpha_{i}/2)}\right]^{2} \dots \text{ formula } 2$$

Where UPPCIi and LOWCIi are the upper and lower confidence limits for log(HRi) respectively.

 Φ is the cumulative distribution function of the normal distribution and $\Phi^{-1}\left(1-\frac{\alpha i}{2}\right)$ = 1.96 for 95% CI. Indirect method (curve approach): previous work in oncology has shown that TTE statistics are poorly and inconsistently reported in published literature (Altman et al., 1995). The curve approach method was used where survival estimates were presented only graphically without reporting the Cox proportional hazard model. This method was first described by Parmar et al., and it relies on the concept that the HR is a summary of the difference between two Kaplan-Meier (KM) curves. It estimates the total reduction in the risk of death during treatment compared to control over the course of the patient's follow-up (Parmar et al., 1998). The curve approach method was further extended beyond the estimation of HR to the reconstruction of TTE data on the individual level (Guyot et al., 2012). Furthermore, Guyot et al. proposed an R-code for an algorithm to produce the statistics details required to estimate HR from the reconstructed KM curves (Guyot et al., 2012). The following steps were performed to obtain the log (HR) and its variance from graphical KM curves.

First, a KM graph was imported into WebPlotDigitizer, A web-based tool used to extract data from graphical KM curves (https://automeris.io/WebPlotDigitizer/). Both the X and Y axis of the KM curve, representing time from treatment initiation and probability of survival, respectively, were defined by the input of the minimum and maximum values for each axis. Afterwards, manual mouse clicks were applied to select points to read off from the KM curve. The resulting data pair was then exported into an excel sheet. Table 2.4 represents an illustrative example of the outcome data pairs generated following the data extraction from a KM curve. Following that, the data pair sheet was exported to R, where each KM curve data points were processed along with the data pertaining to the total number of enrolled patients and the total number of deaths to generate pooled survival curves using IPDfromKM R package (Liu et al., 2021). Finally, the estimates for the two compared curves were processed to generate the required Cox statistics, including the log (HR) and SE. SE was squared to obtain the variance of the log (HR). This method requires a sufficiently clear copy of the KM curve to be extracted and segmented into a number of time intervals showing the death rate over time. For studies where the two KM curves were tangled, adobe illustrator was used to separate the curves. In instances where the curves were overlapping and very tangled where it was rendered impossible to separate them, studies were excluded from further analysis. The data extraction step

from graphical KM curves was validated by an independent researcher, in which 20% of the graphs were validated.

Time in months	Survival probability
0	100
1.904762	89.0411
2.02381	87.21461
3.690476	79.45205
4.404762	79.45205
5.714286	63.92694
6.190476	63.92694
7.738095	54.3379
8.928571	51.14155
11.78571	40.18265
12.61905	34.24658
16.66667	34.24658
18.45238	24.20091
20.59524	12.32877
24.88095	5.936073
25	0.456621

Table 2.4: Example of the outcome data pairs generated from WebPlotDigitizer.

<u>Objective response and severe toxicities</u> - Both odds ratio (OR) and risk ratio (RR) are used to determine the association between an exposure (intervention) and an outcome in binary data. RR represents the probability of the occurrence of an outcome in the presence of certain exposure compared to the probability of the occurrence of an outcome in the absence of exposure (Szumilas, 2010). In contrast OR measures the odds of the occurrence of an outcome in the exposed group over the odds of the outcome in the comparison group (Borenstein et al., 2009). A RR (or OR) of 1 indicates no difference in risk (or odds) exists between the groups being compared. A RR (or OR) greater than 1 implies an increase in risk (or odds) for the exposed group when compared to a comparison (or non-exposed) group, whereas a RR (or OR) less than 1.0 suggests a decrease in risk (or odds) for the exposed group.

It has been suggested that the OR is almost identical to RR and can be interpreted as RR when the outcome is rare (less than 10%) (Zhang and Yu, 1998). However, when the incidence of the outcome is relatively high (more than 10%) OR might overestimate the effect of the treatment on the outcome. The OR will be greater than the RR if the RR is greater than one and less than the RR otherwise (Zhang and Yu, 1998). In addition to that, ORs are less intuitive than RR and hence more subjected to misinterpretation. As a result of that, for this MA, the outcome data on the effect of treatment on the objective response (both ORR and DCR) and severe toxicities (both haematological and non-haematological) were presented in the form of RRs and their corresponding variance. Crude data from 2x2 table were used to compute unadjusted RR and their corresponding variance, as illustrated in Figure 2.2. Where no event was contained in one of the cells of the 2x2 table (i.e., the value of the cell = zero), Haldane-Anscombe correction (zero-cell correction) was applied in which all cells in that table were inflated by adding 0.5 (Haldane, 1956, Weber et al., 2020). All effect size computations were carried out manually and verified using Practical Meta-Analysis Effect Size Calculator which was developed by Campbell collaboration (Wilson, 2017).



Figure 2.2 Computation of relative risk and the natural logarithm of Variance KEY: RR= relative risk, $V_{\ln (RR)}$ = Variance of ln Risk ratio

2.2.6.4 Publication bias

The term publication bias, or the "file drawer problem" as described by (Rosenthal, 1979), refers to the tendency for a publication to be disseminated based on its findings (Vevea and Woods, 2005). It has been suggested that approximately 50% of completed studies remain unpublished (Dwan et al., 2010, Song et al., 2010). Thereby, bias can be manifested if only publications with statistically significant findings are published, leaving all other studies unpublished. This condition emerges either because the researchers are less likely to submit these studies or as a result of journal reviewers or editors rejecting the studies (Vevea and Woods, 2005, Song et al., 2010). This will result in an MA overestimating the population effect size, which could lead to incorrect inferences from the MA (van Assen et al., 2015).

Methods used to explore publication bias can be classified into two groups: 1- methods that examine the presence of publication bias, and 2- methods that estimate ESs corrected for

publication bias which usually provides a confidence interval and test the null hypothesis that there is no effect corrected for publication bias.

One of the most common methods used to examine publication bias is by using funnel plots. The funnel plot is a simple scatter plot of the individual studies in an MA, with the treatment effect on the horizontal axis and a measure of study size (such as the inverse variance or SE) on the vertical axis (Light and Pillemer, 1986). A funnel plot shows whether small-study effects are present. The name funnel plot is derived from the notion that as individual study sample size increases, the precision in the estimation of the underlying treatment effect will also increase. Thus, when a measure of study size is plotted on the vertical axis, results from small studies will be widely scattering at the bottom of the graph, whereas the spread between larger studies will be narrower (Egger et al., 1997). In the absence of publication bias (and when all studies estimate the same underlying effect), the plot will resemble an inverted symmetrical funnel (Light and Pillemer, 1986). Publication bias is frequently taken as a reason for the small-study effect and is thus interpreted as evidence for publication bias (Lin et al., 2020). Generally, the presence of symmetry or asymmetry has been determined informally, via visual assessment. As a result of that, the evaluation of funnel plots is rather subjective (Terrin et al., 2005). Hence, Egger's regression test was developed to examine the presence of a small-study effect in an MA (Egger et al., 1997). It utilises linear regression with observed ESs as the dependent variable and a measure of the precision of primary studies as the predictor variable. Evidence of small-study effects is assumed if the slope of this regression line is significantly different from zero. The limitation of this test is that its statistical power for detecting publication bias is poor, especially when a meta-analysis has a small number of ESs (Begg and Mazumdar, 1994, Sterne et al., 2000). Therefore, this method should be reserved for MA with ten or more effect sizes (Sterne et al., 2011).

Several statistical methods were proposed to correct publication bias or small study effect. One of the most common methods is called trim and-fill (Duval and Tweedie, 2000). This method was derived from the funnel plot. The basis of this method is that it removes (trims) the small effect sizes that caused funnel asymmetry and uses the trimmed plot to estimate an adjusted pooled estimate. This is followed by imputing (filling) the excluded studies with their missing counterparts around the adjusted pooled estimate. However, since it assumes that funnel asymmetry arises seldomly from publication bias, it was criticised despite its wide use in literature. In addition to that, it was demonstrated by simulation studies that this method performs poorly with increasing between-study heterogeneity. When the betweenstudy heterogeneity increases, there is a possibility that even large effect sizes diverge from the average overall effect, which might allow these studies to be trimmed and filled, resulting in misleading results (Terrin et al., 2003, Peters et al., 2007). However, this method is still argued to be useful as a sensitivity analysis, which was used in this MA.

2.2.6.5 Moderator analysis

An MA aims to assess the effect of a given treatment on a certain sample from a certain population (Borenstein et al., 2009). Synthesising findings entails analysing studies that use a wide range of different characteristics (Ost, 2014). Thereby, this introduces many variables into the MA that may impact the ESs. These variables are referred to as moderator variables since they can influence the strength and direction of the overall pooled ESs. The selection of various moderators was made based on several approaches. Most of the variables were selected based on a comprehensive literature review conducted to assess the association between different variables on treatment outcomes of mCRC. For instance, Numerous factors have been identified in the literature as impacting survival outcomes for metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) patients. Key factors consistently reported include performance status and type of systemic anticancer therapy (Stillwell et al., 2011). Additionally, various other factors have been found to influence mCRC prognosis, such as age, gender, primary tumour characteristics, number and location of metastatic sites, tumour molecular profile, and several clinical and inflammatory biomarkers (Aparicio et al., 2003; Eker et al., 2015; Arnold et al., 2017b; Garcia Alfonso et al., 2018; Loupakis et al., 2014; Stintzing et al., 2016; Zacharakis et al., 2010). These biomarkers include C-reactive protein, carcinoembryonic antigen, albumin, haemoglobin, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, and alkaline phosphatase (Garcia Alfonso et al., 2018; Zacharakis et al., 2010; Eker et al., 2015; Stillwell et al., 2011). The availability of these variables was determined their inclusion in the moderator analysis. For example, very few studies reported the influence of clinical inflammatory biomarkers on treatment outcomes. Hence, they were not included in the moderator analysis. Additionally, a number of characteristics of the primary studies were deemed in the literature to potentially bias the findings. For instance, pharmaceutical funding in meta-analysis studies has been identified as a potential source of bias. When pharmaceutical companies fund or sponsor research studies, there is a concern that their financial interests may influence the design, conduct, analysis, and reporting of the research, leading to biased results (Fabbri et al., 2018). In this study, the effect of different first-line mCRC SACTs within a sample of mCRC patients was explored. Moderator variables included two domains: (1) study characteristics such as study design, study settings, and the items included to assess the risk of bias, and (2) the clinical characteristics of the patients, such as the age group (elderly versus non-elderly), gender, performance status, RAS status, primary tumour location, primary tumour resection, number of metastatic sites, and localisation of metastasis. The moderator analysis was performed for the survival outcomes of this review (OS and PFS). However, for the objective response and the toxicities, the small number of studies did not allow for a proper moderator analysis to be carried out.

2.2.6.6 Sensitivity analysis

Undertaking an MA dictates making several decisions regarding the selection of studies under review and the methods of analysis. Thereby, it is essential to make sure that the inferences made from the MA are robust and have not resulted from decisions made when they were obtained (Deeks et al., 2021). Thus, the MA should be repeated under several assumptions and after many decisions to determine the degree to which the obtained findings are consistent. Where outliers were identified, the MA was repeated to verify the effect of trimming the outliers on the overall pooled estimate.

2.2.6.7 Statistical software

All of the analysis tests were carried out using the R 3.0.1. software. Packages used included dplyr, ggplot2, gridExtra, readbitmap, IPDfromKM, metafor, forestplot, and dmetar. Appendix VI contains information on the R syntax used for all of the tests that were performed.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Literature search outcome

The systematic literature search yielded a database of 8598 articles from electronic databases outlined in section 2.2.1. The initial pool of studies underwent titles and abstracts screening to determine their eligibility. A total of 2551 studies were eliminated, leaving 611 studies subjected for full text examination. Five hundred and seventy-nine studies were excluded for various reasons as depicted in Figure 2.3. A total of 32 studies proceeded to extraction, and three further studies were excluded due to the unavailability of data needed to calculate or estimate the effect size (see section 2.7.3). The authors of these studies were contacted, but no extra data were provided by them. A total of 29 studies met the inclusion and exclusion criteria and were used to synthesise the data of the four outcomes: the overall survival, progression-free survival, objective response, and severe toxicities. one main meta-analysis was generated for both OS and PFS outcomes, while two MAs were generated for the objective response (including the ORR and DCR MAs), and the severe toxicities (including haematological and non-haematological toxicities). As a result, a total six MAs were generated in this review. Additionally, further analysis for SACT groups was carried out and resulted in one additional MA for each the OS and PFS outcomes.
The percentage of agreement between reviewers at the stages of abstract screening and full text screening were 957% and 93.1%, respectively, while for the risk of bias, the percentage of agreement was 85.7%. Figure 2.3 shows the PRISMA flowchart for the screening process of the identified and included studies.



Figure 2.3: Flow chart of screening process to identify relevant studies.

2.3.2 Study characteristics

The characteristics of the included studies are summarised in appendix II.All studies were published after the year 2010, with around two-thirds of them published in and after the year 2015 (n=19, 65%) (Bai et al., 2015, Cheng and Song, 2015, Hammerman et al., 2015, Kocakova et al., 2015, Marschner et al., 2015, Stein et al., 2015b, Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Razenberg et al., 2016, Lee et al., 2017, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Franchi et al., 2019, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Neugut et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Cainap et al., 2021, Zhou et al., 2021). Similarly, more than two-thirds of the studies were of retrospective cohort design (n=20, 69%) (Stec et al., 2010, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Buchler et al., 2014, Duran et al., 2014, Suenaga et al., 2014, Yang et al., 2014, Bai et al., 2015, Cheng and Song, 2015, Kocakova et al., 2015, Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Razenberg et al., 2016, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2016, Neugut et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Cainap et al., 2015, Cheng and Song, 2015, Kocakova et al., 2015, Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Razenberg et al., 2016, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Neugut et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Cainap et al., 2021, Zhou et al., 2020, Cainap et al., 2019, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2016, Neugut et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Cainap et al., 2021, Zhou et al., 2021).

Around 20% of the studies (n=6) originated from the United States (Bendell et al., 2012, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Neugut et al., 2019, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013) while almost a similar proportion (n=5, 17.2%) were carried out in China (Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Cheng and Song, 2015, Guo et al., 2020, Zhou et al., 2021).The duration in which the studies were carried out varied considerably and ranged from 17 months to 132 months. Eighteen studies (62%) declared a conflict of interest (Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Franchi et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Kocakova et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2017, Marschner et al., 2015, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Neugut et al., 2019, Razenberg et al., 2016, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Stec et al., 2010, Stein et al., 2015b, Zhou et al., 2021) with ten (34.5%) of these studies having been funded by pharmaceutical companies (Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Franchi et al., 2019, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Lee et al., 2017, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Stein et al., 2015b) while the rest were funded by other institutes. Also, nine (31%) of the included studies declared no conflict of interest (Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Cheng and Song, 2015, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Hammerman et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014) and two studies (6.9%) did not report this information (Duran et al., 2014, Suenaga et al., 2014).

2.3.3 Clinical characteristics of the studies' participants

The sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the participants enrolled in the studies are summarised in appendix III. A total of 26574 participants were included in all studies of this review. Bevacizumab was the most extensively studied SACT as it was investigated in the majority of the studies (n= 25, 86.2%) (Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bencsikova et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Duran et al., 2014, Franchi et al., 2019, Hammerman et al., 2015, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Kocakova et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2017, McNab et al., 2020, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Razenberg et al., 2016, Sogabe et al., 2011, Stein et al., 2015b, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021). The sample size of the studies ranged between 123 and 4250 participants, and 43.9% were female (N=11,666). Age was reported either as mean (± standard deviation), median (interquartile range) or in the form of age groups.

A total of 18 studies (62.1%) have reported the ECOG PS of the participants at baseline, with 11200 participants were assessed for PS (Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cheng and Song, 2015, Duran et al., 2014, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Kocakova et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2017, Marschner et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Stein et al., 2015b, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013). More than three-quarters of the participants (n=9243, 78.3%) had a PS of less than or equal to one, whereas 7.7% (N=862) had a PS of 2 or more, indicating a worse performance status. For the remaining participants, the PS was unknown within the studies that reported.

2.3.4 Risk of bias results

Detailed results of stage II of the risk of bias assessment using Cochrane ROBINS-I tool are summarised in appendix III which displays the brief answers to the signalling questions as explained in section 2.2.4, and the detailed answers to the signalling questions for each domain and the reason behind the judgment for each domain per study.

The weight bar plot in Figure 2.4 shows the distribution of risk-of-bias judgment within each bias domain, while the risk of bias traffic light plot presented in Figure 2.5 shows the domain-

level judgment for each individual study. As shown, all of the studies had an overall serious risk of bias, which is interpreted that the studies have some important problems. A study is judged to be at serious risk of bias if at least one domain was judged at serious risk of bias. Only 4 studies (13.8%) had serious risk of bias in only one domain (Artac et al., 2016, Lee et al., 2017, Marschner et al., 2015, Yang et al., 2014).



Figure 2.4 Weight bar risk of bias plot of the 29 eligible studies using the Cochrane ROBINS-I tool.

	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7	Overall
Stec,2009	X	×	-	?	8	+	•	8
Guo, 2020	8	×	8	?	8	+	•	8
Satram-Hoang ,2013	8	×	8	?	•	+	8	8
Neugut, 2019	8	-	8	?	8	+	•	8
Marschner, 2015	-	+	×	?	•	+	•	8
Hammerman,2015	×	?	×	?	•	+	×	8
Franchi,2019	-	-	×	?	+	+	×	8
Houts, 2017	×	-	×	?	-	+	8	8
Meyerhardt, 2012	(X)	-	×	?	-	+	8	8
Razenberg, 2016	(X)	-	×	?	-	+	8	8
Lee, 2017	•	?	×	?	-	+	-	8
Suenaga, 2014	(X)	8	-	-	-	+	-	8
Bendell, 2012	(X)	8	×	-	-	+	-	8
Duran, 2015	(X)	8	-	?	-	+	-	8
Khakoo, 2019a	-	8	×	-	-	+	8	8
Uygun, 2013	8	8	-	?	-	+	-	8
Kocakova, 2015	8	8	-	?	-	+	-	8
Ocvirk, 2011	8	8	-	?	-	+	-	8
Bai, 2015	8	8	-	-	-	+	-	8
Cainap, 2021	(X)	8	-	?	-	+		8
Artac, 2016	-	-	-	?	-	+		8
Stein,2015	(X)	-	×	?	-	+		8
Buchler, 2014	(X)	8	-	?	-	+	-	8
Cheng, 2015	(X)	8	-	?	-	+	-	8
Yang, 2014	(X)	-	-	?	-	+	-	8
Houts, 2019	×	-	×	?	8	+	-	8
Bai, 2016	×	×	-	?	-	+	-	8
Zhou, 2021	×	8	-	?	8	+	8	8
Degirmencioglu, 2019	8	?	×	?	-	+	-	8
	Domains: D1: Bias due to con D2: Bias due to sele D3: Bias due to clas D4: Bias due to dev	founding action of participants sification of interven riation from intended	tion intervention	-	-	-	-	Judgement Serious Moderate Low No information

Risk of bias domains

D5: Bias due to missing data

D6: Bias in measurement of outcomes

D7: Bias in selection of the reported result

Figure 2.5 Risk of bias traffic light plot for the 29 eligible studies using the Cochrane ROBINS-I tool.

*The left column represents the studies assessed for risk of bias. Next columns from 1 to 7 represent the domains of risk of bias and the last column represent the overall risk of bias. If a study was judged to be at serious risk of bias at any domain (red), the overall risk of bias would be serious risk of bias.

2.3.4.1 Bias due to confounding

Confounding is inherent in the observational studies design. For the studies included in the current review, baseline confounding was assessed for all studies. Only five studies (17.2%) successfully adjusted for potential confounders that are pre-specified in the protocol stage which are the metastatic SACT, and ECOG PS (Artac et al., 2016, Franchi et al., 2019, Khakoo et al., 2019, Lee et al., 2017, Marschner et al., 2015). Seventeen studies (58.6%) did not take into account important confounding factors in the multivariate Cox proportional model (ECOG PS or SACT) or did not report the value of the adjusted effect size, but rather the unadjusted effect size (performed univariate Cox models) (Bai et al., 2016, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Guo et al., 2020, Hammerman et al., 2015, Houts et al., 2019b, Kocakova et al., 2015, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Razenberg et al., 2016, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021, Bai et al., 2015, Cheng and Song, 2015, Houts et al., 2019a, Yang et al., 2014). The remaining seven studies provided only crude survival and a Kaplan-Meier curve, hence, the effect size generated after reconstructing the Kaplan-Meier curve was considered unadjusted for the important confounders (Cainap et al., 2021, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Duran et al., 2014, Neugut et al., 2019, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stein et al., 2015b, Uygun et al., 2013). Time-varying confounding, an element of the ROBINS-I tool was not applicable for the studies included in the current review because analysis was not based on splitting participants' follow-up time.

2.3.4.2 Bias in selecting participants into the study.

Selection bias stems from selecting participants based on certain characteristics observed after the initiation of intervention (Sterne et al., 2016b). In the present review, more than half of the studies had serious risk of bias in selecting participants into the study domain (N=16, 55.2%) (Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Duran et al., 2014, Guo et al., 2020, Khakoo et al., 2019, Kocakova et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013, Zhou et al., 2021). Of these, fourteen studies (48.3%) excluded patients with comorbidities or poor performance status (Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Duran et al., 2014, Kocakova et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Duran et al., 2014, Kocakova et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Duran et al., 2014, Kocakova et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013, Zhou et al., 2021, Guo et al., 2020, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013) while 2 studies (6.9%)

reported that the follow-up was not initiated at the start of the intervention leading to loss in follow-up and hence inception bias (Khakoo et al., 2019, Bendell et al., 2012). Moreover, 9 studies (31%) used minimal patient selection criteria and therefore had moderate selection bias according to ROBINS-I guidance (Artac et al., 2016, Franchi et al., 2019, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Neugut et al., 2019, Razenberg et al., 2016, Stein et al., 2015b, Yang et al., 2014), 1 study (3.4%) adjusted for immortal time bias, therefore was classified as low selection bias (Marschner et al., 2015), and 3 studies (10.3%) did not provide information on the selection of patients into the studies, hence, were classified as unknown risk of selection bias (Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Hammerman et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2017).

2.3.4.3 Bias in classification of intervention.

Appropriate definition of the intervention is essential to avoid bias in the classification of participants. In the current review, around half of the studies (n= 15, 51.7%) did not provide a clear definition of the intervention in terms of the dose, frequency of administration, intensity and/or timing of intervention; therefore, they were classified at serious risk of bias in this domain (Bendell et al., 2012, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Franchi et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Hammerman et al., 2015, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Lee et al., 2017, Marschner et al., 2015, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Neugut et al., 2019, Razenberg et al., 2016, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Stein et al., 2015b). The remaining 14 studies have defined the intervention properly, yet the assignment of intervention status was determined retrospectively. (Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Kocakova et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021). Hence, they were considered at moderate risk of bias in this domain based on ROBINS-I guidance published by Cochrane Bias methods group (Sterne et al., 2016b).

2.3.4.4 Bias due to deviation from intended intervention.

The majority of the studies included in this review did not provide information on the treatment pattern and adherence to treatment (n= 25, 86.2%) (Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Bencsikova et al., 2015, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Duran et al., 2014, Franchi et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Hammerman et al., 2015, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Kocakova et al., 2015, Lee

et al., 2017, Marschner et al., 2015, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Neugut et al., 2019, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Razenberg et al., 2016, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Stec et al., 2010, Stein et al., 2015b, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021). Therefore, these studies were classified as unknown risk of bias due to deviation from intended intervention. Only 4 studies (13.8%) discussed treatment initiation and discontinuation and the reasons for discontinuation and non-adherence to treatment (Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Khakoo et al., 2019, Suenaga et al., 2014) and they were at moderate risk of bias in this domain as the impact of deviation from intervention (i.e., usual care) was expected to be slight.

2.3.4.5 Bias in measurement of outcomes

The primary measured outcome in this study is overall survival which involves negligible assessor judgment. In addition to that, the data collection method used in each study was comparable between interventions within this domain. For those reasons, all included studies were classified at low risk of bias within the domain of measurement of outcomes.

2.3.4.6 Bias in selection of reported results

Within this domain, 11 studies (37.9%) were at serious risk of bias, either due to generating multiple effect sizes for different subgroups (Artac et al., 2016, Cainap et al., 2021, Khakoo et al., 2019, Razenberg et al., 2016, Stein et al., 2015b, Zhou et al., 2021), or due to reporting multiple analyses of the effect size (e.g., crude and adjusted HR) (Satram-Hoang et al., 2013), or for both reasons combined (Franchi et al., 2019, Hammerman et al., 2015, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b). The remaining 18 studies (62.1%) were at moderate risk of bias as there was no indication of selection of the reported analyses from multiple analysis and also no indication existed of selection of the subgroups for analysis (Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cheng and Song, 2015, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Duran et al., 2014, Guo et al., 2020, Houts et al., 2019a, Kocakova et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2017, Marschner et al., 2015, Neugut et al., 2019, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021).

2.3.5 Synthesis of effectiveness and safety outcomes of first-line mCRC

medicines

Studies comparing first-line mCRC SACTs were classified into 4 groups depending on the compared interventions:

- 1- Group 1: different chemotherapies compared to each other (CT-1 versus CT-2): this group included chemotherapeutic agents compared to each other (e.g., FOLFOX vs FOLFIRI) regardless of the intensity (mono or combination): 5 studies were included in this group. (Guo et al., 2020, Neugut et al., 2019, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Stec et al., 2010, Marschner et al., 2015),
- 2- Group 2: Chemotherapy alone compared to a combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab (CT versus bevacizumab+ CT): this group comprised 7 studies (Franchi et al., 2019, Hammerman et al., 2015, Houts et al., 2019b, Cho et al., 2017, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Razenberg et al., 2016, Suenaga et al., 2014)
- 3- Group 3: Various combinations of chemotherapies combined with bevacizumab compared to each other (bevacizumab+ CT-1 versus bevacizumab+ CT-2): 12 studies with 13 effect sizes compared different combination of chemotherapies with bevacizumab to each other where the combination of bevacizumab and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy was compared to the combination of bevacizumab and irinotecan-based chemotherapy in 7 studies (Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Cainap et al., 2021, Duran et al., 2014, Khakoo et al., 2019, Stein et al., 2015b), the combination of bevacizumab and FOLFIRI was compared to the combination of bevacizumab and XELIRI in 3 studies (Kocakova et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Uygun et al., 2013), the combination of bevacizumab and FOLFOX was compared to the combination of bevacizumab and XELOX in 1 study (Buchler et al., 2014), and the combination of bevacizumab with FOLFOXIRI was compared to the combination of bevacizumab and XELOXIRI in one study (Cheng and Song, 2015).
- Group 4: Combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab compared to the combination of chemotherapy and cetuximab (bevacizumab+ CT versus cetuximab+ CT): 5 studies (Bai et al., 2016, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Houts et al., 2019a, Yang et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021).

The outcomes of these studies, including OS, PFS, objective response (including ORR and DCR) and severe haematological and non-haematological toxicities are summarised in Table 2.5.

Author, year, intervention	Sample size N (%)	Overall survival	Progression- free survival	Overall response rate	Disease control rate	Haematological toxicities	Non- haematological toxicities
CT1 Vs. CT2	·				·		·
Stec,2010 (Stec et al., 2010)	123	Median (months)		N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Capecitabine	56 (45.5)	15.4	NR	8 (16.4)	36 (73.5)	7 (12.5)	23 (41.1)
FOLFIRI	67 (54.5)	19	NR	18 (28.1)	53 (81.5)	14 (20.9)	22 (32.8)
P value		0.93	NR	0.139		NR	NR
Guo, 2020 (Guo et al., 2020)	1066	2- year survival (days)				N (%)	N (%)
Capecitabine	533 (50)	335	NR	NR	NR	95 (19.1*)	64 (18*)
S-1	533 (50)	330	NR	NR	NR	113 (22.6*)	26 (6.8)
P value		0.495	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Satram-Hoang ,2013a (Satram-	2830	Median (months)					
Hoang et al., 2013)							
Capecitabine	617 (21.8)	32.6	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
5FU	2213 (78.2)	31.9	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
P value		0.69	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Satram-Hoang ,2013a (Satram-	1420	3-year survival rate					
Hoang et al., 2013)							
XELOX	122 (8.6)	71.6%	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
FOLFOX	1298 (91.4)	68.5%	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
P value		0.67	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Neugut, 2019 (Neugut et al., 2019)	3785	Median (months)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
FOLFIRI (± Bevacizumab)	785 (20.7)	20.5	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
FOLFOX (± Bevacizumab)	3000 (79.3)	19.1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

Table 2.5: Description of the outcomes of the 29 studies included in synthesising the pooled estimates using meta-analyses approach.

Author, year, intervention	Sample size	Overall survival	Progression-	Overall	Disease control	Haematological	Non-haematological
	N (%)		free survival	response rate	rate	toxicities	toxicities
Marschner, 2015 (Marschner	605	Median (months) (95%	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)		
et al., 2015)		CI)	(95% CI)				
Oxaliplatin based CT	430 (71)	26.8 (22.4-31.9)	9 (8.1-10.2)	178 (45.2 *)	258(65.5*)	NR	NR
irinotecan based CT	175 (29)	18.3 (15.1-23.2)	7.9 (7.2-10.2)	55 (34.6*)	93 (58.5*)	NR	NR
P value		NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Bevacizumab+ CT vs. CT							
Hammerman,2015	1739	Median (months) (95%	Median (months)				
(Hammerman et al., 2015)		CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + CT	1052 (60.5)	23 (21.7–24.3)	14.0 (13.0–15.0)	NR	NR	NR	NR
СТ	687 (39.5)	15.0 (13.4–16.6)	9.8 (9.0–10.5)	NR	NR	NR	NR
P value		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	NR	NR	NR	NR
Franchi,2019 (Franchi et al.,	480	Median (months) (95%					
2019)		CI)					
Bevacizumab + CT	101 (21)	22.5	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
СТ	379 (79)	14.6	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
P value		0.011	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Houts,2019 (Houts et al.,	373	Median (months) (95%	Median (months)				
2019b)		CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + CT	264 (70.8)	26.9 (24.3- 29.3)	10.4 (9- 11.3)	NR	NR	NR	NR
СТ	109 (29.2)	23.3 (19.7- 29.2)	7.7 (6.5- 9.1)	NR	NR	NR	NR
P value		0.57	0.17	NR	NR	NR	NR
Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt	2526	Median (months)				Adverse events were not measured through	
et al., 2012b)		(95% CI)				NCI-CTCAE	
Bevacizumab + CT	903 (35.7)	19 (17.9- 20.5)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
СТ	1623 (64.3)	15.9 (14.8- 18.2)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

Author, year, intervention	Sample size	Overall survival	Progression-	Overall	Disease control	Haematological	Non-haematological
	N (%)		free survival	response rate	rate	toxicities	toxicities
P value		0.003	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Razenberg, 2016 (Razenberg et	361	Median (months)					
al., 2016)		(95% CI)					
Bevacizumab + CT	185 (51.4)	22 (19-24)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
СТ	176 (48.6)	14 (11-16)	NR	IR NR NR		NR	NR
P value		< 0.0001	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Lee, 2017a (Lee et al., 2017)	313	Median (months)	Median (months)			Adverse events wer	e not measured through
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)			NC	I-CTCAE
Bevacizumab + CT	200 (63.9)	20	8.5	NR	NR	NR	NR
СТ	113 (36.1)	14.8	4.7	NR NR		NR	NR
P value		0.005	0.017	NR	NR	NR	NR
Lee, 2017b (Lee et al., 2017)	513	Median (months)	Median (months)			Adverse events were not measured through	
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)			NC	I-CTCAE
Bevacizumab + CT	357 (69.6)	24.4	10.8	NR	NR		
СТ	156 (30.4)	17.3	5.8	NR	NR		
P value		0.004	<0.001	NR	NR		
Suenaga, 2014 (Suenaga et al.,	213	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
2014)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + FOLFOX	85 (39.9)	38.8 (32.9-44.8)	17 (11.8-22.3)	52 (62)	81 (96)	39	16
FOLFOX	128 (60.1)	20.5 (16.9-24)	9.9 (8.4-11.4)	56 (46)	106 (88)	52	15
P value		< 0.001	0.002	0.02	0.01	NR	NR
Bevacizumab+ CT-1 versus be	vacizumab+ C	Г-2					
Bendell, 2012 (Bendell et al.,	1550	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
2012)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	243 (15.7)	25.5 (20.9–28.4)	10.2 (9.0–11.4)	127 (52.3)	209 (86)	3 (1.2)	NR

Author, year, intervention	Sample size	Overall survival	Progression-	Overall	Disease control	Haematological Non-haematologi	
	N (%)		free survival	response rate	rate	toxicities	toxicities
Bevacizumab+ FOLFOX	968 (84.3)	23.7 (22.1- 25.6)	10.3 (9.9–11.0)	546 (56.4)	838 (86.6)	34 (3.5)	NR
P value		NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Duran,2014 (Duran et al., 2014)	409	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	111 (27.1)	20 (16.8- 23.1)	9 (7.4- 10.5)	29 (26.1)	78 (70.3)	43 (38.7)	28 (25.2)
Bevacizumab + XELOX	298 (72.9)	25 (22.2- 27.7)	9.6 (8.8- 10.4)	168 (56.4)	256 (85.9)	55 (18.5)	26 (8.7)
P value		0.036	0.019	<0.001	NR	NR	NR
Khakoo, 2019 (Khakoo et al.,	677	Median (months)	Median (months)			Adverse events wer	e reported combined for
2019)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)			both haematological	and non-haematological
						toxic	ities (N%)
Bevacizumab + XELOX	265 (39.1)	19.6 (17.4- 22.1)	9.2 (8.4- 9.7)	NR	NR	151 (57)	
Bevacizumab + Capecitabine	107 (15.8)	15.1 (12.8- 16.9)	7.9 (5.7- 9.0)	NR	NR	46 (43)	
Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	101 (14.9)	18.7 (14.7- 23.3)	8.7 (7.2- 9.8)	NR	NR	65 (64.3)	
Bevacizumab+ FOLFOX	204 (30.2)	16.5 (13.6- 21.2)	8.5 (7.1- 9.3)	NR	NR	13	1 (64.2)
P value							
Uygun, 2013 (Uygun et al., 2013)	132	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	64 (48.5)	37.8	14.2	33 (51.6)	52 (81.3)	18 (28.1)	17 (26.5)
Bevacizumab + XELIRI	68 (51.5)	28.7	Not reached	28 (41.2)	54 (79.4)	33 (48.5)	37 (54.4)
P value		0.58	0.3	0.38	NR	NR	NR
Kocakova,2015 (Kocakova et	558	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
al., 2015)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	357 (64)	25.4 (22.0-28.8)	11.5 (10.3-12.8)	152 (43)	265 (74)	43	28
Bevacizumab + XELIRI	201 (36)	27.2 (23.6-30.8)	13.3 (10.9-15.7)	97 (48)	175 (87)	55	26
P value		0.87	0.89	0.215	0.001	NR	NR

Author, year, intervention	Sample size	Overall survival	Progression-	Overall	Disease control	Haematological	Non-haematological
	N (%)		free survival	response rate	rate	toxicities	toxicities
Ocvirk, 2011 (Ocvirk et al.,	139	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
2011)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	45 (32.4)	24.8 (22.3-32.5)	11.6 (9.1-14.2)	18 (40)	34 (76)	30 (66.7)	7 (15.6)
Bevacizumab + XELIRI	94 (67.6)	27.8 (24.0–not reached)	11.7 (10.5-13.1)	46 (49)	81 (86)	17 (18.1)	20 (21.3)
P value		0.072	0.41	0.26	0.03	NR	NR
Bai, 2015 (Bai et al., 2015)	175	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + Irinotecan- based	83 (47.4)	27.5 (21.8–33.2)	10.8 (9.9- 11.7)	33 (93.7)	73 (87.9)	25 (30.1)	29 (34.9)
Bevacizumab + Oxaliplatin- based	92 (52.6)	23.7 (19.9–27.6)	10.1 (8.8-11.3)	34 (37)	78 (84.8)	27 (29.3)	34 (37)
P value		0.21	0.68	0.75	0.93	NR	NR
Cainap, 2021 (Cainap et al.,	151	Median (months)	Median (months)				
2021)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + Irinotecan-	60 (39.7)	25 (22- 36)	13 (12- 18)	NR	NR	NR	NR
based							
Bevacizumab + Oxaliplatin-	91 (60.3)	25 (23- 30)	12 (9-13)	NR	NR	NR	NR
based							
P value		0.21	0.3	NR	NR	NR	NR
Artac, 2016 (Artac et al., 2016)	625	Median (months)	Median (months)				
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + Irinotecan-	414 (66.2)	26.3 (21.7–30.9)	10.9 (10–11.8)	NR	NR	NR	NR
based							
Bevacizumab + Oxaliplatin-	211 (33.8)	27 (24.3–29.7)	9.4 (8.3–10.4)	NR	NR	NR	NR
based							
P value		NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Stein,2015 (Stein et al., 2015a)	1777	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)		

Author, year, intervention	Sample size	Overall survival	Progression-	Overall	Disease control	Haematological	Non-haematological
	N (%)		free survival	response rate	rate	toxicities	toxicities
Bevacizumab + Irinotecan-	1200 (67.5)	24.8	10.4	697 (61)	1004 (88)		
based						Adverse drug reaction	ons potentially related to
Bevacizumab + Oxaliplatin-	332 (18.7)	27.3	10.6	203 (62)	298 (91)	antibody treatment	were recorded by use of
based						open	auestions
Bevacizumab + 5FU or	209 (11.8)	25.5	9.2	113 (54)	182 (87)		4
capecitabin							
Bevacizumab + other	36 (2)	27.7	11.9	51 (52)	84 (85)		
P value		NR	NR	NR	NR		
Buchler, 2014 (Buchler et al.,	2191	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
2014)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Bevacizumab + FOLFIOX	1218 (55.6)	27 (24.6-29.5)	11.4 (10.7-12.1)	573 (47)	956 (78.5)	19 (1.6)	19 (1.6)
Bevacizumab + XELOX	973 (44.4)	30.6 (27.8-33.4)	11.5 (10.8-12.3)	432 (44.4)	626 (84.9)	16 (1.6)	17 (1.7)
P value		0.28	0.38	NR	NR	NR	NR
Cheng, 2015 (Cheng and Song,	138	Months	Months	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
2015)							
Bevacizumab + FOLFOXIRI	69 (50)	31.3	13.5	49 (71)	62 (89.9)	45 (65.2)	54 (78.3)
Bevacizumab + XELOXIRI	69 (50)	24.6	10.4	36 (52.2)	58 (84)	24 (34.8)	20 (30)
P value		0.115	0.032	NR	NR	NR	NR
Bevacizumab+ CT versus cetu	ximab+ CT			1	1		
Yang, 2014 (Yang et al., 2014)	158	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Cetuximab+ chemotherapy	63 (39.9)	37.8	12.4	35 (66)	47 (88.7)	12 (19)	20 (31.7)
Bevacizumab+ chemotherapy	95 (60.1)	30.5	8.7	34 (47.2)	65 (90.3)	27 (28)	15 (15.8)
P value		0.45	0.05	0.037	0.77	0.18	NR

Author, year, intervention	Sample size	Overall survival	Progression-	Overall	Disease control	Haematological	Non-haematological
	N (%)		free survival	response rate	rate	toxicities	toxicities
Houts, 2019 (Houts et al.,	400	Median (months)	Median (months)				
2019a)		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Cetuximab+ chemotherapy	146 (36.5)	30.6 (23.8- 38)	10.2 (8.3- 12.2)	NR	NR	NR	NR
Bevacizumab+ chemotherapy	254 (63.5)	31 (26.33- 36.1)	10.8 (10.1- 11.8)	NR	NR	NR	NR
P value		0.55	0.78	NR	NR	NR	NR
Bai, 2016 (Bai et al., 2016)	289	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)				
Cetuximab+ chemotherapy	101 (34.9)	28.3 (22.7–33.9)	8.7 (7.5- 9.9)	54 (53.5)	89 (88.1)	53 (52.5)	63 (62.4)
Bevacizumab+ chemotherapy	188 (65.1)	27.7 (22.7–32.7)	10.6 (9.3–11.9)	81 (43.1) 163 (87.2)		32 (17)	41 (21.8)
P value		0.51	0.32	0.11	0.85	NR	NR
Zhou, 2021a (non-mucinous	479	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)		
histology) (Zhou et al., 2021)							
Cetuximab+ chemotherapy	203 (42.2)	29.8	10.8	136 (67)	180 (88.7)	NR	NR
Bevacizumab+ chemotherapy	276 (57.6)	27	10.5	146 (52.9)	220 (79.7)	NR	NR
P value		0.005	0.41	0.002	0.009	NR	NR
Zhou, 2021a (mucinous	141	Median (months)	Median (months)	N (%)	N (%)		
histology) (Zhou et al., 2021)							
Cetuximab+ chemotherapy	55 (39)	26.3	9.5	29 (52.7)	44 (80)	NR	NR
Bevacizumab+ chemotherapy	86 (61)	30	11.5	46 (53.5)	71 (82.6)	NR	NR
P value		0.002	0.032	0.93	0.81	NR	NR
Degirmencioglu, 2019	238	1, 3, and 5-year	Only reported				
(Degirmencioglu S, 2019)		survival rate (%)	through Kaplan				
			Meier curves				
Cetuximab+ chemotherapy	92	93.9, 56.6, 45.7	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Bevacizumab+ chemotherapy	114	93.4, 58.2, 36.7	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

Author, year, intervention	Sample size	Overall survival	Progression-	Overall	Disease control	Haematological	Non- haematological
	N (%)		free survival	response rate	rate	toxicities	toxicities
Panitumumab+ chemotherapy	32	79.8, 57, not reached	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
P value		0.033	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

KEY: Ct1 = chemotherapy 1, CT2 = chemotherapy 2, NR= not recorded, 95% CI= 95% confidence interval.

* Calculated taking into considerations the missing data.

** original number of patients in the study is 1777 divided over 4 subgroups; oxaliplatin based+ bevacizumab, irinotecan based+ bevacizumab, 5FU and bevacizumab, and other chemotherapy.

Two of the included studies performed multiple comparisons resulting in more than one effect size; Satram-Hoang, 2013 compared capecitabine to 5FU and FOLFOX to XELOX (Satram-Hoang et al., 2013) and Khakoo, 2019 compared the combination of bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI to bevacizumab+ FOLFOX and bevacizumab+ capecitabine to bevacizumab+ XELOX.

Zhou, 2021 compared the combination of bevacizumab+ CT to the combination of cetuximab+ CT for mCRC patients with mucinous histology tumour and for mCRC patients with non-mucinous histology tumour resulting in 2 effect sizes for this study (Zhou et al., 2021). Moreover, 3 studies generated multiple effect size for different groups of the same population as shown in Table 2.6 (Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Hammerman et al., 2015, Artac et al., 2016). The effect sizes generated by these studies were not included in the main MA to avoid violating the assumption of the independency of effect sizes from included studies (Cheung, 2019). This issue was handled by conducting a separate MA from the main effect MA including the subgroups generated by the studies in Table 2.6.

Author, year	Comparison	Subgroup comparison				
Hammerman, 2014 (Hammerman et	Bevacizumab+ CT Vs. CT	Bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based CT Vs.				
al., 2015)		irinotecan-based CT				
Hammerman, 2014 (Hammerman et	Bevacizumab+ CT Vs. CT	Bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based CT Vs.				
al., 2015)		Bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based CT				
Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt et	Bevacizumab+ CT Vs. CT	Bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based CT Vs.				
al., 2012b)		irinotecan-based CT				
Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt et	Bevacizumab+ CT Vs. CT	Bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based CT Vs.				
al., 2012b)		oxaliplatin-based CT				
Artac, 2016 (Artac et al., 2016)	Bevacizumab+ FOLFOX Vs.	Bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based CT Vs.				
	Bevacizumab+ XELOX	bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based CT				
	Bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI Vs.					
	Bevacizumab+ XELIRI					
KEY: CT= chemotherapy						

Table 2.6 Additional	l effect sizes generated	by the studies and	included in separate MA
----------------------	--------------------------	--------------------	-------------------------

2.3.6 Meta-analysis results

This section covers the results of the six MAs, which were carried out to quantify the effectiveness and safety of first-line mCRC SACTs. All 29 included studies were used to synthesise the data for OS. Furthermore, of the 29 included studies, 23 studies reported PFS (Marschner et al., 2015, Hammerman et al., 2015, Franchi et al., 2019, Houts et al., 2019b, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Razenberg et al., 2016, Lee et al., 2017, Suenaga et al., 2014, Bendell et al., 2012, Duran et al., 2014, Khakoo et al., 2019, Uygun et al., 2013, Kocakova et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Bai et al., 2016, Cainap et al., 2021, Artac et al., 2016, Stein et al., 2015b, Buchler et al., 2014, Cheng and Song, 2015, Yang et al., 2014, Houts et al., 2019a, Zhou et al., 2021, Degirmencioglu S, 2019), 15 studies reported both ORR and DCR (Stec et al., 2010, Marschner et al., 2015, Suenaga et al., 2014, Bendell et al., 2012, Duran et al., 2014, Kocakova et al., 2015, Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Buchler et al., 2014, Cheng and Song, 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stein et al., 2015b, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021), and 13 studies were used to synthesise the results for both haematological and nonhaematological toxicities (Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cheng and Song, 2015, Duran et al., 2014, Guo et al., 2020, Kocakova et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014).

2.3.6.1 Overall survival meta-analysis

Overall estimate and heterogeneity

All of the included studies (n=29) reported overall survival of first-line SACTs for mCRC and were included in the overall survival MA. The included studies contributed toward 33 effect sizes with 26574 participants.

A total of 19 effect sizes were extracted directly from the primary studies (Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Franchi et al., 2019, Guo et al., 2020, Hammerman et al., 2015, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Kocakova et al., 2015, Marschner et al., 2015, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Razenberg et al., 2016, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Suenaga et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021), while the remaining 14 effect sizes were obtained indirectly through reconstruction of Kaplan-Meier curve (Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Neugut et al., 2019, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stein et al., 2015a, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014, Artac et al., 2016, Cheng and Song, 2015, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Duran et al., 2014).

The overall pooled estimate for the overall survival MA was 1.14 (1.05- 1.24). Subgroup analysis shows that treatments comparisons included in group 1 (CT-1 Vs CT-2), group 3 (bevacizumab+ CT-1 vs bevacizumab+ CT-2), and group 4 (cetuximab+ CT VS bevacizumab+ CT) did not show statistically significant difference with a pooled estimate of 1.05 (0.99- 1.12) for group 1, a pooled estimate of 1.09 (0.97-1.22) for group 3 and a pooled estimate of 1.02 (0.73- 1.42) for the latter group. In contrast, treatment comparisons included in group 2 (bevacizumab+ CT vs CT) show that chemotherapy alone was significantly associated with 36% increased hazards of death compared to a combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (HR 1.36 (95% CI 1.18- 1.56)). Figure 2.6 presents the forest plot of all included studies in the overall survival MA grouped based on the compared intervention.

The between-study heterogeneity variance was estimated at T^2 = 0.0387 (95% CI: 0.0199-0.1018), indicating that some between-study heterogeneity exists in the data, with an I² value of 76.2% (95% CI: 58.2- 79.3%) indicating high heterogeneity. The prediction interval ranged from -0.268 to 0.55 suggesting that negative intervention effects cannot be ruled out for future studies.



Figure 2.6: Forest plot of overall survival of first-line SACTs for mCRC, stratified by the four first line SACT groups.

A further analysis was carried out for group 3 separately to compare overall survival associated with the use of different chemotherapies in a combination with bevacizumab where additional comparisons were added (table 2.6). Similar treatment comparisons were categorised and compared against each other. The overall pooled estimate for all treatments included in group 3 was 1.12 (0.99-1.27) with no statistically significant difference found between: (1) bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy vs bevacizumab+ oxaliplatinbased chemotherapy (pooled estimate 1.05 (0.88- 1.25), (2) bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI vs bevacizumab+ XELIRI (pooled estimate 1.09 (0.083- 1.43)), and (3) bevacizumab+ FOLFOX vs bevacizumab+ XELOX (pooled estimate: 1.31 (0.88- 1.5). Only one effect size was reported for both treatment comparisons encompassing bevacizumab+ XELOX vs bevacizumab+ capecitabine and bevacizumab+ FOLFOXIRI vs bevacizumab+ XELOXIRI. The former comparison shows a statistically prolonged median OS for bevacizumab+ XELOX compared to bevacizumab+ capecitabine (HR 1.39, 95% CI 1.04-1.87), whereas the latter combination shows no statistically significant difference in OS between bevacizumab+ FOLFOXIRI vs bevacizumab+ XELOXIRI. Figure 2.7 shows the forest plot for bevacizumab combined with different chemotherapies.



Author, Year, comparison

Figure 2.7: Forest plot for overall survival of first-line bevacizumab combinations with chemotherapy.

Moderator/sub-group analysis for overall survival meta-analysis

Variables that were expected to have an influence on the overall pooled estimate and the heterogeneity included study variables and clinical variables. Table 2.7 displays the moderator analysis of study characteristics variables for the overall survival meta-analysis. A range of the examined study characteristics revealed a significant impact on the heterogeneity including the effect size measurement method (direct vs. curve approach), the type of study setting (single centre vs. multiple centres), and the study duration. Additionally, the variability in the risk of bias across ROBINS-I domains, including confounding bias,

classification of intervention, deviation from intended intervention, missing data, and reporting of the outcomes has a statistically significant influence on the heterogeneity.

Most of the clinical characteristics of the studies' participants did not have an impact on the overall pooled estimate. Nevertheless, studies that included non-elderly participants were shown to have an influence on the overall result and the heterogeneity. Table 2.8 shows the moderator analysis of the clinical characteristics of the participants for the overall survival meta-analysis.

A further subgroup analysis was conducted for studies that exclusively included patients with RAS wild type in group 4 (cetuximab+ chemotherapy vs bevacizumab + chemotherapy) (Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Houts et al., 2019a). the overall pooled estimate was 1.19 (0.89-1.6), with patients treated with bevacizumab+ chemotherapy at higher risk of death. However, the overall pooled estimate was not significant (P value 0.47).

Tested variables	Number of	Esti	mated	Р	l ² (%)	P subgroup
	effect sizes	ро	oled	value		(moderator
		estima	ate (95%			analysis)
			CI)			
Measurement of	33				74.8%	0.005
effect size						
Reported	19	1.18	(1.06-	0.002		
		1.27)				
Estimated (curve	14	1.05	(0.93-	0.4		
approach)		1.21)				
Study design	30				79.4%	0.11
Retrospective	25	1.17	(1.05-	0.02		
cohort		1.23)	,			
Prospective cohort	6	1 02	(0.83-	0.82		
	Ū	1 26)	(0.00	0.02		
Eunding source	21	1.20)			72 6%	0.4
Dhamma courtical	12	1 1 7	/1.02	0.02	75.0%	0.4
Pharmaceutical	12	1.17	(1.02-	0.02		
company		1.32)	10.00			
Non-	9	1.08	(0.92-	0.35		
pharmaceutical		1.25)				
company						
Non declared	10	1.07	(0.91-	0.41		
		1.25)				
Type of setting	33				77.1%	0.001
Single centre	10	1.05	(0.89-	0.5		
		1.25)				
Multicentric	23	1.15	(1.05-	0.003		
		1.26)	·			
Data source	30	,			78.3%	0.19
Medical chart	7	0.97	(0.78-	0.61		
		1 19)	(
Electronic medical	7	1.24	(1.03 -	0.02		
records	,	1 51)	(1.00	0.02		
Pogistry	16	1 1 5	(1 02	0.01		
negisti y	10	1 201	(1.05-	0.01		
Chudu duration	20	1.20)	10.02	0.02	75.20/	0.02
Study duration	30	0.97	(0.93-	0.03	/5.3%	0.02
		1.01)		0.01	76.00/	0.01
Study sample	33	1 (0.99	9-1.01)	0.81	76.9%	0.81
Risk of bias		1		1	1	1
Confounding bias	32				77%	0.04

Table 2.7:Moderator analysis of study characteristics variables for the overall survivalmeta-analysis.

)1- 1-1.21)	0.04	ù.		
1-1.21)				
1-1.21)				
	0.02			
		74.1%	0.36	
(0.93-	0.10			
(0.97-	0.11			
97-1.2)	0.16			
(1.02-	0.03			
		77%	0.02	
(0.87-	0.3			
(1.08-	0.005			
		76.7%	0.003	
(1.04-	0.02			
1.1 (1-1.2)				
		75.7%	0.002	
(1.06-	0.002			
(0.85-	0.85			
		76.6%	0.02	
(0.99-	0.05			
Serious 14 1.14 (1.01-1.3) 0.03				
	(-1.21) (0.93- (0.97-)7-1.2) (1.02- (0.87- (1.08- (1.08- (1.04- 2) (1.04- 2) (1.06- (0.85- (0.99- 01-1.3)) (-1.3)	$I-1.21$) 0.02 (0.93- 0.10 (0.97- 0.11 $0.7-1.2$) 0.16 $(1.02 0.03$ (0.87- 0.3 (1.08- 0.005 (1.04- 0.02 2) 0.03 (1.06- 0.002 (0.85- 0.85 (0.99- 0.03 (1.03- 0.03 (1.06- 0.002 (0.99- 0.05 $0.1-1.3$) 0.03 $0.1^2 = heterogeneity$	I-1.21) 0.02 74.1% $(0.93 0.10$ (0.97- $(0.97 0.11$ (0.97- $(0.97 0.16$ (0.97- $(1.02 0.03$ 77% $(0.87 0.3$ 76.7% $(1.08 0.005$ 76.7% $(1.04 0.02$ 75.7% $(1.06 0.002$ 75.7% $(1.06 0.85$ 76.6% $(0.99 0.03$ 76.6% $(0.99 0.03$ 10.03	

Table 2.8: Moderator analysis of the clinical characteristics of the participants for the overall survival meta-analysis

Tested variable	Number of	Estimated poled	Р	l²(%)		
	effect sizes	estimate (95% CI)				
Age group	32			75.7%		
Elderly	5	1.04 (0.85-1.27)	0.68			
Non-elderly	27	1.15 (1.04-1.26)	0.003			
Gender	32			75.7%		
Male gender		0.48 (0.15-1.51)	0.21			
Female gender		2 (0.66- 6.5)	0.21			
Performance status						
PS 0-1	19	1.04 (0.55-1.98)	0.9	59.5%		
PS ≥2	19	4.26 (0.05-9.07)	0.79	59.5%		
RAS status						
RAS-wild	9	1.21 (0.44-2.7)	0.85	87.1%		
RAS-mutant	9	0.7 (0.29-1.66)	0.42	85.4%		
Primary tumour						
location						
Primary colon	17	1.13 (0.35-3.7)	0.83	75.8%		
Primary rectum	17	0.87 (0.17-4.3)	0.86	75.9%		
Number of						
metastatic sites						
0-1	8	0.1 (0.03-0.38)	0.006	55.5%		
≥2	8	3.4 (0.99-11.4)	0.05	68.6%		
Primary tumour	13	0.9 (0.45-1.82)	0.41	72.7%		
resection						
Localisation of						
metastases						
Liver metastases	18	0.67 (0.23-1.97)	0.47	69%		
Lung metastases	17	1.73 (0.49-5.8)	0.4	70.5%		
Peritoneum	14	4 (0.66-24.7)	0.12	74.7%		
metastases						
KEY= 95% CI: 95% confidence interval; NI: no information; I ² = heterogeneity; PS: performance status.						

Publication bias, outliers, and influential cases of overall survival meta-analysis

The funnel plot in Figure 2.8 shows that most of the studies are dispersed at the middle and top part of the plot (top part where a smaller standard error and larger sample size). Very few studies were located at the lower part of the plot. The visual inspection shows that the effect sizes are not evenly distributed around the overall estimate. As a result, the distribution of the studies does not resemble a funnel shape indicating a possible presence of publication bias or small study bias. Nevertheless, the asymmetry in the funnel plot was tested by performing egger's test which shows no significant possibility for the presence of asymmetry in the funnel plot (P = 0.785).



Figure 2.8: Funnel plot of the overall survival associated with the use of first-line mCRC SACTs.

Moreover, the model was tested for the presence of outliers and influential cases. A total of 5 out of 31 effect sizes were deemed to be outliers (Razenberg et al., 2016, Stein et al., 2015b, Suenaga et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021). A histogram was plotted to inspect the distribution of the outliers around the overall estimate as shown in Figure 2.9. Furthermore, to assess if any of the effect sizes would be considered as an influential case in the model, a cook's distance value was measured, and it was plotted as depicted in Figure 2.10. It shows that 3

Log(HR)

of the effect sizes had a distance value exceeding 0.13. The three influential cases correspond to Razenberg et al., Zhou et al. and, Stein et al studies, (Razenberg et al., 2016, Stein et al., 2015b, Zhou et al., 2021).



Figure 2.9: Histogram of overall survival data for outliers' distribution.



Figure 2.10: Influential observations of overall survival data by Cook's distance.

To correct for potential publication bias, the trim and-fill method was performed. In light of the substantial heterogeneity in this MA ($I^2 = 76.2\%$), two trim and-fill analyses were conducted: one with all studies and the second with sensitivity analysis in which the identified outliers were excluded. For the first analysis, one smaller effect size with a relatively high effect was filled (HR 0.59, 95% CI (0.34-1)). The overall pooled estimate for the corrected HR was 1.13, which is very close to the originally obtained overall pooled HR of 1.14. Also, the 95% CI of the filled funnel plot (1.03-1.24) was overlapping with the one corresponding to the original MA (1.05-1.24). For the second analysis, which included eliminating the identified outliers, one small effect size with a relatively high effect was also filled (HR 1.84, 95% CI (1.2-2.8)). Similar to the first analysis, the overall pooled estimate for the corrected HR was 1.15, which is very close to the HR obtained initially overall pooled HR of 1.14. also, the 95% CI of the trimmed funnel plot with the outliers removed (1.08-1.23) was overlapping with the one corresponding to the original to the original MA (1.05-1.24). Figure 2.11 and Figure 2.12 represent the funnel plots after applying the fill-and-trim methods for both

analyses. In these funnel plots, the imputed studies are represented by non-filled colour circles.



Funnel Plot (Trim & Fill Method)

Figure 2.11 Trim and-fill funnel plot for all included studies in the overall survival metaanalysis.

Funnel Plot (Trim & Fill Method)- Outliers Removed



Figure 2.12 Trim and-fill funnel plot for studies included in overall survival meta-analysis after eliminating outliers.

2.3.6.2 Progression-free survival meta-analysis

A total of 20 studies reported PFS of first-line mCRC SACTs and were included in the PFS MA. (Artac et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cainap et al., 2021, Cheng and Song, 2015, Degirmencioglu S, 2019, Duran et al., 2014, Hammerman et al., 2015, Houts et al., 2019a, Houts et al., 2019b, Khakoo et al., 2019, Kocakova et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2017, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021). The included studies contributed toward 21 effect sizes with a total of 12628 participants. Both Khakoo et al., 2019 and Marschner et al., 2015 have reported the PFS for the included SACTs but were not included in this MA because the KM curves for the comparison between bevacizumb+ FOLFIRI versus bevacizumab+ FOLFOX for the former study were too tangled hence the reconstruction of the KM curve to obtain the effect size was not possible (Khakoo et al., 2019), while, Marschner et al., 2015 reported only the median PFS for the corresponding SACTs without reporting the effect size or KM curve for the comparison (Marschner et al., 2015). Hence, these two studies were excluded from the PFS MA.

Overall estimate and heterogeneity of the progression-free survival meta-analysis

The overall pooled estimate for the PFS MA was 1.19 (1.08- 1.3). Subgroup analysis shows that treatment comparisons included in group 2 (bevacizumab+ CT vs. CT) and group 3 (bevacizumab+ CT1 versus bevacizumab+ CT2) show a statistical significant difference with a pooled estimate of 1.36 (1.25-1.48) for the former group indicating that patients who receive chemotherapy only are 36% at more risk of developing progression or death than patients who receive a combination of bevacizumab+ CT, and 1.17 (1.06- 1.29) for the latter group comparing different combinations of chemotherapy with bevacizumab. On the other hand, treatment comparisons included in group 4 (cetuximab+ CT vs. bevacizumab+ CT) did not show any statistically significant difference with a pooled estimate 1.06 (0.78- 1.43). Figure 2.13 presents the forest plot of all studies included in the PFS MA grouped based on the compared intervention.

The between-study heterogeneity variance was estimated at T^2 = 0.0237 (95% CI: 0.007-0.094) indicating that some between-study heterogeneity exists in the data, with an I² value of 64.4% (95% CI: 40.5-77.2) indicating high heterogeneity.

Group 2: Bevacizur	nab+CT vs CT							
Suenaga, 2014	Beva+FOLFOX vs. FOLFOX					-		4.07% 1.72 [1.23, 2.40]
Hammerman, 2014	Beva+CT vs.CT			÷	-			8.06% 1.34 [1.20, 1.49]
Lee, 2017	Beva+CT vs.CT			÷	-			6.86% 1.39 [1.17, 1.65]
Houts, 2019	Beva+CT vs.CT							5.16% 1.22 [0.94, 1.59]
					•			1.36 [1.25, 1.48]
Group 3: Bevacizur	nab+CT-1 Vs Bevacizumab+CT-2			1				
Bendell, 2012	Beva+FOLFIRI vs.Beva+FOLFOX			÷.				7.10% 0.97 [0.83, 1.14]
Duran, 2014	Beva+FOLFIRI vs.Beva+XELOX			÷—				5.86% 1.33 [1.07, 1.67]
Bai, 2015	Beva+irino vs. Beva+Oxali			<u> </u>				3.92% 1.08 [0.76, 1.53]
Artac, 2016	Beva+irino vs. Beva+Oxali			1 H				6.88% 1.30 [1.10, 1.55]
Cainep, 2021	Beva+irino vs. Beva+Oxali				• •			4.12% 1.45 [1.04, 2.02]
Ocvirk, 2011	Beva+FOLFIRI vs. Beva+XELIRI							3.67% 1.17 [0.81, 1.69]
Uygun, 2013	Beva+FOLFIRI vs. Beva+XELIRI			• • •	-			2.40% 0.83 [0.50, 1.37]
Kocakova, 2015	Beva+FOLFIRI vs. Beva+XELIRI				-			4.80% 1.09 [0.82, 1.45]
Buchler, 2014	Beva+FOLFOX vs. Beva+XELOX			- 				7.77% 1.05 [0.93, 1.19]
Khakoo, 2019	Beva+XELOX vs. Beva+Capecitabine				-			5.65% 1.20 [0.95, 1.52]
Cheng, 2015	Beva+FOLFOXIRI vs.Beva+XELOXIRI			. ÷ ←	•	-		4.00% 1.62 [1.15, 2.27]
								1.17 [1.06, 1.29]
Group 4: Cetuximal	b+CT Vs Bevacizumab+CT							
Yang, 2014	Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT				•			2.13% 1.82 [1.06, 3.13]
Bai, 2016	Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT			• • •				5.16% 0.87 [0.67, 1.13]
Houts, 2017	Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT							3.43% 0.76 [0.51, 1.11]
Zhou, 2021	Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT (mucinous)				•	-		3.09% 1.54 [1.01, 2.34]
Zhou, 2021	Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT (non-mucinous)		÷					5.86% 0.91 [0.73, 1.14]
			8	-	-			1.06 [0.78, 1.43]
DE Madal								100.00% 1.40.04.00.4.001
Test for Subgroup Differer	nces: Q _M = 28.92, df = 2, p = 0.00; I ² = 64.4%)			-				100.00% 1.19[1.08, 1.30]
	induseren och er sen skär tärer hand. De bistering den vägen skärte skarte som ander som som som som som som s	_					_	
						1	1	
		0.37	0.61	1	1.65	2.72	4.48	
			0	bserved	Outcom	ne		

Author, Year

Intervention vs. comparison

Figure 2.13 Forest plot of progression-free survival of first-line SACTs for mCRC.

Figure 2.14 shows a further analysis that was conducted for group 3 separately to compare the PFS associated with the use of different combinations of chemotherapy with bevacizumab. Only one additional comparison was added from Hammerman et al., 2015 which primarily compared the outcomes of treatment with chemotherapy only to these with a combination of bevacizumab and chemotherapy and performed a subgroup analysis comparing the outcomes of treatment with irinotecan-based chemotherapy + bevacizumab to these with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy+ bevacizumab (Hammerman et al., 2015) . This subgroup analysis comparison was not added to the main PFS MA to avoid violating the independency of effect size assumption of the MA and hence was added in this separate analysis. The overall pooled estimate for all treatments was 1.18 (1.08- 1.29) with no statistically significant difference between bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI vs bevacizumab+ XELIRI (pooled estimate 1.06, 95% CI (0.87- 1.31)). However, a statistically significant difference exists between bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy and bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (HR 1.22, 95% CI (1.07- 1.36) where the latter combination was found to be associated with an increased risk of developing disease progression or death.

Author, Year, comparison

Weight, HR [95% CI]

Bevacizumab+Irinotecan based Vs Bevacizumab+	Oxaliplatin based	
Bendell, 2012 Beva+FOLFIRI Vs Beva+FOLFOX	-	12.45% 0.97 [0.83, 1.14]
Duran, 2014 Beva+FOLFIRI Vs Beva+XELOX		9.04% 1.33 [1.07, 1.67]
Bai, 2015 Beva++irino Vs Beva++Oxali		5.08% 1.08 [0.76, 1.53]
Artac, 2016 Beva++irino Vs Beva++Oxali		11.77% 1.30 [1.10, 1.55]
Cainep, 2021 Beva++irino Vs Beva++Oxali		5.43% 1.45 [1.04, 2.02]
Hammerman,2014 Beva++irino Vs Beva++Oxali		13.65% 1.28 [1.11, 1.47]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 10.98, df = 5, p = 0.05; $I^2 = 54.4\%$)	+	1.22 [1.07, 1.38]
Bevacizumab+FOLFIRI Vs Bevacizumab+XELIRI		
Ocvirk, 2011 Beva+FOLFIRI Vs Beva+XELIRI	·	4.66% 1.17 [0.81, 1.69]
Uygun, 2013 Beva+FOLFIRI Vs Beva+XELIRI		2.76% 0.83 [0.50, 1.37]
Kocakova, 2015 Beva+FOLFIRI Vs Beva+XELIRI		6.71% 1.09 [0.82, 1.45]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 1.26, df = 2, p = 0.53; l ² = 0.0%)	-	1.06 [0.87, 1.31]
Bevacizumab+FOLFOX Vs Bevacizumab+XELOX		
Buchler, 2014 Beva+FOLFOX Vs Beva+XELOX		14.71% 1.05 [0.93, 1.19]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 0.00, df = 0, p = 1.00; l ² = 0.0%)	-	1.05 [0.93, 1.19]
Bevacizumab+XELOX vs Bevacizumab+Capecitat	oine	
Khakoo, 2019 Beva+XELOX Vs Beva+Capecitabine		8.52% 1.20 [0.95, 1.52]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 0.00, df = 0, p = 1.00; l ² = 0.0%)		1.20 [0.95, 1.52]
Bevacizumab+FOLFOXIRI Vs Bevacizumab+XELC	DXIRI	
Cheng, 2015 Beva+FOLFOXIRI Vs Beva+XELOXIRI		5.23% 1.62 [1.15, 2.27]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 0.00, df = 0, p = 1.00; l ² = 0.0%)	-	1.62 [1.15, 2.27]
	:	
Test for Subgroup Differences: $Q_M = 17.69$, df = 4, p = 0.00	; ² = 44.3%)	
c	0.37 0.61 1 1.65 2.72	
	Observed Outcome	

Figure 2.14: Forest plot for progression- free survival of first-line bevacizumab combinations with chemotherapy.

Moderator analysis for progression-free survival meta-analysis

For the PFS MA, moderator analysis included the studies' characteristics and the participants' clinical characteristics. However, the studies' characteristics did not include the risk of bias as it was measured based on the main outcome of this MA, which is the overall survival. Also, none of the studies that investigated PFS included an elderly cohort. Hence, the age group was removed from the patients' clinical characteristics table. Both Table 2.9 and Table 2.10 show the moderator analysis for study characteristics variables and the patients' clinical characteristics for the PFS MA, respectively. Of the study characteristics, the method of effect size calculation (direct extraction of the HR vs the curve approach), the study design, the funding source, and the type of treatment settings have all shown to have a statistically significant contribution toward the heterogeneity.

None of the examined study characteristics or the participants' clinical characteristics shows significant influence on the overall pooled estimate of PFS MA.
Tested variables	Number of effect sizes	Estimated effect (95% CI)	P value	l²(%)	P subgroup (moderator analysis)
Measurement of effect size	20			63.4%	0.007
Reported (direct)	15	1.16 (1.05- 1.29)	0.004		
Estimated (curve approach)	5	1.28 (1.05- 1.54)	0.01		
Study design	20			64.6%	0.002
Retrospective cohort	15	1.19 (1.05-1.45)	0.005		
Prospective cohort	5	1.22 (1.03- 1.45)	0.024		
Funding source	19			61.3%	0.005
Pharmaceutical company	8	1.13 (0.99- 1.29)	0.07		
Non-pharmaceutical	3	1.11 (0.86-1.42)	0.41		
company					
Non declared	8	1.24 (1.07-1.43)	0.003		
Type of setting	20			66.8%	0.001
Single centre	9	1.19 (1.01-1.39)	0.03		
Multicentric	11	1.19 (1.05-1.34)	0.004		
Data source	18			68.8%	0.09
Medical chart	5	1.21 (0.97- 1.53)	0.09		
Electronic medical records	5	1.25 (1.02- 1.52)	0.03		
registry	8	1.1 (0.96-1.27)	0.15		
Study duration	18	1 (0.98-1.03)		67.4%	0.61
Study sample	20	1 (0.99-1.01)		65.6%	0.56

Table 2.9 Moderator analysis of study characteristics variables for the progression-free survivalmeta-analysis.

KEY= 95% CI: 95% confidence interval; NI: no information

Tested variable	Number of effect	Estimated effect	Р	l ² (%)			
	sizes	(95% CI)					
Gender			0.052	55.9%			
Male gender	20	0.15 (0.68- 1.02)					
Female gender	20	6.8 (0.98- 47)					
Performance status							
PS 0-1	15	0.93 (0.4- 2.1)	0.85	66.8%			
PS ≥2	15	1.2 (0.11- 12.5)	0.88	66.3%			
RAS status							
RAS-wild	6	0.53 (0.23- 1.22)	0.14	69.7%			
RAS-mutant	6	1.3 (0.56- 3)	0.54	78%			
Primary tumour location							
Primary colon	10	0.37 (0.03-3.7)	0.5	70.7%			
Primary rectum		2.17 (0.22- 21.1)	0.39	68.7%			
Number of metastatic sites							
0-1	6	0.27 (0.06- 1.19)	0.08	57%			
≥2	6	2.2 (0.73- 6.67)	0.15	61.4%			
Primary tumour resection	9	1.2 (0.49- 2.87)	0.68	69.1%			
Localisation of metastases							
Liver metastases	14	0.76 (3.5- 2)	0.58	69.3%			
Lung metastases	13	1.25 (0.39- 4)	0.71	69.2%			
Peritoneum metastases	11	1.23 (0.16- 3.7)	0.75	68.9%			
KEY= 95% CI: 95% confidence interval; NI: no information; PS= performance status							

 Table 2.10. Moderator analysis of the clinical characteristics of the participants for the progression-free survival meta-analysis.

Publication bias, outliers, and influential cases of progression-free survival meta-analysis

The funnel plot in Figure 2.15 shows that the effect sizes are distributed evenly at the top and the bottom of the plot and on both sides of the plot. The effect sizes are also distributed within and outside the area of statistical significance, as shown in the contour-enhanced funnel plot, suggesting there is no possibility for a small study effect or publication bias. Furthermore, egger's test shows no significant possibility for the presence of asymmetry in the funnel plot (P =0.69). Additionally, the model was assessed for the presence of outliers, as presented in Figure 2.16, and none of the effect sizes was identified as an outlier. Furthermore, the influential cases were assessed using the cook's distance value which was computed based on the 4/n criterion where n represents the number of effect sizes and found to be 0.2. None of the effect sizes had a distance value exceeding 0.12, as demonstrated in Figure 2.17. Therefore, it can be concluded that none of the effect sizes can be considered an influential case. As a result of that, there was no need to conduct the trim and-fill analysis to correct for publication bias.



Figure 2.15: Funnel plot of the progression free survival associated with the use of firstline mCRC SACTs.



Figure 2.16: Histogram of progression-free survival data for outliers' distribution.



Figure 2.17: Influential observations of progression-free survival data by Cook's distance.

2.3.6.3 Objective response meta-analyses

A total of 15 studies reported objective response of first-line mCRC SACTs and were included in the overall response rate meta-analysis (ORR MA) and the disease control rate metaanalysis (DCR MA). Bai et al., 2016; Bai et al., 2015; Bendell et al., 2012; Buchler et al., 2014; Cheng & Song, 2015; Duran et al., 2014; Kocakova et al., 2015; Marschner et al., 2015; Ocvirk et al., 2011; Stec et al., 2010; Stein et al., 2015; Suenaga et al., 2014; Uygun et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2021). The included studies contributed toward 16 effect sizes with a total of 9077 participants for each MA. Each of the two meta-analyses included four groups, namely: 1- different chemotherapies compared to each other (CT-1 vs CT-2) which included two effect sizes; 2- chemotherapy alone compared to combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab (CT versus bevacizumab+ CT) with only one effect size in this group; 3- various combinations of chemotherapies combined with bevacizumab compared to each other (bevacizumab+ CT-1 versus bevacizumab+ CT-2) including nine effect sizes, and 4combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab compared to chemotherapy and cetuximab (bevacizumab+ CT versus cetuximab+ CT) which included four effect sizes. Section 3.6.4. reports the details about the ORR MA, while section 3.6.5 covers the DCR MA.

2.3.6.3.1 Overall response rate (ORR) meta-analysis

Overall estimate and heterogeneity of the overall response rate meta-analyses

The overall pooled estimate for the ORR MA was 1.04 (0.91-1.18). Subgroup analysis shows that treatment comparisons included in group 1 (CT-1 Vs CT-2) and group 3 (Bevacizumab+ CT-1 vs Bevacizumab+ CT-2) did not show a statistically significant difference with a pooled estimate of 0.94 (0.46-1.90) for the former group and 0.82 (0.52- 1.15) for the latter one. Nevertheless, treatment with cetuximab+ CT was associated with a 23% more likelihood of complete or partial response to SACTs compared to bevacizumab + CT (RR 1.23, 95% CI (1.1-1.37)). Also, group 2, which included only one effect size, shows that treatment bevacizumab+ FOLFOX was associated with 35% more likelihood of achieving complete or partial response compared to treatment with FOLFOX alone (RR: 1.35, 95% CI (1.05- 1.75)). The forest plot for the ORR MA is shown in Figure 2.18. The between-study heterogeneity variance was estimated at T^2 = 0.048 (95% CI: 0.019- 0.184), indicating that some between-study heterogeneity exists in the data, with an I² value of 84% indicating high heterogeneity.

Author, Year Intervention vs. comparison

Weight, RR [95% CI]



Figure 2.18: Forest plot of the overall response of first-line SACTs for mCRC.

Subsequent analysis for group 3, which compares various combinations of chemotherapy with bevacizumab (bevacizumab+ CT-1 vs. bevacizumab+ CT-2), shows that bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy was associated with less likelihood of achieving partial or complete response compared to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy, yet the difference was not statistically significant (RR 0.82, 95% CI (0.58- 1.15)), as shown in Figure 2.19. Moreover, the analysis shows that no statistically significant difference in ORR exists between bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI vs bevacizumab+ XELIRI (RR 0.98, 95% CI (0.84- 1.14)). Within this separate subgroup analysis, only treatment with bevacizumab+ FOLFOIXRI was associated with 36% more likelihood of attaining complete or partial response compared to bevacizumab+ XELOXIRI, and the difference was statistically significant. However, only one study compared these two treatments against each other.



Figure 2.19. Forest plot for the overall response rate of first-line bevacizumab combinations with chemotherapy.

Publication bias, outliers, and influential cases of overall response rate meta-analysis

Figure 2.20 depicts the funnel plot for the ORR MA. It shows that most of the studies are distributed in the middle and top parts of the plot (less standard error, more sample size), with only one study located at the bottom of the plot. Moreover, most of the effect sizes are located in the non-significance area (P > 0.05). This funnel plot does not resemble a funnel shape suggesting a possible presence of publication bias or small study effect. However, the asymmetry of the plot was further tested through egger's test which shows no significant

possibility for the presence of funnel asymmetry in the funnel plot (p= 0.33). Additionally, the model was tested for the presence of outliers and influential cases. One effect size was identified as an outlier (Duran et al., 2014). A histogram was plotted to inspect the distribution of the outliers around the overall estimate as shown in Figure 2.21. Furthermore, to assess if any of the effect sizes would be considered as an influential case in the model, a cook's distance value was measured, and it was plotted as depicted in Figure 2.22. It shows that one effect size had a distance value exceeding 0.25 based on the 4/n criterion where n is considered as the number of effect sizes (4/16). Similar to the identified outlier, the effect size that was deemed to be influential corresponded to (Duran et al., 2014).



Figure 2.20: Funnel plot of the overall response rate associated with the use of first-line mCRC SACTs.



Figure 2.21: Histogram of overall response rate data for outliers' distribution.



Figure 2.22: Influential observations of overall response rate data by Cook's distance.

Trim-and-fill method was used to correct for the potentiality of publication bias. One effect size was filled (RR 0.74, 95% CI (0.54-1.01)) resulting in an overall pooled estimate for the corrected overall pooled RR of 1.03 that is very close to the overall pooled RR before filling the effect size of 1.04. Furthermore, the 95% CI of the filled funnel plot (0.88- 1.18) was overlapping with the one before adding the effect size (0.92- 1.18). A second trim-and-fill analysis was carried out after eliminating the effect size that was considered an influential case and an outlier, and two effect sizes were filled (RR 0.77, 95% CI (0.59-1.01). Figure 2.23 and Figure 2.24 represent the funnel plots after applying the fill-and-trim methods for both analyses. In these funnel plots, the imputed studies are represented by non-filled colour circles.

Funnel Plot (Trim & Fill Method)



Figure 2.23 Trim and-fill funnel plot for all included studies in the overall response rate meta- analysis.



Funnel Plot (Trim & Fill Method)- Outliers Removed

Figure 2.24 Trim and-fill funnel plot for studies included in overall response rate after eliminating outliers.

2.3.6.3.2 Disease control rate (DCR) meta-analysis

Overall estimate and heterogeneity of the disease control rate meta-analysis

The overall pooled estimate for the DCR MA was 0.98 (0.95-1.02). Subgroup analysis shows that treatment comparisons included in group 1 (CT-1 Vs. CT-2) and group 4 (cetuximab+ CT vs bevacizumab+ CT) did not show a statistically significant difference with a pooled estimate of 1 (0.86-1.17) for the former group and 1.02 (0.94-1.1) for the latter one. Nevertheless, group 2 which included only one effect size shows that treatment with bevacizumab+ FOLFOX was associated with 11% more likelihood of achieving complete response, partial response, or stable disease compared to treatment with FOLFOX alone (RR: 1.11, 95% CI (1.03- 1.20)). Also, various combinations of chemotherapy with bevacizumab resulted in a statistically significant pooled estimate as explained in the separate analysis for group 3 (RR 0.95, 95% CI (0.9- 0.99). The forest plot for the ORR MA is shown in Figure 2.25.

The between-study heterogeneity variance was estimated at T^2 = 0.0058 (95% CI:0.002-0.017) indicating that some between-study heterogeneity exists in the data, with an I² value of 82.05% indicating high heterogeneity.

Author,Year Intervention vs. comparison		Weight, RR [95% CI]
Group 1: CT-1 vs CT-2		
Marschner,2015 irino based vs. Oxali based		5.88% 1.06 [0.95, 1.19]
Stec, 2010 Capecitabine vs. FOLFIRI		3.20% 0.90 [0.73, 1.11]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 1.95, df = 1, p = 0.16; l^2 = 48.8%)	+	1.00 [0.86, 1.17]
Group 2: Bevacizumab+CT vs CT		
Suenaga, 2014 Beva FOLEOX vs. FOLEOX		7.33% 1.11 [1.03, 1.20]
RE Model for Subgroup ($\omega = v.vv$, $\alpha t = v$, $p = 1.00$; $f^2 = 0.0\%$)	•	1.11 [1.03, 1.20]
Crown 2: Powarizumah+CT-4 Vc Powarizumah+CT-2		
		8 95% 1 05 10 98 1 141
Stein 2015 Bevalling up Beval Orali		8 93% 0 95 (0 93 0 98)
Bendell 2012 Beve FOLEIRL ve Beve FOLEOV		8 11% 0 99 10 94 1 051
Duran 2014 Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-FOLFIX	_ _	5 24% 0 82 10 72 0 931
Korskova 2015 Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRIÅ	-	7 99% 0.88 [0.83, 0.94]
Oovirk 2011 Beve-FOLFIRI vs. Beve-XELIRIÅ		4 14% 0.88 [0.73, 1.01]
Uvgun, 2013 Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRI		4.05% 1.02 [0.86, 1.21]
Buchler, 2014 Beva-FOLFOX vs. Beva-XELOX	•	8.78% 0.90 [0.87, 0.93]
Cheng, 2015 Beva-FOLFOXIRI vs. Beva-XELOXIRI		5.24% 1.07 [0.94, 1.22]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 30.85, df = 8, p = 0.00; Γ = 82.6%)	•	0.95 [0.90, 1.00]
Crown & Coloringh CT 1/2 Bougeringent CT		
Group 4: Cetuximab+CT VS Bevacizumab+CT		7 220 0 07 10 00 4 051
Bai, 2010 Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT	<u> </u>	7.23% 0.37 [0.30, 1.05]
Tang, 2014 Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT		0.01% 0.00[0.07, 1.11]
Zhou, 2021 Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT		7.226 1.11(1.0.2.1.14)
DE Model for Subscoup (0 = 6.95, dt = 3, p = 0.07; $\frac{2}{7}$ = 55.4%)		1 02 [0 04 1 10]
RE model for Subgroup (a = 0.55, at = 5, p = 0.07, 1 = 55.4%)	T	1.02 [0.84, 1.10]
RE Model	+	100.00% 0.98 [0.94, 1.02]
Test for Subgroup Differences: Q _M = 6.71, df = 3, p = 0.15; I ^e = 82.0%)		
	0.67 0.9 1.22	
	Observed Outcome	

Figure 2.25: Forest plot of disease control rate of first-line SACTs for mCRC.

Further analysis for group 3 comparing various combinations of chemotherapy with bevacizumab (bevacizumab+ CT-1 vs. bevacizumab+ CT-2) shows that no statistically significant difference in DCR exists between bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy vs. bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (RR 0.99, 95% CI (0.89- 1.09)) and between bevacizumab+ FOLFOXIRI vs. bevacizumab+ XELOXIRI (RR 1.07, 95% CI (0.94- 1.22)) (Figure 2.26). However, the analysis shows that treatment with bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI was associated with a statistically significant less likelihood of achieving complete response, partial response, or stable disease compared to bevacizumab+ XELIRI (RR 0.90, 95% CI (0.87- 0.93)). Furthermore, despite that only one effect size existed to compare the DCR of

bevacizumab+ FOLFOX vs. bevacizumab+ XELOX, it was shown that treatment with bevacizumab+ FOLFOX was associated with a statistically significant less likelihood of attaining complete response, partial response, or stable disease compared to bevacizumab+ XELOX (RR 0.9, 95% CI (0.87- 0.93)).

Author, Year, comparison

Weight, RR [95% CI]

Bevacizumab+Irinote	ecan based Vs Bevacizumab+Oxalip	latin based		
Bai, 2015	Beva+Irino vs. Beva+Oxali		11.72%	1.05 [0.96, 1.14]
Stein, 2015	Beva+Irino vs. Beva+Oxali		14.54%	1.05 [1.02, 1.08]
Bendell, 2012	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-FOLFOX	÷	13.40%	1.01 [0.95, 1.06]
Duran, 2014	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELOX		9.11%	0.82 [0.72, 0.93]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q =	14.47, df = 3, p = 0.00; l ² = 90.0%)	÷	0	.99 [0.89, 1.09]
Bevacizumab+FOLF	RI Vs Bevacizumab+XELIRI			
Kocakova, 2015	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRI	-	13.23%	0.88 [0.83, 0.94]
Ocvirk, 2011	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRI		7.35%	0.86 [0.73, 1.01]
Uygun, 2013	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRI		7.20%	1.02 [0.86, 1.21]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q =	2.89, df = 2, p = 0.24; l ² = 18.4%)	•	0	.90 [0.84, 0.96]
Bevacizumab+FOLF	OX Vs Bevacizumab+XELOX			
Buchler, 2014	Beva-FOLFOX vs. Beva-XELOX		14.34%	0.90 [0.87, 0.93]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q =	0.00, df = 0, p = 1.00; l ² = 0.0%)	•	0	.90 [0.87, 0.93]
Bevacizumab+FOLF	OXIRI Vs Bevacizumab+XELOXIRI			
Cheng, 2015	Beva-FOLFOXIRI vs. Beva-XELOXIRI		9.11%	1.07 [0.94, 1.22]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q =	0.00, df = 0, p = 1.00; l ² = 0.0%)	-	1	.07 [0.94, 1.22]
RE Model		•	100.00%	0.96 [0.90, 1.02]
	Test for Subgroup Differen	nces: Q _M = 4.64, df = 3, p =	0.33; I ² =	82.0%)
		0.67 1.22		
		Observed Outcome		

Figure 2.26 Forest plot for the disease control rate of first-line bevacizumab combinations with chemotherapy.

Publication bias, outliers, and influential cases of disease control rate meta-analysis

The funnel plot in Figure 2.27 shows that the effect sizes corresponding to the DCR MA are distributed evenly at the top and the bottom of the plot and on both sides of the plot. The effect sizes are also distributed within, and outside area of statistical significance as shown in the contour enhanced funnel plot suggesting no possibility for small study effect or publication bias. Furthermore, egger's test was performed and shows no significant possibility for the presence of asymmetry in the funnel plot (P =0.85). Additionally, the model was tested for the presence of outliers and influential cases. Five effect sizes were identified as outliers (Buchler et al., 2014, Duran et al., 2014, Kocakova et al., 2015, Suenaga et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2021). A histogram was plotted to inspect the distribution of the outliers around the overall estimate as shown in Figure 2.28. Furthermore, to assess if any of the effect sizes would be considered as an influential case in the model, a cook's distance value was measured, and it was plotted as depicted in Figure 2.29. It shows that 4 effect sizes ((Duran et al., 2014, Kocakova et al., 2015, Suenaga et al., 2021) had a distance value exceeding 0.25 based on the 4/n criterion where n is considered as the number of effect sizes (4/16).



Figure 2.27: Funnel plot of the disease control rate associated with the use of first-line mCRC SACTs.



Figure 2.28: Histogram of disease control rate data for outliers' distribution.



Figure 2.29: Influential observations of disease control rate data by Cook's distance.

2.3.6.4 Toxicities meta-analyses

A total of 13 studies reported the toxicities resulting from the use of first-line mCRC SACTs using NCI-CTCAE and were included in the haematological toxicities meta-analysis and the non-haematological toxicities meta-analysis (Bai et al., 2016, Bai et al., 2015, Bendell et al., 2012, Buchler et al., 2014, Cheng and Song, 2015, Duran et al., 2014, Guo et al., 2020, Kocakova et al., 2015, Ocvirk et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Suenaga et al., 2014, Uygun et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2014).

The included studies contributed toward 13 effect sizes with a total of 8220 participants. Each of the two meta-analyses included four groups, namely: 1- different chemotherapies compared to each other (CT-1 vs. CT-2), which included 2 effect sizes; 2- chemotherapy alone compared to a combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab (CT versus bevacizumab+ CT) with only one effect size in this group; 3- various combinations of chemotherapies combined with bevacizumab compared to each other (bevacizumab+ CT-1 versus bevacizumab+ CT-2) including eight effect sizes, and 4- a combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab compared to chemotherapy and cetuximab (bevacizumab+ CT versus cetuximab+ CT) which included only two effect sizes.

2.3.6.4.1 Haematological toxicities meta-analysis

As displayed in Figure 2.30, which shows the forest plot for the MA of haematological toxicities of first-line mCRC SACTs, the overall pooled estimate for the haematological toxicities MA was 1.25 (0.88-1.78). Subgroup analysis shows that treatment comparisons included in group 1 (CT-1 Vs. CT-2) did not show a statistically significant differences with a pooled estimate of 0.8 (0.61-1.05). A similar case holds for group 2, which includes only one effect size, shows that the combination of bevacizumab+ CT is associated with 8% more likelihood of haematological toxicities compared to CT alone, however the association was not statistically significant (RR 1.08, 95% CI (0.79- 1.47)). Furthermore, despite that cetuximab+ CT shows less likelihood for haematological toxicities compared to bevacizumab+ CT (group 4), the association was not statistically significant with an overall pooled estimate of 0.85 (0.62- 1.16). However, different combinations of chemotherapy with bevacizumab

(bevacizumab+CT-1 vs bevacizumab+ CT-2) shows a statistically significant difference with a pooled estimate of 1.69 (1.03- 2.8).

Author, Year	Intervention vs. comparison				V	Veight, RR [95% CI]
Group 1: CT	-1 vs CT-2		-			
Stec, 2010	Capecitabine vs. FOLFIRI					6.35% 0.60 [0.26, 1.38]
Guo,2020	Capecitabine vs. S-1					9.23% 0.83 [0.62, 1.10]
RE Model for Sub	ogroup (Q = 0.51, df = 1, p = 0.48; l ² = 0.0%)		-			0.80 [0.61, 1.05]
Group 2: Be	vacizumab+CT vs CT		-			
Suenaga, 2014	Beva-FOLFOX vs. FOLFOX					9.16% 1.08 [0.79, 1.47]
RE Model for Sub	bgroup (Q = 0.00, df = 0, p = 1.00; I ² = 0.0%)					1.08 [0.79, 1.47]
Group 3: Be	vacizumab+CT-1 Vs Bevacizum	ab+CT-2				
Bai, 2015	Beva+Irino vs. Beva+Oxali					8.46% 1.03 [0.65, 1.62]
Bendell, 2012	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-FOLFOX					4.72% 2.85 [0.88, 9.19]
Duran, 2014	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELOX		:	-	-	9.05% 3.43 [2.46, 4.80]
Ocvirk, 2011	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRI		:			8.35% 3.69 [2.29, 5.94]
Uygun, 2013	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRI					8.61% 0.68 [0.44, 1.04]
Kocakova, 2015	Beva-FOLFIRI vs. Beva-XELIRI			<u></u>		3.28% 1.69 [0.34, 8.29]
Buchler, 2014	Beva-FOLFOX vs. Beva-XELOX	⊢		-		7.33% 0.95 [0.49, 1.83]
Cheng, 2015	Beva-FOLFOXIRI vs. Beva-XELOXIRI		÷	•		8.91% 1.87 [1.30, 2.70]
RE Model for Sub	bgroup (Q = 53.24, df = 7, p = 0.00; l ² = 85.5%)				1.69 [1.04, 2.76]
Group 4: Ce	tuximab+CT Vs Bevacizumab+C	T				
Bai, 2016	Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT					8.91% 0.92 [0.64, 1.33]
Yang, 2014	Cetux+CT vs. Beva+CT					7.66% 0.67 [0.37, 1.22]
RE Model for Sub	bgroup (Q = 0.80, df = 1, p = 0.37; l ² = 0.0%)		-			0.85 [0.62, 1.16]
RE Model Test for Subgroup	Differences: Q _M = 6.29, df = 3, p = 0.18; I ² = 86.	.5%)	-	-		100.00% 1.25 [0.88, 1.78]
			i			
	0.14	0.37	1	2.72	7.39	20.09
			Observed	Outcome		

Figure 2.30. Forest plot of haematological toxicities of first-line SACTs for mCRC.

The subgroup analysis performed for group 3 (Figure 2.31) shows that the risk of occurrences of haematological toxicities is two times more in patients who were treated with bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy compared to patients treated with bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. However, the difference was not statistically significant (RR: 2.09, 95% CI (0.92-4.77). Similarly, the analysis shows that treatment with bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI is associated with more likelihood of haematological toxicities, yet not significant (RR 1.60, 95% CI (052-4.93)). Although one effect size existed comparing between bevacizumab+ FOLFOXIRI and bevacizumab+ XELOXIRI, the former combination was associated with a statistically significant more likelihood for haematological toxicities compared to the latter combination (RR 1.87, 95% CI (1.3-2.7)).

Author, Year, comparison

Weight, RR [95% CI]



Figure 2.31. Forest plot for the haematological toxicities of first-line bevacizumab combinations with chemotherapy.

Figure 2.32 shows the funnel plot for the haematological toxicities MA. As displayed, most of the studies are distributed in the top part of the plot, with only one study located at the bottom of the plot. Also, most of the effect sizes are located in the non-significance area (P > 0.05), while three studies are located in the significance area. This funnel plot resembles a funnel shape suggesting no possible presence of publication bias or small study effect. This observation was further confirmed by performing egger's test, which shows no significant possibility for the presence of funnel asymmetry in the funnel plot (p= 0.84). Additionally, the model was tested for the presence of outliers (Figure 2.33) and influential cases (Figure 2.34), where two effect sizes were identified as outliers (Duran et al., 2014, Ocvirk et al., 2011). Also, cook's distance value was measured to assess if any of the effect sizes would be considered as an influential case in the model. It shows the two effect sizes corresponding to Duran et al., and 2014; Ocvirk et al., 2011, which have a distance value exceeding 0.35 based on the 4/n criterion where n is considered as the number of effect sizes (4/13). The overall pooled estimate after eliminating the outliers from the model was 0.99 (0.76- 1.29).



Figure 2.32: Funnel plot of the haematological toxicities associated with the use of firstline mCRC SACTs.



Figure 2.33: Histogram of haematological toxicity data for outliers' distribution.



Figure 2.34: Influential observations of the haematological toxicity data by Cook's distance.

2.3.6.4.2 Non-haematological toxicities meta-analysis

The overall pooled estimate for the non-haematological toxicities MA was 1.18 (0.83- 1.69), as shown in Figure 2.35. Although group 2 (bevacizumab+ CT vs CT) contained only one effect size, it shows a significant trend for non-haematological toxicities for bevacizumab+ chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone. An individual non-haematological toxicities analysis was carried out for this group showing that bevacizumab+ chemotherapy alone [RR 5.91 (95% CI 1.13-22.1)]. For the remaining groups, none show a statistically significant difference with a pooled relative risk of 1.75 (0.89- 3.43) for group 1 comparing different chemotherapy with bevacizumab, and 0.62 (0.27-1.43) indicating that treatment with cetuximab+ chemotherapy results in less risk of non-haematological toxicities compared to treatment with bevacizumab+ chemotherapy. Nevertheless, subsequent analysis for group 3 (bevacizumab+ CT-1 vs bevacizumab+ CT-2) was carried out as shown in Figure 2.36 and shows that bevacizumab+ XELIRI was associated with significantly more risk of non-haematological toxicities compared to bevacizumab+ CD-SIRI with RR of 2.12 (95% CI

1.44-3.12). Further exploration of this finding shows that the risk of diarrhoea is significantly higher in patients treated with XELIRI compared to FOLFIRI [RR 2.5 (1.14-5.62)].

It also shows that bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy is associated with a higher risk of non-haematological toxicity compared to bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy [RR 0.57 (95% CI 0.36-0.92)]. Finally, Further analysis of the individual non-haematological toxicities for bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy vs bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy shows that bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy shows that bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy is significantly more likely to cause neuropathy compared to bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy [RR 4.93 (95% CI 1.11-21.8), P value 0.03].

Further exploration of the individual haematological toxicities for bevacizumab+ irinotecanbased chemotherapy vs bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy shows that bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy is significantly more likely to cause neuropathy compared to bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy [RR 4.93 (95% CI 1.11-21.8), P value 0.03].

Author, Year	Intervention vs. comparisor	n						Weight, RR [95% CI]
Group 1: CT-1	l vs CT-2							
Stec 2010	capecitabine/FOLFIRI				-			8.46% 1.25 [0.79, 1.99]
Guo 2020	capecitabine/S-1				-			8.21% 2.49 [1.49, 4.15]
RE Model for Subg	roup (Q = 3.80, df = 1, p = 0.05; l ² = 73.7	%)		-	-			1.75 [0.89, 3.43]
Group 2: Bev	acizumab+CT vs CT			÷				
Suenaga 2014	3eva+FOLFOX/FOLFOX			- i	•			8.41% 1.84 [1.15, 2.96]
RE Model for Subg	roup (Q = 0.00, df = 0, p = 1.00; l ² = 0.09	6)		-	-			1.84 [1.15, 2.96]
Group 3: Bev	acizumab+CT-1 Vs Bevacizu	mab+	СТ-2	-				
Uygun 2013	Beva+FOLFIRI/Beva+XELIRI			÷	-			7.38% 1.65 [0.85, 3.19]
Kocakova 2015	Beva+FOLFIRI/Beva+XELIRI	—					-	1.82% 1.13 [0.10, 12.34]
Ocvirk 2011	Beva+FOLFIRI/Beva+XELIRI			1	-			8.34% 2.49 [1.53, 4.06]
Bayoglu 2015	Beva+FOLFOX/Beva+XELOX							8.84% 2.70 [1.83, 3.99]
Buchler 2014	Beva+FOLFOX/Beva+XELOX		-		-			7.45% 0.89 [0.47, 1.71]
Duran 2014	Beva+FOLFIRI/Beva+XELOX				-			6.70% 0.73 [0.33, 1.60]
Bai 2015	Beva+Irino based/Beva+Oxali based		-					7.79% 0.50 [0.28, 0.90]
Cheng 2015	Beva+FOLFOXIRI/Beva+XELOXIRI		3	- -				9.19% 0.86 [0.63, 1.17]
RE Model for Subg	roup (Q = 41.35, df = 7, p = 0.00; l ² = 81.	.9%)		-				1.20 [0.75, 1.93]
Group 4: Cetu	ıximab+CT Vs Bevacizumab	+CT		-				
Yang 2014	Beva+CT/cetux+CT			-				8.80% 0.95 [0.64, 1.41]
Bai 2016	Beva+CT/cetux+CT		-					8.59% 0.41 [0.26, 0.63]
RE Model for Subg	roup (Q = 7.82, df = 1, p = 0.01; l ² = 87.2	!%)	_	-				0.62 [0.27, 1.43]
RE Model	Differences: 0. = 4.52 df = 3 n = 0.1	24.12 -	P4 29/ \	-	-			100.00% 1.18 [0.83, 1.69]
Test for Subgroup	Differences: $Q_M = 4.52$, di = 3, p = 0.	54;1 =	64.2%)	-	1.5	12		
							1	
	0.05	0.14	0.37	1	2.72	7.39	20.09	
			Obser	ved Ou	tcome			

Figure 2.35: Forest plot of non-haematological toxicities of first-line SACTs for mCRC.

Intervention vs. comparison

Weight, RR [95% CI]



Figure 2.36: Forest plot for non-haematological toxicities of first-line bevacizumab combinations with chemotherapy.

The funnel plot for non-haematological toxicities is displayed in Figure 2.37. As seen, the majority of the studies are located at the top part of the plot with only one study located at the bottom of the plot. In addition, most of the effect sizes are located in the non-significant region (P > 0.05), whereas only three studies are located in the significance area. The funnel plot resembles a funnel shape indicating no possible presence of publication bias or small study effect. Furthermore, egger's test shows that there is no possible presence of funnel publication bias (P value 0.85).



Figure 2.37: Funnel plot of the non-haematological toxicities associated with the use of first-line mCRC SACTs.

Additionally, the model was tested for the presence of outliers and influential cases were identified as outlier (Yang et al., 2014, Vedat Bayoglu et al., 2015). Figure 2.38 shows the distribution of the outliers around the overall estimate. Also, cook's distance value was measured to assess if any of the effect sizes would be considered as an influential case in the model, and it was plotted as depicted in Figure 2.39. It shows the 2 effect sizes had a distance value exceeding 0.35 based on the 4/n criterion where n is considered as the number of effect sizes (4/13).



Figure 2.38: Histogram of the non-haematological toxicity data for outliers' distribution.



Figure 2.39: Influential observations of the non-haematological toxicity data by Cook's distance.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Summary of the key findings

This SR-MA synthesised the findings of 29 studies that investigated the comparative effectiveness and safety of first-line mCRC SACTs in real-world practice settings. Six metaanalyses were quantitatively synthesised on six clinical outcomes, including the overall survival (OS), the progression-free survival (PFS), the overall response rate (ORR), the disease control rate (DCR), the severe haematological and non-haematological toxicities metaanalyses.

The Included studies in each of the six meta-analyses were classified into four groups according to the type of compared exposure: 1- studies comparing different chemotherapeutic regimens to each other, 2- chemotherapy alone compared to a combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab, 3- various combinations of chemotherapies combined with bevacizumab compared to each other, and 4- a combination of chemotherapy and bevacizumab of chemotherapy and cetuximab. Among these categories, the most studied SACT in the first line (1L) settings was bevacizumab, which was investigated in 24 out of 29 studies.

Overall, the findings of this review showed that the combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (group 2) demonstrated statistically significant improved effectiveness, including OS, PFS, and ORR over chemotherapy alone (Figure 2.7, Figure 2.13, and

Figure 2.18). However, the combination was associated with a statistically increased risk of non-haematological toxicities and a non-statistically significant increased risk for haematological toxicities (Figure 2.30 and Figure 2.35, respectively).

Moreover, our findings showed that various chemotherapy combinations with bevacizumab (group 3), regardless of the intensity and the type of the chemotherapy, did not show any statistically significant difference in overall survival (Figure 2.7). However, the combination of bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy was associated with an increased hazard of disease progression and neuropathy compared to bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy (Figure 2.14). Nevertheless, it demonstrated a higher non-significant trend

for complete or partial response (improved ORR) compared to bevacizumab+ irinotecanbased chemotherapy (Figure 2.14). The combination of bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy was, however, associated with significantly higher risk for severe diarrhoea compared to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin.

The comparison between cetuximab+chemotherapy versus bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (group 4) did not show any statistically significant difference in OS, PFS, or toxicities (Figure 2.7, Figure 2.13, Figure 2.30, Figure 2.35). However, the combination of cetuximab+chemotherapy was associated with improved complete or partial response (i.e., overall response rate) compared to bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (Figure 2.18).

Finally, when compared against each other, first-line chemotherapeutic agents without additional targeted treatments (group 1) and regardless of the intensity of chemotherapy did not differ significantly in terms of OS, PFS, objective response, or toxicities (Figure 2.6, Figure 2.13, Figure 2.18, Figure 2.25, Figure 2.30, and Figure 2.35).

The included studies in the review showed variability in the general characteristics and design (Appendix II. Additionally, considerable clinical variability among the patients included in the studies existed. For instance, the representation of female patients ranged between 22.7% and 59.3% (Appendix II), while poor performance status (\geq 2) ranged between 0% (Ocvirk et al., 2011, Cheng and Song, 2015) and 15.7% (Artac et al., 2016). Similarly, within studies that reported the RAS status, two studies included only patients with RAS wild-type tumour (Houts et al., 2019a, Degirmencioglu S, 2019), while one study included only patients with RAS mutant-type tumour (Houts et al., 2019b), while for the remaining studies that reported the RAS status, RAS wild-type tumour ranged between 22.6% (Marschner et al., 2015) and 48% (Zhou et al., 2021).

All these differences across the studies contributed to the between-study variability (I²), which varied across the six MAs based on the included effect sizes. However, for the OS MA, which included all studies, I² was 76.2%, indicating a high variability (heterogeneity) between the studies, which upon further exploration was found to be attributed to a range of the studies' design characteristics, such as the effect size calculation method and the type of primary study settings (Table 2.7). Additionally, the heterogeneity was partially explained by the variability of the characteristics of the included patients in the primary studies, such as the age group of the included patients (

Table 2.8). Finally, the variability in the applied SACT regimens, ranging between chemotherapeutic agent only (group 1), various combinations of chemotherapeutic agents with bevacizumab (group 2 and group 3), and various combinations of chemotherapeutic agents with cetuximab (group 4) was another leading cause for the heterogeneity in all MAs in this review. However, within the SACT groups, the heterogeneity was less profound. For example, the between-study variability in the PFS MA was 64.4% (P value <0.001), indicating high heterogeneity between individual studies (Figure 2.13). Nevertheless, within the compared SACT groups, the heterogeneity) for group 2 (bevacizumab+ CT vs CT), 43.5% (moderate heterogeneity) for group 3 (bevacizumab+CT1 vs bevacizumab+CT2), and 74.3% (high heterogeneity) for group 3 (cetuximab+ CT vs bevacizumab+ CT) (Figure 2.13).

Interestingly, the moderator analysis demonstrated a significant statistical difference between studies funded by pharmaceutical companies and those without such sponsorship. However, it was not possible to conduct further analysis based on treatment groups due to the presence of four distinct subgroups. As a result, each group of the moderator analysis for the source of sponsorship of each study would have a small number of studies, leading to reduced statistical power and limiting the ability to draw meaningful conclusions.

Despite the advantages that observational studies introduce to provide evidence of the comparative effectiveness and safety of treatments, they are limited by their susceptibility to bias (Gershman et al., 2018, D'Agostino and D'Agostino, 2007, Levesque et al., 2010). In this review, the risk of bias was assessed for the primary outcome, which was overall survival, using the Cochrane ROBINS-I tool, which defines 7 bias domains, with the confounding bias and selection bias being the major methodological challenges in any observational study. Confounding bias is one of the most common types of bias in observational studies assessing the effectiveness and safety of interventions (Sterne et al., 2016b), which is addressed through several strategies, including multivariate adjustment, propensity score matching, and propensity score weighting (Sterne et al., 2016a). In this OS MA, 24 of the 29 studies were judged to be at serious risk of bias for the confounding domain either because the generated effect size was not adjusted for the predefined confounders (age and performance status) or because the crude survival was reported without any adjustment for confounders,

requiring the need to obtain the effect size indirectly by reconstructing the Kaplan-Meier curve.

For selection bias, 16 of the 29 studies were judged at serious risk of bias. The variability within the clinical characteristics of the patients revealed the presence of selection bias. For example, the effect sizes for the studies that excluded patients with poor performance status (Ocvirk et al., 2011, Cheng and Song, 2015) may be biased because poor performance status is a known poor prognostic factor for overall survival in mCRC patients (Sargent et al., 2009, Travers et al., 2021), resulting in biased estimates for these studies.

Overall, all studies included in the OS MA had an overall serious risk of bias, which means that each study was judged to be at serious risk of bias in at least one domain; therefore, caution is needed when the outcomes of this review are interpreted.

2.4.2 Overall survival meta-analysis

Overall survival was the primary outcome of this review. The 29 included studies in the OS MA contributed towards 33 effect sizes. Overall, the subgroup analysis for the OS MA showed that chemotherapy alone (fluoropyrimidine-based chemotherapy) was associated with an increased hazards of death compared to the combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (HR 1.36 (95% CI 1.18-1.56)) (group 2, Figure 2.6), with all effect sizes included with this group on the same direction favouring the combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone.

The superiority of the combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone (group 2), regardless of the chemotherapy backbone, has also been proven in many clinical trials and MA of clinical trials. Multiple MAs of clinical trials have evaluated the comparative efficacy of chemotherapy vs chemotherapy+ bevacizumab, with the majority of these MAs favouring the combination of chemotherapy+ bevacizumab over chemotherapy only (Welch et al., 2010, Galfrascoli et al., 2011, Macedo et al., 2012, Lv et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2015, Hurwitz et al., 2013, Baraniskin et al., 2019). For example, in Welch et al., 2015 MA, which included five clinical trials, the overall pooled OS was 0.79 (95% CI 0.69- 0.9), P value <0.001, favouring bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone, with no significant heterogeneity between studies (Welch et al., 2010). Similarly, a MA of clinical

trials by Galfrascoli et al.,2011 reported a significantly improved OS associated with bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone (HR 0.8 (95% CI 0.71-0.91), P value <0.001) with non-significant heterogeneity between studies (I² =39%, P value 0.13) (Galfrascoli et al., 2011). Our subgroup MA, which compared CT to bevacizumab+ CT (group 2), resulted in an overall pooled HR of 1.36 (95% CI 1.18-1.56), with the hazard direction toward chemotherapy (chemotherapy was associated with 36% increased hazard of mortality). However, when this value is inverted to inverse the comparison to favour bevacizumab+ chemotherapy, the values becomes HR 0.74 (95% CI 0.64- 0.85), which is comparable to the findings of MAs of clinical trials comparing chemotherapy to bevacizumab+ chemotherapy.

Similar findings with different magnitudes and between-studies heterogeneity, yet a similar trend towards a superior OS with bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone, were reported in other meta-analyses of clinical trials by Macedo et al.,2012 [HR 0.84 (95% CI: 0.77-0.91), $I^2 = 60\%$; P = 0.04] (Macedo et al., 2012), Lv et al., [HR, 0.76; 95% CI, 0.69 to 0.82] (Lv et al., 2013), Zhang et al., [HR 0.83 (95% CI 0.78-0.91), $I^2 = 29\%$; P value <0.001] (Zhang et al., 2015), Hurwitz et al.,2013 [HR 0.8 (95% CI 0.71-0.9)] (Hurwitz et al., 2013), Botrel et al.,2016 [HR 0.87 (95% CI 0.8-0.95), $I^2 = 40.5\%$; P value 0.15] (Botrel et al., 2016) and Baraniskin et al.2019 [HR 0.85 (95% CI 0.78-0.94), $I^2 = 54\%$; P value 0.05] (Baraniskin et al., 2019) favouring bevacezumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone.

Similarly, an MA of observational studies evaluating the impact of the addition of monoclonal antibodies to chemotherapy alone for mCRC patients pointed to the overall survival advantage of adding bevacizumab to chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone for patients with mCRC (da Silva et al., 2018). However, unlike our findings which demonstrated a statistically significant overall survival advantage of adding bevacizumab to chemotherapy alone for patients galone (HR 0.74 (95% CI 0.64- 0.85)), the finding by da Silva et al., 2018).

One reason that could have contributed toward the discrepancy in the statistical significance of the overall survival benefit of adding bevacizumab to chemotherapy between the findings by da Silva et al.,2018 OS MA and our review's OS MA findings could be related to the type of effect size used to pool the findings. While in our review the hazard ratio was used to pool survival outcomes as recommended by Cochrane collaboration (Higgins JPT, 2016), the OS

142

MA by da Silva et al. used the mean difference (MD) to pool survival findings, which is considered inappropriate as this might exclude censored patients who did not experience the event, hence introducing bias into the findings (Higgins JPT, 2016).

Another reason to explain the discrepancy in the statistical significance could be attributed to the high variability across the included studies in de Silva et al.,2018 review, which evaluated the impact of the addition of monoclonal antibodies to chemotherapy regardless of treatment line (first, second or beyond), and treatment type (metastatic or adjuvant therapy). In contrast, our review focused on the impact of first-line metastatic SACT for mCRC patients, resulting in less heterogeneity in the subgroup analysis comparing bevacizumab+ chemotherapy to chemotherapy alone in our OS MA (I² 75.2%) (group 2, Figure 2.6) compared to the same subgroup analysis in de Silva et al review (I² 87%).

A total of 12 studies (contributing to 13 effect sizes) investigated the addition of various chemotherapeutic agent combinations to bevacizumab (group 3 in the OS MA; bevacizumab+ CT1 vs bevacizumab+ CT2, Figure 2.6) did not show a statistically significant difference between the different combinations in terms of overall survival. A further subgroup analysis was performed for group 3, bringing together similar bevacizumab+ CT1 vs bevacizumab+ CT2 comparisons (Figure 2.7) and showed no statistically significant difference between the majority of the compared subgroups. The combination of bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy was associated with a non-statistically significant increased hazard of mortality compared to the combination of bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (pooled estimate 1.05 (0.88- 1.25)). This was supported by the findings of a meta-analysis of clinical trials that compared bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy and found a non-statistically significant increased hazards of mortality with bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy compared to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy and found a non-statistically significant increased hazards of mortality with bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy compared to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (Dai et al., 2019).

The subgroup analysis for group 3 which compared different chemotherapeutic combinations with bevacizumab showed that bevacizumab+ capecitabine was associated with a statistically significant poorer OS compared to bevacizumab+ XELOX (Figure 2.7, HR 1.39 (95% CI 1.04-1.87)). However, since this comparison existed in only one effect size in the OS MA an no previous clinical trials were performed to support this finding, this finding could be considered exploratory.

143
The comparison between bevacizumab+ chemotherapy vs cetuximab+ chemotherapy (group 4) did not show any statistically significant difference between the two regimens in the OS MA (HR 1.02 (95% CI 0.73-1.42), Figure 2.6). Similar findings were reported in a MA of observational studies where no statistically significant difference was found between bevacizumab+ chemotherapy and cetuximab+ chemotherapy in mCRC patients (da Silva et al., 2018).

Nevertheless, the findings by other MAs contradict those found by our review. for example, while in Cui MA, which included both RCTs and observational studies, bevacizumab demonstrated a statistically significant prolonged OS compared to cetuximab (HR 0.81, 95% CI 0.74-0.9) (Cui and Guo, 2022), the MA by Zheng found a statistically significant prolonged OS associated with cetuximab compared to bevacizumab in mCRC (HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.81-0.98) (Zheng et al., 2019). This discrepancy could be attributed to the high heterogeneity in the studies exploring cetuximab. In our OS MA, the studies that explored cetuximab in the first-line mCRC settings varied in the context of clinical characteristics of the enrolled patients. For example, Houts, 2019 and Degirmencioglu, 2019 included only patients with RAS wild-type (Houts et al., 2019a, Degirmencioglu S, 2019), whereas Zhou, 2021 included a subset of patients with mucinous histology tumour and another subset with a non-mucinous histology tumour (Zhou et al., 2021). This discrepancy in the clinical characteristics, especially the tumour molecular profile has resulted in a paradoxical treatment effect across the effect sizes, hence resulted in an overall non-statistically significant differences between bevacizumab and cetuximab in our findings.

2.4.3 Progression-free survival meta-analysis

The PFS MA included 20 studies with 21 effect sizes. No studies comparing different chemotherapeutic agents (CT1 vs CT2) evaluated PFS. Hence, the PFS MA contained three groups for SACTs (Figure 2.13).

Similar to the findings of the OS MA, the subgroup analysis of the PFS MA showed that the addition of bevacizumab to chemotherapy (group 2, Figure 2.13) contributed towards a statistically significant prolonged PFS compared to chemotherapy alone, which was associated with 36% more hazards for disease progression (HR 1.36 (95% CI 1.25- 1.48)) when this value is inverted to inverse the comparison to favour bevacizumab+ chemotherapy, the values become HR (0.74 (95% CI 0.68- 0.8), which means that the hazard of disease

progression is 26% less in bevacizumab+ chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone. This finding was consistent with previously published findings of MAs of RCTs evaluating the efficacy, including PFS, of adding bevacizumab to chemotherapy in the first-line settings for mCRC patients. The results of these MAs clearly favoured bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone. Baranniskin et al. reported an overall pooled PFS of 0.71 (95% CI 0.65-0.77) favouring bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone (Baraniskin et al., 2019), whereas in Hurwitz et al. meta-analysis, the overall PFS was 0.57 (95% CI 0.64-0.71) (Hurwitz et al., 2013) and an overall pooled PFS of 0.62 (95% CI 0.48-0.69) was reported by Loupakis et al. (Loupakis et al., 2010). Notably, similar to our PFS MA which had a significant heterogeneity (I² 64.4%, P value <0.001), all these RCT MAs reported a statistically significant heterogeneity in the findings (P value < 0.05).

Additionally, the subgroup analysis for group 3 (Figure 2.14) in the PFS MA (bevacizumab+ CT1 vs bevacizumab + CT2) showed that bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy was associated with a statistically significant prolonged PFS compared to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (HR 1.22 (95% CI 1.07-1.36) [after inverting the value: HR 0.82 (95% CI 0.74-0.93), favouring bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy, Figure 2.14]. Similar findings were confirmed in previously published MAs of RCTs comparing firstline bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based SACTs to bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based SACTs. For example, Ren et al. reported a pooled PFS of 0.92 (0.87-0.98) favouring bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy (Ren et al., 2021), whereas Kawai et al. reported a pooled PFS of 0.9 (95% CI 0.82-0.98), also favouring bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy over bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (Kawai et al., 2021).

2.4.4 Objective response meta-analysis

Two MAs were generated to measure the objective response: the ORR MA and DCR MA (Figure 2.19 and Figure 2.25, respectively), with each of them including 15 studies and 16 effect sizes. Both MAs included four SACTs groups, although for both MAs only one effect size was included in the group comparing bevacizumab+ chemotherapy to chemotherapy alone. The subgroup analysis for both MAs showed that the combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (group 2) is associated with improved ORR and DCR (RR 1.35 (95% CI 1.05-1.75) and 1.11 (95% CI 1.03-1.2), respectively). The wide confidence interval in both estimates reflects the small sample size, which was driven from one study only (Suenaga et

al., 2014). This finding is consistent with the results of the OS MA and PFS MA, where the combination of bevacizumab and chemotherapy showed a statistically significant improved OS and PFS compared to chemotherapy alone. Moreover, this finding has also been supported by several RCT MAs, which showed a heterogenous higher trend for ORR for bevacizumab+ chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone. However, the significance varied across different MAs. For instance, Botrel et al. reported a significantly higher ORR for patients treated with a combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone (RR 0.81 (95% CI (0.68 to 0.95) P value 0.01) with high heterogeneity in the results ($I^2 = 66$ %) (Botrel et al., 2016). Similarly, Loupakis et al. reported a non-significant trend favouring bevacizumab+ chemotherapy over chemotherapy alone (RR 1.16 (95% CI 0.97-1.38), P value 0.85) with significant heterogeneity in the results (P value 0.03) (Loupakis et al., 2010). Moreover, in Qu et al. MA, which included 9 RCTs comparing bevacizumab+ chemotherapy alone, a significantly higher trend for ORR for patients treated with bevacizumab+ chemotherapy was demonstrated compared to chemotherapy alone (1.62 (95% CI (1.19-2.07, P value =0.002), $I^2 = 73$ %).

The subgroup analysis of the ORR MA analysis (Figure 2.19) shows a significantly higher trend for ORR for cetuximab+ chemotherapy compared to bevacizumab + chemotherapy (RR 1.23 (95% CI 1.1-1.37). The finding contradicts our OS MA (Figure 2.6) and PFS MA (Figure 2.14), which did not show a prolonged OS or PFS for cetuximab+chemotherapy compared to bevacizumab+ chemotherapy. A possible explanation for this could be that ORR is highly correlated to liver metastasectomy rate (i.e., surgical removal of the liver metastasis) (Folprecht et al., 2005). It was evidenced that for patients with mCRC, targeted therapy such as cetuximab in combination with chemotherapy results in significant improvement in liver metastasectomy and hence ORR (Bokemeyer et al., 2009, Douillard et al., 2014b, Folprecht et al., 2010). The findings of our ORR MA are supported by another MA of RCTs showing that cetuximab-based treatment is associated with an improved ORR over the bevacizumab group (RR 1.11 (95% CI 1.03-1.19), *P value* 0.01) (Zheng et al., 2019).

2.4.4.1 Toxicities meta-analyses

Severe toxicities measured by the NCI-CTCAE grading system (\geq 3) were quantitively synthesised using two MAs: the haematological toxicities MA (Figure 2.30) and non-

haematological toxicities MA (Figure 2.35), with a total of 13 effects sizes contributed to each MA.

For both the haematological and non-haematological toxicities MA, only one effect size existed for the subgroup comparing bevacizumab+ chemotherapy vs chemotherapy alone, showing a significantly increased risk for non-haematological toxicities for bevacizumab+ chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone, and a non-significant increased risk for haematological toxicities [haematological toxicity: RR 1.08 (95% CI 0.79-1.47)], [nonhaematological toxicity: RR 1.84 (95% CI 1.15-2.96). This finding is consistent with the previously published body of evidence on the significantly increased risk for toxicities associated with the use of bevacizumab, including hypertension, bleeding, and proteinuria (Goldberg et al., 2004). Galfrascoli et al. demonstrated a significantly increased risk for hypertension [RR 2.98 (95% CI 2.32-3.84)], gastrointestinal perforations [RR 5.04 95% CI 1.72–14.79), and bleeding (RR 2.07 95% CI 1.19–3.62] for bevacizumab+ chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone (Galfrascoli et al., 2011). In another MA of clinical trials, Macedo et al. reported a non-significant increased risk of haematological toxicities associated with bevacizumab+ chemotherapy [OR 1.23 (95% CI 0.96- 1.57(], yet the study by Galfrascoli et al. found a significant trend for grade 3-5 hypertension [OR 7.8 (95% CI 4.36-13.94)] and grade 3-5 proteinuria [OR 5.57 (95% CI 1.23-25.32)] associated with bevacizumab+ chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone (Macedo et al., 2012).

The subgroup analysis for group 3 comparing different chemotherapeutic agent combinations with bevacizumab for both the haematological (Figure 2.32) and non-haematological toxicities MA (Figure 2.36) showed an increased, yet non-significant trend for haematological toxicities associated with bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy compared to patients treated with bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy [RR: 2.1, 95% CI (0.92-4.8]. Many clinical trials reported haematological toxicities in patients treated with oxaliplatin and irinotecan (Goldberg et al., 2004). An MA of clinical trials comparing the efficacy and safety of oxaliplatin-based bevacizumab to irinotecan-based bevacizumab therapy found that irinotecan-based bevacizumab therapy is four times more likely to result in anaemia compared to oxaliplatin-based bevacizumab (P value <0.001) (Dai et al., 2019). Additionally, in our review, bevacizumab oxaliplatin was shown to be associated with a statistically significant higher risk for neuropathy compared to bevaizuamb+ irinotecan. Neurotoxicity is known to be one of the most common toxicities associated with the use of oxaliplatin (Cavaletti et al., 2001), with many meta-analyses of clinical trials reporting the

147

significant association of neurotoxicity with oxaliplatin compared to irinotecan-based therapy (Liang, 2010, Dai et al., 2019, Zhuang et al., 2010), and our finding was consistent with these previous meta-analyses.

2.5 Strengths and limitations

To our knowledge, this is the first meta-analysis of observational studies to compare the effectiveness and safety of first-line mCRC SACTs in real-world settings. This study captured three effectiveness measures, including overall survival, progression-free survival, and objective response, in addition to the safety measure assessing severe toxicities associated with firs-line SACTs to provide a full picture on the treatment outcome in the clinical practice settings.

Our analysis was comprehensive and did not exclude patients with specific features. For example, the OS MA included five studies that evaluated elderly patients, two studies for patients with RAS-wild type tumour, one study for patients with mutant-RAS tumour, and one study assessing the effectiveness of SACT in patients with a mucinous component. Although our analysis was not based on these features, the moderator analysis provided useful information on the effect of these factors on the overall estimate.

Second, our analysis used an indirect method to obtain the effect sizes for survival outcomes (OS and PFS) from primary studies that did not report the HR and 95% CI. Instead of excluding these studies for the lack of reporting the required effect size needed to synthesise the metaanalysis, the published Kaplan-Meier curve for the respective studies was deconstructed and reconstructed to obtain the effect sizes. Despite the limitations of this process, including the possibility of inaccuracies due to possible errors in controlling the mouse clicks, this method allowed for more studies to be included, hence increasing the reliability and usefulness of our findings.

Nevertheless, this review has several limitations inherent to meta-analysis. One main limitation of our meta-analysis was the inherent constraint in comparing different chemotherapeutic agents individually, as the paucity of relevant studies prevented us from conducting separate analyses for each agent. Therefore, we were compelled to categorize all the agents within a single group (CT 1 Vs CT 2), which could have impacted the findings of this group. Second, despite the exhaustive systematic literature search conducted to obtain all relevant and updated studies, the visual inspection of the OS MA funnel plot and the ORR MA funnel plot shows a possibility for the presence of publication bias. Although egger's test did not show any statistical significance for the possibility of the presence of publication bias in these two meta-analyses, further steps were taken to correct the potential bias through the trim and fill process. It could be possible for the secondary meta-analyses in our study to suffer from publication bias because primary studies that reported any of the secondary outcomes (PFS, objective response, and severe toxicities) without reporting OS were not included in our study. This step was performed to ensure that the same outcome across all studies would be assessed for internal validity and risk of bias. Second, the observational nature of the studies included in the OS MA conveys in an underlying confounding and selection bias, which can lead to biased estimates. Since the risk of bias is considered a potential source for variability, a sensitivity analysis could have been done to exclude the studies with low credibility. Unfortunately, in our MA, all studies had an overall serious risk of bias, so a sensitivity analysis could not be performed. Nevertheless, a subgroup analysis was conducted, considering the variability in judgment across different domains of bias. The subgroup analysis based on the bias domains was helpful in revealing whether the presence of bias in any domain could impact the summary effect.

2.6 Conclusion

Despite of the high heterogeneity and the risk of bias in our findings, the results of this metaanalysis were comparable and consistent with the previously published findings of metaanalyses of clinical trials. Our findings pointed to the significant benefit of bevacizumab in the first-line settings of mCRC treatment in terms of OS, PFS, and ORR. However, this was accompanied by an increased risk of adverse events. Although our haematological and nonhaematological toxicities meta-analyses were not able to draw a robust conclusion regarding the toxicities associated with the combination of bevacizumab+ chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone because of the sparsity of studies, the available data in our study was consistent with the findings from the literature on the increased risk for toxicities. However, the sparsity of the studies describing the safety of bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy warrants further real-world studies to investigate this outcome.

Our findings also pointed to the differences among various chemotherapeutic regimens combined with bevacizumab. Although none of these combinations demonstrated improved overall survival, the combination of bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy shows improved PFS compared to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. The later combination could be associated with more risk of neurotoxicity. Hence, it should be used cautiously, especially for patients who received oxaliplatin-based therapy in an adjuvant setting. For bevacizumab+ irinotecan combinations, bevacizumab+ XELIRI was associated with a higher risk of severe diarrhoea compared to bevaciuzmab+ FOLFIRI. Although the findings of the meta-analyses in this study were comparable to meta-analyses of clinical trials, the results of this study should be interpreted carefully in light of the intrinsic limitations.

3 Chapter 3: Data sources and data management

This chapter deals with the technical details of the baseline characteristics of the mCRC patients (chapter 4), factors influencing the selection of first-line mCRC SACTs (chapter 5), and treatment pathways and treatment outcomes of mCRC patients (chapter 6) by describing the data used, the structure of the datasets, the purpose of using them, and the information covered. Firstly, a background around record linkage in Scotland is provided, then the data sources are presented to elaborate on the reason behind utilising each dataset in this thesis. Background for each dataset is provided, along with information about the data controller and any recognised strengths and limitations. This is followed by describing the data management processes in data governance, access, preparation, and data manipulation. More detailed descriptions of the methodology applied to individual parts of the analysis – i.e., the baseline characteristics, factors influencing first-line SACT selection, and treatment pathways and outcomes of first-line mCRC SACT – can be found in chapters 4, 5 and 6, respectively.

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Record linkage framework in Scotland

Howard Newcombe, one of the pioneers in probability matching techniques, attributed record linkage to bringing together two or more separated recorded information for individuals (Newcombe et al., 1959). In Scotland, the system of linked medical records by the Information and Statistics Division (ISD) of the Scottish Health Service and by the Registrar General for Scotland stated that all hospitalisation records, cancer registrations, and death records would be held centrally in a machine-readable form that contains patient identifying information such as name, date of birth, and area of residency (Kendrick, 1993). By the end of the 1980s, when computing powers and storage capacities were increased, the current Scottish Health Service, agreeing that the hospitalisations records, cancer registrations, and death records would be centrally held at ISD (Kendrick, 1997).

With the rising number of electronically stored administrative datasets in Scotland, the Scottish Government (SG) released a series of publications to support record linkage in Scotland. Firstly, a consultation was conducted to develop a Scotland-wide data linkage framework for statistics and research (The Scottish Government, 2012c). Overall, the responses to the consultation were positive regarding the benefits that record linkage would bring to Scotland despite concerns about privacy and potential breaches in confidentiality. Following, the SG published a set of guiding principles for data linkage in Scotland for research purposes, which stated that any risk to jeopardise privacy should be minimised and confidentiality should be maintained between maximising the use of data linkage while protecting personal data; and any personnel who will be accessing data should undergo data linkage training about the Data Protection Act and good practice in data linkage activity (The Scottish Government, 2012a). The document also outlined the requirements for data controllers, who are the persons who determine the "purposes for which, and how, personal data are to be processed" (Scottish Health Informatics Program, 2012).

In 2018, the SG undertook a consultation on a new national public health body known as Public Health Scotland (PHS), which aimed to strengthen the existing public health assets in Scotland and ensure the effective delivery of improved health and well-being outcomes for the population of Scotland. PHS took over the relevant functions and services of the following bodies: Health Protection Scotland (a division of NHS National Services Scotland (NSS), ISD (also a division of NSS), and NHS Health Scotland (The Scottish Government; COSLA, 2019).

NHS Scotland ensures the delivery of healthcare and services to the population through 14 health boards, each covering a distinct geographical area of Scotland. As shown in Table 3.1, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde (NHS GGC) is the largest health board covering more than 1.2 million inhabitants.

NHS Health Board	Area covered	Population
NHS Ayrshire and Arran	East Ayrshire, North Ayrshire, South	367,000
	Ayrshire	
NHS Boarders	Scottish Borders	110,000
NHS Dumfries and Galloway	Dumfries and Galloway	148,000
NHS Fife	Fife	370,000
NHS Forth Valley	Clackmannanshire, Falkirk, Stirling	300,000
NHS Grampian	Aberdeenshire, City of Aberdeen,	500,000
	Moray	
NHS Greater Glasgow and	City of Glasgow, East Dunbartonshire,	1,200,000
Clyde	East Renfrewshire, Inverclyde,	
-		
	Renfrewshire, West Dunbartonshire	
NHS Highland	Renfrewshire, West Dunbartonshire Highland, Argyll and Bute	310,000
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South Lanarkshire	310,000 563,185
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire NHS Lothian	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South LanarkshireCity of Edinburgh, East Lothian,	310,000 563,185 800,000
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire NHS Lothian	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South LanarkshireCity of Edinburgh, East Lothian,Midlothian, West Lothian	310,000 563,185 800,000
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire NHS Lothian NHS Orkney	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South LanarkshireCity of Edinburgh, East Lothian,Midlothian, West LothianOrkney Islands	310,000 563,185 800,000 22,190
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire NHS Lothian NHS Orkney NHS Shetland	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South LanarkshireCity of Edinburgh, East Lothian,Midlothian, West LothianOrkney IslandsShetland Islands	310,000 563,185 800,000 22,190 23,000
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire NHS Lothian NHS Orkney NHS Shetland NHS Tayside	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South LanarkshireCity of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian, West LothianOrkney IslandsShetland IslandsAngus, City of Dundee, Perth and	310,000 563,185 800,000 22,190 23,000 400,000
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire NHS Lothian NHS Orkney NHS Shetland NHS Tayside	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South LanarkshireCity of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian, West LothianOrkney IslandsShetland IslandsAngus, City of Dundee, Perth and Kinross	310,000 563,185 800,000 22,190 23,000 400,000
NHS Highland NHS Lanarkshire NHS Lothian NHS Orkney NHS Shetland NHS Tayside NHS Western Isles	Renfrewshire, West DunbartonshireHighland, Argyll and ButeNorth Lanarkshire, South LanarkshireCity of Edinburgh, East Lothian,Midlothian, West LothianOrkney IslandsShetland IslandsAngus, City of Dundee, Perth andKinrossOuter Hebrides	310,000 563,185 800,000 22,190 23,000 400,000 27,000

Table 3.1. The Scottish regional health boards.

Health data in Scotland is available on various levels, including at Scotland level (i.e., national), NHS health board, and local authority. ISD Scotland, now PHS, currently holds national datasets for over 5 million people in Scotland (Public Health Scotland, 2020b). Healthcare data for individual patients are collected as a series of Scottish Morbidity Records (SMR), where the record type denotes the type of health care received. Individual episode records are completed and submitted by hospitals and NHS health boards to PHS Scotland, which links the data and holds them together (Information Service Division Scotland, 2016). Additionally, PHS holds data on population and vital statistics, including birth records, death records, immunisation records, and many others. (Public Health Scotland, 2020a).

At present, PHS holds for more than 30 years (1981-2023] the hospital records (SMR01) along with data from outpatient appointment clinic records (SMR00), held since 1997 and data from the Scottish cancer registry records (SMR06). It also holds the National Records of Scotland (NRS) Death Records. (Information Service Division Scotland, 2020d, Information Service Division Scotland, 2020c, National Records of Scotland, 2016).

3.1.2 Data governance in Scotland

The Privacy Advice Committee (PAC), which was founded in 1990, advised the NHS NSS and the General Register Office for Scotland (GROS) on patient privacy to ensure the appropriate use of health data in Scotland for research and statistical purposes (The Scottish Government, 2011). The committee's overreaching goal was to ensure the balance between protecting personal data and approving the release of individual data needed for research, audit, and other essential uses. In 2015 PAC, along with the Community Health Index Advisory Group (CHIAG), which was set up in 2005 to advise the chief medical officer (CMO) and NHS Scotland on the access and use of data held in the CHI, and the National Caldicott Guardians application (National Health Service Scotland, 2010) were combined into the Public Benefit and Privacy Panel (PBPP) for Health (Information Services Division, 2017). PBPP approval needs to be in place for large-scale complex research projects involving multiple linked datasets and more than one site in Scotland. Otherwise, a local Caldicott approval needs to be obtained for a study undertaken in a single site in Scotland (Academic and Clinical Central Office for Research and Develpment, 2021).

3.1.3 Safe havens in Scotland

Safe havens are secure virtual environments staffed by trained, specialist personnel where researchers and analysts can access data in electronic patient records. Within Scotland, along with the national safe haven operated by PHS (Public Health Scotland, 2020c), four local safe havens operate in regional hubs of Aberdeen (Grampian Data Safe Haven), Dundee (Tayside Safe Haven), Edinburgh (Lothian Safe Haven) and Glasgow (Glasgow Safe Haven) as a partnership between local NHS health boards and academic institutions (University of Aberdeen, 2015, University of Dundee, 2021, Academic and Clinical Central Office for Research and Develpment, 2020, National Health Service Greater Glasgow and Clyde, 2021).

To mitigate the risk of breaching patients' confidentiality, the SG published a charter for the processing, linking, and analysing health data within a safe haven environment. The principles for operating the safe havens and handling NHS health data from patient records stated that researchers only have access to 'pseudonymised' data with the minimum necessary identifiable data such as the month and year of birth and part of the postcode; when anonymised and linked data is analysed by the researcher, only aggregated data that have been thoroughly checked by Safe Haven support staff for potentially identifiable data (i.e. small numbers) are disclosed from the Safe Haven (The Scottish Government, 2015).

3.1.4 The Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme (CMOP)

In Scotland, efforts have been made to improve the use of cancer-specific administrative datasets to better understand the impact of treatments. For example, in 2016, funding was granted by the SG for the Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme (CMOP) in response to the SG cancer strategy "Beating Cancer: Ambition and Action" (The Scottish Government, 2016). The ultimate goal of this program is to explore how to maximise the use of local and national electronic records to better understand treatment outcomes of cancer medicines in the Scottish population, such as survival and duration of treatment (Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme team, 2020).

One key objective for phase 1 of CMOP was to test the connectivity and linkage of relevant datasets to determine the clinical outcomes of cancer medicines. This has facilitated testing this methodology's scalability across Scotland in phase 2 of this program (Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme team, 2020). Several cancer work streams progressed in CMOP phase I, including metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC), which this thesis examines.

3.2 Data sources

The data collected for this thesis has been extracted from ten different data sources: Community Health Index (CHI) database; National Records of Scotland (NRS); Scottish Morbidity Records Outpatient Attendance dataset (SMR00); Scottish Morbidity Records General/Acute Inpatient and Day Case dataset (SMR01); Scottish Cancer Registry (SMR06); Chemotherapy Electronic Prescribing and Administration System (CEPAS); laboratory tests (SCI store); Radiotherapy treatment records (ARIA); Elective & emergency operations (OPERA) and; molecular pathology records.

3.2.1 Community Health Index (CHI)

The (CHI) database is a population register comprising data generated for all people registered with a general practitioner in Scotland (Information Service Division Scotland, 2020a). The early use of CHI began to operate in Tayside health board only in the 1970s, and after that, extended across Scotland. CHI is governed by the Chief Medical Officer (CMO), which holds the responsibility for the overall administration of the CHI system on behalf of Scottish ministers. However, the management and development of the CHI system are overseen by the Practitioner Services Division (PSD) of NHS NSS on behalf of NHS health boards, who act as the data controller for CHI. PSD also carries the duty of registering people on the CHI system as a by-product of the GP registration process (Scottish Government eHealth Division, 2013, Scottish Government eHealth Division 2013).

One of the essential components of the CHI system is the CHI number, considered the major identifier for individuals in NHS Scotland and the only consistent way to positively identify a person in the health service. The CHI number provides the capability to identify and link information pertaining to an individual from different systems within and across the health boards. The CHI system is considered the principal source of demographic information for every person registered with the Scottish GP practice.

The CHI number is a ten-digit code consisting of the 6-digit date of birth (DDMMYY), two digits, a ninth digit which is always even for females and odd for males and an arithmetical check digit. The use of date of birth and gender makes the CHI number more disclosive than the NHS number as a unique identifier that ensures matched records relating to the same individual. Thus, the CHI number is considered a key feature to facilitate the linkage of datasets. As a result, linkage processes have been made more efficient and less expensive (Walesby et al., 2017, Information Service Division Scotland, 2020a).

In contrast, the NHS number (from NHS central registry) is mainly used to project socioeconomic research by the national records of Scotland (NRS) (Information Service Division Scotland, 2020b). The Scottish record linkage using the CHI number offers the opportunity to link major healthcare records for around 95% of the Scottish population.

Figure 3.1 shows the health-related activity using the CHI number across the principal health records (Scottish Government eHealth Division 2013, Information Service Division Scotland,

2020a). The use of the CHI number across different systems has a major impact in improving person safety in terms of reducing the risk of incorrect identification and enhancing the effectiveness of care as it reduces delay and duplicate work as well as saving time by linking clinical information and test results. Information held in the CHI system is beneficial to link health data for epidemiological analysis and supporting research. The CHI number can be used as a matching variable across health records. (Scottish Government eHealth Division 2013, Information Service Division Scotland, 2020a).



Figure 3.1. CHI linkable Scottish health records.

KEY: NRS= national records of Scotland SMR= Scottish medical records; PIS= prescribing information system

3.2.2 Chemotherapy Electronic Prescribing and Administration System (CEPAS)

In Scotland, cancer services within the NHS are structured on a regional basis. Cancer networks were established based on collaborations between the 14 NHS health boards across Scotland to maximise the clinical care for cancer patients. Three regional cancer networks are hosted within the NHS health boards, and they are (National Health Service National Services Scotland, 2022):

- North of Scotland Cancer Network (NoSCAN), now known as Northern Cancer Alliance (NCA), with a population of 1,396,780, provides cancer care across 6 NHS health boards – Grampian, Highland, Orkney, Tayside, Shetland, and the Western Isles.
- 2- Southeast Scotland Cancer Network (SCAN) embraces the four NHS health boards in the east and south of Scotland; Borders, Dumfries and Galloway, Fife, and Lothian, with a population of 1,509,940.

3- West of Scotland Cancer Network (WoSCAN): embraces the four NHS health boards in the West of Scotland; Ayrshire and Arran, Forth Valley, Greater Glasgow and Clyde, and Lanarkshire, with a total population of 3,159,940.

Across Scotland, information on cancer diagnosis is collected through the Scottish cancer registry (section 3.2.4.3) from NHS health boards and hospital systems on new cancer diagnoses occurring in Scottish residents; however, detailed chemotherapy information is not nationally recorded. In 2010, a chemotherapy electronic prescribing and administration system (CEPAS) started to operate at the Beatson West of Scotland cancer hub, which then extended across the four NHS health boards in WoSCAN and subsequently across all three Scottish regional cancer networks. This system is used for prescribing and administration of Systemic Anti-Cancer Therapy (SACT) which includes cytotoxic chemotherapy and biological treatments (National Health Service Greater Glasgow and Clyde, 2015, CIS Oncology, 2018, NHS National Services Scotland, 2019). Guidance for the safe use and delivery of SACT was published in a Chief Executive Letter (CEL) in 2012 to provide NHS health boards with a structure for safe practice in prescribing, preparing, and administering of SACT (The Scottish Government, 2012b).

The implementation of CEPAS allowed for improving patient safety and enhancing the effective use of resources in addition to enabling monitoring prescribing practice (CIS Oncology, 2018). CEPAS provides a disease tree structure to guarantee that SACT regimens are allocated to specific tumour types. The disease tree structure can be modified to align with local requirements. Hence, disease tree structures differ in the systems used across Scotland. Unfortunately, to date, there is no data dictionary system to describe the information held in CEPAS. CEPAS captures all prescriptions of SACT in Scottish hospitals. Essential information related to SACT regimens assigned for specific diagnosis is recorded in CEPAS, including patients' age, weight, and eastern cooperative oncology group performance status (ECOG PS), which are recorded at every cycle. Additionally, the name of the SACT regimen, diagnosis for which the SACT was prescribed for, dose of SACT, number of cycles for each SACT, frequency of administration, date of treatment, and limited number of supportive medicines, such as dexamethasone, which is used as a premedication, are also recorded in CEPAS. Nevertheless, CEPAS is known to have certain limitations, one of which is the inability

to determine if certain treatment was actually given. It was presumed throughout the course of this thesis that patients received all prescription medications that had been prescribed.

Moreover, CEPAS does not include all hospital prescriptions pertaining to the patient during an inpatient stay. It would only provide information on SACT and supportive treatments that prevent the occurrents of adverse effects received by patients in inpatient and outpatient settings (Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme et al., 2020). Other community prescriptions not related to SACT, or supportive medicines are recorded in the prescribing information system (PIS) dataset.

3.2.3 National Records of Scotland (NRS) – death data.

The National Records of Scotland (NRS) is a non-ministerial department of the Scottish Government that is accountable for collecting and producing information on births, deaths, marriages, civil partnerships, divorces, and stillbirths (National Records of Scotland, 2016). NRS death registration, which has been held by PHS and holds death records since 1974, classifies the underlying cause of death based on the information collected in the death certificate along with any added information supplied by official sources (e.g., the clinician who certified death, the pathologist). Death records hold one primary cause of death and up to three underlying causes that contributed to death. Other variables in this dataset include patient identifiers such as the CHI number, name, date of birth, date of death and place of death (Information Service Division Scotland, 2020a). The NRS undergoes regular quality assurance verification to ensure data accuracy (National Records of Scotland, 2020).

3.2.4 The Scottish Morbidity Records (SMR)

Healthcare data for individual patients are collected as a series of Scottish Morbidity Records (SMR), where the record type indicates the type of health care received during each episode (Information Services Division, 2020b). The SMRs used were:

3.2.4.1 Scottish Morbidity Record 00 (SMR00)

Outpatient Appointments and Attendances – Scottish Morbidity Record 00 (SMR00) denotes the dataset which collects all outpatient episode level data from patients attending Scottish hospitals with the exception of accident and emergency (A&E) and genito-urinary medicine appointments. This dataset has been available and held by ISD (now by PHS) since 1997, with NHS health boards supplying PHS with data throughout the year. Around 4.4 million records are formed every year. This dataset contains patient identifiers such as CHI number, name, date of birth, postcode, and ethnicity. However, this data can be relatively incomplete, and there is a possibility of not capturing follow-up outpatient appointments. Additional variables collected in this dataset include operation information, a diagnosis field, and geographical measures, including the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation (SIMD) (Information Service Division Scotland, 2020c).

3.2.4.2 Scottish Morbidity Record 01 (SMR01)

General Acute Inpatient and Day Case – Scottish Morbidity Record 01 (SMR01) represents an episode-based record for all non-psychiatric, non-obstetric acute hospital admissions in Scotland. It has been available since 1997. For each patient hospitalisation episode, a new record is generated; therefore, patients may have multiple SMR01 records. Multiple episodes can make a single admission to the hospital as an episode is raised when any of the following occur: inpatient/ day case admission, change in a speciality, transfer to another hospital or department, change in a consultant, change in a significant facility or return to the hospital after being on pass for greater than five days. The dataset contains patient identifiers such as name, date of birth, CHI number, postcode, ethnicity, and episode management data. Other variables include patients' diagnosis, where a primary and up to five diagnoses are allocated, operations and discharge location. The tenth revision of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) has been used since 1996 to assign codes to diagnoses for both SMR00 and SMR01.

In comparison, the Office of Population Censuses and Surveys procedural codes, 4th revision (OPCS-4), have been used in SMR returns to assign codes for operations, procedures and interventions (Public Health Scotland, 2021). Information contained in SMR01 can be useful for deriving indicators of co-morbidities, e.g., Charlson index (Information Services Division, 2020a). Data Quality Assurance (DQA) assessments for SMR01 are performed periodically and suggest that 89% - 94% of the main condition and main operation/procedure, respectively, have the correct codes, which has remained stable over time (National Health Service National Services Scotland, 2015).

3.2.4.3 Scottish Morbidity Record 06 (SMR06)

The Scottish Cancer Registry - Scottish Morbidity Record 06 (SMR06) or the Scottish cancer registry (SCR) began to collect personal, demographic, and diagnostic information (such as site, histology, behaviour, histological confirmation and hospital of diagnosis) on new cases of primary malignant neoplasms, carcinoma in situ, neoplasms of uncertain behaviour and benign tumours of the brain, spinal cord and teratoma of testis under the governance of PHS since 1958. The dataset continued to grow and upgrade, and in 1997 a new electronic cancer recording system was launched as part of a centralisation process at PHS. On a quarterly basis, the data in SMR06 are mapped and loaded into PHS, and the cases are verified when at least six months have passed since the date of diagnosis. (Information Service Division Scotland, 2020e).

SMR06 contains tumour diagnostic information such as the incidence date, the tumour site, laterality, histological confirmation of the disease, and other tumour contribution factors such as the tumour size, examination of nodes, and performance status. Other essential variables include the disease stage (for breast, cervical and colorectal cancer), tumour grade, and treatment information - such as surgical interventions, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, hormone therapy, biological or immunotherapy (yes/no). Noteworthy, these data are not necessarily complete and up to date since the primary purpose of SMR06 is to collect information relating to the diagnoses.

Cancer incidence is dated as the earliest point that the cancer is likely to have existed. This might predate pathological diagnosis if there were symptoms, signs, or radiological suggestions of the tumour before pathological diagnosis. Each cancer diagnosis constitutes an entry, and a patient can have more than one Cancer Registry entry if they have more than one cancer diagnosis. (Information Services Division, 2019, Public Health Scotland, 2020b).

The SMR06 uses two diagnostic classifications to record cancer: 1- International Classification of Diseases (ICD); and 2- International Classification of Diseases for Oncology (ICD-O). One of the main limitations of SMR06 is that the records are not routinely updated, which implies that patients who develop metastases following an initial diagnosis might not be recorded. Hence, an assumption was made that all patients in this study presented initially

with stage IV (metastatic stage) at the time of diagnosis rather than progressing from previous stages of CRC (e.g., from stage III to stage IV CRC).

3.2.5 Scottish Care Information (SCI) store

The Scottish Care Information (SCI) store is a data repository which stores patient information at a health board level. Patients' demographics and clinical information, such as laboratory reports, are integrated into a single patient record. The SCI store accepts a wide range of clinical reports, including biochemistry, haematology, pathology, microbiology, and radiology. Originally, SCI store was considered a way of delivering online access to laboratory results. Hence, a database with a web browser was developed, allowing general practitioners (GPs) access to the whole range of patients' test results.

Furthermore, a web application was developed that is fully supported for retaining full clinical documentation pertaining to the patient. In SCI store, the integrity of a patient's demographics is retained through using a patient matching rule-based system. The CHI system is employed and linked to SCI store, which supports high-quality data. SCI store is deployed across each Scottish NHS health board; currently, there are 14 different SCI stores across Scotland. Each version of SCI store has its own data models according to the hospital system they support. Searching SCI stores for patient information in other NHS health boards is enabled through the use of a remote data source service with appropriate rule-based access controls (National Health Service National Services Scotland, 2016).

3.2.6 Elective & emergency operations (OPERA)

Electronic surgical records are increasingly becoming recognised for their role in automating the surgical practice process recording to improve efficiency, reduce costs and support the best care (Rockman, 2010). For this thesis, in addition to the surgical information provided by SMR00 and SMR01, the OPERA dataset was used as a supplementary resource to explore the details of operations. OPERA system uses the OPCS-4 coding system to record the operations. This dataset contains variables relevant to the operations, such as the date of surgery, name and OPCS-4 code for the surgery, and site of the surgery.

3.2.7 Radiotherapy treatment records (ARIA)

Radiotherapy information systems are becoming essential resources for managing core features of radiotherapy care. They serve as a repository for technical information, clinical notes, patient visits and radiotherapy treatment records (Lockhart et al., 2017). In Scotland, radiotherapy records should be kept on computer databases for no less than 30 years. However, records can be preserved permanently for research purposes(National Health Service National Services Scotland, 2012). The Beatson West of Scotland cancer centre has implemented the Radiotherapy information system (ARIA) to ensure safer patient treatment and records (the Beatson West of Scotland cancer centre, 2017). This dataset included the date of treatment as well as treatment intention. It was limited to details of planned radiotherapy only and did not provide specific details of the actual treatment given.

3.2.8 Laboratory information management system (LIMS)

The current Laboratory information management system (LIMS) in Scotland is implemented at the individual health board level providing clinical laboratory services, including haematology, clinical biochemistry, immunology, virology, cellular pathology, clinical microbiology, and genetic and blood transfusion disciplines. (Health Tech newspaper, 2020, Borland, 2018). LIMS supports CHI numbers which facilitates linkage enabling it to send electronic copies of the reports to other systems (e.g., SCI store, SMR06) (Borland, 2018). For this thesis, LIMS was used to collect information regarding the tumour molecular pathology. mCRC samples for BRAF codon 600 and RAS status mutations have been assayed by the West of Scotland laboratory Genetics Department since July 2015, with the results collected in a local database. Before July 2015, assaying mCRC samples for BRAF and RAS mutation was not mandatory.

3.3 Thesis data overview

In order to meet the aims and objectives of this thesis (objectives 2, 3, and 4- section 1.4), a wide range of variables were used for this thesis, including socio-demographic information, comorbidities, tumour-specific details, previous treatment details, and SACT detail. The main variables are described in the following sections.

However, many variables were duplicates, resulting in a substantial reduction in the total number of unique variables. Moreover, not all available variables have been used for analysis, either due to data quality issues (mostly the extent of missing values) or usefulness (e.g., similar information expressed in slightly different ways; or information irrelevant to the purpose of this thesis).

3.3.1 Socio-demographic information

3.3.1.1 Age and gender

The socio-demographic data were obtained from multiple datasets, mainly via CHI (section 3.2.1) and NRS (section 3.2.3). These data encompassed patients' date of birth, gender, and deprivation. Additionally, the date of death was obtained if applicable from NRS. Patient age at the time of first SACT prescription was obtained by subtracting the date of the first prescription in the study timeframe, which was obtained from CEPAS (section 3.2.2), from the date of birth which was obtained from CHI. Furthermore, age was categorised into age groups \geq 65 years and < 65 years at diagnosis. The age of 65 years was used as a cut-off point because the highest burden for colorectal cancer cases falls on the elderly (Safiri et al., 2019). Although there is no consensus regarding the definition of "elderly", conventionally, epidemiologists regard "elderly" as the chronological age of 65 years or older (Orimo et al., 2006, Ferrucci et al., 2008). All socio-demographic variables, except the age variable, were categorical variables, with gender being binary (male, female).

3.3.1.2 Deprivation

Deprivation is considered a multi-dimensional issue comprising a range of domains such as financial aspects, health, education, service, and crime (Townsend, 1987, Whitehead and Dahlgren, 1991). The Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation (SIMD) measures seven aspects of deprivation; employment, income, health, education, access to services, crime, and housing across 6976 small areas (data zones). These domains are combined to produce a single index providing a relative rank for each data zone in Scotland from most deprived (ranked 1) to least deprived (ranked 5). Each data zone has an average of 800 people. The SIMD is continuously updated, taking into account changes within the social system and population. Commonly, SIMD is used to focus on the data zones below a certain rank, for example, 1% (percentile), 5% (vigintiles), 10% (decile), and 20% (quintile) of the most deprived data zones in Scotland. For this thesis, the quintile of SIMD 2012, splitting the data zones into five groups, with each comprising 20% of Scotland's data zones, was used.

3.3.1.3 Ethnicity and marital status

Ethnicity and marital status are recorded within SMR01 (section 3.2.4.1). However, reporting is not made mandatory (Information Service Division Scotland, 2020c, Information Service Division Scotland, 2020a). The result is a significant missing data for both variables (70% and 26.8% for marital status and ethnicity, respectively, for this thesis). Moreover, the reliability of data on ethnicity and marital status is doubtful as there is a lack of coding consistency, which, together with the level of missing in data, affects the data quality. Due to these issues, data on marital status and ethnicity were not included in the cohort description, the factors influencing prescribing, or in the adjustment for the outcome.

3.3.2 Metastatic colorectal cancer treatment

Data regarding the mCRC treatment were obtained from different data sources based on the type of treatment as described in the following sections:

3.3.2.1 Systemic anti-cancer therapy (SACT)

In this thesis, details regarding the type of SACT, treatment intention, and the date of SACT administration were obtained from CEPAS held in WoSCAN (Section 3.2.2).

Typically, mCRC patients receive different SACTs based on different conditions (e.g., line of therapy, patient response to treatment, the frailty of the patient, RAS gene status. etc.) with treatment being administered either as a single-drug treatment (e.g., 5FU), in a combination of chemotherapy as a doublet (e.g., FOLFIRI; 5FU and irinotecan), or in certain situations the patient might be treated with triplet combination of targeted therapy and combination chemotherapy as a triplet (e.g., cetuximab + FOLFIRI). The intensity/number of administered SACTS varies over the course of treatment for various reasons. For example, a patient might be prescribed FOLFIRI, and due to experiencing toxicities, the treatment can be stepped down into a monotherapy of 5FU, where irinotecan is removed from the originally prescribed regimen. Conversely, a treatment regimen could be stepped up by adding another drug to a previously prescribed regimen. Unfortunately, there is a lack of reporting on the reasons for changing or stopping the regimen in CEPAS. Additionally, the diagnosis variable within CEPAS dataset could not be used to define treatment lines due to the possible presence of inaccuracies. For example, aflibercept+FOLFIRI is licenced for second-line treatment of mCRC in Scotland (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2014). A n entry for aflibercept+FOLFIRI in the prescription name field in CEPAS would result in an automatic entry of (second-line metastatic colorectal cancer) in the diagnosis field, which might be inaccurate in a case where aflibercept+FOLFIRI was prescribed in the first-line setting. For that reason and following thorough discussions with the lead clinician involved in treating colorectal cancer patients in this study, a number of rules were set to simplify the exposure while acknowledging the treatment intention. Those rules were decided based on 1- the sequence of prescribed drugs, 2- the number of given cycles; and 3- the timing of different regimens and/or drugs. Figure 3.2 and Figure 3.3 represent six different scenarios where treatments required recoding in CEPAS to simplify the exposure and to understand the distribution of various regimens through different lines of treatment. The three scenarios in Figure 3.2 display the situations where treatments were merged into one line of therapy. In contrast, the three scenarios in Figure 3.3 show the situations where a new line of therapy was assumed to be initiated. Recoding the exposures in CEPAS was undertaken before this PhD program was started by Dr TM, the lead data scientist for phase 1 of the CMOP programme.



Figure 3.2. Examples of exposure re-coding where treatments were merged into the same line.



Figure 3.3. Examples of exposure re-coding where a new line of therapy was initiated.

The applied treatment recoding method resulted in a considerable number of SACT regimens, with some of these SACT groups encompassing a small number of patients, which presented a challenge given that the safe haven would not permit the release of any information containing less than five patients. Hence in order to maximize the use of current data and ensure that all SACT regimens were captured, SACT regimens with similar features were recoded into one name. For example, capecitabine is an oral fluoropyrimidine designed to replicate the continuous IV infusion of 5FU to prevent intravenous administration-related problems (Van Cutsem et al., 2004). Therefore, during the analysis and across the thesis chapters (chapter 4, chapter 5, and chapter 6), capecitabine and 5FU were recoded as 5FU. Similarly, both cetuximab+ FOLFOX and cetuximab+ FOLFIRI were recoded as cetuximab+FOLFIRI due to the small number of patients representing the former regimen. Table 3.2 shows the name of SACT regimens generated from CEPAS datasets (regimen name in CEPAS), the approved SACT name, the recoded name used during the analysis and across this thesis (study name), and finally, the medicines that make up each SACT regimen (description of SACT).

Table 3.2. Renaming SACT regimen during the analysis.

Regimen name in	SACT approved	Study name	Description of SACT
CEPAS	name		
Capecitabine C	Capecitabine	5FU	Capecitabine 1250mg/m ² BD PO for
			14/7
MOD DEGARMONT	5FU/leucovorin	5FU	Leucovorin 350 mg over 2 hours+
			5FU 400mg/m ² over 10 minutes
			then 2400 mg/m ² over 46 hours
MOD DG+ IR PICC	FOLFIRI	FOLFIRII	Irinotecan 180mg/ m ² over 90
			minutes+ leucovorin 350mg over
			2hours + 5FU 400mg/m ² over 10
			minutes then 2400 mg/m ² over 46
	501507	501507	
OXIVIDG MET	FULFUX	FULFUX	250mg over 2bours + 55U
Oxivide metastatic			$400 \text{mg}/\text{m}^2$ over 10 minutes then
			2400 mg/m^2 over 46 hours
XELOX MET	XELOX	ΕΟΙ ΕΟΧ	Ovalinlatin 130 mg/m^2 over 2 hours+
	ALLON	1 OLI OX	Capecitabine 1000mg/m ² BD PO for
			14/7
AFLIB FOLFIRI C	Aflibercept+	Aflibercept+	Aflibercept 4mg/kg over 1 hour+
	FOLFIRI	FOLFIRI	Irinotecan 180mg/ m ² over 90
			minutes+ leucovorin 350mg over
			2hours + 5FU 400mg/m ² over 10
			minutes then 2400 mg/m ² over 46
			hours
CET 2 WK IRMDG C	Cetuximab+	Cetuximab+	Cetuximab 500mg/m ² over 1-2
CET 2 WK IRMDG P	FOLFIRI	FOLFIRI	hours + Irinotecan 180mg/ m ² over
			30 minutes+ leucovorin 350mg over
			$210013 + 5F0 40011g/11^2 0Ver 10$
			hours
	Cetuximah+	Cetuximah+	Cetuyimah 500 mg/m^2 over 1-2
	FOLFOX	FOLEIRI	hours + Oxalinlatin $85mg/m^2$ over 2
			hours + leucovorin 350mg over
			2hours + 5FU 400mg/m ² over 10
			minutes then 2400 mg/m ² over 46
			hours
KEY: SACT= Systemic-anticancer therapy, CEPAS: chemotherapy electronic prescribing system			

In addition to the treatment recoding, SACT regimens were categorised according to their intensity into singlet, doublet and triplet, as illustrated in Table 3.3. This categorisation was performed to allow for better comparability across the different treatments.

SACT intensity	Description of SACT			
Singlet	5-Fluorouracil/leucovorin or Capecitabine			
Doublet	5-Fluorouracil/leucovorin or Capecitabine			
	+		+	
	Oxaliplatin		Irinotican	
			\downarrow	
	FOLFOX or XELOX FOLFIRI			
	5-Fluo	rouracil/leucov	orin	
	+			
	oxaliplatin or irinotecan			
	+			
Triplet	Cetuximab or	aflibercept	or oxaliplatin/irinotican	
	\downarrow \downarrow	\downarrow	Ļ	
	(Cetuximab FOLFIRI) (aflibercept FOLFIRI) (FOLFOXIRI)			
	(Cetuximab FOLFOX)			
KEY: SACT= Systemic-anticance	r therapy, IV= intravenous	i		

Table 3.3. Treatment categorisation based on SACT intensity.

3.3.2.2 Radiotherapy information

Data regarding radiotherapy treatment details were obtained from CEPAS and ARIA (section 3.2.2 and section 3.2.7, respectively). However, because only a very small number of patients received concurrent radiotherapy treatment (<5 patients), this information could not be released from the Safe Haven and hence was not presented in the results.

3.3.2.3 Primary tumour resection

Data regarding primary tumour resection were drawn from the OPERA (section 3.2.6) dataset in addition to SMR01 (section 3.2.4.2) and SMR06 (section 3.2.4.3). Patients were classified as those who underwent a primary tumour resection (Yes/No). OPCS4 codes (Table 3.4) were used to identify patients who underwent primary colorectal tumour resections (National Health Service Digital, 2016). Patients who were identified through the OPCS-4 code to have a primary tumour resection were coded "Yes". For all other patients, it was assumed that no primary tumour resection was performed, so they were coded "No".

OPCS-4 code	Description	
H04	Total excision of colon and rectum	
H05	Total excision of colon	
Н09	Excision of left hemicolon	
H10	Excision of sigmoid colon	
KEY: OPCS-4=Classification of interventions and procedures		

 Table 3.4. Examples of OPCS-4 codes and their corresponding descriptions.

3.3.3 Cancer diagnostic information and tumour-related variables

3.3.3.1 Diagnosis details, Primary tumour location and sidedness

SMR06 was the principal source for affirmation of mCRC diagnosis and hence, patients who had a diagnosis of colon or rectal cancer as defined by ICD-10 codes were included following the identification of the cohort through CEPAS, which captures all SACTs. For patients who had more than one cancer record (i.e., colon and rectum) the incidence date of the earliest diagnosed tumour was used. Patients with diagnoses other than colon or rectal cancer in SMR06 were excluded (e.g., ileum and appendiceal cancer). However, for patients whose diagnosis details were missing from SMR06, other data sources were investigated to compensate for the missing in data in SMR06. Following discussions with the clinicians, it was agreed that one or more of the following datasets was used to identify the diagnosis information as an alternative for SMR06:

- 1- NRS cause of death identified from ICD-10 codes corresponding to mCRC.
- 2- OPERA- The site of surgery coded by OPCS-4 was used to confirm the diagnosis. For example, an OPCS-4 code of H09 corresponds to the excision of the left hemicolon. This information was used to confirm the diagnosis of colon cancer. It can also be used to identify other variables, such as the primary tumour sidedness, which is the left side in this example. Some of the OPCS-4 codes used to obtain the diagnosis are illustrated in Table 3.4.
- 3- ARIA- the diagnosis information attached to radiotherapy intention as identified from ICD-10 codes.

 SMR00/01 – diagnosis from ICD-10 codes corresponding to mCRC and OPCS4 surgical codes related to emergency colorectal cancer surgery.

3.3.3.2 Tumour molecular profile

Data regarding the tumour molecular biomarkers were obtained from the NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde (NHSGGC) Pathology Department, which uses LIMS (section 3.2.8). Patients were classified according to the tumour molecular biomarker status into patients harbouring mutations in the RAS or BRAF genes and those who were not (i.e., wild RAS tumour). The LIMS extract comprised a considerable number of missing records since assaying mCRC samples for BRAF codon 600 and RAS status mutations has only been made obligatory since July 2015, resulting in missing in data for the first six months of the study (i.e., 1st January 2015 until 30th June 2015).

3.3.3.3 Performance status

Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (ECOG PS) is one of the most widely used scales to assess patients' overall health. It was first developed in the 1960 (Zubrod et al., 1960) and published in the 1982 (Oken et al., 1982) to measure the patient's level of functioning in terms of their physical and self-care ability as well as the symptoms burden (Oken et al., 1982). The ECOG PS scale otherwise termed the ECOG/WHO scale, utilises a 6-point system. The scale ranges from 0 to 5 where 0 indicates perfect health and 5 indicates death, as shown in Table 3.5. For the study cohort, PS was retrieved from CEPAS and measured at the time of diagnosis and at each cycle of SACT. Recording ECOG PS has been made mandatory since July 2015 across the Scottish cancer networks; hence, missing data is likely to be less for cohorts after July 2015.

In this thesis, due to the small number of patients falling in grade 3 and the lack of patients in categories 4 and 5, patients were categorised into ECOG PS grades 0, 1, and \geq 2, with PS \geq 2 including grades 2 and 3.

Table 3.5	. The ECOG P	S (adopted	from (Oken e	et al., 1982)).
-----------	--------------	------------	--------------	-----------------

ECOG PS (SMR06)		
Grade	ECOG/WHO PS	
0	Fully active, able to carry on all pre-disease performance without restriction	
1	Restricted in physically strenuous activity but ambulatory and able to carry out work of	
	a light or sedentary nature, e.g., light housework, office work	
2	Ambulatory and capable of all self-care but unable to carry out any work activities; up	
	and about more than 50% of waking hours	
3	Capable of only limited self-care; confined to bed or chair more than 50% of waking	
	hours	
4	Completely disabled; cannot carry on any self-care; totally confined to bed or chair	
5	Dead	
KEY: SMR06= Scott	ish cancer registry; ECOG= Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; PS= performance status, WHO=	
World Health organ	isation.	

3.3.4 Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters

Inflammatory biomarkers and haematological indices are used to assess the prognosis for mCRC. Pre-treatment albumin, neutrophils-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), with haemoglobin levels, are vital determinants of mCRC prognosis and survival (Riedl et al., 2017).

The values for these variables were obtained from SCI store (section 3.2.5) up to and including 28 days from the index date. Table 3.6 shows the reference ranges for the Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameter tests used in this thesis.

Albumin levels are commonly used as a surrogate marker to assess the nutritional status of patients with mCRC, with poor nutritional status as indicated by low albumin levels, has been associated with increased treatment-related toxicity, decreased treatment response, and poorer survival outcomes in patients with mCRC (Nazha et al., 2015). On the other hand, Elevated NLR levels have been associated with poorer prognosis in patients with mCRC. High NLR is indicative of increased systemic inflammation, which can promote tumour progression and metastasis. Evidence suggests that patients with higher NLR values at the time of diagnosis or treatment initiation tend to have shorter overall survival and decreased progression-free survival rates (Mazaki et al., 2020). Similarly, elevated levels of Pretreatment CEA levels in mCRC have been found to have prognostic value. Higher baseline CEA levels are associated with more advanced disease, poorer prognosis, and shorter overall survival (Prager et al., 2014).

Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters	Reference range	Reference
Albumin	≥ 34 g/L	(He et al., 2018)
Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR)	≤5	(Walsh et al., 2005)
Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)	≤5 μg/L	(National Health Service
		Greater Glasgow and Clyde,
		2020a)
Haemoglobin	Male 130 - 180g/L	(National Health Service
	Female 115 - 165g/L	Greater Glasgow and Clyde,
		2020c)

 Table 3.6. Reference ranges for Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameter variables.

3.3.5 Comorbidities

A comorbidity refers to the "co-occurrence of more than one chronic or acute medical condition in one person coexisting with an index condition" (Bayliss et al., 2008). Comorbidities can be either described as an individual comorbidity or by using summary measures such as the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) (Charlson et al., 1987). For this thesis, CCI was used instead of individual comorbidity as it simplifies and standardizes the assessment process, captures the overall comorbidity burden, improves statistical power, and is clinically relevant and widely validated. The CCI was developed as a measure of 1-year mortality of patients through categorising comorbidities, where each category is allocated a weight that ranges between one, representing the least severe comorbidities (e.g., myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular disease) and six, representing the most severe comorbidities (e.g., solid metastatic tumours, acquired immune deficiency syndrome) depending on its potential effect on mortality. The scores are then summed to calculate the overall score used to estimate patients' 1-year mortality risk. The CCI has been adapted to be used in administrative data using the ICD, 10th revision (ICD-10) (Quan et al., 2005) and Thygesen et al. established the validity of using ICD-10 codes retrieved from administrative databases (Thygesen et al., 2011). Health research widely uses the CCI to estimate the disease burden. Moreover, it has been validated for its capability of predicting mortality in several populations, and it has also been used in disease groups involving cancer patients (Singh et al., 1997, Birim, 2003, Cronin-Fenton et al., 2007, Wildes et al., 2008). For this thesis,

CCI was calculated using ICD-10 codes, which covered five years prior to the index date from SMR00 and SMR01 records. A 5-year period was chosen due to the minimal change in the CCI to mortality for long follow-ups (Fraccaro et al., 2016). Table 3.7 shows the codes and weights used to calculate the CCI. When CCI was calculated, the solid metastatic tumour of interest (i.e., mCRC) was excluded from calculations since CCI measures comorbidities, while mCRC is the condition of interest in the study. The severity of comorbidity was categorised into three distinct grades: no comorbidity, with CCI of 0, mild to moderate comorbidity, with CCI of 1-3, and severe comorbidity with CCI of ≥ 4 .

Table 3.7. Weights and ICD-10 codes used to calculate Cha	arlson Comorbidity Index (Quan
et al., 2005).	

Charlson score (SMR00, SMR01)				
Comorbidity	CCI weight	ICD-10 codes		
Myocardial infarction	1	121, 122, 125.2		
Congestive heart failure	1	109.9, 111.0, 113.0, 113.2, 125.5, 142.0, 142.5 –		
		142.9, 143, 150, P29.0		
Peripheral vascular disease	1	170, 171, 173.1, 173.8, 173.9, 177.1, 179.0, 179.2,		
		K55.1, K55.8, K55.9, Z95.8, Z95.9		
Cerebrovascular disease	1	G45, G46, H34.0, I60 – I69		
Dementia	1	F00 – F03, F05.1, G30, G31.1		
Chronic pulmonary disease	1	I27.8, I27.9, J40 – J47, J60 – J67, J68.4, J70.1,		
		J70.3		
Rheumatic disease	1	M05, M06, M31.5, M32 – M34, M35.1, M35.3,		
		M36.0		
Ulcer disease	1	K25 – K28		
Mild liver disease	1	B18, K70.0 – K70.3, K70.9, K71.3 – K71.5, K71.7,		
		K73, K74, K76.0, K76.2 – K76.4, K76.8, K76.9,		
		Z94.4		
Diabetes without chronic	1	E10.0, E10.1, E10.6, E10.8, E10.9, E11.0, E11.1,		
complications		E11.6, E11.8, E11.9, E12.0, E12.1, E12.6, E12.8,		
		E12.9, E13.0, E13.1, E13.6, E13.8, E13.9, E14.0,		
		E14.1, E14.6, E14.8, E14.9		
Diabetes with end organ damage	2	E10.2 – E10.5, E10.7, E11.2 – E11.5, E11.7, E12.2		
		– E12.5, E12.7, E13.2 – E13.5, E13.7, E14.2 –		
		E14.5, E14.7		
Hemiplegia or paraplegia	2	G04.1, G11.4, G80.1, G80.2, G81, G82, G83.0 -		
		G83.4, G83.9		
Moderate or severe renal disease	2	I12.0, I13.1, N03.2 – N03.7, N05.2 – N05.7, N18,		
		N19, N25.0, Z49.0 – Z49.2, Z94.0, Z99.2		
Leukaemia, lymphoma, any	2	C00 – C26, C30 – C34, C37 – C41, C43, C45 –		
tumour		C58, C60 – C76, C81 – C85, C88, C90 – C97		
Moderate or severe liver disease	3	I85.0, I85.9, I86.4, I98.2, K70.4, K71.1, K72.1,		
		К72.9, К76.5 – К76.7		

Metastatic solid tumour	6	C77 – C80
Acquired immune deficiency	6	B20 – B22, B24
syndrome		
KEV, SNADOD Outpatient Appointments and Attendences, SNADOL Consul Asute Innetiant and Day Cose, CCL		

KEY: SMR00= Outpatient Appointments and Attendances; SMR01= General Acute Inpatient and Day Case; CCI= Charlson comorbidity index; ICD= International classification of the diseases

3.4 Data management

3.4.1 Data access and governance

Complying with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 that dictates the involvement of data controllers and to ensure a legitimate use and access for NHS Scotland health data, the Public Benefit and Privacy Panel for Health and Social Care (HSC-PBPP) and Caldicott Guardians were established to fulfil these functions on a national and regional level, respectively (National Health Service Scotland, 2019). Since this thesis was undertaken in a single NHS health board (i.e., NHS GGC), the Caldicott Guardian approval was obtained to access the linked datasets for purposes unrelated to direct patient care (appendix IV). Additional ethical approval was not required as this project utilises data from administrative systems, which eliminates the need for explicit patient consent. Also, before data access was made, an accredited course in information governance was required to be undertaken; the certificate can be found in appendix IV.

Initial data extraction from the national datasets (i.e., SMR and NRS) was performed by the electronic Data Research and Innovation Services (eDRIS) team. In contrast, CEPAS was extracted by the CMOP team directly and sent to the University of Glasgow safe haven, where all datasets were linked together by the Safe Haven staff through the individual CHI number, which was then removed. An anonymous patient ID was assigned for each patient. Access to this anonymised data was offered through a secure platform hosted by the Robertson Centre for Biostatistics at the University of Glasgow. Access was allowed via a virtual private network (VPN) connection, with the procedure being protected by a password to login into the remote server. NHS GGC Safe Haven does not allow users to upload or download data from or into Safe Haven. The Safe Haven staff uploaded research inputs into a study drive accessible by the user. All results included in chapter 4, chapter 5, and chapter 6 were extracted in tabular and graphical form. They underwent statistical disclosure check by Safe Haven staff before being released to the user, given that no variable category containing less than five patients can be released to reduce the likelihood of identifying the patients.

(National Health Service Greater Glasgow and Clyde, 2020b). The Safe Haven offers a range of software that can be used to handle and analyse the data, including R, SPSS and Stata.

3.4.2 Data structure and content

The Scottish health informatics system is known to be one of the most developed systems in the world, with the health datasets recognised for their high quality. Yet, most of the data in those datasets are collected for administrative purposes such as financial or clinical management purposes. This means that these datasets may comprise many challenges for researchers. One limitation lies in that administrative data may vary in the level of details, completeness and accuracy. For example, coding administrative data may be affected by how ICD-10 codes are applied or how physician recorded entries are interpreted by the medical records clerks (Sarrazin and Rosenthal, 2012, Hashimoto et al., 2014). Missing in data presents another issue with administrative datasets; such an issue can appear in the traditional sense where recoding is incomplete or manifest if a person fails to interact with the service and thus will not be captured by the administrative data. As a result of the pitfalls that might present with the administrative data, preparation steps are needed before analysing the datasets.

The following subsections will highlight the preparation and cleaning process applied to the datasets used for this thesis.

3.4.3 Data preparation and cleaning

Data preparation is the process of transforming raw data into a dataset that can be appropriately analysed. This process is essential in studies that involve administrative data as it provides an opportunity to address the limitations of raw data and reduce the likelihood of bias in subsequent analyses. It requires visual inspection and manual exploration of the data to understand the content and structure of data and recognise problems that need to be resolved. This process also requires extracting relevant data and generating additional variables of interest. The first step of data extraction includes identifying data from the relevant fields within the datasets. The relevant information is stored within the datasets in various formats across different data tables. Raw data may be structured (coded using controlled terminology such as ICD-10), semi-structured (e.g., laboratory results), and unstructured (clinical notes entered as text) (Denaxas et al., 2017). With the variability in data type, different approaches are used to process and recode the data. Data cleaning is the process of identifying errors and inconsistencies from a dataset to improve the quality of the data (Rahm, 2000). Those errors can be implausible values, miscoded data, missing data, inaccurate or incomplete entries and records duplication. This process involves manual data exploration, screening for potential errors, and deciding whether and how those errors should be corrected, deleted or ignored (Van den Broeck et al., 2005).

The extract from CHI which provided the sociodemographic details, consisted of 27 variables and 309 observations. In contrast, the extract from NRS provided 260 death observations and 38 variables. The complete CEPAS extract, as requested for this study, comprised 47915 observations (prescription) and 30 variables, capturing all SACT prescriptions issued for the patients between January 2015 and December 2016, of which approximately 5021 were prescriptions of treatments of interest. The SMR00/01 extracts, with 49 and 92 variables, respectively, together accounted for an additional 24876 observations (covering all recorded inpatient episodes and outpatient appointments for every cohort member between 2015 and 2016), while the SMR06 extract consisted of 362 observations and 209 variables. The largest dataset was SCI which covered 665514 observations. The molecular pathology dataset contained 235 observations and 11 variables, and OPERA dataset consisted of 547 observations. ARIA extract was the smallest of the datasets, with 33 observations and nine variables.

In this thesis, several steps of data cleaning and preparation were carried out on the ten included datasets (CHI, SMR00, SMR01, SMR06, CEPAS, NRS, SCI-store, ARIA, OPERA, and the clinical pathology dataset) before proceeding with the analysis. Data preparation, cleaning, and analysis for this study were performed using R software version 3.5.0. and the following packages were used: Base R, reshape, tidyverse, and lubridate. Figure 3.4 shows the cleaning process performed for the datasets used in this thesis. The general datasets preparation process involved the following steps:

- 1- Removing variables and observations with complete missing values (Not Available; NA)
- 2- Selecting only relevant variables and excluding irrelevant variables, for example, the GP practice code, is not a variable of interest in SMR01, and thus it was eliminated in the cleaning process.
- 3- Converting data to the appropriate type datasets were imported into R for analysis as .csv files, which store information as plain text. This, however, results in some limitations when performing the analysis, and, by default, character variables (also called string variables; variables that contain anything other than numbers, e.g., letters or special characters) are converted into factor variables (also referred to as categorical variables) when imported into R. Hence, converting data to the appropriate type was needed for variables that were converted into factor variables but were supposed to be character variables; and for numeric variables, which should have been factor variables or dates. Table 3.8 shows the major examples.
- 4- Recoding variables this process was mainly needed for missing data as many different signifiers have been used across the data sets, including spaces and special characters. This step was undertaken to ensure consistency and enable data analysis.
- 5- Deriving variables was undertaken when a new variable was derived from an existing variable. For example, if a primary tumour location was the rectum, the tumour sidedness would be recoded as the left side.

After importing file	After converting data type	Variables			
Factor	Character	Drug name, Cause of death			
Numeric	Factor	SIMD*, PS			
		Date of birth, diagnosis date, date			
Numeric	Date	of SACT prescription, date of			
		death			
KEY: SIMD=Scottish Index of Multiple deprivation; PS= performance status; SACT=systemic anticancer therapy					

Table 3.8. Examples for converting data to the appropriate type.





Figure 3.4 Preparation and cleaning of the datasets used in this thesis.

- 1- Supportive medicines: e.g., dexamethasone, metoclopramide
- 2- Treatment recoding: further explanation provided in section 3.2.1
- 3- Relevant cancer: colon cancer or rectal cancer
- 4- Earliest diagnosed tumour: For patients who had more than one cancer record (i.e., colon and rectum), the incidence date of the earliest diagnosed tumour was used.
- 5- Relevant tests: haemoglobin, carcinoembryonic antigen, neutrophils -to- lymphocyte ratio, and albumin

KEY: SACT= systemic Anti-cancer treatment; CHI= community health index; NRS= National records of Scotland/death; SMR= Scottish medical records; SCI= Scottish care information; BNF= British National Formulary; *<5: information could not be released from the Safe Haven

4 Chapter 4: Baseline characteristics of metastatic colorectal cancer patients initiating systemic anti-cancer therapy in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde.

4.1 Introduction.

The global burden of colorectal cancer (CRC) is expected to increase by 60% by 2030, with more than 2.2 million new cases and 1.1 million deaths (Arnold et al., 2017a). Incidence rates of CRC rise with increasing age; however, in recent years, a rising incidence of CRC has been observed in younger age groups before the age of 50 years. (Favoriti et al., 2016, Siegel et al., 2019). Globally, approximately 25% of patients with CRC present with overt metastatic disease at the time of primary diagnosis, with 40-50% of all CRC patients developing mCRC. This Figure has been stable over the last two decades (Van Cutsem et al., 2014a, van der Geest et al., 2015, Van Cutsem et al., 2014b).

In Scotland, CRC was the third most frequently diagnosed cancer in men and women in 2019 and accounted for the second-highest number of cancer-related deaths in 2018 (Public health information for Scotland, 2021). It has been projected that the incidence of CRC in Scotland will increase by 42.7% between 2008-2012 and 2023-2027 (Public Health Scotland, 2015). Between 2016 and 2018, the incidence of CRC in Scotland was reported to be the highest among the four United Kingdome (UK) countries, with an age-standardised rate (ASR) of 73.7 cases per 100,000 compared to 68.5, 72, and 73.6 cases per 100,000 in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland, respectively (Cancer Research UK, 2021).

The advances in record linkage in Scotland (section 3.1.1) have brought great benefits in understanding patients' characteristics across different diseases and treatments. In Scotland, it has been demonstrated that linked data could serve as a rich source of information to describe cancer patients and their treatment outcomes (Mueller et al., 2022). Moreover, record linkage can provide a deeper characterisation of the patient's needs which is essential to understand the reasons causing disparities in treatments and outcomes. Recently, funding was secured by the COIORECTal Repository (CORECT-R), a programme that aims to quantify the characteristics and variation in CRC in the UK (University of Oxford, 2020) to develop the first national linked colorectal cancer dataset in Scotland that can be used to analyse and

understand variation in CRC patients' characteristics, treatments, and outcomes (Hanna et al., 2021). The published work so far has focussed on the early stages of CRC (Lemmon et al., 2022). Nevertheless, given the global and national increase in the burden of mCRC, it is becoming increasingly important to understand the characteristics of mCRC for several reasons. First, it allows for a better understanding of the patient population, such as their demographics, comorbidities, and disease characteristics, which can help guide treatment selection and treatment outcomes. Second, it can help identify potential disparities in access to cancer care and outcomes, such as differences in treatment utilisation or response based on patient characteristics. This information can help guide interventions to improve treatment outcomes for the patients.

Aims and objectives.

The aims of this chapter are to:

- 1- Describe the characteristics of mCRC patients initiating first-line mCRC SACT in NHS GGC health board in Scotland,
- 2- Provide an overview of the thesis population used for subsequent analysis (factors influencing prescribing of first-line mCRC systemic anti-cancer therapy, chapter 5; and treatment pathways and treatment outcomes for mCRC patients, chapter 6) by describing patients' baseline characteristics, including the sociodemographic features, disease characteristics, previous treatment details, and the initial mCRC regimens the patients received, and
- 3- Describe how the study population was selected for the study.

4.2 Methods.

4.2.1 Study design and cohort identification

This study was designed as a retrospective cohort study from the 1st of January 2015 to the 28th of February 2018, using linked, routinely collected administrative healthcare data in NHS GGC. Patients who initiated mCRC SACT at the Beatson West of Scotland cancer centre in Glasgow between the 1st of January 2015 and the 31st of December 2016 were identified through CEPAS, where all administered SACTs, with their respective indications were captured (section 3.2.2). The Beatson West of Scotland cancer centre is the largest cancer centre in Scotland, covering the West of Scotland cancer network (WoSCAN), with a total covered population of 3,159,940 (Section 3.2.2).

A patient's index date for study inclusion was defined as the date of the first mCRC SACT in the study timeframe between the 1st of January 2015 and the 31st of December 2016 (Figure 4.1).

SACT prescriptions issued during the study period were identified from patients' records within CEPAS using the names of SACT regimens. The treatment recoding process, which was used to simplify exposure and to define SACT lines (section 3.3.2.1), was used to identify treatment lines based on agreed decision rules with the lead clinician. Further details about recoding the SACTs, stratifying them into treatment lines, and categorising SACTs were discussed in section 3.2.2.

Within CEPAS, patients identified to have no prescription for mCRC SACT before the 1st of January 2015 were defined as new mCRC SACT users (incident users). In contrast, patients identified to have mCRC SACT prescriptions before the 1st of January 2015 were defined as prevalent users (Figure 4.1). In pharmacoepidemiological studies, the new user design denotes a cohort of patients who initiate treatment of interest and starts follow-up after treatment initiation (Ray, 2003). In contrast, the prevalent user design includes current (prevalent) users of treatment of interest. And hence, the follow-up starts at different time points in each individual of the study (Suissa et al., 2017). Identifying incident mCRC cases allows for an accurate assessment of the clinical outcomes related to the treatment exposure. It can reduce bias from missing data on prior treatment, which is valuable when different treatments are compared. Also, identifying incident cases minimises inception bias which arises if the patients are not followed from the beginning of the treatment (Lund et al., 2015). In this thesis, only new mCRC SACT users were included in the description of the cohort, assessing the factors influencing the selection of the initial SACT regimen for this cohort of patients (chapter 5) and the treatment pathways and outcomes for new mCRC SACT users (chapter 6).

Patient inclusion and exclusion criteria and the identification method are shown in Table 4.1. Patients who initiated mCRC SACT between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016, had no prescription for mCRC SACT before the 1st of January 2015, were diagnosed with mCRC before the index date, and were above 18 years at the index date were included in the study. However, patients were excluded if they initiated mCRC SACT before 1/1/2015 or after 31/12/2016, were prescribed SACT for other cancer diagnoses (e.g., breast cancer), received mCRC SACT

185

as part of a clinical trial or initiated an adjuvant/ neoadjuvant SACT during the study timeframe due to the potential for these patients to be diagnosed with stage II or III colorectal cancer. The focus of our study was specifically on individuals with metastatic CRC, who initiated first line mCRC SACT. Therefore, to ensure cohort homogeneity, the decision was made to exclude those patients who initiated adjuvant SACT during the study inclusion period (between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016), as their disease stage and treatment trajectory deviated from our intended population of interest. However, patients who were identified to be previously (i.e., before 2015) treated with adjuvant/neo-adjuvant SACTs were not excluded, as it was assumed that these patents have progressed to a metastatic stage of the disease by the time of study inclusion period.

Adjuvant therapy is defined as the SACT administered following primary resection of the tumour to reduce the risk of relapse or death by eliminating residual metastatic disease (Saltz, 2010), while neoadjuvant therapy is defined as the chemotherapy or chemoradiation administered before primary tumour resection aiming to downstage the tumour (reduce the size, the extent of metastasis or involvement of lymph nodes) (Bismuth et al., 1996).



Figure 4.1. The study timeline

Criteria	Inclusion	Exclusion	Identification method
Patients' age	≥ 18 years at index date	< 18 years at index date	Date of index SACT from CEPAS was subtracted from date of birth obtained from CHI database
mCRC diagnosis	ICD-10 code for mCRC: C18, C18.2, C18.3, C18.4, C18.5, C18.6, C18.7, C18.8, C18.9, C19.9, C20, C21.1, C21.8, C78.5, C80, C80.9	Other ICD-10 codes	Primarily: From SMR06 Supplemented from OPERA, NRS, and SMR01
Index SACT date	Between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016	Before 1/1/2015 (i.e., prevalent users), After 31/12/2016 Image: constraint of the second se	Date of first prescription can be identified in CEPAS
SACT	Any oral or injectable mCRC SACT	Adjuvant/ neo adjuvant SACT, SACT as a part of a clinical trial, SACT for another cancer diagnosis	From CEPAS, the diagnosis which each SACT is attached to can provide information about the prescription intention, hence metastatic SACT was selected
KEY: CEPAS= C Classification of D	hemotherapy electronic prese isease; mCRC= metastatic color	cribing system; CHI= Community rectal cancer; SMR06= Scottish cance	Health Index; ICD= International registry; SMR01: SACT= systemic

Table 4.1. Study population inclusion and exclusion criteria	Table 4.1. Stud	y population	inclusion and	l exclusion	criteria.
--	-----------------	--------------	---------------	-------------	-----------

KEY: CEPAS= Chemotherapy electronic prescribing system; CHI= Community Health Index; ICD= International Classification of Disease; mCRC= metastatic colorectal cancer; SMR06= Scottish cancer registry; SMR01: SACT= systemic anti-cancer therapy; NRS= National records of Scotland; SMR 00= Scottish medical records Outpatient Appointments and Attendances; SMR01= General Acute Inpatient and Day Case; SMR06= Scottish cancer registry; OPERA= Elective & emergency operations.

4.2.2 Data sources and variables.

Data collected for this thesis were extracted from ten different data sources. The data sources used in this study were described in section 3.2. Table 4.2 provides a summary of the datasets.

Data source	Rational of use	Content	Variables of interest
Community Health Index (CHI) (Section 3.2.1)	CHI number facilitates the linkage of patients' electronic records	Demographic information	Date of birth, gender, SIMD score
Electronic chemotherapy prescribing system (CEPAS) (Section 3.2.2)	Identify the cohort and the SACT regimens	Systemic Anti- Cancer Therapy (SACT)	SACT regimens, date of SACT prescription, performance status
The Scottish Cancer Registry (SMR06) (Section 3.2.4.3)	Identify the diagnosis and the tumour related characteristics	Cancer diagnosis and characteristics of the tumour	Incidence date, tumour sidedness
Scottish Morbidity Records Outpatient Attendance dataset (SMR00) (Section 3.2.4.1)	Identify comorbidities	Episode level data from patients on new outpatient clinic appointments	Clinic speciality, clinic date
Scottish Morbidity Records General/Acute Inpatient and Day Case dataset (SMR01) (Section 3.2.4.2)	Identify comorbidities	Episode level data on inpatient hospital admissions and day case discharges	ICD-10 diagnosis, date, operations, length of stay
Scottish Care Information (SCI store) (Section 3.2.5)	Identify laboratory test results for prognosis and follow-up	Acute phase proteins (CRP, Albumin,) and blood cell count parameters (NLR)	Sample name, date and quantitative value of the tests
Radiotherapy treatment records (ARIA) (Section 3.2.7)	Record radiotherapy information	Radiotherapy treatments	Treatment intent, course start and end date, side of the applied radiation
Elective & emergency operations (OPERA) (Section 3.2.6)	Identify the tumour sidedness and operations carried out	Surgical interventions	Operation date, procedure side
National Records of Scotland (NRS) (Section 3.2.3)	Identify an outcome (death)	Death records	Date of death, cause of death
Molecular pathology (Section 3.2.8)	Identify type of mutation (RAS, BRAF)	Tumour molecular biology	Diagnosis, results

Table 4.2 Summary of the datasets used in the study.

KEY: CHI= community health index; SIMD= Scottish index for multiple deprivation; SACT= systemic antcancer therapy; CRP= C-reactive protein; NLR= neutrophils to lymphocytes ratio Baseline characteristics refer to the set of sociodemographic, clinical, and other characteristics of the study participants at the beginning of the study before any intervention or treatment is administered. In this thesis, the baseline characteristics were investigated before the administration of index SACT. Sociodemographic characteristics, including gender, age at index SACT and SIMD score, were determined from CHI and NRS (section 3.3.1), while comorbidities were measured from hospital and outpatient clinic records spanning five years prior to the index date (section 3.3.5 and Figure 4.1). inflammatory biomarkers were obtained from SCI store up to and including 28 days from the index date (section 3.3.4 and Figure 4.1). Broadly, the variables used to describe the cohort at baseline include sociodemographic characteristics (age, gender, SIMD score), treatment characteristics (baseline SACT and primary tumour resection), tumour characteristics (primary tumour location, tumour sidedness, type of mutation), clinical characteristics (comorbidities and performance status), and Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters (CEA, haemoglobin, NLR, and albumin). Table 4.3 presents the variables selected for this study and the coding method. For all variable, missing information were coded as "unknown".

The variables used in this thesis were selected for their relevance and potential impact on the exposure (mCRC SACT) or the outcome (survival), which will be elaborated in greater details in chapter 5 (factors influencing the selection of first-line mCRC SACTs) and chapter 6 (treatment pathways and treatment outcomes for mCRC patients), respectively.

Variable	Coding				
Sociodemographic characteristics					
Age at index SACT (Section 3.3.1.1)	Continuous variable				
	Categorical variable (≥ 65, <65)				
Gender (Section 3.3.1.1)	Binary (Male, Female)				
SIMD (Section 3.3.1.2)	Ordinal categorical (1,2,3,4,5)				
Treatment characteristics					
Baseline SACT	Nominal categorical (5FU, FOLFOX, FOLFIRI,				
	cetuximab+FOLFIRI, Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI)				
Primary tumour resection (Section 3.3.2.3)	Binary (Yes, No)				
Clinical characteristics					
ECOG PS (Section 3.3.3.3)	Ordinal categorical $(0,1, \ge 2)$				
Comorbidity (CCI) (Section 3.3.5)	Ordinal categorical (0, [1-3], ≥4)				
Tumour characteristics					
Primary tumour location (Section 3.3.3.1)	Categorical (colon, rectum, transverse)				

Table 4.3. Variables used to describe the baseline characteristics of mCRC patients and the coding method.

Primary tumour sidedness (Section 3.3.3.1)	Nominal categorical (left, right, transverse)				
Molecular profile (Section 3.3.3.2)	Nominal categorical (Mutant RAS, Wild RAS,				
	Mutant BRAF)				
Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters					
Albumin (Section 3.3.4)	Binary (≥ 34, < 34)				
CEA (Section 3.3.4)	Binary (≤ 5, > 5)				
Haemoglobin (Section 3.3.4)	Oglobin (Section 3.3.4)Binary (Normal, upper, or lower limit of normal)				
NLR ((Section 3.3.4)	Binary (≤5, >5)				
KEY: SIMD= Scottish index for multiple deprivation; SACT= systemic ant-cancer therapy; ECOG PS= eastern cooperative					
oncology group performance status; CRP= C-reactive protein; NLR= neutrophils to lymphocytes ratio					

4.2.3 Statistical analysis

Summary statistics were used to describe the baseline characteristics of the patients. Categorical variables were summarised using proportions and frequencies while median and inter-quartile ranges (IQR) or mean and standard deviation (SD) were used to summarise continuous data, as appropriate. Median values were chosen when the data were not normally distributed, and mean values were used when data were normally distributed. The normality of the data was checked using the Shapiro–Wilk test, and data were assumed to be normally distributed when the P value was more than 0.05.

For all the analyses in this chapter, any category containing less than five patients was not presented in the tables or Figures as a part of the University of Glasgow safe haven permission to use the current data. All analyses were carried out using R, and the following packages were used: Base R, dplyr, and lubridate. R code script is presented in appendix VI.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Overview of the cohort

Between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016, a total of 317 patients were identified via CEPAS. Of these, 97 patients were excluded for several reasons as illustrated in Figure 4.2. Hence, 220 new mCRC SACT users (i.e., incident patients) who initiated mCRC SACT regimen between 01/01/2015 and 31/12/2016 were included in the study analysis.



Figure 4.2. Cohort selection criteria flowchart for mCRC patients in NHS GGC initiating systemic anti-cancer treatments for metastatic colorectal cancer between 2015 and 2016.

KEY: CEPAS= chemotherapy electronic prescribing system; SMR06= Scottish cancer registry; SMR 00= Scottish medical records Outpatient Appointments and Attendances; SMR01= General Acute Inpatient and Day Case, OPERA= Elective & emergency operations; NRS= national records of Scotland; mCRC= metastatic colorectal cancer; SACT= systemic ant-cancer therapy

4.3.2 Index SACT distribution

Patients received various SACT regimens at index: the majority of the patients (N=115, 52.3%) were treated with a doublet therapy of FOLFOX, XELOX or FOLFIRI. Table 4.4 shows the distribution of treatment at index date across the patients.

Table 4. 4 Treatment distribution for patients in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde health board initiating systemic anti-cancer treatments for metastatic colorectal cancer between 2015 and 2016 (N=220).

Systemic anti-cancer therapy	N=220 (%)				
Singlet treatment	49 (22.3)				
• 5FU or capecitabine					
Doublet treatment	115 (52.3)				
• FOLFOX or XELOX	68 (30.9)				
• FOLFIRI	47 (21.4)				
Triplet treatment	56 (25.4)				
Aflibercept+FOLFIRI	11 (5)				
Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI or cetuximab+FOLFOX	43 (19.5)				
• FOLFOXIRI	*				
KEY 5FU= Fluorouracil/leucovorin; FOLFOX = Fluorouracil/leucovorin+xaliplatin; FOLFIRI= Fluorouracil/leucovorin + irinotecan; FOLFOXIRI= Fluorouracil/leucovorin+ oxaliplatin+ irinotecan; XELOX= Capecitabine +oxaliplatin.					

SACTs containing less than 5 patients were not presented in numbers

4.3.3 Baseline characteristics.

The following sections will present the sociodemographic characteristics, tumour characteristics, clinical characteristics, treatment characteristics, inflammatory biomarkers, and blood cell count parameters for mCRC patients initiated mCRC SACTs between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016 in NHS GGC. SACTs including less than five patients will not be presented in the tables and Figures, and for any variable containing less than five patients, these characteristics will also not be presented. Since aflibercept+FOLFIRI included 11 patients only, the majority of baseline characteristics will not be presented.

4.3.3.1 Sociodemographic characteristics.

Table 4.5 shows the baseline characteristics for the new mCRC SACT users who initiated treatment between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016. Of the 220 patients identified, 105 (47.4%) were female.

For the entire cohort, the median age at index SACT was 66 years (IQR 57-73).

The socioeconomic status was measured via the SIMD score (section 3.3.1.2). For the entire cohort, about one-third of the patients (N= 68, 30.9%) resided in the most deprived areas of the NHS GGC health board areas (rank 1), while 20% (N=44) resided in the least deprived areas (rank 5).

4.3.3.2 Clinical characteristics

Most of the patients included in this study had no comorbidity based on CCI (CCI= zero, N=162, 73.6%) (section 3.3.5). In contrast, 8 (3.6%) patients had severe comorbidities (CCI \geq 4).

At the time of index SACT, 22.7% (N=50) of the patients had an ECOG PS of zero, indicating they were fully active (section 3.3.3.3). In contrast, 6.4% of patients (N=14) had an ECOG PS of 2 or more, implying limited ability for self-care.

4.3.3.3 Tumour characteristics

Out of the 220 patients, 156 (70.9%) patients had primary colon cancer, while 57 (25.9%) patients had primary rectal cancer, with almost similar proportions of the patients across individual SACT regimens had the colon as the primary tumour site.

A total of 175 (79.5%) patients were tested for RAS and BRAF gene mutations. Of these, 81 (36.8%) patients were found to have a mutated RAS gene, whereas 77 (35%) patients had a wild-type RAS, and 17 (7.7%) patients had a mutation in the BRAF gene. Of note, 13 (72.2%) of the patients with a mutated BRAF gene were female, in contrast to 5 (27.8%) male patients (not presented in the table).

4.3.3.4 Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters

At the time of index SACT, 50.5% (N= 111) of all patients had anaemia with haemoglobin values less than 115 g/L for females and values less than 130 mg/dL for male patients. Levels

of carcinoembryonic antigen were elevated in 64.1% (N=141) of the patients at the time of index SACT, indicating poor prognosis, while hypoalbuminemia with albumin levels less than 34 mg/dL presented in 53.6% (N=118) of the patients at the index SACT, indicating a worse prognosis. Most patients treated with a singlet SACT had hypoalbuminemia (N= 37, 75.5%). Conversely, less than half of the patients treated with a triplet SACT of cetuximab+FOLFIRI had hypoalbuminemia at index SACT (N= 19, 44.2%). Finally, high neutrophils to lymphocyte ratio, which indicates poor prognosis, was found in 158 (71.8%) of the patients.

Table 4.5 Baseline characteristics for the mCRC patients initiating SACT in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde between 2015 and 2016, overall and stratified by SACT (N=220)*

Variable	Full cohort	5FU/leucoverine	FOFLOX	FOLFIRI	Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI	Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI
	(N=220)	(n=49)	(n= 68)	(n=47)	(n=11)	(n=43)
Sociodemographic characterisitcs	·	·	·	·	·	
Gender						
Female	105 (47.7)	28 (57.1)	36 (52.9)	22 (46.8)	5 (45.5)	12 (27.9)
Male	115 (52.3)	21 (42.9)	32 (47.1)	25 (53.2)	6 (54.5)	31 (72.1)
Age group at diagnosis [years) (%)						
≥ 65	118 (53.6)	43 (87.8)	36 (52.9)	22 (46.8)	*	13 (30.2)
< 65	102 (46.4)	6 (12.2)	32 (47.1)	25 (53.2)	8 (72.7)	30 (69.8)
Median age [years] (IQR)	66 (57-73)	76 (68.8-81)	66.5 (58-72)	66 (54.5-72.8)	64 (55-69)	59 (52.8-65.2)
SIMD score						
1	68 (30.9)	13 (26.5)	25 (36.8)	13 (27.7)	*	14 (32.6)
2	43 (19.5)	15 (30.6)	8 (11.8)	11 (23.4)	*	8 (18.6)
3	25 (11.4)	7 (14.3)	*	9 (19.1)	*	*
4	37 (16.8)	6 (12.2)	10 (14.7)	6 (12.8)	*	11 (25.6)
5	44 (20)	8 (16.3)	19 (27.9)	7 (14.9	*	6 (14)
Unknown	*		*	*)		
Clinical characteristics		1			1	1
CCI score						
0	162 (73.6)	33 (67.3)	52 (76.5)	34 (72.3)	10 (90.9)	31 (72.1)
1-3	50 (22.7)	12 (24.5)	13 (19.1)	13 (27.7)	*	11 (25.6)
≥ 4	8 (3.6)	*	*	*	*	*
ECOG performance status						
0	50 (22.7)	7 (14.3)	14 (20.6)	10 (21.3)	*	15 (37.2)
1	122 (55.4)	31 (63.2)	37 (54.4)	26 (55.3)	6 (72.7)	22 (55.8)
≥2	14 (6.4)	*	7 (10.3)	*	*	*

Variable	Full cohort	5FU/leucoverine	FOFLOX	FOLFIRI	Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI	Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI
	(N=220)	(n=49)	(n= 68)	(n=47)	(n=11)	(n=43)
Unknown	34 (15.4)	7 (14.3)	10 (14.7)	10 (21.3)	*	*
Tumour characteristics						
Primary tumour resection						
No	161 (73.2)	35 (71.4)	59 (86.8)	28 (59.6)	7 (63.6)	33 (76.7)
Yes	59 (26.8)	14 (28.6)	9 (13.2)	19 (40.4)	*	10 (23.3)
Primary tumour location						
Colon	156 (70.9)	33 (67.3)	47 (69.1)	34 (72.3)	10 (90.9)	31 (72.1)
Rectum	57 (25.9)	16 (32.7)	16 (23.5)	11 (23.4)	*	12 (27.9)
Unknown	7 (3.2)		5 (7.4)	*		
Tumour sidedness						
Left	130 (59.1)	26 (53.1)	40 (58.8)	25 (53.2)	5 (45.5)	34 (79.1)
Right	67 (30.5)	19 (38.8)	20 (29.4)	14 (29.8)	*	8 (18.6)
Transverse	10 (4.5)	*	*	*	*	*
Unspecified	13 (5.9)		6 (8.8)	6 (12.8)		*
Tumour molecular profile						
Wild RAS	77 (35)	8 (16.3)	16 (23.5)	11 (23.4)	*	39 (90.7)
Mutant RAS	81 (36.8)	16 (32.7)	35 (51.5)	22 (46.8)	7 (63.6)	*
Mutant BRAF	17 (7.7)	*	*	7 (14.9)	*	*
Unknown	45 (20.5)	20 (40.8)	13 (19.1)	7 (14.9)	*	*
Inflammatory biomarkers and blood	cell count para	meters				
Albumin (g/L)						
< 34	118 (53.6)	37 (75.5)	39 (57.4)	18 (38.3)	*	19 (44.2)
≥ 34	100 (45.5)	12 (24.5)	28 (41.2)	28 (59.6)	7 (63.6)	24 (55.8)
Unknown	*		*	*		
Carcino embryonic antigen (CEA)						
(µg/l)						
≤ 5	36 (16.4)	6 (12.2)	7 (10.3)	10 (21.3)	8 (72.7)	10 (23.3)

Variable	Full cohort	5FU/leucoverine	FOFLOX	FOLFIRI	Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI	Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI
	(N=220)	(n=49)	(n= 68)	(n=47)	(n=11)	(n=43)
> 5	141 (64.1)	38 (77.6)	49 (72.1)	26 (55.3)	*	22 (51.2)
Unknown	43 (19.5)	5 (10.2)	12 (17.6)	11 (23.4)	*	11 (25.5)
Haemoglobin (g/l)						
Female (115-165) or Male	111 (50.5)	22 (44.9)	31 (45.6)	26 (55.3)	7 (63.6)	23 (53.5)
(130-180)						
Female (<115 or >165) or	107 (48.6)	27 (55.1)	37 (57.4)	20 (42.6)	*	20 (46.5)
Male (<130 or >180)						
Unknown	*					
Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio						
(NLR)						
> 5	158 (71.8)	35 (71.4)	50 (73.5)	31 (66)	11 (100)	31 (72.1)
≤ 5	60 (27.3)	14 (28.6)	17 (25)	15 (31.9)	*	12 (27.9)
Unknown	*					
KEY: ECOG PS= eastern cooperative oncology	KEY: ECOG PS= eastern cooperative oncology group performance status, SIMD= Scottish index for multiple deprivation, CCI= Charlson comorbidity index					
* Patients treated with FOLFOXIRI were not included in the baseline analysis as N < 5						

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Summary of key findings

In this study, the baseline sociodemographic, clinical, tumour, Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters, and treatment-related characteristics of mCRC patients (new mCRC SACT users) who have initiated mCRC SACT between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016 in NHS GGC were described.

A total of 220 new mCRC SACT users were included in the study, with around half of the patients initiated a doublet of FOLFOX or FOLFIRI (N=115, 52.3%, Table 4. 4), while 49 (22.3%, Table 4. 4) patients initiated a singlet of 5FU, 43 (19.5%, Table 4. 4) patients treated initially with cetuximab+FOLFIRI, and 11 (5%, Table 4. 4) patients were treated with aflibercept+FOLFIRI as an initial mCRC SACT.

The cohort comprised slightly more male patients than females (52.3% vs 47.7%) (Table 4.5). The historical notion of the higher incidence of CRC in males compared to females is probably attributed to the possibility of the protective effect offered by the female sex hormones through different mechanisms (Rennert, 2017, Nikolaou et al., 2019). Additionally, our cohort included a slightly higher frequency of patients over 65 years (53.6%, N=118) compared to those less than 65 (46.4%, N=102). In line with the global incidence, Scotland has witnessed a decreased trend for the incidence of CRC among the elderly population since the Scottish Bowel Screening Programme (SBoSP) started to be implemented in 2007 (Steele et al., 2009). Unfortunately, this trend has coincided with an increased trend of incident cases of CRC among younger people, mainly attributed to factors including obesity, smoking, lack of physical exercise, and alcohol consumption (Clark et al., 2020).

Our findings show that mutation in the BRAF gene was detected in 7.7% (N=17, Table 4.5) of the patients, while wild-type RAS tumour was found in 35% (N=77, Table 4.5) of patients. It is, however, important to highlight that 20.5% (N=45, Table 4.5) of the patients were not screened for tumour molecular profile. In Scotland, molecular biomarker testing for patients with CRC was standardised in July 2015. Under this scheme, all patients with CRC are offered testing for several gene mutations, including the RAS gene, which encodes proteins in the EGFR pathway and the BRAF gene (Bouttell et al., 2019). Since the data collection for this study was started in January 2015, while molecular testing was standardised in July of the

same year, this has resulted in six months of testing not being mandatory, resulting in missing data.

Similarly, 15.4% (N=35, Table 4.5) of the values in the ECOG PS were missing for the same reason, as recording the performance status prior to each SACT cycle was made mandatory in Scotland in July 2015. Despite that, more than half of the patients in our study (N=122, 55.4%, Table 4.5) had an ECOG PS grade of 1, implying restriction in physical activity but ambulatory and able to carry out work of a light or sedentary nature (Table 3.5). However, 14 patients (6.4%) had an ECOG PS grade of 2 or more, indicating the capability of self-care but the inability to carry out any work activities (Table 3.5).

Most of the patients were anaemic, had elevated levels of CEA, and had hypoalbuminemia at index SACT (Table 4.5), which predicts a poor prognosis (Susman, 2005, Nazha et al., 2015, Cho et al., 2017, Shibutani et al., 2013).

4.4.2 Comparison with literature

Overall, comparing baseline characteristics among observational studies is challenging, not only because of the variability in each study setting but also due to the variability in the methods for measuring and reporting baseline characteristics, which can make it difficult to compare results across studies or to extrapolate results to other populations. For instance, while almost all studies report sociodemographic characteristics such as age and gender, other baseline characteristics, especially those featuring the disease (e.g., baseline performance status, number, and type of metastatic sites), are not consistently reported across observational studies. For instance, the Scottish cancer registry lacks variables specific to the pattern of metastasis. Hence, the burden of metastasis, including the number of metastatic sites and the location of metastasis, are not captured in our study.

4.4.2.1 Observational studies

The baseline characteristics of mCRC patients who have initiated mCRC SACT in NHS GGC were compared against the characteristics of mCRC patients in the observational studies included in the SR-MA conducted in chapter 2, given that for both settings, patients were initiated on a first-line mCRC SACT. However, it is important to highlight that many observational studies tend to select patients based on specific features, such as age, RAS status, or performance status. For instance, among the studies included in the SR-MA to

which we are comparing our study, many included only elderly patients above the age of 65 years (Stec et al., 2010, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Neugut et al., 2019, Meyerhardt et al., 2012a). This, however, resulted in more challenges in comparing our study to other observational studies.

Considering all the patients, regardless of the type of SACT they were treated with, the sociodemographic characteristics of mCRC patients included in this study, with a median age of 66 years and comprising 45.5% females, were comparable to mCRC patients (n=714) included in a prospective observational study conducted in England (Khakoo et al., 2019), where the median age was 66 years (IQR 26-89) and 42.7% female patients. Those Figures were also closely consistent with the demographic characteristics of mCRC patients in other countries such as Australia (median age 69, 42.8% female (McNeill et al., 2021)) and the Netherlands (median age 69, 44% female (Hamers et al., 2021).

When stratifying patients by their index SACT, the median age and the female proportion for the patients in this study were: 5FU (76 years, 57.1%), FOLFOX (66.5 years, 52.9%), FOLFIRI (66 years, 46.8%) (FOLFIRI), cetuximab+ FOLFIRI (59 years, 27.9%), and for aflibercept+ FOLFIRI, the median age for the participants was 64 years with 45.5% of female patients. These findings are broadly comparable with previously published findings of other observational studies. Among 5FU patients, the median age ranged from 73 to 77 years and the proportion of female patients from 40% to 54% (Yoshimatsu et al., 2007, Satram-Hoang et al., 2013, Guo et al., 2020, Varol et al., 2014, Stec et al., 2010). For patients treated with FOLFOX, the median age reported in other observational studies ranged from 54 to 67.3 years, and between 37% to 50% of the patients were female (Lee et al., 2011, Suenaga et al., 2014, Marschner et al., 2015, Nebuloni et al., 2013). For patients treated with FOLFIRI, the median age ranged between 57 to 68 years, with the proportion of female patients between 32% and 44% (Lee et al., 2011, Stec et al., 2010, Marschner et al., 2015). Finally, for patients treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI, the median age of patients in other observational studies ranged between 57 and 65 years, and the female share ranged between 30% and 47% (Huang et al., 2011, Bai et al., 2016, Yang et al., 2014, Muro et al., 2019). In contrast, patients who were treated with Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI had a median age that ranged between 63 to 65 years, and the female patients accounted for 37% to 45% of the total patients (Chau et al., 2020, Devaux et al., 2019, Fernandez Montes et al., 2017, Fernandez Montes et al., 2019).

Improved ECOG PS values were higher in England than in Scotland, with 42.3% of the patients in the study carried out in England having a performance status value of zero compared to 22.7% of the patients in our study (Khakoo et al., 2019). This may be partially explained by the fact that the entire cohort in our study presented with mCRC at primary diagnosis. In contrast, only 59.4% of the patients in the study in England presented with mCRC at diagnosis (section 3.2.4.3). It has been projected that the stage of cancer diagnosis is a predictor of PS (West and Jin, 2015).

Notably, our study shows a notable difference compared to the published observational studies investigating the outcomes of first-line mCRC SACT regarding the applied therapies (e.g., type of SACT regimen and rates of primary tumour resection).

First, in this study, the utilised SACT included 5FU, capecitabin FOLFOX, XELOX, FOLFIRI, aflibercept+FOLFIRI, and cetuxmab+ FOLFIRI. In contrast, the majority of the observational studies investigating the effectiveness of first-line mCRC SACTs focused on bevacizumab combinations with chemotherapy. For instance, 24 out of 29 studies in the overall survival meta-analysis in this thesis evaluated bevacizumab against other regimens (section 2.3.2). Nevertheless, in England and Scotland, bevacizumab was not approved for the management of mCRC by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) in England and the SIGN in Scotland for safety and cost-effectiveness reasons (The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2010, The Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN), 2006, Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2006).

Second, the findings of this study show that the rates for primary tumour resection were substantially lower in Scotland (26.8%, Table 4.5) than these in other observational studies, which ranged between 63% to 80.4% in the United States (Houts et al., 2019a, Meyerhardt et al., 2012b, Bendell et al., 2012), 77.2% in France (Bennouna et al., 2017), 87.4% in Germany, and 84% in Japan (Suenaga et al., 2014). However, the findings of this study are similar to those found in a study conducted in England (N=714), where the primary tumour resection rate was 26.8% (Khakoo et al., 2019). A cross-national study comparing the rates of surgical resection for CRC in England, Denmark, Norway, and Sweden found inferior surgical resection rates in England compared to the rest of the countries for two reasons; first, the clinical guidelines for the surgical treatment of CRC varied in their level of specificity with those from England being typically less detailed than those from Denmark, Norway, and

202

Sweden. Second, it was observed that patients above 75 years were less likely to be offered CRC surgical treatment in England than in the Scandinavian countries (Benitez Majano et al., 2019). The Scottish clinical recommendations for the surgical treatment of CRC are comparable to those in England (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2020, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011b). In light of that, an indirect conclusion can be extrapolated from the findings of the low resection rates in England to the cohort in this study, given the similarity in the surgical resection recommendations between Scotland and England.

4.4.2.2 Clinical trials

Our findings indicated important differences between the patients included in clinical trials and practice settings. In particular, patients included in this study were older, with a higher share of female patients, and poorer performance status compared to clinical trials upon which the approval of the SACTs captured in this study was granted.

Compared to phase III clinical trials, upon which approval for mCRC SACTs was granted, the median age of the participants in this study (66 years) was higher than that reported in the clinical trials, manifesting the classical notion of the underrepresentation of patients > 65 years in cancer clinical trials (Hutchins et al., 1999). The median age in de Gramont 1997 trial (infusional 5FU) was 60.9 years (de Gramont et al., 1997a), while the median age in de Gramont 2000 trial (FOLFOX), Saltz, 2000, and Douillard, 2000 trials (FOLFIRI) was 63 years and 62 years, respectively (de Gramont et al., 2000, Saltz et al., 2000, Douillard et al., 2000). The median age in the (VELOUR) trial (aflibercept+FOLFIRI) was 61 years (Van Cutsem et al., 2012). In contrast, with a median of 61 years, the median age in (CRYSTAL) trial (61 years) (cetuximab+FOLFIRI) was higher than that of the patients in this study (Van Cutsem et al., 2011).

The proportion of female patients was lower in the clinical trials in contrast to this study (N=105, 47.7%, Table 4.5) and ranged from 34% in Saltz 2000 trial (FOLFIRI) (Saltz et al., 2000) to 40.6% in Crystal trial (cetuximab+FOLFIRI) (Van Cutsem et al., 2011). This could be attributed to the fact that the incidence of CRC is higher in males than in females (Bray et al., 2018), in addition to the lower likelihood for female patients to participate in cancer clinical trials, including CRC, compared to male patients (Murthy et al., 2004).

As a result of the strict inclusion and exclusion criteria applied in the clinical trials, the majority of the clinical trials tend to include healthier patients with good performance status, with a value of zero in 44.7%, 43.3%, 39%, 57%, 55.1% for patients who participated in the 5FU, FOLFOX, FOLFIRI, aflibercept+FOLFIRI, and cetuximab+FOLFIRI clinical trials (de Gramont et al., 1997a, de Gramont et al., 2000, Saltz et al., 2000, Van Cutsem et al., 2012, Van Cutsem et al., 2011). In contrast, only 22.7% (N=50) of patients in our study had good performance stats (PS=0).

4.5 Strengths and limitations

This study described the baseline characteristics of patients initiating mCRC SACT. One of the recognised strengths of our study is the utilisation of record linkage to identify the attributes of mCRC patients in NHSGGC, the largest health board in Scotland, with ten different national and regional datasets used to describe the patients' attributes and cover a wide range of different variables. A strength of using electronic record linkage to identify the patients' attributes is that this method enhances the completeness and accuracy of baseline characteristics. Additionally, record linkage can help to minimise missing data and ensure that the data collected on baseline characteristics is accurate, which can increase the statistical power of the study and enhance the precision of the findings. Furthermore, a recognised strength of our study is the inclusion of all mCRC patients initiating mCRC SACT regardless of any specific feature. By this, the risk of selection bias is reduced. Hence, allowing our findings to be more generalisable.

However, this study was limited by database incompleteness and variable missing in data, such as the lack of recording of important variables relevant to the disease of interest (e.g., number of metastatic sites and the site of metastasis). Nevertheless, this issue is inherent to observational studies and not unique to our study.

4.6 Conclusion

Baseline characteristics of patients with mCRC receiving SACT in GGC showed some comparability to other observational studies in terms of sociodemographic characteristics such as age and gender. However, for other characteristics, such as the type of tumour mutation and burden of metastasis, other observational studies varied in the level of reporting these variables. Additionally, many observational studies tend to select patients based on certain features. Therefore, it was difficult to compare the majority of the baseline characteristics with those of other observational studies. However, a notable difference in the baseline characteristics between our cohort and the cohorts in other observational studies was the rate of primary tumour resection, which was substantially lower in our study compared to the patients included in other observational studies (Table 4.5). Additionally, the type of initial (first-line) mCRC SACT utilised was another difference between our study and the other observational studies. While in Scotland, the doublet FOLFOX, FOLFIRI, or XELOX were the most utilised SACTs, most of the observational studies reported bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy to be the most commonly utilised SACTs. In contrast, differences between clinical trial participants and real-world patients, as included in this study, were obvious, especially with regards to performance status; while these differences might have been impacted to a certain extent by data constraints, specific selection criteria as applied in the RCTs have contributed to these differences.

5 Chapter 5: Factors influencing the selection of first-line metastatic colorectal cancer systemic anti-cancer treatments in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde.

5.1 Introduction.

The last 15 to 20 years have witnessed major advances in the management of mCRC, which were accompanied by a global change in clinical management guidelines (Biller and Schrag, 2021). For many years, 5FU remained the only active treatment available for the management of mCRC. However, in the modern era, the rapid licencing of new medicines for mCRC, together with the wide range of potential combinations and sequences available for treating mCRC, presents challenges for clinicians in deciding the optimal treatment plan for their patients. At the same time, the effective selection of therapies in mCRC is a crucial determinant of treatment outcomes. (Van Cutsem et al., 2014b, Golshani and Zhang, 2020).

Optimising a treatment strategy for mCRC patients should rely on three major attributes: first, patient characteristics, such as age, comorbidities, performance status, acceptance of toxicities and expectations; second, tumour characteristics, such as the burden of metastases, the resectability of the primary tumour and the metastasis, and the tumour progression, and; finally, the tumour molecular profile including RAS status, BRAF status, and MSI (section 1.2.3) (De Falco et al., 2020).

Clinical management guidelines (CMGs) are developed, considering the listed factors. For example, the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) guidelines define several factors that determine the treatment selection, including patients' age, performance status, organ function, comorbidities and patient expectations, the tumour RAS/BRAF status, tumour burden and localisation, in addition to treatment-related factors (e.g., toxicity profile, quality of life) (Van Cutsem et al., 2016a). Similarly, In Scotland, the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) develop evidence-based CMG on the national level for NHS Scotland (Miller, 2016). For colorectal cancer, SIGN 126 for the diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer was published in 2011 and revised in 2016 (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011b). However, each of the three cancer networks in Scotland publishes its own CMG specific to treatment in the respective cancer

networks to ensure a consistent experience for patients across the region. The WoSCAN, which covers the NHS GGC health board, developed CRC guidance in which the choice of mCRC regimen depends on 1- patients' factors, including age, comorbidities, and performance status; 2- tumour factors, including the molecular profile, the resectability of the primary tumour and the metastasis, and 3- treatment response factors including previous response, the duration of response, and previous toxicity (National Health Service West of Scotland Cancer Network, 2019).

According to the SIGN guideline, all mCRC patients should be offered SACT. The choice of first-line SACT depends on the patient's fitness, comorbidity, and the aim of treatment. Patients with good performance status and adequate organ function should be initially treated with FOLFOX, XELOX, or FOLFIRI. However, patients who cannot endure combination chemotherapy, 5FU or raltitrexed should be considered. Cetuximab, combined with FOLFOX or FOLFIRI, should be considered a first-line treatment for patients with RAS-wild type tumours. The SMC has also approved aflibercept in combination with FOLFIRI to be used in resistant mCRC or mCRC that has progressed despite the use of an oxaliplatin-containing regimen in the first-line (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2014). The WoSCAN recommendations for the management of mCRC in the 1L settings as guided by the national SIGN 126 guideline is illustrated in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1. WoSCAN recommendations for the management of mCRC in the 1L settings as guided by the national SIGN 126 guideline.

KEY: mCRC= metastatic colorectal cancer, PS= Performance status

The recommendations on optimising the best treatment strategy for the CMGs are evidencebased, principally driven by rigorously conducted randomised controlled trials (Krishnankutty et al., 2012). However, it is now widely accepted by health bodies such as NICE and the FDA that evidence-based practice for drug licencing should embrace other sources such as electronic health records and other sources of RWE (The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2022, Food and Drug administration, 2022). Consequently, RWE is currently used to provide complementary evidence to RCTs to inform regulatory decisions and develop the CMGs.

One of the essential inputs for developing CMGs and health care policies is the factors that influence the prescriber's decision. Therefore, it is important to identify the factors influencing prescribing decisions to help plan a strategy to optimise patient care. In the context of cancer in general, and mCRC in specific, the majority of the research on SACT prescribing decisions has focused on the patients' perception (Bloem et al., 2016, Byrne and Saif, 2019). Nevertheless, there is a paucity of studies focusing on other factors besides the patients' perception that influence the clinician to select the initial, most optimum mCRC SACT.

Aims and objectives.

The aims of this study are:

- To examine the factors associated with prescribing first-line (1L) mCRC SACTs in patients treated in NHS GGC using data from linked health datasets.
- To investigate whether the factors identified from the analysis are consistent with the factors that informed the clinical decisions in the CMGs.

5.2 Methods.

5.2.1 Study design and cohort identification.

This study was designed as a retrospective observational study. The overall study design and cohort identification are explained in section 4.2.1, and an in-depth description of the data sources and variables is provided in sections 3.2 and 3.3, respectively. New mCRC SACT users who initiated metastatic treatment between the 1st of January 2015 and the 31st of December 2016 were included in the study.

The following sections summarise the exposure and the outcome data used in this study and the endpoints. In addition, the statistical methods applied in this study are detailed.

5.2.2 Exposures and outcomes

In this study, the factors identified from the CMGs and the literature to influence the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs, as referred to in section 5.1, were used to select the exposure (i.e., the factors). These factors were mapped into three categories:

- 1- patient-related factors: age at index SACT (section 3.3.1.1), gender (section 3.3.1.1), deprivation (section 3.3.1.2), and performance status (section 3.3.3.3),
- 2- tumour-related factors: primary tumour sidedness (section 3.3.3.1) and the tumour molecular profile (section 3.3.3.2),
- 3- treatment response-related factors, including primary tumour resection (section 3.3.2.3)

Throughout this chapter, the terms exposure and factor will be used interchangeably. The prescribed SACTs at index (1L mCRC SACTs) were investigated as the outcome. CEPAS, which captures all prescribed SACTs, was used to source the data regarding the prescribed SACTs. Hence, all mCRC SACTs captured in this study were investigated for their potential association with the exposure (i.e., the factors). However, only FOLFOXIRI was not investigated for its association with the exposure due to the small number of patients falling in this category (N<5).

Table 5.1 summarises the covariates defined as exposure and the outcome extracted from different datasets and the applied coding method.

Table 5.1 Summary of the variables selected in the study to evaluate the association
between the selection of first-line mCRC SACT and patient, tumour, and treatment
response factors.

Variable	Dataset	Coding				
<u>Exposure</u>		` `				
1- Patient-related factors						
Age at index SACT (Section	CHI Section 3.2.1)	Continuous variable				
3.3.1.1)	CEPAS (Section 3.2.2)					
Gender (Section 3.3.1.1)	CHI (Section 3.2.1)	Binary (Male, Female)				
SIMD (Section 3.3.1.2)	CHI Section 3.2.1)	Ordinal categorical (1,2,3,4,5)				
ECOG PS (Section 3.3.3.3)	CEPAS (Section 3.2.2)	Ordinal categorical $(0,1, \leq 2)$				
2- Tumour-related fac	ctors					
Primary tumour sidedness	SMR06 (Section 3.2.4.3)	Nominal categorical (left, right,				
(section 3.3.1)		transverse)				
Molecular profile (section	LIMS (Section 3.2.8)	Nominal categorical (Mutant RAS,				
3.3.2)		Wild RAS, Mutant BRAF)				
3- Treatment response-related factors						
Primary tumour	OPERA (Section 3.2.6))	Binary (Y, N)				
resection (section 3.2.3)	SMR01 (Section 3.2.4.2),					
	SMR06 (Section 3.2.4.3)					
<u>Outcome</u>						
SACT (section 3.3.2.1)	CEPAS (Section 3.2.2)	Nominal categorical (5FU, FOLFOX,				
		FOLFIRI, cetuximab+FOLFIRI,				
		Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI)				
KEY: CHI= community health index, CEPAS: electronic chemotherapy prescribing system, SACT: systemic anti-cancer therapy, SIMD: Scottish index for multiple deprivation, ECOG PS: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status, SMR 06: The Scottish Cancer Registry, SMR 01: Scottish Morbidity Records General/Acute Inpatient and Day Case, OPERA: Elective & emergency operations. Y=yes, N=No						

5.2.3 Statistical analysis.

A two-step procedure was employed to examine the association of relevant covariates with the selection of each 1L SACT regimen. First, relevant covariates were assessed for their association with the selection of each SACT by performing a univariate multinomial logistic regression (MLR) analysis (Kwak and Clayton-Matthews, 2002). Second, the covariates of statistical significance (p <0.05) in the univariate MLR were subsequently included in the multivariate MLR analysis (Kwak and Clayton-Matthews, 2002). Age and gender were used as priori confounders.

MLR models were used to estimate the odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI between the outcome (SACT) and the exposure at baseline. The OR for the predictor variables refers to the association of each predictor variable (independent variable) with the frequency of each prescribed SACT (dependent variable). The likelihood ratio chi-square test was used to confirm the overall significance of covariates to the model and to test for the goodness-of-fit (Agresti, 1996, Kwak and Clayton-Matthews, 2002). An MLR analysis was used since the categories within the dependent variable (i.e., outcome; SACT) are multiple, discrete, and nominal.

The SACT regimen used as a reference group was FOLFOX, given that it is the standard firstline SACT of choice for the management of mCRC in Scotland (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011b). Furthermore, FOLFOX category contained the largest number of patients compared to the other SACT regimen categories.

5.2.4 Assumption of multinomial logistic regression model.

The following are the assumptions that must hold for the MLR estimates to be considered unbiased:

- 1- The outcome is categorical: the dependent variable in the MLR should be categorical of three or more response categories.
- 2- Lack of multicollinearity: collinearity occurs when two or more independent variables are highly correlated with each other, resulting in difficulty in determining which predictor variable contributes to the explanation of the dependent variable (Cortina, 1993). Multicollinearity is detected through the variance inflation factor (VIF). The higher the VIF, the more the possibility that collinearity is present. VIF values equal to 1 suggest no correlation between the variables, VIF values > 1 and < 5 suggests a</p>

moderate correlation between the variables, and VIF values more than or equal to 5 suggest the presence of a high correlation between the variables. (Craney and Surles, 2002).

3- The independence of irrelevant alternatives (IIA): this assumption states that the relative likelihood of falling into a certain category rather than the reference category should not change by adding or changing the reference category (McFadden, 1984). Hausman-McFadden test was used to check the IIA assumption, with the null hypothesis of this test being that the probability ratio of every two alternatives depends only on the characteristics of these alternatives (McFadden, 1984, Allison, 2012).

5.2.5 Handling missing data.

The regression model was primarily applied to variables with covariates encompassing different extents of missing data that ranged between complete covariates with no missing data up to 36.7% missing value in a covariate. For this study, the significant missing data existed in two variables, namely, the type of mutation (molecular profile) and performance status, with a percentage of missing data of 20.5% (N=45 observation) and 15.4% (N=34) for each covariate, respectively. Consequently, the primary MLR model contained missing values in the predictor variables, coded as "unknown" and analysed. However, the presence of missing in data might potentially produce biased estimates leading to an invalid conclusion, which was accounted for by two methods, as explained in the next section.

Missing in data was handled according to the type and reason of the missing in data (Kang, 2013).

1- Last observation carried forward (LOCF): this method was used for variables with missing values where a previously observed value existed. This single imputation technique replaces a missing value with a previously observed value (Blankers et al., 2010). For this study, only the missing values for the PS variable were replaced with previously observed variables, whereby in the case of no information at the first index SACT cycle, any value of PS within six months of diagnosis or regardless of the timing of diagnosis was used. While the former restricts the PS to those recorded within six months of the date of diagnosis as recorded in SMR06 and the index date (i.e., date of the first SACT cycle), the latter includes all available information with no

restrictions as to the currency of the data. This method reduced the number of missing in data from 34 (15.4%) missing values to less than five.

For the variables where the LOCF method was not applicable due to a lack of previously observed values, several methods to account for missing in data are proposed in the literature. However, the implementation of any method relies on the type of missing data. In general, there are three types of missing data according to the mechanism of the missing in data (Rubin, 1976):

- Missing completely at random (MCAR): means that the missing data is distributed randomly across the variable and unrelated to the observed and unobserved (missing) variables.
- Missing at random (MAR): means that missing data is not distributed randomly, and they are related to the observed but not the unobserved data.
- Missing not at random (MNAR): means that missing data is systematically related to the unobserved data.

No definitive test is known to distinguish the type of missing in data. However, Little's MCAR test is a chi-square test used to examine the plausibility of MCAR with a p-value of < 0.05 rejects the null hypothesis (no difference between the means of different missing patterns), hence, providing evidence that the mechanism of missing data is not MCAR (Little, 1988). Little's MCAR test was conducted in this study and showed a p-value of <0.001, which indicates that the missing data in this study is not MCAR. Based on that, the second method was used.

2- Multiple imputations (MI): the MI method accounted for missing in data. This method was used for covariates with overall missing in data of less than 40% (Jakobsen et al., 2017). MI involves replacing missing values with values imputed from the observed data. It aims to allow for uncertainty about the missing in data by generating multiple plausible imputed datasets, which can be later combined to obtain results from them (Sterne et al., 2009). The MI method creates multiple copies of a dataset after imputing the missing values. The imputed values are generated considering the distribution of the missing values across the observed variables. For this study, five imputed datasets with ten iterations for each dataset were used for

MI in which the polynomial logistic regression method was used to model the categorical variables (type of mutation, primary tumour sidedness, SIMD rank, and the remaining missing values for PS after employing the LOCF method). The remaining complete variables with no missing in data (age, gender, primary tumour resection, and CCI) were used as auxiliary variables, which can help to make estimates on incomplete data (Collins et al., 2001).

Table 5.2 summarises the number and frequency of missing in data for each covariate included in this study.

After implementing these two methods, a complete dataset with no missing values in any variable was generated, and a descriptive analysis was carried out similar to the analysis described in section 4.2.3. The full baseline dataset generated following applying the two methods was used to fit an MLR model deemed as sensitivity analysis for the primary regression model containing the missing values to determine the influence of missing in data on the obtained conclusion. The baseline characteristics table generated after applying the LOCF and MI is presented in appendix V.

Variable	Missing observations (out of 220) (N, %)	Method used to handle missing in data
Age	complete	Auxiliary variable in the MI
Gender	complete	Auxiliary variable in the MI
Deprivation (SIMD)	< 5*	Multiple imputations
ECOG PS	34 (15.4)	LOCF then MI
Primary tumour	13 (5.9)	MI
sidedness		
Primary tumour	complete	Auxiliary variable in the MI
resection		
Comorbidities (CCI)	complete	Auxiliary variable in the MI
Molecular profile	45 (20.5)	MI
KEV: SIMD- Scottich index for multiple deprivation, ECOC PS - Eastern cooperative oncology group performance status, CCI-		

Table 5.2 The number and frequency of missing in data for variables included in thestudy.

KEY: SIMD= Scottish index for multiple deprivation, ECOG PS = Eastern cooperative oncology group performance status, CCI= Charlson comorbidity index, MI= multiple imputations, LOCF= last observation carried forward.

For all the analysis of this chapter, the FOLFOXIRI SACT category was not analysed for the association with the factors influencing prescribing because this category contained less than five patients, which could result in an inflation of the effect size and confidence interval, hence producing biased estimates.

All the analysis for this study was carried out using R version 3.5.0. The following packages were used: nnet, Imtest, mice and mcar. The analysis R script is presented in appendix VI.

5.3 Results.

This section will present the MLR models' findings to examine the association of patientrelated factors, tumour-related factors, and treatment response-related factors with the choice of 1L mCRC SACTs. The primary model with the missing data will be presented as the primary model, while the regression model with missing data accounted for by MI and LOCF will be presented later as a sensitivity analysis for the primary model.

5.3.1 Overview of the cohort.

A total of 220 new mCRC SACT users who initiated 1L mCRC SACT between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016 were included in this study. Of these, 49 (22.3%) patients were treated in the 1L setting with 5FU, 68 (30.9%) and 47 (21.4%) patients were treated with an oxaliplatin-based regimen (FOLFOX or XELOX) and irinotecan-based regimen (FOLFIRI), respectively. While 43 (19.5%) patients were treated with the combination of cetuximab+ irinotecan or oxaliplatin-based regimen (cetuximab+FOLFIRI or cetuximab+ FOLFOX), and finally, 11 (5%) patients were treated with aflibercept+FOLFIRI in the 1L settings (Table 4. 4).

The included cohort comprised slightly more male patients than female patients, with a median age of 66 years for the entire cohort. Patients treated initially with 5FU had the highest median age (76 (IQR 68.8-81)), while those treated initially with cetuximab+FOLFIRI had the lowest median age (59 (IQR 52.8-65.2)). Further details regarding the baseline characteristics of the entire cohort and stratified by index SACT are presented in section 4.3.3.
5.3.2 Factors influencing the selection of first-line mCRC SACTs.

Overall, our findings show that age and gender were significantly associated with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs, with older patients more likely to be prescribed less intensive SACT such as 5FU compared to younger patients, and female patients less likely to be prescribed an intensive therapy such as the triplet regimen cetuximab+FOLFIRI compared to male patients.

Our findings also show that patients harbouring RAS wild-type tumour were significantly more likely to be prescribed cetuximab+FOLFIRI compared to patients with RAS mutant-type tumour. Finally, our analysis shows that patients who had undergone resection of the primary tumour were significantly more likely to be prescribed FOLFIRI or cetuximab+FOLFIRI.

The findings of the univariate MLR are presented in Table 5.3, while the findings of the primary multivariate MLR model are presented in Table 5.4. The multivariate MLR sensitivity analysis models using complete case analysis and multiple imputations are presented in Table 5.5 and Table 5.6, respectively.

The factors identified to be associated with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT were classified into patient-related, treatment-related, and tumour-related factors.

5.3.3 Patients-related factors

This category investigated four factors: the patient's age at index, gender, SIMD score, and the ECOG PS. Overall, both age and gender show a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs, with older patients being more likely to be prescribed less intensive therapy compared to younger patients who were more likely to be prescribed more intensive therapy. Also, female patients were less likely to be prescribed more intensive therapy. ECOG PS shows a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT in the univariate analysis, while it did not display a significant association in the multivariate MLR analysis.

Age was shown to be significantly associated with the choice of 1L mCRC SACT in both the univariate and multivariate models (Table 5.3 and Table 5.4, respectively), with older patients significantly more likely to be prescribed a singlet regimen of 5FU than FOLFOX and younger patients significantly more likely to be prescribed a triplet regimen of cetuximab+FOLFIRI

than FOLFOX. Each one-year increase in age was associated with a 10% increase in the probability of prescribing 5FU (Table 5.4 (OR 1.1, 95% CI 1.05-1.16, P-value <0.001)) and a 7% decrease probability of prescribing cetuximab+FOLFIRI (Table 5.4 (OR 0.93, 95% CI 0.87-0.96, P-value 0.01)). Additionally, gender shows a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs in the univariate and multivariate models (Table 5.3 and Table 5.4, respectively). The odds of prescribing a triplet of cetuximab+FOLFIRI rather than FOLFOX was 81% lower in women than in men (Table 5.4 (OR 0.19, 95% CI 0.06-0.59, P-value 0.005)). Moreover, compared to men, women were less likely to be prescribed the triplet of aflibercept+FOLFIRI (Table 5.4, (OR 0.44, 95% CI 0.07-2.3, P-value 0.34)) and more likely to be prescribed 5FU (Table 5.4, (OR 1.30, 95% CI 0.25-3.5, P-value 0.55)). However, the two later associations were not statistically significant. Deprivation, measured by SIMD, did not show an association with the selection of mCRC SACTs in the univariate analysis (Table 5.3). Hence, it was not included in the multivariate analysis model.

Overall, performance status shows a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs in the univariate analysis (Table 5.3, (P-value 0.04)), with patients with performance status \geq 2 (i.e., poor performance status) less likely to be prescribed a triplet regimen of cetuximab+FOLFIRI (Table 5.3, (OR 0.32, 95% CI 1.01-1.15, P-value 0.05)). However, under the adjustment of the rest of the confounders, performance status did not show a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs (P-value 0.11).

5.3.4 tumour- related factors

This category explored three factors: type of tumour mutation, tumour sidedness, and comorbidities (measured by CCI). Of these factors, only the type of mutation showed a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT in the univariate MLR analysis. Thereby, it was included in the multivariate MLR model (Table 5.3, P-value <0.001).

RAS mutation displayed a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs. Compared to patients with mutant RAS gene, patients with wild RAS gene were more likely to be prescribed cetuximab+ FOLFIRI rather than FOLFOX ((Table 5.4, OR 65.2, 95% CI 16.1-122.8, P-value <0.001)). On the other hand, compared to patients who harboured a mutation in the RAS gene, patients with mutant BRAF gene were more likely to be prescribed 5FU ((Table 5.4, OR 4.1, 95% CI 0.8-21, P-value 0.08)) and FOLFIRI (Table 5.4, (OR 5.9, 95% CI 0.97-

13.8), P-value 0.07) rather than FOLFOX, yet the association was not significant neither in the univariate nor in the multivariate model.

Primary tumour sidedness did not display an association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT in the univariate analysis (Table 5.3, P-value 0.69). Hence, this factor was not included in the multivariate model.

Similarly, the presence of comorbidities, measured by CCI, did not show an association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT in the univariate analysis (Table 5.3, P-value 0.31). Therefore, this variable was not entered into the multivariate model.

5.3.5 Treatment response factors

Within the category of treatment response factors, only one variable existed in our study, which was the primary tumour resection. Resection of the primary tumour was shown to have an association with the prescribing of 1L mCRC SACTs in both the univariate (Table 5.3, P-value 0.001) and multivariate analysis (Table 5.4, P-value <0.001). Compared to patients who did not undergo resection of the primary tumour, those who had the primary tumour resected were 3.64 times (Table 5.4 (OR 3.64, 95% CI 1.64-8.1, P-value 0.001)) and 4.4 times (Table 4 (OR 4.4, 95% CI 1.4-13.8, P-value 0.01)) more likely to be prescribed FOLFIRI and aflibercept+FOLFIRI, respectively, rather than FOLFOX.

Categories	Reference	5FU (n=4	9)	FOLFIRI (n=47)		Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI		Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI		Global P-
	FOLFOX (n=66)						(n=11)		(n=47)	
		OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	
Patient-relat	ed factors	-								
Age	Ref1	1.11 (1.07 -	<0.001	0.99 (0.97-1.03)	0.89	0.98 (0.94-1.03)	0.39	0.94 (0.91-0.97)	<0.001	<0.001
		1.16)								
Gender		-		-		-				
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	0.049
Female	Ref	1.18 (0.65-2.48)	0.62	0.78 (0.37-1.64)	0.51	0.72 (0.20-2.66)	0.64	0.34 (0.15-0.78)	0.01	
SIMD score		-		-		-				-
1	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
2	Ref	3.6 (1.21-10.7)	0.02	2.64 (0.85-8.2)	0.09	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	1.78 (0.55-5.8)	0.33	
3	Ref	2.7 (0.7-1.01)	0.14	3.46 (0.96-12.5)	0.06	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	1.42 (0.3-6.2)	0.63	0.23
4	Ref	1.15 (0.34-3.9)	0.81	1.15 (0.34-3.8)	0.81	3.33 (0.63-17.6)	0.98	1.96 (0/66-5.77)	0.22	
5	Ref	0.81 (0.28-2.3)	0.7	0.71 (0.23-2.11)	0.53	1.31 (0.23-7.25)	0.15	0.56 (0.18-1.7)	0.32	
Unknown	Ref	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	1.9 (0.11-33)	0.63	8.3 (0.4-20.9)	0.17	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	
ECOG PS			I				1		1	<u>.</u>
0	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
1	Ref	1.78 (0.73-4.31)	0.19	0.88 (0.51-2.45)	0.66	1.1 (0.29-2.66)	0.58	0.62 (0.24-1.13)	0.18	0.04
≥2	Ref	1.55 (0.42-5.61)	0.56	0.17 (0.02-1.36)	0.1	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	0.32 (1.01-1.15)	0.05	
Unknown	Ref	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	1.39 (0.34-5.7)	0.52	1.39 (0.21-9.12)	0.81	0.4 (0.07-2.29)	0.22	
Disease-relat	ted factors						•		1	
Tumour side	dness									
left	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	0.69
Right	Ref	1.46 (0.65-3.2)	0.3	1.11 (0.48-2.6)	0.81	2.5 (0.6-10.3)	0.2	0.47 (0.18-1.2)	0.11	0.09

Table 5.3 Candidate variables considered in the univariate multinomial logistic regression model for the factors associated with the selection of first-line mCRC SACs and their P-values.

Categories	Reference	5FU (n=4	19)	FOLFIRI (n=47)		Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI		Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI		Global P-
	FOLFOX (n=66)					(n=11)		(n=47)		value
Transverse	Ref	3.1 (0.52-1.8)	0.2	1.6 (0.21-12.1)	0.66	5 (0.3-68)	0.2	0.58 (0.05-6.7)	0.67	1
Unknown	Ref	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	1.6 (0.46-0.55)	0.4	1.66 (0.15-17.5)	0.67	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	
Molecular profile										
Mutant RAS	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Wild RAS	Ref	1.09 (0.3-3)	0.87	1.09 (0.41-2.3)	0.85	0.62 (0.25-1.34)	0.98	73.2 (22.3-129.1)	<0.001	<0.001
Mutant BRAF	Ref	2.7 (0.6-11)	0.1	2.7 (0.72-10.6)	0.13	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	2.6 (0.41-8.9)	0.17	
Unknown	Ref	3.36 (1.34-11.5)	0.03	0.85 (0.29-2.47)	0.77	0.76 (0.46-3.97)	0.66	2.4 (1.43-103.2)	0.02	
CCI				<u></u>		e				
0	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
(1-3)	Ref	1.97 (0.87-4.41)	0.22	1.25 (0.55-2.79)	0.48	0.69 (0.18-2.66)	0.42	1.43 (0.62-3.29)	0.9	0.31
≥4	Ref	2.63 (0.56-12.4)	0.35	0.47 (0.05-4.71)	0.6	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	0.59 (0.06-5.87)	0.2	
Treatment re	esponse factors					-				
Primary tum	our resection									
No	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	0.001
Yes	Ref	1.9 (0.98-6.1)	0.07	4.4 (1.78-11)	0.001	8.2 (2.8-27.8)	<0.001	1.99 (0.73-5.48)	0.17	
KEY: OR= odds rat cooperative onco Global P-value ob	tio, 95%CI = 95% confide logy group performance tained through likelihoc	nce interval, MLR= mu status, CCI= Charlson d ratio test to test the	ultinomial log comorbidity impact of ea	istic regression, SACT index, ref= reference ach variable on the sel	= systemic an group ection of SAC	iticancer therapy, SIMI	D= Scottish in	dex for multiple depriva	tion, ECOG PS	s = Eastern

Categories	Reference	5FU (n=4	9)	FOLFIRI (n=	47)	Aflibercept+	FOLFIRI	Cetuximab+ F	Olfiri	Global P
	FOLFOX (n=66)					(n=11)	(n=11)		(n=47)	
2		OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	
Patient related	factors	-		-		-		-		
Age	Ref	1.1 (1.05-1.16)	<0.001	0.98 (0.93-1.03)	0.34	0.91 (0.83- 0.99)	0.02	0.93 (0.87-0.96)	0.01	<0.001
Gender	Gender									
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	0.04
Female	Ref	1.30 (0.25-3.5)	0.55	0.63 (0.25-1.55)	0.32	0.44 (0.07-2.3)	0.34	0.19 (0.06-0.59)	0.005	
ECOG PS	-	-		-	•		•	-		
0	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	0.11
1	Ref	1.13 (0.46-3.3)	0.81	0.77 (0.3-2)	0.6	1.31 (0.28-8.3)	0.77	0.56 (0.19-1.8)	0.34	0.11
≥ 2	Ref	0.83 (0.23-4.2)	0.81	0.1 (0.01-1.15)	0.07	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	0.3 (0.03-3.4)	0.36	
Unknown	Ref	0.01 (0.01-inf)	<.99	1.2 (0.02-2.7)	0.2	0.01 (0.01-inf)	0.99	0.2 (0.02-3.7)	0.2	
Disease related	factors				-1		1		1	
Molecular profile	e			-		-		-		
RAS mutant	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	<0.001
RAS wild	Ref	1.34 (0.35-3.07)	0.6	1.2 (0.4-3.54)	0.74	0.64 (0.09-4)	0.66	65.2 (16.1-122.8)	<0.001	
BRAF mutant	Ref	4.1 (0.8-21)	0.08	5.9 (0.97-13.8)	0.07	0.01 (0.01-inf)	<.99	9.1 (0.57-37.6)	0.43	
Unknown	Ref	2.4 (0.7-6)	0.19	0.63 (0.24-1.67)	0.34	0.18 (0.02-1.6)	0.13	10.7 (1.12-22.1)	0.04	
Treatment resp	onse factors									
Primary tumour	resection									
No	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	< 0.001
Yes	Ref	1.92 (0.78-7.6)	0.21	3.64 (1.64-8.1)	0.001	4.4 (1.4-13.8)	0.01	3.9 (0.8-12.8)	0.2	
KEY : OR= odds ratio, group performance s Global P-value obtain	95%CI = 95% confidence ir tatus, Inf=infinity, ref = ref ied through likelihood ratio	nterval, MLR= multinomia erence group o test to test the impact o	logistic regres f each variable	sion, SACT= systemic ar	nticancer th	erapy, SACT= systemic	c anticancer t	herapy, ECOG PS = Easter	n cooperative	oncology

Table 5.4 Association of baseline characteristics with the selection of mCRC SACTs using multivariate multinomial logistic regression mor	odels.
---	--------

Sensitivity analysis

Missing in data was accounted for by performing multiple imputations (Table 5.5). Overall, the significance and direction of association were comparable across all tested variables to the variables included in the primary model with the missing values. However, the magnitude varied across variables with missing values. For example, in the original model, compared to patients who harboured mutant RAS gene, patients with wild RAS gene were 65.2 times more likely to be prescribed cetuximab+FOLFIRI rather than FOLFOX and the association was significant (P-value <0.05). The model performed after accounting for missing in data showed similar significance and direction (P-value <0.05) with 86.9 times more likelihood of selecting cetuximab+ FOLFIRI rather than FOLFOX tumour.

Table 5.5 The multivariate multinomial logistic regression model after accounting for missing in data by performing the last observation carried forward and multiple imputations of the missing data.

Categories	Reference 5FU (n= FOLFOX (n=66)		-49) FOLFIRI (n=47)		Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI (n=11)		Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI (n=47)		Global P (MLR)	
	Ref	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	(
Patient related	factors	-		-	•	-		-		
Age	Ref	1.13 (1.06- 1.16)	<0.001	0.94 (0.96-1.03)	0.73	0.98 (0.93-1.03)	0.17	0.92 (0.87-0.96)	<0.001	<0.001
Gender										0.049
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Female	Ref	1.14 (0.56-2.7)	0.45	0.81 (0.32-1.37)	0.4	0.91 (0.31-2.6)	0.98	0.23 (0.09-0.59)	0.002	
ECOG performa	nce status									
0	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
1	Ref	1.19 (0.57-3.88)	0.42	0.84 (0.67-3.4)	0.3	0.8 (0.27-2.4)	0.69	0.58 (0.21-1.57)	0.28	0.17
≥2	Ref	1.26 (0.3-5.26)	0.75	0.17 (0.02-1.56)	0.11	0.01 (0.01-0.02)	<0.001	0.24 (0.03-1.79)	0.16	
Disease related	factors									
Mutation type										<0.001
Mutant RAS	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Wild RAS	Ref	1.2 (0.31-1.8)	0.26	1.09 (0.49-2.4)	0.65	1.28 (0.42-3.88)	0.99	86.9 (32.9-146.4)	<0.001	
Mutant BRAF	Ref	2.9 (0.83-10.5)	0.2	3.24 (0.99-10.6)	0.06	0.01 (0.01-0.02)	<0.001	17.6 (0.24-76.9)	0.1	
Treatment resp	onse related factors									
Primary tumour	resection									
No	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	0.007
Yes	Ref	2.7 (0.88-5.42)	0.2	2.7 (1.62-8.13)	<0.001	4.14 (1.27-1.35)	0.02	1.8 (0.63-5.19)	0.08	
KEY : OR= odds ratio, 9 group performance st Global P-value obtaine	C3 Rei 2.7 (0.88-5.42) 0.2 2.7 (1.62-8.13) <0.001									

Assumptions of MLR.

The following assumptions for the MLR were tested for the primary model

- 1- Independence of irrelevant alternatives given the P-value 0.1, which was generated from the Hausman-McFadden test (hmftest), the assumption of IIA failed to be rejected, and the conclusion is that the MLR model is appropriate.
- 2- Multicollinearity: The square values for the generalised variance inflation factor across all variables were less than 5, indicating no multicollinearity between the included variables. Table 5.6 shows the squared VIF values for the variables included in the model.

Table 5.6 The squared variance inflated factors for the multicollinearity assumption of the primary multinomial logistic regression model.

Covariates in MLR model	Squared generalized variance inflated factors						
Gender	1.06						
Age	1.06						
Primary tumour resection	1.21						
Type of mutation	1.08						
Performance status	1.36						
SACT line	1.06						
KEY: MLR= multinomial logistic regression, SA	KEY: MLR= multinomial logistic regression, SACT= systemic anticancer therapy						

5.4 Discussion.

5.4.1 Summary of the key findings.

This study identified patient, disease, and treatment response-related factors associated with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs in NHS GGC health board in Scotland between 2015-2016.

Overall, among the patient-related factors, age and gender were significantly associated with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs, where older patients were more likely to be prescribed less intensive SACTs such as 5FU compared to younger patients. Similarly, female patients were less likely to be prescribed an intensive therapy such as the triplet regimen cetuximab+FOLFIRI compared to males (Table 5.4).

Of the explored tumour-related factors, only RAS status displayed a significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs, with patients harbouring RAS wild-type tumour being more likely to be prescribed cetuximab+FOLFIRI.

Finally, among the treatment response-related factors, our analysis shows that patients who had undergone resection of the primary tumour were significantly more likely to be prescribed a 1L SACT of either FOLFIRI or aflibercept+FOLFIRI.

Unexpectedly, BRAF status and performance status were not shown to be associated with the choice of 1L mCRC SACT, possibly due to the small sample size representing patients with mutant BRAF and poor performance status. This was manifested by the wide confidence interval but big effect sizes. For example, the analysis showed that patients with a mutant BRAF were 9.1 more times likely to be prescribed cetuximab+FOLFIRI, with the lower bound of the confidence interval being 0.57 and the upper bound of 37.6, indicating a low level of precision for the effect size (i.e., the odds ratio). A similar notion was observed for certain variables where the value of effect size was very small, and the confidence interval ranged between 0.1 to infinity, reflecting how small the sample representing that category. For instance, patients with poor PS (\geq 2) had very small odds of receiving 1L of aflibercept+FOLFIRI (OR = 0.01). The very wide confidence interval (0.01- infinity) indicates the very small sample representing this category (Table 4.5), which, when compared to the reference group, FOLFOX, resulted in a very small ratio and a very wide confidence interval (Table **5.4**).

Compared to FOLFOX, 5FU was more commonly prescribed for elderly patients, and FOLFIRI and Aflibercept+FOLFIRI were more likely to be prescribed for patients who underwent a resection of the primary tumour. In contrast, the triplet combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI was more commonly prescribed for male, younger patients harbouring RAS wild-type tumours.

The sensitivity analysis carried out to account for missing in data showed similar findings in terms of significance and direction of the association. However, the magnitude of association was different, which is expected given the difference in the sample size between the primary analysis and the analysis conducted following the LOCF and MI of the missing values, which involved replacing missing values with values from the observed data, resulting in increasing the sample size hence, the magnitude of association.

5.4.2 Patient-related factors.

5.4.2.1 Age.

The treatment of elderly patients presents a clinical dilemma for clinicians, particularly since this group of patients is underrepresented in clinical trials, with the majority of the evidencebased treatment decision relying on post hoc analysis for clinical trials, consequently making the selection of the optimum 1L mCRC SACTs for elderly patients challenging with less likelihood of receiving guideline-recommended therapies (Papamichael et al., 2009).

In our study, compared to FOLFOX, older patients were significantly more likely to be prescribed a single agent of 5FU (OR 1.1 (1.05-1.16)) (Table 5.4). This could be attributed to the fact that management of mCRC in the older population is challenging for clinicians due to age-related organ function decline and medical comorbidities, in addition to the special attention that should be paid to the treatment-related toxicities in older patients (Rougier et al., 1998, Millan et al., 2015). This was supported by a pooled analysis of clinical trials, which shows that a single agent of 5FU can be used alone in patients who cannot tolerate the toxicities of combination therapies with an efficacy similar to that of the younger population (Folprecht et al., 2004, Chiara et al., 1998).

In contrast, the findings of this study show that older patients were less likely to be prescribed a triple combination of chemotherapy and targeted therapy (OR 0.93 (0.87-0.96 for cetuximab+ FOLFIRI), (OR 0.91 (0.83-0.99) for aflibercept+FOLFIRI) (Table 5.4), which was expected given the additional toxicities associated with their use (Xie et al., 2020). Although

226

the introduction of targeted therapies has contributed to the improvement of mCRC outcomes in elderly patients (Tabernero et al., 2014, Cunningham et al., 2013), the concern about their toxicity, including uncontrolled hypertension, stroke, and delayed wound healing, might limit their use in this population (Hershman et al., 2013).

Although age was found to be significantly associated with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT, CCI was not associated with a statistically significant association with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT. The utilisation of the CCI in our study may have contributed to the non-statistically significant findings. By employing a summary measure to capture the overall burden of comorbid conditions, the individual impact of specific comorbidities may have been obscured. The use of a composite index, such as the CCI aims to provide a comprehensive assessment but can result in the loss of granularity and sensitivity to detect significant associations between individual comorbidities and the selection of 1L mCRC SACT. Consequently, the non-statistically significant findings observed in our study could be partially attributed to the limitations of the summary measure in capturing the nuanced effects of individual comorbidities.

5.4.2.2 Gender.

In this study, male patients were more likely to receive more intensive therapy of a combination of chemotherapy and targeted treatment than females (Table 5.4). This difference stems probably from the notion that females are more liable to the toxicities of various anticancer therapies with more risk of developing toxicities due to the interplay between different biological and psychosocial factors (Soldin et al., 2011, Nicolson et al., 2010). For example, several pharmacokinetics analyses reported that females have a lower elimination for 5FU, potentially due to a mutation in the dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPYD) gene, hence, resulting in more toxicities as the concentration of the drug builds up in the blood (Mueller et al., 2013, Gusella et al., 2006).

Substantial evidence suggests an increased risk of severe mucositis and leukopenia associated with the use of 5FU among female patients compared to their counterparts (Stein et al., 1995, Sloan et al., 2000, Zalcberg et al., 1998, Sloan et al., 2002) while less evidence exists regarding mCRC combination therapy. However, the available data suggests that chemotherapy combinations and chemotherapy+ targeted therapy combinations were significantly associated with more severe toxicities among female patients compared to male

227

patients, including alopecia, high-grade nausea and vomiting, high-grade diarrhoea, highgrade anaemia, and high-grade neutropenia (Abdel-Rahman, 2019, Wagner et al., 2020). All of these might offer an explanation for the decreased odds of selecting a triplet SACT combination for female patients in our study. However, no safety data is available to confirm this finding.

5.4.2.3 Performance status.

Frailty, in this study measured by ECOG PS, was another factor known to be a strong predictor for SACT selection as patients with poor PS (PS \geq 2) tolerate SACT poorly and are known to have a poor prognosis (Sargent et al., 2009). Clinical trials tend to exclude frail patients, and evidence for the best treatment for patients with poor PS is still lacking (Travers et al., 2021). However, the classification of a patient as 'fit' or 'unfit' is now used to determine whether or not the patient will be allocated to a more intensive (combination of 2 or 3 SACTs with a targeted treatment) or less intensive treatment approach (Prigerson et al., 2015). For example, the American National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) and European ESMO guidelines classified the patients according to their eligibility for intensive therapy. The former guideline divides mCRC patients into two groups: "patients appropriate for intensive therapy" and "patients not appropriate for intensive therapy," based on the presence of comorbidity and the potential SACT tolerability (Messersmith, 2019). In contrast, according to ESMO guidelines, patients are divided into three groups based on the potential resectability of the metastases: "Group 1" intensive treatment approach, "Group 2" intermediate intensive treatment, and "Group 3" not intensive approach (Van Cutsem et al., 2016a). Although the recommended SACT regimens vary between the guidelines in each patient group, mCRC patients with poor performance status usually have poorer tolerability for SACTs. Hence, less intensive therapy is selected for them (Prigerson et al., 2015).

Similar to these global guidelines, the selection of mCRC SACT in Scotland is allocated and conditioned by the patient's performance status (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011a). For patients with good performance status and adequate organ function, combination therapy of 5FU/oxaliplatin (FOLFOX), capecitabine and oxaliplatin (XELOX), or 5FU/irinotecan (FOLFIRI) is preferred over a monotherapy of 5FU. In contrast, 5FU remains the SACT of choice for patients with poor performance status (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011a). The findings of this study show a significant association of

performance status with the prescribing of 1L mCRC SACTs in the univariate analysis stage (overall P-value 0.04), with patients with poor performance status (PS >2) being more likely to be prescribed a monotherapy of 5FU rather than a doublet of FOLFOX and less likely to be prescribed cetuximab+ FOLFIRI. However, under the adjustment of the rest of the confounders, performance status was not associated with prescribing of mCRC. This is probably because of the small sample representing patients with poor performance status, which limited the ability of the test to detect the differences.

5.4.3 Tumour-related factors.

5.4.3.1 Molecular profile.

The molecular profiling and testing for specific mutations of KRAS and NRAS has been widely accepted in routine practice to allocate patients for treatment with anti-EGFR therapy (Douillard et al., 2010, Bokemeyer et al., 2011, De Roock et al., 2010). The results from several clinical trials have proven the benefit of the addition of anti-EGFR therapy, such as cetuximab to chemotherapy in the 1L settings for patients harbouring wild-type RAS tumour (Heinemann et al., 2014, Venook et al., 2014, Van Cutsem et al., 2011). In our study, patients who presented with a RAS wild-type tumour were significantly more likely to be prescribed cetuximab+FOLFIRI (Table 5.4 OR 65.2 (16.1-122.8)), which is aligned with the current evidence on the management of mCRC with wild-type tumour mutation (Van Cutsem et al., 2016a, Messersmith, 2019). Most of the current approaches to treat mCRC with RAS wild type tumour favour the use of a combination SACT including an anti-EGFR +5FU and irinotecan (FOLFIRI), or an anti-EGFR + 5FU and oxaliplatin (FOLFOX) in the first-line setting as this approach offered improved clinical outcomes in terms of survival and objective response (Van Cutsem et al., 2011, Van Cutsem et al., 2015, Douillard et al., 2013, Douillard et al., 2010).

For patients presenting with a mutation in the BRAF gene (V600E), different therapeutic approaches have been implemented with less consensus across the global guidelines on the optimum treatment strategy. This is due to the mutation's intrinsic resistance to chemotherapy, which warrants more intensive therapeutic strategies with multiple drug combinations (Barras, 2015). Usually, the management of mCRC with BRAF mutant tumour involves the use of the triplet chemotherapy FOLFOXIRI with or without a VEGF, such as bevacizumab depending on the patient's fitness (Van Cutsem et al., 2016a, Messersmith,

2019). In Scotland, during the study timeframe between 2015 and 2016, FOLFOXIRI was the first-line SACT of choice for mCRC patients with V600E BRAF mutation (National Health Service Scotland North, 2021, NHS West of Scotland Cancer Network, 2019). However, patients with BRAF mutation in this study were treated with 5FU, FOLFOX, or FOLFIRI. A possible explanation is that mCRC with BRAF mutations usually arises in older female patients, with often worse performance status at first diagnosis. Hence, a mono or doublet SACT was prescribed instead of a triplet SACT, which is potentially associated with more toxicities (Clancy et al., 2013, Loupakis et al., 2016). Nevertheless, in our study BRAF did not display any significant association with SACT prescribing. This can be attributed to the impact of the small sample representing patients with mutant BRAF (N=17), which might have affected the ability of the test to detect any differences in the association, as explained in the key findings of this section (section 5.4.1).

5.4.4 Treatment response-related factors.

5.4.4.1 Primary tumour resection.

The choice of 1L SACT regimen can be influenced by the treatment goals, which vary according to the clinical scenario. For most mCRC patients, the treatment intent is palliative and not curative. Hence, SACT remains the treatment cornerstone. However, some mCRC patients can benefit from the surgical resection of the primary tumour, which is performed to alleviate tumour-related complications and reduce the likelihood of life-threatening events such as intestinal obstruction, perforation, and bleeding (Eisenberger et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the survival benefit of primary tumour resection has not been proven. (Van Cutsem et al., 2014b, Eisenberger et al., 2008). According to the management guidelines in Scotland, patients with resectable primary tumours and resectable metastasis are offered synchronous surgical resection followed by adjuvant therapy, whereas patients with resectable primary tumours and potentially resectable liver metastases are offered neoadjuvant therapy followed by resection of the primary tumour and the metastases, while patients with unresectable primary tumour and unresectable metastases are offered several options including palliative resection, chemoradiation, or chemotherapy (National Health Service Scotland North, 2021, National Health Service West of Scotland Cancer Network, 2019, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011a).

The findings of this study show a significant association between the resection of the primary tumour and prescribing FOLFIRI (Table 5.4, OR 3.64 (95% CI 1.64-8.1))) rather than FOLFOX. Although no specific guideline or body of literature establishes an association between the primary tumour resection and the selection of 1L mCRC SACT following the resection of the primary tumour, this may be explained by the fact that oxaliplatin, which is used as part of the adjuvant therapy following the primary tumour resection, might result in neuropathy that can limit its use again as part of the 1L metastatic regimen. Hence favouring the use of FOLFIRI over FOLFOX in metastatic settings. These results were supported by the findings of a previous retrospective cohort study conducted in Canada (N=22), which explored the selection of palliative oxaliplatin after exposure to adjuvant oxaliplatin, where it was found that the oncologists believe that the use of oxaliplatin in the metastatic settings following its use in the adjuvant setting can be limited by the fact that the disease would become refractory to oxaliplatin, in addition to the persistent neuropathy associated with the use of oxaliplatin (Peixoto et al., 2015a).

Our findings also show a significant association between primary tumour resection and treatment with aflibercept+FOLFIRI in the 1L setting. This finding was unexpected, especially given that aflibercept+FOLFIRI is licenced to be used as a second-line regimen in Scotland following the failure of oxaliplatin-based regimen (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2014). A possible explanation would be that some patients progress rapidly following primary tumour resection and adjuvant therapy containing oxaliplatin. These patients represent a subset of patients with treatment-resistant tumour, potentially warranting to initiate a second line (2L) of therapy and skipping 1L. For that reason, it was suggested that in our study, primary tumour resection, which involves receiving adjuvant therapy afterwards, was associated with a more likelihood of prescribing aflibercept+FOLFIRI compared to FOLFOX.

5.5 Strengths and limitations.

To our knowledge, this is the first study that utilised record linkage data to explore the factors influencing the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs. This study was strengthened by accounting for the bias introduced by missing data through performing sensitivity analysis regression models. The presence of a wide range of variables from different datasets also strengthened our study.

However, despite the strengths of this study, several limitations exist. This study is limited by the lack of specific data needed to answer the research question, especially information

regarding the potential toxicities of SACTs, which is currently not captured across Scotland. Toxicity data is essential in allocating a treatment for the patient based on a previous response, such as the response in adjuvant settings. Additionally, data regarding healthrelated quality of life (HRQOL), which is necessary for clinical decision-making, is not collected. Nevertheless, one of the aims of CMOP is to test the feasibility of collecting HRQOL data from the practice to help with the decision-making process, with this work currently progressing (Dunlop et al., 2022). Finally, the small sample in certain variables, such as the BRAF mutation, could have limited the ability of the test to detect the differences between SACT regimens. This problem can be solved by replicating the study on a larger sample to ensure having enough patients across different SACT regimens to allow the statistical test to detect the differences.

5.6 Conclusion.

Our analysis identified an association between the patient's age, gender, harbouring wildtype RAS tumour, and undergoing a primary tumour resection with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs. Part of the findings of this study is consistent with the recommendations by the national (Scottish) and regional (WoSCAN) CMG for the treatment of mCRC, especially the selection of SACTs based on the patient's age and RAS status. Other factors related to the choice of mCRC SACTs, such as the patient's gender and previous treatment response, were guided by supporting evidence from the clinical trials. In contrast, factors such as the performance status and BRAF mutation, known in the CMGs and in the literature to be predictors for the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs, were not shown to have an association in this study, probably because the sample size representing patients with poor performance status and patients with mutant BRAF was not large enough for the test to detect the differences. Our findings show that the utilisation of record linkage could serve as an essential and

valuable tool to complement the evidence obtained from the clinical trials to allocate patients for treatment. Our study reported the factors influencing the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs in routine practice, which may be helpful in clinical decision-making.

6 Chapter 6: Treatment pathways and outcomes for metastatic colorectal cancer patients initiating systemic anti-cancer therapy in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde.

6.1 Introduction.

In line with improvements in the treatment outcomes of CRC globally, Scotland has witnessed a decrease in the mortality rate for CRC by 8% in the last ten years, with a 5-year survival of 55% (Public health information for Scotland, 2021). This has been attributed mainly to three reasons: first, the scaling up of the Scottish Bowel Screening Programme (SBoSP), which resulted in a considerably increased detection of new CRC diagnoses and a significant drop in the number of individuals presenting with late-stage CRC;

second, the increased uptake of molecular profile testing for CRC patients, leading to an improved personalised treatment based on the type of mutation, hence improved survival outcomes (Bouttell et al., 2019), and;

third and most importantly, as a result of the evolving landscape of treatment of mCRC which has increased median overall survival (median OS) from 9 months up to 3 years, especially with the introduction of targeted therapies including the anti-EGFR agents, anti-VEGF agents, and most recently the immune checkpoint inhibitors (section (Petrelli et al., 1989, Douillard et al., 2000, Giacchetti et al., 2000, de Gramont et al., 2000, Saltz et al., 2000, Kohne et al., 2005, Tournigand et al., 2004a, Cunningham et al., 2004, Hurwitz et al., 2004, Kabbinavar et al., 2005, Dienstmann et al., 2015, Sveen et al., 2020).

Despite the advances in screening programs and the treatment of CRC, the mean agestandardised rate (ASR) of survival for CRC patients in Scotland remains inferior to that in the rest of the UK and European countries (De Angelis et al., 2014). Available data suggest that elements of deprivation and remoteness from treatment facilities might be associated with poorer cancer survival in Scotland, with most deprived CRC patients at 21% more risk of death than patients in the least deprived areas (National Health Service Scotland and Macmillan Cancer Support, 2017). It was proposed that factors that may explain the disparities in survival between different socioeconomic groups could include a delayed presentation and disease stage at the time of presentation (National Health Service Scotland and Macmillan Cancer Support, 2017). Many factors are reported in the literature to impact or predict survival outcomes for mCRC patients; most significantly and consistently reported factors include the performance status and type of SACT regimen (Stillwell et al., 2011). However, a wide range of other patients, tumour, and treatment factors are reported to impact the prognosis of mCRC. These factors include patients' age and gender (Aparicio et al., 2003, Eker et al., 2015, Stillwell et al., 2011), primary tumour resection, primary tumour sidedness, number of metastatic sites (Arnold et al., 2017b, Garcia Alfonso et al., 2018), localisation of metastasis (Garcia Alfonso et al., 2018), tumour molecular profile (Loupakis et al., 2014, Stintzing et al., 2016), along with several clinical and Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters such as C-reactive protein, carcinoembryonic antigen, albumin, haemoglobin, neutrophils to lymphocyte ratio, and alkaline phosphatase (Garcia Alfonso et al., 2018, Zacharakis et al., 2010, Eker et al., 2015, Stillwell et al., 2011).

In Scotland, little is known about the impact of different SACT regimens and other patient and disease factors on the survival outcomes for mCRC patients. Furthermore, the increase in available treatment combinations and sequences for mCRC has resulted in challenges for clinicians to decide the optimal treatment sequencing plan for the patients to achieve the best clinical response (Kim and Kim, 2020). The complexity of treatment pathways for mCRC has resulted in a paucity of published studies describing treatment pathways for mCRC in routine practice and the clinical outcomes associated with different treatment pathways.

Real-world data (RWD) is now more readily available to assist in a better understanding of variations in treatment pathways and treatment outcomes in routine practice. Therefore, it is essential to understand the impact of various patient, treatment, and disease characteristics on the clinical outcomes for mCRC patients in Scotland and the clinical outcomes associated with different treatment pathways.

This study aims to investigate the utilisation of RWD using record linkage to describe the treatment pathways and clinical outcomes of the treatment of new mCRC SACT users in the NHS GGC health board in the period between 01/01/2015 to 31/12/2016. The specific objectives of this study were:

 To determine the clinical outcomes associated with the administration of first-line (1L) SACT regimens for mCRC, including the overall survival and time to initiation of the next SACT regimen (TTNT) as a surrogate for the duration of the clinical benefit. • To improve the understanding of the complexity of treatment pathways for mCRC patients initiating SACT regimens by developing a Sankey visualisation tool and measuring the median overall survival associated with different treatment pathways.

6.2 Methods.

Details regarding the study design and cohort identification are explained in section 4.2.1. An in-depth description of the data sources and variables is provided in section 3.2 and section 3.3, respectively.

The following sections provide a summary of the study population, the data used in this study, and the endpoints. In addition, the statistical methods applied in this study are described.

6.2.1 Study design and population.

This study was designed as a retrospective observational cohort study from January 1st, 2015, to February 28th, 2018. New mCRC SACT user patients who initiated metastatic treatment between January 1st, 2015, and December 31st, 2016, and were not identified to be prescribed SACT for mCRC previously were included in the study and followed up until death, loss at follow-up, or end of the study on February 28th, 2018, whichever occurred first. Further details about the study population and cohort identification can be found in section 4.2.1.

6.2.2 Exposure and treatment lines.

The first SACT regimen initiated during the study period was defined as the first-line (1L) treatment, and the 1L treatment index date was defined as the starting date of 1L SACT during the study period. For second-line (2L) treatment, the index date was defined as the date when 2L SACT was initiated. Similarly, the date when the third-line SACT was initiated was considered the index date for 3L SACT.

The initiation of a new treatment line was explained in detail in **Error! Reference source not found.**Further details on defining and recoding the exposure are described in section 3.3.2.1.

6.2.3 Study co-variates.

A range of co-variate factors was used for this analysis, as indicated in section 6.1. The prognosis of mCRC is determined by a wide range of prognostic factors identified mainly from

literature for their impact on the disease. These prognostic factors are categorised into the following categories:

- Patient factors, including age at first-line regimen, gender, performance status at index SACT, comorbidities, deprivation level,
- Tumour factors, including tumour sidedness, primary tumour location, and tumour molecular profile,
- Previous treatment, including primary tumour resection,
- Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters, including neutrophils to lymphocytes ratio (NLR), baseline albumin, haemoglobin, and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA).

The list of covariates used in the analysis of survival outcomes (as potential confounders modifying the risk of death), the datasets from which the variables were retrieved, in addition to the applied coding method are presented in Table 6.1.

Variable	Dataset	Coding
SACT (section 3.3.2.1)	CEPAS (Section 3.2.2)	Nominal categorical (5FU, FOLFOX,
		FOLFIRI, cetuximab+FOLFIRI,
		Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI)
Age at index SACT (Section	CHI Section 3.2.1)	Continuous variable
3.3.1.1)	CEPAS (Section 3.2.2)	
Gender (Section 3.3.1.1)	CHI (Section 3.2.1)	Binary (Male, Female)
SIMD (Section 3.3.1.2)	CHI Section 3.2.1)	Ordinal categorical (1,2,3,4,5)
ECOG PS (Section 3.3.3.3)	CEPAS (Section 3.2.2)	Ordinal categorical $(0,1, \leq 2)$
Primary tumour resection	OPERA (Section 3.2.6))	Binary (Y, N)
(section 3.3.2.3)	SMR01 (Section 3.2.4.2),	
	SMR06 (Section 3.2.4.3)	
Primary tumour	SMR06 (Section 3.2.4.3	Nominal categorical (left, right,
sidedness (section 3.3.3.1)		transverse)
Molecular profile (section	Molecular pathology	Nominal categorical (Mutant RAS<
3.3.3.2)	(Section 3.2.8)	Wild RAS, Mutant BRAF)
Comorbidity (CCI) (section	SMR00, SMR01 (section	Ordinal categorical (0, [1-3], ≥4)
3.3.5)	3.2.4.1, section 3.2.4.2)	
Albumin (section 3.3.4)	SCI (section 3.2.5)	Binary (≥ 34, < 34)
CEA (section 3.3.4)	SCI (section 3.2.5)	Binary (≤ 5, > 5)

Table 6.1. Summary of the variables selected in the cox model to evaluate their association with the median OS with the applied coding method.

Haemoglobin (section	SCI (section 3.2.5)	Binary (Normal, ULN)	
3.3.4)			
NLR (section 3.3.4)	Binary (≤5, >5)		
KEY : CEPAS: electronic chemot community health index, , SIMD Oncology Group performance stat and Attendances SMR 01: Scottish & emergency operations, CCI: cha to lymphocytes ratio	herapy prescribing system, SACT : Scottish index for multiple depr us, SMR 06: The Scottish Cancer Re Morbidity Records General/Acute rlson comorbidity index, CEA= carc	T: systemic anti-cancer therapy, CHI= rivation, ECOG PS: Eastern Cooperative gistry, SMR 00: Outpatient Appointments Inpatient and Day Case, OPERA: Elective cinoembryonic antigen, NLR: Neutrophils	

6.2.4 Outcomes.

The primary outcome for this study is overall survival (OS), stratified by patients' index SACT. OS is defined as the survival interval from the date of initiation of the 1L SACT regimen (index date) to the time of death, loss at follow-up, or the end of the study period, whichever occurred first. Other secondary outcomes evaluated in this study included the following.

- The pathways across SACT lines, visualised using a Sankey diagram,
- Median OS associated with the treatment pathways identified through the Sankey diagram, which was defined as the survival interval from the date of initiation of the 1L SACT regimen to the time of death, loss at follow-up, or the end of the study period, whichever occurred first.
- Time-to-next-treatment (TTNT), which is defined as the time from initiating the 1L SACT regimen to the initiation of the 2L of therapy as a proxy for the duration of clinical benefit (Chen et al., 2017).

6.2.4.1 Overall survival.

Median OS and survival probability, which is defined as the percentage of individuals surviving a particular disease for a specific time interval. Median OS and survival probability with 95% confidence intervals were estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method for new mCRC SACT users and stratified by the index SACT prescribed for each patient. Moreover, the median follow-up time, defined as the median time from starting index SACT (1L SACT) until death or loss at follow-up, was measured using the reverse Kaplan-Meier method, which was performed by reversing the censor and the event (Shuster, 1991).

6.2.4.2 Secondary clinical outcomes.

Treatment pathways.

Patients' pathways across SACT lines until death, loss at follow-up, or end of the study were described and visualised using a Sankey diagram.

The Sankey diagram is a data visualisation technique that emphasises the flow from one state or time to another using nodes and links. For each state transition, a link flows from its source node (the left side of the diagram) to its target node (the next right node). Also, in a Sankey diagram, the size of each node and the width of each link indicate the number of objects/patients, hence the magnitude of the flow (Lamer et al., 2020).

In this study, an interactive Sankey diagram was designed to illustrate and describe patients' pathways across SACT lines. However, the Figure presented in this thesis is static (not interactive) as Microsoft office word does not support the HTML file extension through which the interactive Sankey diagram was presented.

In addition to visualising treatment pathways using the Sankey diagram, the median OS associated with the identified treatment pathways from 1L to 2L was measured using the Kaplan-Meier method for pathways containing \geq 5 patients per treatment pathway to determine the survival outcomes associated with different SACT pathways. The median OS associated with treatment pathways from 2L to 3L was not measured due to the small number of patients continuing to 3L treatment.

Time to next treatment.

Time to next SACT treatment (TTNT) was suggested in the literature as a proxy for the durability of clinical benefit, which has shown to be clinically valuable, especially for incurable malignancies (Kim et al., 2019, Chen et al., 2017). TTNT estimates the time between the initiation of treatment and the initiation of the next line of therapy, hence enabling the assessment of the duration of therapeutic benefit.

6.2.4.3 Statistical analysis

Survival analysis

When performing survival analysis in observational studies, presenting crude Kaplan-Meier survival curves can be inadequate due to the influence of other covariates on the outcome.

Hence, it was necessary to carry out an adjusted survival analysis considering the different covariates (Table 6.1). All the variables and covariates were collected at the index date to allow for the identification of potential risk factors for overall survival. For this study, the adjusted median OS was measured for new mCRC SACT users, whereas for the survival analysis of treatment pathways, only crude survival was presented due to the small sample representing patients in various pathways.

Survival was described in terms of median OS, 1-year survival probability (survival time), and survival rate for the entire cohort and stratified by individual SACT. The median OS was calculated as the point in time after initiation of treatment at which 50% of patients were still alive. For each time point when an event happened, survival probability was calculated as the number of patients surviving divided by the number of patients at risk. Whereas survival rate was calculated by dividing the number of patients alive at the end of follow-up by the total number of patients. Patients who were lost to follow-up or were considered "censored" were not counted in the denominator (Dudley et al., 2016). Censoring is the method used to quantify survival time up to the point when a patient does not experience the event of interest and stops being followed up – either because the subject drops out or end of the study period (Lee and Go, 1997).

Moreover, Kaplan-Meier survival graphs were plotted, and the log-rank test was used to calculate the P-value to compare survival across individual SACTs. The log-rank test is a non-parametric test of the null hypothesis (H₀) that no difference exists between the population survival curves by arranging both observed and censored survival times in a rank order (Mantel, 1966). Any difference between the observed and expected is evidence against the H₀, and hence, the log-rank test is most likely to detect a difference when the risk of an event (i.e., death) is consistently greater for one group than another and is unlikely to detect a difference when survival curves cross.

To assess the impact of mCRC SACT on the overall survival under the adjustment of different covariates (section 6.2.3), hazard ratios (HRs) were calculated using Cox proportional hazard models (Cox .D. R, 1972). The hazard is the probability that an individual would experience an event at a particular given point in time.

6.2.4.3.1 Univariate Cox regression analysis

A two-step procedure was used to examine the association of different covariates with the hazards of death. First, the association between each study covariate with the overall survival was tested with univariate Cox proportional hazard models. The covariates included are presented in table 6.1. These covariates were chosen based on the literature, suggesting a possible association with mCRC mortality.

6.2.4.3.2 Multivariate Cox regression analysis

The second step of examining the association of different covariates with the hazards of death is to perform a multivariate analysis that allows the impact of a variable to be evaluated under the adjustment of all other variables that may potentially affect the outcome. Multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression is a method of multivariate analysis used to explore differences in survival due to independent variables and distinguishes the individual contributions of covariates on survival, i.e., test whether each factor is an independent risk factor (D. R. Cox, 1972). For this study, the significant variables identified in the univariate analysis, in addition to priori confounders (age and gender) to be significantly associated with OS, were used to select covariates for the final multivariate model. The multivariate models were used to calculate adjusted HRs and 95% CIs of covariates associated with OS. A two-sided P < 0.05 was considered significant.

Moreover, after discussions with the statistician, it was agreed that for any variable containing five or fewer missing values, the missing values were not included as a separate category within the primary regression model as this would contribute to infinite estimates and confidence intervals.

For all variables used in the univariate analysis and primary multivariate analysis, missing information were coded as "unknown".

6.2.4.4 Testing for proportional hazards (PH) assumption for Cox regression

When two groups are compared, and HR is calculated, it is assumed that the hazard ratio between the groups remains constant over time (Breslow, 1975). This applies even if the magnitude of the hazards varies over time, and the constant ratio is known as the hazard ratio. Thus, the mortality rate might differ between the individual SACTs, but the pattern of mortality remains the same. It is crucial to verify that the covariates fulfil the assumption of proportionality because if this assumption is violated, the Cox model is invalid and more sophisticated analyses are required. The proportional hazards (PH) assumption can be checked using statistical tests such as Schoenfeld residuals which involves calculating the observed rate minus the predicted rate for each covariate over time (Schoenfeld, 1982). This difference between observed and expected for each covariate should remain constant over time and is considered a zero slope. If the residuals vary with time, a non-zero slope indicates a violation of the proportional hazard assumption.

6.2.4.5 Time to next treatment

TTNT was defined as the time from the commencement of the 1L SACT regimen in the study timeframe to the time of commencement of the next SACT in the study (Campbell et al., 2020). Hence, it was Reported only for patients who continued to the subsequent SACT line (2L) and Calculated (in months) from the beginning of the 1L SACT regimen until the beginning of the 2L SACT regimen. Median and interquartile range (IQR) for TTNT stratified by SACT was reported.

6.2.4.6 Handling missing data

To account for the potential bias arising from missing data, the last observation carried forward, and multiple imputations methods were applied for the variables containing missing values. These methods were described in detail in section 5.2.5.

As this study utilises the same cohort and shares several common variables with the study in chapter 5 (factors influencing the prescribing of 1L mCRC SACT regimens), the same methods to account for missing in data and the same generated baseline dataset were used to fit a multivariate Cox model. However, this study uses several additional variables that were not utilised in the study of the factors influencing prescribing of 1L mCRC SACTs, mainly including the Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters variables (albumin, CEA, NLR, and haemoglobin). Therefore, the missing values for these variables were obtained through the LOCF method, where the closest value within six months of diagnosis was used to replace the missing value. This method reduced the number of missing values, but a number of missing values remained. Hence, the MI was performed for the remaining missing values, and a final dataset with no missing values was generated. The baseline characteristics table for the dataset generated after LOCF and MI is presented in appendix V.

The number of missing values for the Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters variables used specifically for this study is presented in Table 6.2, while the number of missing values of the remaining variables is presented in Table 5.2.

Further details regarding the applied method for LOCF and multiple imputations were provided in section 5.2.5.

The complete baseline dataset generated following the application of these two methods was fitted in a multivariate Cox model deemed as sensitivity analysis for the primary Cox regression model.

Table 6.2 The number and frequency of missing data for Inflammatory biomarkers and blood cell count parameters variables used in survival analysis.

Variable	Number of missing observations before LOCF and MI (out of 220) (N, %)				
Albumin	<5				
Carcino-embryonic antigen (CEA)	43 (19.5)				
Neutrophils to lymphocyte ratio (NLR)	<5				
Haemoglobin	<5				
KEY: SIMD= Scottish index for multiple deprivation, ECOG = Eastern cooperative oncology group, CCI= Charlson comorbic					
index; LOCF = last observation carried forward; MI= Multiple	imputations.				

All statistical analyses for this study, including the survival outcomes and treatment pathways, were performed using R version 3.5.0/R Studio using the following packages: R base, ggplot2, dplyr, survival, survminer, GTsummary, coxph, and networkD3. R script for this study is provided in appendix VI.

6.3 Results.

This section presents the findings of the survival analysis for 1L and 2L SACT regimens used for new mCRC SACT users, along with the univariate and multivariate Cox regression models for 1L SACT regimens. The model with the missing data is presented as the primary model, and the model fitted after accounting for missing data is presented later as a sensitivity analysis for the primary model. This section also presents the treatment pathways, visualised using a Sankey diagram, along with measuring the time from 1L to 2L as a proxy for clinical benefit. Finally, the crude median OS for treatment sequences identified through the Sankey diagram will be presented for treatment pathways containing more than or equal to 5 patients.

6.3.1 Cohort overview.

A total of 220 new mCRC SACT users who initiated 1L mCRC between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016 were included in this study. Of these, 49 (22.3%) patients were treated in the 1L setting with 5FU, 66 (30%) and 47 (21.4%) patients were treated with oxaliplatin-based regimen (FOLFOX or XELOX) and irinotecan-based regimen (FOLFIRI), respectively. While 43 (19.5%) patients were treated with the combination of cetuximab+ irinotecan or oxaliplatin-based regimen (cetuximab+ FOLFIRI or cetuximab+ FOLFOX), and finally, 11 (5%) patients were treated with aflibercept+FOLFIRI in the 1L settings. Further details regarding the baseline SACT are presented in Table 4. 4.

The included cohort comprised slightly more male patients than female patients, with a median age of 66 years for the entire cohort (Table 4.5). A total of 14 patients (6.4%) had a poor performance status before initiating index SACT, while 22.7% (N=50, Table 4.5) of the patients had a good performance status (PS=0). Around one-third (30.5%, N= 67, Table 4.5) of the patients had the primary tumour located in the right side of the colon, and only 26.8% (N=59, Table 4.5) of the entire cohort undergone primary tumour resection. Mutation in the BRAF gene was detected in 7.7% (N=17, Table 4.5) of the patients, while wild-type RAS tumour was found in 35% (N=77, Table 4.5) of the patients. Hypoalbuminemia, elevated levels of carcinoembryonic antigen, haemoglobin levels not within the normal range and elevated levels of neutrophils-to-lymphocytes ratio were found in 53.6%, 64.1%, 48.6%, and

71.8% of the patients, respectively. Further details regarding the baseline characteristics of the entire cohort and stratified by index SACT are presented in section 4.3.3.

6.3.2 Survival analysis

6.3.2.1 Overall survival and survival probability

The median OS from the index SACT date for new mCRC SACT users was 13.3 months (95% CI 10.8-15.4). The survival probability was: 1-year survival 51.8% (95% CI 45.6- 58.9), 2-year survival 28.6% (95% CI 22.7-36), and 3-year survival 13.6% (95% CI 8.3%-22.5). The median follow-up time was 23.5 months (95% CI 20.8-27.9) for the full cohort Table 6.3 shows the median overall survival, the survival rate at 1,2 and 3-year, and the median follow-up for the full cohort and stratified by index SACT.

SACT	N	deaths	Median overall survival(months) (95% Cl)	One year survival (%) (95% CI)	Two year survival (%) (95% Cl)	Three year survival (%) (95% Cl)	Median follow up time (months) (95% Cl)				
Total	220	161	13.31 (10.81-15.40)	51.81 (45.60-	28.60 (22.71-	13.60 (8.30-22.50)	23.50 (20.80-				
				58.90)	36.0)		27.90)				
5FU/ Capecitabine	49	37	9.57 (7.81-15.41)	40.80 (29.20-	26.80 (16.50-	Unreachable	18.82 (16.80-NA)				
				57.80)	43.70)						
FOLFOX or XELOX	68	55	13.36 (10.1-15.6)	54.42 (43.80-67.60)	23.7 (14.4-39.2)	14.20 (5.90-34.10)	24.2 (22.8-NA)				
FOLFIRI	47	36	10.03 (9.21-18.6)	40.41 (28.61-57.20)	27.7 (17.1-45)	15.80 (7.10-35.40)	33.6 (22.1-NA)				
Aflibercept+FOLFIRI	11	8	13.91 (7.96-NA)	54.53 (31.81-	unreachable	Unreachable	21.91 (19.12-NA)				
Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI	43	24	23.72 (13.75-NR)	93.63)	27.93 (16.21-	Unreachable	23.90 (18.93-NA)				
				72.11 (60.04-86.81)	48.10)						
KEY: N= number of pa Fluorouracil/leucovorin Oxaliplatin	KEY: N= number of patients; CI= confidence interval; NR= Not reached; SACT = systemic anti-cancer treatment; 5FU= Fluorouracil/leucovorin; FOLFOX = Fluorouracil/leucovorin+ Oxaliplatin; FOLFIRI= Fluorouracil/leucovorin + irinotecan; FOLFOXIRI= Fluorouracil/leucovorin+ oxaliplatin+ irinotecan; XELOX= Capecitabine + Oxaliplatin										

Table 6.3 Overall survival and survival probability for new mCRC SACT users stratified by SACT regimen.

The Kaplan Meier curve for the full new mCRC SACT users cohort (N-220) is presented in Figure 6.1, while Figure 6.2 shows the Kaplan Meier curve for the new mCRC SACT stratified by individual SACT (N=218, FOLFOXIRI not included as N < 5 patients). Figure 6.2 shows a non-statistically significant difference in the median overall survival for mCRC SACTs used in the first-line settings with the log rank test (P-value) = 0.05. The Figure also shows the number of patients at different time points. For example, at a 10-month time point, 33 out of 43 patients (76.7%) treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI were still alive, while at the same time point, 23 out of 49 patients (46.9%) treated with 5FU were still alive.



Overall Survival (full incident cohort) (n=220)

Figure 6.1 Kaplan-Meier curve showing overall survival for the study cohort from index SACT date (N=220).

Kaplan-Meier Curve for mCRC per SACT for new mCRC SACT users





*SACTs with < 5 patients were not presented in this KM curve

6.3.2.2 Univariate analysis

The univariate Cox regression analysis for the study is presented in Table 6.4. The combination of cetuximab+ FOLFIRI as a 1L SACT regimen shows a statistically significant improved OS compared to a singlet of 5FU. However, treatment with a doublet therapy of FOLFOX, FOLFIRI, or XELOX shows no statistically significant difference in OS compared to 5FU. Also, transverse tumour sidedness; BRAF mutant patients; poor PS (\leq 2) at baseline; CEA levels more than 5 µg/L; haemoglobin levels not within the normal range; NLR more than 5; and albumin levels less than or equal to 34 mg/dL were all associated with poorer survival.

Undergoing a primary tumour resection did not display an association with improved survival. Age, gender; SIMD rank; primary tumour location; and Charlson score; did not have a statistically significant impact on OS.

Variable	Categories	Number	Death	Survival	Median OS (0.95	HR (95% CI)	P-value	Global P-
		(220)		rate	LCL - 0.95 UCL)			value*
	5FU	49	37	24.5%	9.57 (7.8-15.4)	1		
First-line SACT regimen	FOLFOX	68	55	19.1%	13.36 (10.1-15.6)	0.87 (0.58-1.33)	0.52	
-0 -	FOLFIRI	47	36	23.4%	10.03 (9.21-18.6)	0.83 (0.52-1.32)	0.43	0.05
	Cetuximab FOLFIRI	43	24	44.2%	23.72 (13.75-NA)	0.52 (0.31-0.87)	0.01	
	Aflibercept FOLFIRI	11	8	27.3%	13.91 (7.96-NA)	0.81 (0.38-1.73)	0.58	
Gender	Male	115	80	30.4%	15.16 (11.94-18.16)	1		0.08
-	Female	105	81	22.9%	10.1 (9.28-13.91)	1.32 (0.97- 1.8)	0.08	
Age group	≥ 65	118	88	25.4%	11.66 (9.57-14.87)	1		
	< 65	102	73	28.4%	14.28 (10.92-17.14)	0.87 (0.63-1.18)	0.362	0.4
	1	68	52	23.5%	12.78 (9.61-17.4)	1		0.92
Scottish Index for	2	43	30	30.2%	14.18 (7.89-26.28)	0.89 (0.57-1.39)	0.60	
(SIMD) rank	3	25	21	16.0%	10.46 (9.51-15.79)	1.1 (0.66-1.83)	0.71	
	4	37	24	35.1%	12.93 (9.57-NA)	0.86 (0.53-1.4)	0.55	
	5	44	32	27.3%	14.01 (9.97-17.53)	0.94 (0.6-1.45)	0.77	
	Left	130	92	29.2%	14.87 (11.71-17.4)	1		0.02
T	Right	67	49	26.9%	11.02 (9.34-15.59)	1.17 (0.83-1.66)	0.38	
l'umour sideaness	Transverse	10	9	10.0%	7.15 (4.9-NA)	2.87 (1.43-5.78)	0.003	
	Unknown	6	4	33.3%	19.74 (5.43-NA)	0.66 (0.24-1.83)	0.43	
	Unspecified	7	7	0.0%	9.64 (6.94-NA)	1.78 (0.82-3.84)	0.14	
	Mutant RAS	81	60	25.9%	13.45 (9.44-15.79)	1		
Tumour mutation type	Mutant BRAF	17	16	5.9%	7.47 (4.64-10.46)	2.6 (1.48-4.56)	0.1	0.002

 Table 6.4 Candidate variables considered in the univariate Cox regression for the overall survival.

Variable	Categories	Number	Death	Survival	Median OS (0.95	HR (95% CI)	P-value	Global P-
		(220)		rate	LCL - 0.95 UCL)			value*
	Wild RAS	77	51	33.8%	15.79 (13.26-25.10)	0.73 (0.51-1.07)	0.008	
	Unknown	45	34	24.4%	11.18 (7.89-18.62)	0.95 (0.62-1.45)	0.8	
Performance status	0	61	37	39.3%	18.16 (13.65-32.4)	1		<0.001
	1	139	106	23.7%	11.61 (9.61-14.87)	1.71 (1.18-2.5)	0.005	
	≤ 2	15	14	6.7%	5.49 (4.24-9.64)	4.95 (2.63-9.3)	0.000	
	Unknown	5	*	*	15.9 (9.47-NA)	1.18 (0.62-2.22)	0.16	
Charlson comorbidity	0	162	121	25.3%	12.2 (10.3-14.9)	1		0.28
index	1-3	50	34	32.0%	15.1 (10.1-25.4)	0.8 (0.54-1.16)	0.23	
	> 4	8	6	25.0%	10.30 (10.30-NR)	1.17 (0.51-2.70)	0.78	
Primary tumour	No	161	117	27.3%	12.90 (10.01-14.90)	1		0.3
resection	Yes	59	44	25.4%	15.7 (10.3-23.7)	0.82 (0.58-1.17)	0.3	
	Colon	156	116	25.6%	11.83 (9.93-15.07)	1		0.35
Tumour primary	Rectum	57	40	29.8%	15.53 (11.18-25.16)	0.85 (0.59-1.21)	0.36	
location	Unknown	7	*	*	12.90 (5.43-NA)	0.76 (0.41-1.77)	0.85	
	≤ 5	36	18	50.0%	22.89 (11.28-NA)	1		0.006
Carcino embryonic antigen (CEA)	> 5	141	112	20.6%	11.35 (9.61-14.41)	2.05 (1.25-3.17)	0.001	
	Unknown	43	31	27.9%	15.4 (10.1- 25.2)	1.43 (0.81- 2.51)	0.21	
	Female 115-165 or Male 130-180	111	76	31.5%	15.53 (13.45-23.72)	1		0.001
	Female <115 or	107	84	21.5%	9.87 (8.85-13.26)	1.69 (1.23-2.32)	0.001	
Haemoglobin	>165 or Male							
	<130 or >180							
Neutrophil-to-	≥ 5	158	112	28.2%	14.23 (11.94-16.45)	1		0.017
lymphocyte ratio (NLR)	< 5	60	48	22.6%	9.26 (7.24-12.3)	1.53 (1.09-2.15)	0.014	
KEY: HR= hazard ratio, OS= or	verall survival, UCL= uppe	r confidence level	, LCL= lower conf	idence level, *	P-value was calculated throu	igh log rank test		

6.3.2.3 Multivariate Cox regression analysis.

The association of baseline characteristics with overall survival using multivariate Coxproportional hazards models is presented in Table 6.5. The multivariate Cox-regression model included priori confounders (age and gender) along with the variables significantly associated with OS in the univariate analyses (Table 6.4). The singlet regimen of 5FU was used as the comparator as it is considered the backbone of mCRC therapy (Biller and Schrag, 2021).

None of the variables entered into the multivariate COX regression model shows an overall statistically significant effect on the model, including first line SACT treatment (global P-value 0.09). However, under the adjustment of the remaining variables, initial treatment with cetuximab+FOLFIRI shows statistically significant reduced hazards of death compared to 5FU (HR 0.4 (0.24-0.85), P-value 0.04). Moreover, Patients who had poorer performance status (\leq 2) had a statistically significant increased hazard of death compared to patients with good performance status (PS =0) (HR 4.3 (1.52-10.3), P-value 0.001).

Mutation in BRAF gene was associated with an increased hazard of death (HR 1.85 (0.72-4.8), P-value 0.1). However, this increase was not statistically significant, noteworthy, the large confidence interval indicates the small sample in this category (Table 4.5).

Initial treatment with FOLFOX, FOLFIRI, and aflibercept+FOLFIRI shows reduced hazards of death compared to 5FU, however, with a non-statistically significant difference.

Additionally, patients above 65 years, female gender, and tumours originating from the transverse colon, neutrophils to lymphocyte ratio > 5, haemoglobin levels not within the normal range, hypoalbuminemia (>34 g/L), and elevated levels of CEA (>5 μ g/l) were all associated with poorer overall survival. However, the impact was not statistically significant (Table 6.5).

For the assumption of the proportionality of the hazards of the model, the global proportional hazard test statistic for the multivariate Cox model was shown to be not significant (P-value 0.057), and therefore the proportionality of the hazards can be assumed, indicating that the ratio of the hazards for any SACT is constant over time.
Table 6.5. Association of baseline characteristics with overall survival using multivariate Cox-proportional hazards models

Variable	Categories	Adjusted HR (95% CI)	P-value	Global P-	
				value	
	5FU	1			
Regimen	FOLFOX/ XELOX	0.7 (0.52-1.18)	0.2	0.09	
	FOLFIRI	0.93 (0.49-1.22)	0.27		
	Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI	0.4 (0.24-0.85)	0.04		
	Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI	0.69 (0.39- 1.13)	0.48		
Age group	< 65	1			
	≥ 65	1.45 (0.93-2.3)	0.1	0.1	
Gender	Male	1		0.22	
	Female	1.28 (0.84-1.94)	0.22		
	Mutant RAS	1			
	Wild RAS	1.3 (0.83-1.69)	0.52	0.09	
Mutation type	Mutant BRAF	1.85 (0.72-4.8)	0.1		
	Unknown	1.1 (0.81-1.25)	0.3		
	Left	1		0.11	
	Right	1.07 (0.7-1.65)	0.14		
Tumour sidedness	Transverse	1.81 (0.83-5)	0.09		
	Unknown	1.87 (0.72-4.85)	0.19		
	0	1			
Performance status	1	1.4 (0.87-2.27)	0.6		
	≤ 2	4.3 (1.52-10.30)	0.001	0.25	
Neutrophil-to-	≤ 5	1			
lymphocyte ratio	>5	1.44 (0.91-2.3)	0.11	0.11	
(NLR)					
	Female 115-165 or Male	1			
Haemoglobin (g/l)	130-180			0.66	
	Female <115 or >165 or	1.11 (0.74-1.67)	0.66		
	Wale <130 or >180				
Carcino embryonic	<u>≤</u> 5	1	0.07	0.07	
antigen (CEA) (µg/l)	> 5	1.67 (0.95-2.94)	0.07	 	
Albumin (g/L)	≥ 34	1		0.10	
	< 34	1.25 (0.75-1.12)	0.19	0.19	
KEY : HR= hazard ratio, OS= overall survival, UCL= upper confidence level, LCL= lower confidence level, global P-value was calculated through log rank test					

6.3.2.4 Sensitivity analysis of the multivariate Cox regression

Missing in data was handled through LOCF and multiple imputations methods. The baseline characteristics table for the full new mCRC SACT cohort and stratified by index SACT after addressing the missing in data is presented in appendix VII. after addressing missing in data and obtaining the baseline characteristics without missing data, a multivariate Cox regression analysis was performed (Table **6.6**). Overall, the significance and direction of association were comparable across all tested variables to the variables included in the primary model with the missing values. However, the model shows that patients with a BRAF-mutant type had a statistically significant higher risk of death compared to patients with mutant RAS tumour type HR (2.72 (1.55-4.77), P-value <0.001).

Table 6.6. The COX regression model after accounting for missing in data by performing multiple imputations and last observation carried forward methods.

Variable	Categories	Adjusted HR	P-value	Global P-
		(95% CI)		value
	5FU	1		
Regimen	FOLFOX/ XELOX	0.91 (0.60-	0.2	0.1
		1.40)		
	FOLFIRI	0.97 (0.59-	0.27	
		1.61)		
	Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI	0.48 (0.27-	0.04	
		0.96)		
	Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI	0.98 (0.67-	0.48	
		1.89)		
Age group	< 65	1		0.89
	≥ 65	1.02 (0.73-	0.89	
		1.45)		
Gender	Male	1		
	Female	1.05 (0.75-1.5)	0.74	0.74
	Mutant RAS	1		
	Wild RAS	1.18 (0.80-	0.52	0.07
Mutation type		1.78)		
	Mutant BRAF	2.72 (1.55-	<0.001	
		4.77)		
	Left	1		0.11
	Right	1.05 (0.65-	0.8	
Tumour sidedness		1.69)		
	Transverse	1.64 (0.79-	0.18	
		3.40)		
	0	1		
Performance status	1	1.42 (0.93-	0.09	0.4
		2.13)		0.1
	≤ 2	3.4 (1.70-6.91)	<0.001	
Neutrophil-to-	≤5	1		
lymphocyte ratio (NLR)	>5	1.30 (0.89-	0.11	0.11
		1.90)		
	Female 115-165 or Male 130-	1		
Haemoglobin (g/l)	180	/		0.56
	Female <115 or >165 or Male	1.11 (0.74-	0.56	
	<130 or >180	1.67)		
Carcino embryonic	<u>≤</u> 5	1		0.50
antigen (CEA) (µg/l)	> 5	1.12 (0.73-	0.58	0.58
		1.71)		0.70
Albumin (g/L)	≥ 34	1		0.72
	< 34	1.07 (0.64-	0.72	
		1.19)		

KEY: HR= hazard ratio, OS= overall survival, UCL= upper confidence level, LCL= lower confidence level, global P-value was calculated through log rank test

6.3.3 Secondary outcomes

6.3.3.1 Treatment pathways

Treatment pathways for new mCRC SACT users are illustrated in Figure 6.2. The Figure shows SACT treatment pathways from 1/1/2015 until the patients were deceased, lost at follow-up, or end of the study on 28/02/2018. A total of 46 unique pathways were identified for the new mCRC SACT patients (N=220) across SACT lines as the patients either proceeded to further SACT lines, were deceased, remained on the same SACT, or were lost at follow-up.

The Figure illustrates the flow of patients across SACT lines. The first group of nodes (source nodes) on the left side of the Figure represents the first line regimen (1L) flowing to the subsequent group of nodes, which represent the second line regimen in the study (2L) and then to the third line regimen (3L). For example, the Figure illustrates patients treated with FOLFOX as a 1L regimen (N=68), where these patients would have three different scenarios: 1- die after receiving the 1L regimen (death node on the right side of the Figure) (N=37, 54.4% of the patients who initiated FOLFOX), 2- remain on the same regimen or were lost at follow-up (FOLFOX node on the right side of the Figure) (N=7, 10.3% of the patients who initiated FOLFOX), or 3- proceed to 2L SACT (the next group of nodes) (2L) (N=24, 35.3%), where in this example some of the patients received FOLFIIRI (N=14), aflibercept+FOLFIRI (N=5), or other SACT as a 2L regimen.

A total of 166 (75.5%) patients received only one SACT line; of these, 135 (81.3%) patients were deceased after receiving the 1L SACT, while 31 (18.7%) patients either remained on the same treatment or were lost at follow-up. On the other hand, of the 220 patients who initiated mCRC SACT, 54 (24.5%) patients proceeded to 2L SACT. Of these, 6 (11.1%) and 11 (20.4%) patients had their treatment intensified from a monotherapy (Fluorouracil) to a doublet or triplet SACT (FOLFOX, FOLFIRI, or aflibercept+FOLFIRI), or from a doublet SACT to a triplet SACT (aflibercept+FOLFIRI, cetuximab+FOLFIRI, or FOLFIXIRI), respectively. Moreover, 8 (14.8%) patients had their initial SACT stepped down in the 2L from a triplet to a doublet or from a doublet to a monotherapy. The most common SACT pathways are summarised in Table 6.7. SACT pathways containing less than 5 patients were not reported.

The most commonly prescribed 2L SACT was FOLFIRI (N=19, 35.2%), followed by FOLFOX (N=16, 29.6%). The combination of Aflibercept+FOLFIRI was prescribed for 6 (11.1%) patients, while cetuximab+FOLFIRI was prescribed for 5 (9.3%) patients, and finally, a single agent of cetuximab was prescribed for 6 (11.1%) patients as 2L SACT.

Only 5 (9.3%) of the 54 patients who received a 2L proceeded to a 3L SACT of either FOLFOX, cetuximab, or FOLFOXIRI, while 46 (85.2%) were deceased after receiving the 2L SACT. The remaining patients either continued the same SACT or were lost at follow-up. By the end of the study, 183 patients were deceased.



Figure 6.3. Sankey diagram showing the SACT pathways for new mCRC SACT users from 1/1/2015 until death or loss at follow-up (N= 220)

* As a part of the University of Glasgow safe haven permission to use the current data, pathways containing five or less patients were not presented by numbers in the Figure

SACT line	SACT pathway by lines of therapy	N (%)
	First-line SACT	220
	First line SACT to death	135 (61.4%) ¹
	FOLFOX to death	37 (27.4) ²
	FOLFIRI to death	30 (22.2) ²
	5FU to death	36 (26.7) ²
	Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI to death	23 (17) ²
	Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI to death	8 (5.9) ²
First-line SACT	FOLFOXIRI to death	*
(N=220)	First line SACT to second line SACT	54 (24.5) ¹
	FOLFOX to FOLFIRI	14 (25.9) ³
	FOLFOX to aflibercept+FOLFIRI	5 (9.3) ³
	FOLFIRI to FOLFOX	9 (16.7) ³
	Cetuximab+FOLFIRI to FOLFOX	5 (9.3) ³
	Other pathways	21 (38.8) ³
	First-line SACT to loss at follow-up or remain in the same SACT line	31 (14.1) ¹
	5FU	6 (19.4) ⁴
	FOLFOX	7 (22.6) ⁴
	Cetuximab+FOLFIRI	13 (41.9) ⁴
	Other SACTs	5 (16.1) ⁴
	Second line SACT	54
	Second line SACT to death	46 (85.2) ⁵
	FOLFOX to death	13 (28.9) ⁶
	FOLFIRI to death	17 (31.5) ⁶
Second-line SACT	Aflibercept+ FOLFIRI to death	5 (10.9) ⁶
(N=54)	Cetuximab to death	5 (10.9) ⁶
	Other pathways to death	6 (13) ⁶
	Second line SACT to third line SACT	5 (9.2) ⁵
	Second line SACT to loss at follow-up or remain in the same line	*
	Third line SACT	5
Third line SACT	Third line SACT to death	*
(N=5)	Third line SACT to loss at follow-up or remain in the same SACT line	*
KEY: SACT= Systemic anti- ¹ :denominator is the to SACT to second-line SAC (N=31); 5: the denomin	cancer therapy; CI= confidence interval, N= number of patients tal sample (N=220); 2: denominator is first line SACT to death patients (N=135); 3: the de CT patients (N=54); 4: denominator is first-line SACT to loss at follow-up or remain in the ator is second line SACT (N= 54); 6: the denominator is second line SACT to death (N=46)	enominator is first line same SACT line

Table 6.7. The number and frequency of the most common pathways for new mCRC SACT users in the study (N=220)

6.3.3.2 Survival findings for SACT pathways

The median OS for the patients continuing from 1L to 2L, which was measured from the beginning of 1L until death, loss at follow-up, or end of the study is presented in Table **6.8**. For all patients who continued from 1L mCRC SACT to 2L mCRC SACT (N=54), the median overall survival was 13.96 months (95% CI 11.35-17.40). Notably, patients who received FOLFOX in the 1L and continued on FOLFIRI as 2L had similar median overall survival compared to patients treated initially with FOLFIRI and continued on FOLFOX or XELOX as a 2L regimen. On the other hand, patients who received a 1L SACT of cetuximab+FOLFIRI and continued on FOLFOX as the 2L SACT had a median OS of 27.61 months (95%CI 13.32-NA). However, only five patients in our study were treated with this sequence of SACT regimens, and the effect of the small sample is clearly seen in the wide 95%CI.

 Table 6.8. The median OS associated with SACT pathways for the patients continuing from

 first-line to second-line.

SACT pathway (1L to 2L)	Number of patients*	Median overall survival in months (95% CI)
All 1L SACTs to 2L SACTs	54	13.96 (11.35-17.40)
FOLFOX to FOLFIRI	14	10.70 (7.40-19.01)
FOLFIRI to FOLFOX	9	10.80 (9.34-NA)
FOLFOX to aflibercept+FOLFIRI	5	17.3 (15.07-NA)
Cetuximab+FOLFIRI to FOLFOX	5	27.61 (13.32-NA)
KEY: SACT= Systemic anti-cancer therapy. CI= confidence interval		

*Pathways containing less than five patients were not presented by numbers in the table as a part of the University of Glasgow safe haven permission to use the current data

6.3.3.3 Time to next treatment (TTNT)

The median TTNT (1L to 2L) is presented in Table **6.9**. For all patients who continued to 2L SACT (N=54), the median time from 1L to 2L was 6.12 months (IQR: 3.1-9.7). When stratified by 1L SACT regimen, the TTNT was reported to be the shortest for patients treated with aflibercept+FOLFIRI in the 1L settings (median TTNT 4 months (IQR 4-4)) and the longest for patients treated with the combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI as 1L regimen (median TTNT 12.93 (IQR 5.85- 15.25)).

Table 6.9. Time from first line SACT to second-line SACT for new mCRC SACT users (N=220).

SACT	Number of	Number of patients	Median Time to next
	patients in	continuing to next	treatment in months (IQR)
	1L	SACT regimen	
Full cohort	220	54	6.12 (3.11-9.70)
5FU/ Capecitabine	49 (19.5)	7	6.11 (4.02-7.51)
FOLFOX or XELOX	68 (31)	24	5.60 (2.22- 9.13)
FOLFIRI	47 (22.4)	14	7.03 (3.26-11.3)
Aflibercept+FOLFIRI	11 (7.6)	*	4.00 (4.00-4.00)
Cetuximab+ FOLFIRI	43 (18.8)	7	12.93 (5.85-15.25)
KEY: SACT= systemic anticancer therapy, 1L= first-line, IQR= interquartile range			
the University of Glasgow safe haven permission to use the current data			

6.4 Discussion

This retrospective observational study aimed to determine the treatment outcomes for new mCRC SACT users in NHS GGC who initiated mCRC SACT treatment between 1/1/2015 and 31/12/2016, including OS of 1L mCRC SACT, and the time to next SACT treatment. Also, this study aimed to explore treatment pathways by visual depiction using a Sankey diagram and the overall survival associated with the most common SACT pathways.

6.4.1 Summary of key findings

6.4.1.1 Overall survival

The overall survival findings for the new mCRC SACT users in this study were slightly suboptimal. Given that for untreated mCRC patients, the median OS is reported to be approximately nine months with the best supportive care (Rodriguez-Bigas et al., 2003), the median OS for the total cohort in our study was 13.3 months (95% CI 10.8-15.4). However, median OS varied considerably across individual SACTs, with the longest observed median OS being 23.72 months (95% CI 13.75-NA) for patients treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI as 1L regimen while patients treated with a 5FU monotherapy as 1L regimen had the shortest median OS of 9.57 months (95%CI 7.81-15.41) (Table 6.3). The multivariate Cox regression model adjusting for the baseline characteristics of the patients shows that the combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI (HR 0.4 (95% CI 0.24-0.85) (Table 6.5) was significantly associated with less hazards of death compared to 5FU monotherapy. This finding was expected given that 5FU monotherapy is the essential backbone SACT for mCRC, and its use is now limited for patients who cannot endure the toxicity of more intensive therapy (see section 5.3.3). Also, the findings of this study show that initial treatment with doublet therapy of FOLFOX (HR 0.7 (0.52-1.18) or FOLFIRI (HR 0.93 (0.49-1.22) was not associated with a statistically significant improvement in OS compared to monotherapy of 5FU (Table 6.5). 5FU was used as the reference group for the multivariate cox regression since it is considered the backbone therapy for the majority of mCRC SACTs.

The model also shows that poor PS (PS \ge 2) has a negative impact on the median OS and is associated with more inferior survival outcomes (HR 4.3 (1.52-10.30)) compared to patients with PS= 0. `

The ECOG PS scale indicates an increasing level of disability (Table 3.5). Patients with poor PS (PS \geq 2) usually experience more adverse events of active treatment compared to

patients with good performance status (Chan et al., 2017, Heedman et al., 2015). Hence, poor performance status is known to predict poorer survival outcomes.

Despite the fact that the primary cox regression model for new mCRC SACT users did not demonstrate a statistically significant impact of BRAF mutation on the OS (HR 1.85 (0.72-4.8), P-value 0.1) (Table 6.5), the model fitted after accounting for data missingness (

Sensitivity analysis of the multivariate Cox regression Missing in data was handled through LOCF and multiple imputations methods. The baseline characteristics table for the full new mCRC SACT cohort and stratified by index SACT after addressing the missing in data is presented in appendix VII. after addressing missing in data and obtaining the baseline characteristics without missing data, a multivariate Cox regression analysis was performed (Table **6.6**). Overall, the significance and direction of association were comparable across all tested variables to the variables included in the primary model with the missing values. However, the model shows that patients with a BRAF-mutant type had a statistically significant higher risk of death compared to patients with mutant RAS tumour type HR (2.72 (1.55-4.77), P-value <0.001). **Table 6.6**) revealed that the presence of a mutation in the BRAF gene was associated with a statistically significant poorer survival (HR 2.72 (1.55-4.77), P-value <0.001) which is consistent with the literature findings on the poor prognosis of BRAF mutation for mCRC patients (Schirripa et al., 2019, Seligmann et al., 2017). This discrepancy between the primary cox regression model and the model fitted after accounting for data missingness is probably due to the large number of missing data in the type of mutation variable (N=45, Table 4.5), which after being accounted for through MI and LOCB resulted in an increased number of patients in the mutant BRAF category (N=17 (Table 4.5) in the primary analysis to N=22 after accounting for data missingness. Hence, the increased number of patients resulted in an increased power that enabled the test to detect the differences and resulted in a statistically significant negative impact of mutant BRAF tumour on overall survival (HR 2.72 (1.55-4.77), P-value <0.001).

It remains debatable whether primary tumour resection has an impact on overall survival for unresectable mCRC patients. Although most of the observational studies have demonstrated a survival benefit for curative primary tumour resection on overall survival for mCRC patients (Michel et al., 2004, Scoggins et al., 1999, Ruo et al., 2003, Tebbutt et al., 2003, Ferrand et al., 2013). Less consistency among the published data exists regarding the survival benefit of palliative resection, which is often performed to reduce the complications of the tumour, such as gastrointestinal obstruction, perforation, or bleeding (Wu et al., 2017). The findings of this study did not identify a statistically significant impact of the primary tumour resection on overall survival (Table 6.5). In our study, data regarding the intention of the surgery was not available. Therefore, it was not clearly defined whether the resection was performed for palliative or curative intention. Hence, the intention of the primary tumour resection was considered an unmeasured confounder that could have contributed to the lack of statistically significant difference between patients who had the resection performed and those who did not undergo the surgical resection. Furthermore, as discussed in section 4.4.2.1, the rates for the primary tumour resection for the patients at baseline in our study were found to be lower compared to the surrounding Scandinavian countries. This difference is important given the potential survival benefit offered by synchronous tumour resection, as reported in the

literature. A study by *Benitez Majano et al.* suggested that the inferior CRC survival in England could be attributed partly to the conservative selection of patients for surgery, as patients >75 years were less likely to be offered curative primary tumour resection surgery in England compared to surrounding Scandinavian countries. (Benitez Majano et al., 2019). Given the comparability among the Scottish and English clinical recommendations for primary tumour resection, it can be concluded that the country-specific management guidelines could possibly impact survival outcomes.

It is also important to highlight that the clinical trials upon which the approval for the SACTs captured in this study included prognostic factors that were not included in our study, mainly encompassing the type of metastases (synchronous vs metachronous metastasis), the metastatic site (liver, lung, peritoneum, etc.), and the number of metastatic sites. These prognostic factors were reported to potentially have an impact on the overall survival (Stillwell et al., 2011). For example, Wang et al. found that lung-only metastasis was considered an independent prognostic factor for better overall survival compared to liver-only metastasis [HR 0.82 (95% CI 0.71-0.94)] (Wang et al., 2020). These factors, along with possible other unmeasured confounders, could possibly have impacted or biased the findings of our study.

6.4.1.2 Secondary outcomes: treatment pathways and TTNT

In this study, the treatment pathways were illustrated through a Sankey diagram, which shows the potential to display the variation in treatment pathways in routine practice. The tool illustrated 46 unique pathways for new mCRC SACT users who initiated a 1L mCRC SACT in NHS GGC until death, loss at follow up or continuing to 2L SACT. The treatment pathways identified using the Sankey diagram were not always aligned with the standard guidelines. For example, the SMC has licenced aflibercept+FOLFIRI to be used in the 2L settings following the failure of a 1L oxaliplatin-based regimen (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2014). However, in our study, aflibercept+FOLFIRI was used in the 1L setting for 5% of the new mCRC SACT users (N=11) and 6 (11.1%) patients in the 2L settings. Of these, five were treated in the 1L settings with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy, which complies with the recommendations by the SMC as aflibercept+FOLFIRI is licenced to be used as a 2L regimen following the failure of oxaliplatin-containing regimen (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2014). Furthermore, cetuximab as a single agent, which the SMC licenced for use as a single agent in patients who

failed oxaliplatin or irinotecan-based therapy (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2005), was prescribed for 5 (9.3%) patients in the 2L settings. Noteworthy, both FOLFOX and FOLFIRI were predominantly present in the 2L regimens, complying with the SIGN recommendations for prescribing irinotecan-based chemotherapy as 2L following 1L oxaliplatin and vice versa (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011b).

Our findings also show that 17 (31.5%) patients who continued to 2L regimen had their 1L SACT regimen intensified from monotherapy (5FU) to doublet (FOLFOX, XELOX, or FOLFIRI) or from a doublet to a triplet (cetuximab+FOLFIRI or aflibercept+FOLFIRI). The intensification of the therapy is potentially associated with the progression of the disease, warranting more intensive approaches (Kim et al., 2015). On the other hand, 8 (14.8%) patients had their 1L SACT regimen stepped down from a triplet or a doublet therapy to a doublet or monotherapy, respectively. This approach is usually associated with intolerability of the SACT regimen or worsening of the patient's performance status following the 1L regimen (Mocellin et al., 2017).

Even though oxaliplatin and irinotecan-based regimens are licenced as first and second-line regimens for mCRC, the optimal sequencing of these regimens remains unclear. Our findings show that patients who received oxaliplatin followed by an irinotecan-based regimen displayed a similar median OS compared to those who received the reverse sequence with a median OS of 10.7 months (7.4-19) for the former sequence and a median OS of 10.8 months (9.34-NA) for the later sequence (Table **6.8**). This finding was supported by previously published findings from observational studies, which reported no statistically significant differences in median OS between the two sequences (Teng et al., 2015).

6.4.2 Comparison with literature

6.4.2.1 Observational studies

Many published real-world studies have reported the survival outcomes for mCRC SACTs in routine practice. Chapter 2 in this thesis reported clinical outcomes, including the overall survival of mCRC patients receiving first-line SACTs in real-world studies.

Marschner et al., 2015 reported a median OS of 26.8 months (95% CI 22.4-31.9) for patients treated with a first-line FOLFOX or XELOX and a median OS of 18.3 months (95% CI 15.1-23.2)

for patients treated with a first-line FOLFIRI or XELIRI, (Marschner et al., 2015), which is longer than the median OS for the patients in our study of 10.03 months (9.21-18.6) (Table **6.3**). This might be attributed to several reasons, including the rate of primary tumour resection, which was reported in 87.4% of patients in Marschner et al., 2015 study compared to 26.8% of the patients in our study. Moreover, whilst the Marschner et al.,2015 cohort comprised patients who presented initially at different stages of CRC at diagnosis before progressing to the metastatic stage, the patients in our study were assumed to have presented at the metastatic stage at the time of diagnosis, which is known to be associated with poor prognosis in contrast to patients presenting with stage I, II, or III CRC (Rosen et al., 2000). Therefore, offering a potential explanation for the shorter OS for our cohort compared to Marschner et al.,2015 cohort.

Fukuchi et al., 2013 reported a median OS of 25.4 months (no confidence interval reported) for patients less than 75 years treated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (i.e, FOLFOX or XELOX) in Japan. However, 72% of the patients in Fukuchi study (N=108) were reported to have undergone primary tumour resection, in contrast to 26.8% of our entire population (Fukuchi et al., 2013).

Furthermore, Satram-Hoang et al.,2013 reported a 3-year survival rate of 68.5% (95% CI 64.2-72.3) (Satram-Hoang et al., 2013) for patients treated with 1L FOLFOX, in contrast to a 3-year survival rate of 14.2% (5.9-34.1) in our study.

Stec et al., who carried out a retrospective observational study of first-line capecitabine versus FOLFIRI for patients with mCRC above the age of 65 years, reported a median OS of 15.4 months (no reported 95% CI) and 19 months (no reported 95% CI) for patients treated with capecitabine and FOLFIRI, respectively (Stec et al., 2010) in contrast to a median OS of 9.2 months (95% CI 7.5-14.6) for patients treated with 5FU or capecitabine and a median OS of 10.6 months (95%. CI 9.5-15.4) for patients treated with FOLFIRI in our study. Although Stec et al. cohort restricted the included cohort to elderly patients \geq 65 years, our cohort seems to have an inferior OS compared to Stec et al. (Table 6.3). This might be attributed to the fact that Stec et al. included patients whose PS is \leq 2 in contrast to our cohort, which included patients with PS more than 2.

As demonstrated by the comparison of the findings between our study and other observational studies, a notable gap in median OS can be observed for patients treated with

chemotherapeutic agents (5FU, FOLFOX, FOLFIRI). However, this gap is reduced when the outcomes of our patients treated with ctuximab+ chemotherapy are compared to those of other observational studies. For instance, while in our study, the median OS for patients treated with cetuxmaib+ FOLFOX or ceuxima+ FOLFIRI was 23.72 months (13.75-NA), the median OS in Lam et al. study, which investigated the effectiveness of 1L cetuximab+ fluoropyrimidine chemotherapy, was 25.8 months (18.7-35.6) (Lam et al., 2019). Also, Bai et al. reported a median OS of 28.3 months (22.7–33.9) for patients treated with cetuximab+chemotherapy, which is fairly comparable to our findings (Bai et al., 2016). This comparability could be potentially attributed to the relatively similar characteristics, especially given that the majority of patients treated with cetuximab+ FOLFIRI had wild-RAS tumour and had the lowest median age in our study compared to the remaining SACTs, which is fairly comparable to other observational studies.

Finally, the comparison of survival findings of aflibercept+FOLFIRI between our study and other observational studies could not be established, as, to our knowledge, no previous observational study has performed an evaluation for the effectiveness of aflibercept+ FOLFIRI in the 1L settings.

6.4.2.2 Comparison to clinical trials

Differences in the characteristics between the clinical trials population and observational studies population are inevitable. Details regarding the differences between this study and clinical trials were discussed in section 4.4.2.2.

Compared to the populations of the clinical trials upon which the approval of SACT regimens captured in this study was granted, our cohort included patients with poor PS (PS \geq 2 (N=15, 6.8%)) and BRAF mutant (N=17, 7.7%) treated in routine clinical settings. However, these factors are recognised as poor prognostic factors, supported by the findings of the multivariate cox models Table 6.6 and Table 6.7). Patients with these characteristics are often excluded from clinical trials. As discussed in chapter 4, the clinical trials upon which the SACTs included in this study were approved mostly included patients with a performance status \leq 2, with adequate haematological, renal, and hepatic function, and with a median age of less than 65 years (de Gramont et al., 1997a, de Gramont et al., 2000, Saltz et al., 2000, Van Cutsem et al., 2015, Van Cutsem et al., 2012). For example, 43.3% (N=91) of the patients treated with FOLFOX in de Gramont et al., 2000 study had good performance status (PS=0) in contrast to 20.6% (N= 14) patients in our study. The median OS for the patients treated

with FOLFOX in de Gramont et al., 2000 was 16.2 months (no reported 95% CI) compared to a median OS of 13.36 months in our study (Table **6.3**). Moreover, in Saltz et al., 2000, 39% (N=89) of patients treated with FOLFIRI had a good performance status (PS=0) compared to 20.6% (N=14) of the patients treated with FOLFIRI in our study. Saltz et al., 2000 reported a median OS of 14.8 months with FOLFIRI (no reported 95% CI) in contrast to 10.03 months in our study. These differences in the characteristics between this study cohort and the patients included in clinical trials may offer some explanation for the shorter OS for the patients in our study compared to the clinical trial population.

The median OS for the patients treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI in our study [23.72 months (13.75-NA)] was higher than that reported in the CRYSTAL trial [19.9 months (95% CI 18.5-21.3)] (Van Cutsem et al., 2009). However, when stratified by the type of mutation, the median OS for patients with wild-type RAS mutation CRYSTAL trial was 24.9 months. Considering that 39 (90.7%) patients in our study treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI had a wild-type RAS mutation, the median OS can be regarded as closely comparable between our study and the CRYSTAL wild-type patients. The comparability between our study and the CRYSTAL trial's findings might stem from the similarity in the patients' baseline characteristics between the two studies, especially the wild-type RAS mutation subgroup in the CRYSTAL trial, such as age [median age 59 years (52-65.5) and 61 (24-79)], and ECOG PS 0-1 [90.3% and 92%] for our cohort treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI and CRYSTAL wild-type RAS mutation cohort, respectively.

In Scotland, Aflibercept in combination with FOLFIRI is accepted for use for mCRC patients whose disease has progressed after an oxaliplatin-containing regimen (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2014). In our study, 11 (5%) patients of all new mCRC SACT users were treated with Aflibercept+FOLFIRI in the 1L settings, with a median OS of 13.9 months (95%CI 7.96-NA). The potential reason for selecting aflibercept+FOLFIRI as an initial treatment could be that these patients had their disease progressed rapidly after adjuvant therapy, as discussed in section 5.4.4.1. A post hoc analysis for the phase III VELOUR trial included a cohort of patients who relapsed on or within six months of completing an oxaliplatin-based adjuvant therapy (termed adjuvant rapid relapsers (ARR)) suggested a potential survival benefit from using aflibercept+FOLFIRI following a rapid progression (Van Cutsem et al., 2016b). For these patients included in the post-hoc analysis (N=552), the median OS was 13.8 months, which is

very close to the findings of our study (median OS 13.9). As a result of the rapid progression beyond adjuvant therapy, these patients were deemed to have a poor prognosis, and their inclusion in our cohort might have led to an underestimation of the benefit of 1L mCRC.

However, for patients who were treated with a 2L aflibercept+FOLFIRI in our study (N=6), the median OS was eight months (5.36-NA), which is inferior to the findings of median OS for the patients included in the VELOUR trial, upon which aflibercept+FOLFIRI was approved as a second-line treatment for mCRC (median OS 13.5 months (95% CI 12.5-14.95))(Van Cutsem et al., 2012). It is, however, important to emphasise that a potential reason for this difference could be related to the small sample size in our study representing patients treated with aflibercept+FOLFIRI as a 2L regimen (N=6), which could affect the confidence of this finding.

6.5 Strengths and limitations

Real-world data is an invaluable source of information about the treatment in real-world clinical practice for patients and their clinicians. Our study reported the treatment pathways and outcomes for the most commonly prescribed SACTs in routine practice for mCRC in Scotland, which can provide useful information for clinical decision-making.

Moreover, despite the fact that the data in our study contained missing values, especially in the molecular profile and the performance status variables, robust statistical methods were implemented to account for missing in data by performing sensitivity analysis cox regression models.

Furthermore, the imbalance between the number of patients receiving each SACT regimen is an inherent limitation of retrospective observational studies. In clinical trials, patients are often stratified in a way that ensures that different baseline characteristics are distributed evenly across arms to confirm that any differences in the outcomes are due to the treatment itself and not due to the differences in the baseline characteristics (confounding bias). In our study, adjusting for these confounders using multivariate cox models ensured that any differences were more likely due to the treatment, not the confounding factors, which can give more confidence regarding the survival estimates. Moreover, our study was strengthened by investigating patients treated in a first-line setting with aflibercept+ FOLFIRI, which is unique to our study as, to our knowledge, no previous observational study has investigated the treatment outcomes for patients treated with this combination in a 1L setting.

Despite these strengths, our study had several limitations. One of this study's main challenges was defining the exposure, which was complicated by the complex treatment schedules involving several medicines (combinations) with variable sequencing and dosing (stepping up or stepping down), resulting in difficulties in defining and structuring the lines of therapy. Also, despite using robust statistical methods to account for missing in data, our study was limited by the incompleteness of the molecular profile and performance status variables. Also, the unavailability of information such as the burden of metastasis, the site of metastasis, and the type of metastasis, which could be important and potentially other unmeasured confounders, is considered a limitation for our study and warrants a careful interpretation of the findings.

Furthermore, due to the small sample size, the influence on overall survival for further treatment lines could not be investigated under the adjustment of different covariates. Our analysis was also limited by the small sample size representing patients treated with aflibercept+FOLFIRI as a 1L mCRC SACT, which made extracting specific baseline characteristics that involved several categories (e.g., SIMD score, type of mutation, tumour sidedness) not possible due to restrictions imposed by the university of Glasgow safe haven on releasing data when the number of patients is less than five. This issue has also resulted in wide confidence intervals around the median OS and the estimates from cox regression for all analyses involving aflibercept+FOLFIRI.

Finally, our study was limited by the short follow-up period for a subset of patients. the study included patients from the 1st of January 2015 until the 31st of December 2016, with follow-up until the 28th of February 2018. A minimum duration of 14 months was allowed to capture as many events as possible, which is considered a strength of the study, but at the same time, the follow-up time was limited to 14 months for a small subset of patients. as a result, some of the findings were immature, with a wide or non-reachable confidence interval. For instance, the median OS for patients treated with cetuximab+ FOLFIRI was 23.72 months,

with the upper bound of the confidence interval being unreachable (13.75-NA). Hence, suggesting that there has not been enough time for events to occur.

6.6 Conclusion

The results of this study show that the combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI offered a survival benefit over 5FU for mCRC patients in NHS GGC, an ECOG PS \geq 2 and mutations in the BRAF gene were shown to have a negative impact on survival. Additionally, our findings indicated a consistent trend for the benefits of cetuximab+FOLFIRI as 1L SACT to have the longest median OS and longest TTNT. However, it is important to emphasise that this benefit should be interpreted carefully and has a limited generalisability for all of the mCRC patients treated in 1L settings, as the majority of patients who were treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI had a wild-type RAS tumour.

The median OS associated with 1L SACT regimens for patients with mCRC in NHS GGC was poorer than the results of the observational studies and clinical trials for chemotherapeutic agents, including 5FU, oxaliplatin-based regimens, and irinotecan-based regimen and comparable to the findings of the observational studies and clinical trials for the combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI as a 1L SACT.

The exploration of the routine practice data using the Sankey diagram visualising tool may provide a helpful way to better understand the variability and complexity of mCRC treatment in practice and detect atypical pathways.

7 Chapter 7: General discussion

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase evidence generation from clinical practice regarding the use of first-line metastatic colorectal cancer medicines in real-world settings to better inform clinical decisions and optimise clinical outcomes among mCRC patients.

This thesis utilised data obtained from NHS GGC, the largest health board in Scotland to identify: 1- the baseline characteristics of mCRC patients initiating 1L mCRC SACT (chapter 4), 2- the factors that influenced the clinicians to select the 1L mCRC SACTs (chapter 5), 3- the treatment pathways, and 4- treatment outcomes for mCRC patients in NHS GGC (chapter 6). Collectively, and throughout this chapter, the analysis of the data obtained from NHS GGC will be referred to as the fieldwork analysis. Additionally, this thesis was supported by meta-analyses that synthesised evidence from real-world studies on the safety and effectiveness of first-line mCRC SACTs (chapter 2).

7.1 Key findings

In broad terms, over the period 2015 and 2016, a total of 220 patients initiated 1L mCRC SACT in NHS GGC, with approximately half of these treated initially with a doublet therapy consisting of either FOLFOX, FOLFIRI, or XELOX, whereas the remaining patients were treated either with monotherapy of 5FU or triplet therapy of cetuximab+FOLFIRI or aflibercept+FOLFIRI (Table 4. 4). In contrast, our review findings in chapter 2 pointed out that bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy appeared to be the most commonly reported SACT to be used as 1L mCRC SACT in other countries (section 2.3.2).

7.1.1 Baseline characteristics of mCRC patients in NHS GGC.

Overall, the cohort of patients who initiated mCRC SACT in NHS GGC between 2015 and 2016 comprised slightly more male patients than females and a slightly higher frequency of patients over 65 years compared to those less than 65 years. Moreover, 70.9% (N=156) of the patients had the primary tumour located in the colon, 7.7% (N=17) of the patients in the cohort had BRAF mutant tumour, 35% (N=77) had wild RAS tumour, and 6.4% (N=14) had poor performance status (\geq 2). Furthermore, only 26.8% (N=59) of the patients had resection of the primary tumour. Most of the patients were anaemic, had elevated levels of CEA, and had hypoalbuminemia at baseline (Table 4.5), suggesting a poor prognosis.

Direct comparison of baseline characteristics between our study in NHS GGC and other observational studies was difficult due the differences in data collection methods and the collected variables. However, our study showed some comparability to other observational studies in terms of sociodemographic and clinical characteristics. For instance, our cohort was comparable to the cohorts of other observational studies in terms of the higher frequency of male patients than female patients and the higher frequency of patients presenting with a primary tumour in the colon. Nevertheless, for other characteristics such as age, performance status, and type of tumour mutation, other observational studies tended to select patients based on certain features, such as restricting the inclusion to elderly patients or patients with wild-RAS tumour. Therefore, comparing most baseline characteristics with those of other observational studies was difficult. However, a notable difference in the baseline characteristics between our cohort and the cohorts in other observational studies was the rate of primary tumour resection, which was substantially lower in our study compared to the patients included in other observational studies (Table 4.5).

Compared to the populations of clinical trials upon which the approval of the SACTs captured in this study was granted, our patients were older, included a higher proportion of female patients, and had poorer performance status at baseline. For the remaining baseline characteristics such as the type of mutation and primary tumour resection, comparability was difficult due to the variability in the level of reporting these variables.

7.1.2 Treatment pathways and factors influencing the selection of first-line mCRC SACTs.

For the 220 patients who initiated 1L mCRC SACT in NHS GGC between 2015-2016, a total of 46 unique treatment pathways were identified and illustrated through a Sankey diagram (Figure 6.3), where patients either died after receiving 1L SACT, were lost at follow-up, or continued to 2L SACT. Around one-third (N=17, 31.5%) of those who continued to 2L SACT had their treatment intensified, indicating a possibility for disease progression, whereas eight patients (14.8%) had their treatment downgraded, possibly indicating the intolerability of the SACT regimen or worsening of the patient's performance status following the 1L regimen (Table 6.7).

The thesis findings regarding the choice of mCRC SACT showed that the selection of SACT was generally consistent with the national (Scottish) and regional (WoSCAN) CMG recommendations for the management of mCRC. For instance, cetuximab+FOLFIRI was prescribed for the majority of patients who had a wild RAS tumour as recommended by SIGN guideline (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011a) (section 5.3.4). Similarly, our findings showed that both FOLFOX and FOLFIRI were predominantly present in the in both 1L and 2L regimens, complying with the SIGN recommendations for prescribing irinotecanbased chemotherapy and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy as 1L regimen and vice versa as 2L regimen (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, 2011a) (section 5.3.4). Nevertheless, the treatment pathways identified were not always aligned with standard guidelines. For example, the use of aflibercept+FOLFIRI in the 1L metastatic settings was unexpected given that this combination is licenced for use across NHS Scotland following the failure of an oxaliplatin-containing regimen in the 1L settings. However, for a subset of mCRC patients who progress rapidly following an adjuvant therapy containing oxaliplatin (e.g., FOLFOX or XELOX), the combination of aflibercept+FOLFIRI was used due to the suggested survival benefits of aflibercept+FOLFIRI in these patients (section 5.3.5).

This thesis identified patient, tumour, and treatment response-related factors associated with the selection of 1L mCRC SACTs in NHS GGC health board in Scotland between 2015-2016. This included patients' age, where older patients were more likely to be prescribed less intensive therapy, such as 5FU, and younger patients were more likely to be prescribed more intensive therapy, such as cetuximab+ FOLFIRI. In addition, the patients' gender appeared to influence the choice of mCRC treatment, with female patients less likely to be administered more intensive therapies such as cetuximab+ FOLFIRI. Unexpectedly, performance status was not found to be associated with the prescribing choices, which was explained by the effect of the small sample size representing patients with poor performance status (Section 5.3.3, Table 5.5).

Tumour-related factors identified to have an impact on the choice of first-line mCRC SACT included the RAS status, with the majority of the patients who harboured a wild RAS tumour being prescribed a combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI (section 5.3.4). Finally, the choice of first-line mCRC SACT was also influenced by the previous treatment the patients received as a part of CRC management. Patients were more likely to be prescribed FOLFIRI rather than

274

FOLFOX if they had undergone a resection of the primary tumour, which is preceded by adjuvant therapy, most often encompassing oxaliplatin as part of the regimen. Treatment with FOLFIRI, which consist of 5FU/leucovorin + irinotecan was favoured over the use of FOLFOX, which consists of 5FU/leucovorin + oxaliplatin due to the high potential for neurotoxicity associated with oxaliplatin. Patients who had FOLFOX in adjuvant settings were likely to have developed neurotoxicity (Raymond et al., 1998, Cassidy and Misset, 2002); A finding not only reported in the literature but also confirmed in our non-haematological toxicities meta-analysis (section 2.3.6.4.2). Consequently, FOLFOX use as part of the first-line metastatic treatment could be limited by its toxicity.

7.1.3 Treatment outcomes for mCRC patients

The median OS for mCRC patients treated in NHS GGC between 2015 and 2016 varied across individual 1L SACTs, with the longest observed being 23.72 months for cetuximab+FOLFIRI and the shortest being 9.57 months for 5FU monotherapy (Table 6.3). The median OS was shown to be influenced by the type of 1L SACT as well as the baseline performance status (Table 6.5). Our fieldwork analysis showed that patients who were initially treated with the combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI had a statistically significant prolonged median OS compared to 5FU, whereas neither the doublet of FOLFOX or FOLFIRI nor the combination of aflibercept+FOLFIRI displayed a statistically significant different prolonged median OS compared to 5FU (Table 6.5). Furthermore, presenting with a poor performance status at baseline demonstrated a negative prognostic impact on the patients. Moreover, for patients who continued to 2L SACT, our findings indicated that the median OS was comparable between patients who had FOLFOX then FOLFIRI versus those who were initiated on FOLFIRI and continued on FOLFOX (Table 6.8), whereas a longer median OS was demonstrated for patients who were initiated on cetuximab+ FOLFIRI and continued on FOLFOX (median OS 27.61 months) versus those who had FOLFOX initially then continued on cetuximab+ FOLFIRI (median OS 17.3 months).

Overall, comparing the survival findings of our fieldwork analysis (section 6.3.2) to those in the MA of observational studies (section 2.3.6.1) was challenging due to different SACTs utilised and reported in the observational studies included in the OS MA compared to those utilised in Scotland. While bevacizumab was the most commonly reported SACT to be used as first-line metastatic SACT in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents in the observational studies investigating the comparative effectiveness and safety of first-line mCRC SACTs, its use in Scotland has not yet been licenced by the SMC.

The findings of the MA pointed to the significant benefit of bevacizumab + chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone in the first-line settings of mCRC treatment in terms of improving overall survival (Figure 2.6), progression-free survival (Figure 2.13) and overall response rate (

Figure 2.18). However, the combination was associated with a statistically increased risk of non-haematological toxicities and a non-statistically significant increased risk for haematological toxicity (Figure 2.30 and Figure 2.35, respectively).

In contrast to the findings of our study, which demonstrated the survival benefits of cetuximab+FOLFIRI over 5FU, the findings of the MA did not demonstrate the same finding due to a lack of studies comparing cetuximab+ chemotherapy to chemotherapy alone. The majority of studies investigating the comparative effectiveness of cetuximab+chemotherapy compared this combination to chemotherapy+ targeted treatment, such as bevacizumab. Nevertheless, the findings of the MAs showed that the combination of cetuximab+chemotherapy was associated with an improved overall response rate compared to bevacizumab+ chemotherapy (2.3.6.3.1).

The findings of our field study conducted in NHS GGC agreed with the findings of the OS MA in terms of the lack of survival benefits of any chemotherapeutic agents over each other (e.g., 5FU, capecitabine, FOLFOX, FOLFIRI) (section 6.3.2.3 and section 2.3.6.1).

Furthermore, the findings of the MAs showed that the combination of bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy was associated with an increased hazard of disease progression and increased risk of neuropathy compared to bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy (Figure 2.14). The combination of bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based chemotherapy was, however, associated with a significantly higher risk for severe diarrhoea compared to bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin (section 2.3.6.4.2).

Finally, compared to other observational studies, the median OS for the patients initiating mCRC SACT in NHS GGC was inferior to those reported in other countries. This was explained by several reasons; first, it was assumed that all patients in our project presented initially

276

with metastasis (section 3.2.4.3), which is known as a negative prognostic factor in the context of mCRC, hence, resulting in inferior survival findings. Second, as no strict eligibility criteria were imposed, our cohort included patients who presented initially with poor prognosis, for example, patients with BRAF mutation, patients with poor performance status (ECOG PS \geq 2), and patients deemed as adjuvant rapid relapsers who received aflibercept+FOLFIRI as a first-line metastatic SACT were all included and considered to have a poor prognosis, thereby, the inclusion of these patients could have resulted in inferior overall survival findings. Finally, the inferior survival findings in NHS GGC could be partly explained by the country-specific management guidelines. For instance, our findings pointed to the lower rate of primary tumour resection in mCRC patients in NHS GGC compared to that reported in other countries. Although the intent of primary tumour resection was not known in our data (palliative or curative intent), the conservative selection of patients into surgical resection could have contributed to the lower survival.

7.2 Strengths and limitations

This thesis has several strengths. First, this thesis provides a comprehensive picture of the use and clinical outcomes of mCRC SACTs in NHS GGC, the largest health board in Scotland covering almost 25% of the entire Scottish population, including the factors that influenced the selection of mCRC SACTs, the treatment pathways for patients initiating mCRC SACT, and the treatment outcomes for these patients including median overall survival and time to initiate next treatment.

Furthermore, this thesis synthesised the effectiveness and safety findings of first-line mCRC SACT findings of observational studies using a Systematic review and meta-analysis approach, which provided a better insight toward the treatment outcomes of mCRC in other countries, and as a result, could be considered useful to improve the practice of mCRC in NHS GGC and in Scotland upon comparing the findings and the reasons underlying these findings. Additionally, our fieldwork analysis was comprehensive, with no patients being excluded for specific features. Thereby reducing the likelihood of selection bias in the field work analysis and permitting our findings to be generalised for mCRC patients treated in the West of Scotland Cancer Network, which includes three NHS health boards beside NHS GGC (Ayrshire and Arran, Forth Valley, and Lanarkshire), and covers around half of the Scottish population (Table 3.1).

Moreover, this thesis has combined an array of diverse methods and techniques to answer the research questions and to synthesise the evidence from the primary observational study (COX regression and multinomial logistic regression in chapters 5 and 6, respectively) and secondary studies using the random effect meta-analysis in chapter 2. For instance, this thesis attempted to reduce the likelihood of bias arising in the observational type of studies through several techniques, such as the use of cox regression in survival analysis to adjust for confounding bias and the use of multiple imputations and the last observation carried backword technique to account for bias introduced by missing in data. The methods employed in the fieldwork analysis (chapter 5 and chapter 6) can be used as a roadmap for further and future studies in Scotland.

This thesis was further strengthened by the active, intensive engagement with the clinicians, allowing us to obtain valuable insights into the clinical relevance of the work, ensuring that the findings are applicable to real-world situations.

Nevertheless, this thesis has some limitations to be considered. First, missing variables represented a limitation within the fieldwork analysis (chapters 4, 5, and 6) as a number of variables were not available. For instance, the lack of recording information specific to the metastatic pattern, including the onset of metastasis (synchronous versus metachronous) and the burden of metastasis (number of metastatic sites and sites of metastases), had potential implications on both the comparability of the baseline characteristics to other studies and on the findings of treatment outcomes and factors influencing prescribing. Additionally, the stage in which the patients presented with was unknown, and assumptions were made that all patients presented initially with metastasis owing to the fact the Scottish Cancer Registry does not routinely update cancer records (section 3.2.4.3); therefore, patients who progress to stage IV CRC from previous stages were not expected to be captured. Consequently, the analysis of treatment outcomes could have been influenced by unmeasured confounders (such as the stage of disease at presentation and the metastatic pattern), a concern that is not unique to this thesis but frequently encountered in observational studies.

Moreover, as a result of potential inaccuracies in the diagnosis variable in the CEPAS dataset (section 3.3.2.1), determining SACT lines had to rely on a number of assumptions set with the lead oncologist. This, however, could possibly result in potential implications on the

278

generalisability of the findings. For instance, it was agreed with the lead oncologist to assume that if the SACT was stepped up (e.g., monotherapy to doublet) after less than four cycles, then both SACTs would be considered in the same line (Figure 3.2). However, this rule can vary in practice as different oncologists could implement different treatment strategies, hence, potentially affecting the generalisability of the findings.

Second, database completeness was another challenge in this thesis, especially in the fieldwork analysis. In this thesis, substantial missing in data presented mainly in two covariates within the field analysis: the type of mutation and the ECOG PS. Both variables were important to carry out the analysis of the factors influencing prescribing (chapter 5) and treatment outcomes (chapter 6). However, to account for missing in data, statistical methods were applied in these covariates and to reduce the impact of missing in data on the analysis (section 5.2.3 and section 6.2.4.6).

Third, the small sample size presented as another challenge for the fieldwork analysis, which resulted in two limitations: first, due to the restrictions imposed by the University of Glasgow safe haven on releasing data when the number of patients is less than five, we were unable to extract certain baseline characteristics that involved several categories (e.g., SIMD score, type of mutation, tumour sidedness), especially for SACTs with a small number of patients (e.g., aflibercept+FOLFIRI, where N=11) (Table 4.5). Hence, the comparability of our findings to those reported in other studies was limited by these rules. Second, as a result of the small sample size resulted in amplified effect sizes, especially in the analysis of the factors influencing the selection of SACTs (chapter 5). For instance, the majority of the patients who were treated with cetuximab+ FOLFIRI had a wild-type tumour (N=39 out of 43 patients), while part of the remaining patients treated with cetuximab+ FOLFIRI had mutant RAS tumour (N<5 patients). When the analysis for the factors influencing prescribing of SACT was carried out, the mutant RAS category was set as the reference category. As a result of the very small number of patients with mutant-RAS tumour who were treated with cetuximab+ FOLFIRI (N<5 patients) compared to those with wild-RAS tumour treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI (N=39), the odds ratio for patients with wild-RAS tumour treated with cetuximab+FOLFIRI was amplified with a large confidence interval (Table 5.4). This, however, could potentially pose some issues regarding the reliability of the magnitude of effect, but not necessarily the direction or significance of the association (Lin et al., 2013).

In this context, it is important to highlight that access to data for this thesis was made available in early 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic significantly affected data availability for this PhD thesis, preventing the acquisition of additional data. The pandemic disrupted data collection processes as research activities were limited or suspended in various research sites. Additionally, accessing medical records or databases for data extraction was hindered due to diverted resources and personnel prioritizing COVID-19-related activities.

Finally, one of the major limitations of the meta-analysis was the challenge posed by obtaining the effect sizes, especially for the survival outcomes. This problem presented in particular for studies not reporting the effect size, hence, warranting to obtain the effect size indirectly through reconstruction of the Kaplan-Meier curve. For studies with relatively tangled curves, repeating the process more than once was sometimes needed to ensure the accuracy of the output. Additionally, the limited number of studies, particularly within the SACT group comparing bevacizumab+ CT to CT alone in both the haematological and non-haematological toxicity met-analyses has limited our ability to draw a robust conclusion regarding the comparative safety of this SACT group (Figure 2.30 and Figure 2.35).

7.3 Implications of the thesis

7.3.1 Implications for policymakers

The meta-analyses conducted in chapter 2 showed an overall survival, progression-free survival, and overall response benefit for bevacizumab, reinforcing its use in the clinical practice settings for mCRC. In Scotland, bevacizumab combined with fluoropyrimidine-based chemotherapy is not recommended for use in first-line treatment for mCRC patients by the SMC following a submission for Avastin[®], the originator of bevacizumab in 2005 and a revision in 2013 for the decision due to concerns regarding the safety of bevacizumab, including the increased risk of elevated blood pressure, thromboembolic events, and bleeding, in addition to the lack of cost analysis provided by Roche, the manufacturer of Avastin (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2006, The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2010). However, a UK-based population study, sponsored by Roche, the manufacturer of Avastin was published in 2019 to assess the safety and effectiveness of bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy for mCRC patients in real-world settings across the UK. The study (ACORN) confirmed the safety profile of bevacizumab in

combination with chemotherapy in real-world settings without raising new concerns on these reported by clinical trials and previous population-based studies for most common toxicities of bevacizumab) (Khakoo et al., 2019). Moreover, as of January 2022, the patency of Avastin[®] has expired in Europe (European Medicines Agency, 2019), allowing for other biosimilars to be rolled out and reducing the cost of the medicine. Hence, given the findings of the ACORN study, which confirmed the safety profile of bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy in the UK population, and the reduced cost of bevacizumab biosimilars following the expiration of its patency, the findings of our MA can be used as complementary evidence to the currently existing evidence on the advantages offered by bevacizumab and along with a budget impact analysis to inform decision-makers on the benefits of incorporating bevacizumab with chemotherapy as a standard first-line SACT for mCRC patients in Scotland.

Furthermore, our fieldwork analysis findings demonstrated the survival benefits offered by the addition of targeted therapies (e.g., cetuximab) to standard chemotherapy (e.g., FOLFOX or FOLFOIRI). Since our study revealed no statistically significant difference in terms of median OS between the chemotherapeutic agent (5FU, FOLFOX and FOLFIRI - Table 6.5), which was further supported by the findings of the OS MA (Figure 2.6), policymakers should ensure that more patients with mCRC have access to targeted treatments in combination with chemotherapy whenever they are eligible and able to tolerate the treatment.

Additionally, our study identified a substantially lower rate of primary tumour resection among mCRC patients in NHS GGC compared to other observational studies, which could potentially impact treatment outcomes. Policymakers should ensure that primary tumour resection is accessible to patients who need it, regardless of their location or socio-economic status. This includes ensuring that there is adequate funding and staffing for the procedure and that patients have access to trained and experienced surgeons.

7.3.2 Implications for practice

This thesis identified several factors to be taken into consideration when therapeutic choices are discussed with the patients, as well as the treatment outcomes associated with these choices. For patients, it is important to know the outcomes of a particular SACT in terms of its effectiveness and safety, which could be helpful in terms of making informed decisions about their treatment options and allowing the patients to have realistic expectations about the outcomes. Additionally, healthcare providers can use these findings to evaluate the riskbenefit ratio of different treatments and make informed decisions about which treatments to prescribe based on individual patient factors. For instance, although the CMGs did not define gender as a factor to be considered when the decision regarding certain SACT is made, this thesis identified that gender was an important factor to be considered in the process of treatment decision-making with female patients less likely to be prescribed cetuximab+ FOLFIRI, possibly due to the increased risk of toxicities. However, upon discussing the therapeutic options with female patients, the clinician is expected to highlight that despite the additional survival benefits offered by this combination, this combination could possibly be associated with an increased risk of toxicities. Furthermore, the dissemination of the findings of this thesis can be used to inform colorectal cancer clinicians of the choices of SACTs made by other clinicians, as well as the outcomes associated with these choices. For example, the use of aflibercept+ FOLFIRI was not expected in the 1L settings since it is licenced in Scotland for use after the failure of first-line oxaliplatin-containing regimen. In this thesis, aflibercept+ FOLFIRI was prescribed for those patients who progressed rapidly after adjuvant therapy, which often contains oxaliplatin. And despite the poor prognosis of these patients, the median OS was 13.9 months. Other clinicians may use this finding either to adopt the treatment strategy or to manage the patient's expectations regarding the median OS when the therapeutic options are discussed.

7.4 Future work and recommendations for conducting further

research.

This thesis has generated a number of interesting findings with implications and recommendations for practice. Nevertheless, many questions remain to be answered. First, this thesis displayed the complexity of mCRC treatment in clinical practice, where patients can receive more than one treatment line. In this thesis, 75.5% of the patients (N=166) received only one SACT line, whereas 54 (24.5%) patients had more than one SACT line. Statistical analysis with multiple treatment lines is challenging. Nevertheless, crude overall survival for these treatment pathways was obtained (Table **6.8**) despite the need to interpret the findings cautiously, as they were not adjusted for possible confounders due to the small sample size. However, as limiting the survival analysis and treatment outcomes to one SACT line can result in limitations on the generalisability of the findings. Future research can carry

out further analysis to investigate the impact of sequential SACT (i.e., sequential targeted therapy) on outcomes, especially with a larger sample size.

Moreover, in this thesis, identifying treatment outcomes for subsets of patients, including elderly patients > 65 years, those with poor performance status, or patients with mutant BRAF gene was limited by the small sample representing these populations (Table 4.5). Given that a number of new mCRC SACTs, especially targeted treatments and immunotherapies, were recently licenced in Scotland following the end of this study timeframe in 2016, it is important to explore the treatment outcomes for these subsets of patients receiving the newly approved mCRC SACTs. For instance, the combination of encorafenib+ cetuximab was licenced by the SMC in 2021 to be used across NHS Scotland for the management of patients presenting with mutant BRAF mCRC (Scottish Medicine Consortium, 2021). Future research may be conducted to investigate the treatment outcomes of newly licenced medicines such as encorafenib+ cetuximab and other newly licenced mCRC SACTs in real-world settings. for newly licenced mCRC SACTs in Scotland). Additionally, although this project was conducted in NHS GGC, the largest health board in Scotland, replicating the survival analysis and the factors influencing mCRC SACT prescribing nationally across the 14 health boards would be valuable in informing the practice, especially given that the management of mCRC patients might vary across the three Scottish cancer networks, and given the variability in the extent of deprivation across the 14 health boards. Additionally, in contrast to the fieldwork analysis in this thesis which was conducted over two years with 14 months of follow-up, future research could be conducted over a longer duration of time to explore the utilisation trend of mCRC SACTs nationally and visualise the change in prescribing trend from chemotherapies to targeted treatments and finally the immunotherapies.

Second, within this project, we attempted to identify the factors that influence the selection of mCRC SACTs in practice using record linkage. Although quantification of factors influencing the selection of SACTs is essential to understand the association between different patient, disease, and treatment response-related factors with the selection of 1L mCRC SACT, it is necessary to deepen this understanding by supplementing this study with qualitative research, which provides a more in-depth and nuanced understanding of the complex and subjective factors that play a role in decision-making. This includes understanding 1- the patients' perspective, preferences, and values, which can play a role in the decision to prescribe systemic therapy; 2- clinicians' perspective, including their beliefs, attitudes, and decision-making processes, 3- contextual factors, including the health care system, policies, and cultural norms, and 4-the barriers and facilitators to the prescribing of SACT, such as the availability of treatments. This information can be used to inform policy and practice changes to improve the prescribing of mCRC SACT. Qualitative research methods that can be used to address these gaps include in-depth interviews with clinicians, policymakers, and patients for a detailed exploration of the perspectives and experiences of patients, policymakers, and clinicians. Additionally, focus group meetings can bring together a group of patients or clinicians to discuss their experiences and perspectives on the decision of selected SACT. Finally, and most importantly,

Finally, in recent years, significant attention has been directed towards investigating the role of emulated targeted trials in generating real-world evidence, particularly in light of advancements in statistical methods aimed at mitigating the biases inherent in observational data. Emulated targeted trials aim to simulate the findings of RCTs using real-world data, while diligently accounting for the inherent limitations associated with observational studies. These trials entail identifying a control group of patients who would have met the eligibility criteria for a hypothetical RCT and subsequently matching them with a treated group of patients who received the targeted therapy. Rigorous statistical methods are then applied to compare the outcomes of these two groups while controlling for potential confounding factors.

The application of emulated targeted trials in the context of mCRC holds substantial promise, as it can furnish invaluable insights into the real-world effectiveness and safety of mCRC, aspects that may not be fully ascertainable through traditional RCTs. Additionally, emulated targeted trials present an opportunity to ameliorate the limitations encountered in observational studies, notably selection bias and confounding, through judicious group selection and matching procedures.

However, it is important to acknowledge that the implementation of emulated targeted trials necessitates specialized statistical analyses, such as propensity score matching, to achieve adequate adjustment and balance for baseline confounders. A potential caveat is that these analyses may entail a reduction in sample size, thereby potentially compromising the efficacy of bias reduction. Consequently, there arises a need for a larger sample size to ensure that emulated target trials are conducted with sufficient statistical power.

In conclusion, the availability of universal healthcare access in Scotland, coupled with comprehensive electronic health records covering the entire population and the exceptional quality and precision of Scottish administrative health data, along with the feasibility of record linkage, augurs well for the feasibility of replicating the analysis of this thesis project at a national level. Employing emulated target trial design methods and assumptions will facilitate the generation of robust real-world evidence from the existing wealth of data.

7.5 Final conclusion

The generation of real-world evidence from real-world data is an important process for improving patient care and advancing the field of cancer. By leveraging real-world evidence, healthcare providers can make informed decisions about the best treatments for their patients. The findings of this thesis show that treatment outcomes and factors influencing prescribing are closely interconnected, as the choice of treatment can impact patient outcomes, and the outcomes of treatment can, in turn, influence prescribing decisions.

In NHS GGC, treatment choices for first-line mCRC were made based on several factors, including patients' age and gender, tumour RAS status, and previous treatment response. However, for more than half of the patients, the initially selected systemic anti-cancer therapy comprised doublet chemotherapy of either FOLFOX, XELOX, or FOLFIRI, while the remaining patients were distributed almost equally between a monotherapy of 5FU and a triplet of cetuximab+ FOLFIRI or aflibercept+ FOLFIRI. The median overall survival for these patients was influenced by the initial mCRC SACT and the performance status. The combination of cetuximab+FOLFIRI demonstrated a statistically significant prolonged median overall survival compared to 5FU.

The results of this thesis also indicated an overall survival, progression-free survival, and overall response rate benefit for bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy with a statistically increased risk of non-haematological toxicities and a non-statistically significant increased risk for haematological toxicity.

Overall, real-world evidence can help to better understand the impact of systemic anticancer therapies of metastatic colorectal cancer, including the effectiveness and safety of different treatments in routine clinical practice, the factors that influence treatment choice, and the interplay between these factors and treatment outcomes. The findings of this thesis can be used by policymakers to inform the development of treatment guidelines and to allocate resources for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer in a more effective and efficient manner.

8 References

ABDEL-RAHMAN, O. 2019. Impact of Sex on Chemotherapy Toxicity and Efficacy Among Patients With Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: Pooled Analysis of 5 Randomized Trials. *Clinical Colorectal Cancer*, 18, 110-115.e2.

ACADEMIC AND CLINICAL CENTRAL OFFICE FOR RESEARCH AND DEVELPMENT. 2020. Lothian Research Safe Haven [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.accord.ed.ac.uk/researcher-access-research-data/lothian-research-safe-haven</u> [Accessed 17/09 2021].

- ACADEMIC AND CLINICAL CENTRAL OFFICE FOR RESEARCH AND DEVELPMENT. 2021. Personal identifiable information: Caldicott approval & information governance review [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.accord.scot/sites/default/files/GS008%20Personal%20Identifiable%20I</u> <u>nformation_Caldicott%20Approval%20and%20Information%20Governance%20Revi</u> <u>ew%20v3.0.pdf</u> [Accessed 17/04 2022].
- AGRESTI, A. 1996. *An introduction to categorical data analysis,* Hoboken, New Jersey, John Wiley & Sons.
- ALLISON, P. 2012. *How Relevant is the Independence of Irrelevant Alternatives?* [Online]. Available: <u>https://statisticalhorizons.com/iia/</u> [Accessed 12/11 2022].
- ALTMAN, D. G., DE STAVOLA, B. L., LOVE, S. B. & STEPNIEWSKA, K. A. 1995. Review of survival analyses published in cancer journals. *Br J Cancer*, 72, 511-8.
- AMADO, R. G., WOLF, M., PEETERS, M., VAN CUTSEM, E., SIENA, S., FREEMAN, D. J., JUAN, T., SIKORSKI, R., SUGGS, S., RADINSKY, R., PATTERSON, S. D. & CHANG, D. D. 2008.
 Wild-Type KRAS Is Required for Panitumumab Efficacy in Patients With Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 26, 1626-1634.
- APARICIO, T., DESRAME, J., LECOMTE, T., MITRY, E., BELLOC, J., ETIENNEY, I.,
 MONTEMBAULT, S., VAYRE, L., LOCHER, C., EZENFIS, J., ARTRU, P., MABRO, M.,
 DOMINGUEZ, S. & AGEO 2003. Oxaliplatin- or irinotecan-based chemotherapy for
 metastatic colorectal cancer in the elderly. *Br J Cancer*, 89, 1439-44.
- ARNOLD, M., SIERRA, M. S., LAVERSANNE, M., SOERJOMATARAM, I., JEMAL, A. & BRAY, F. 2017a. Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. *Gut*, 66, 683-691.
- ARNOLD, N., LUEZA, B., DOUILLARD, J. Y., PEETERS, M., LENZ, H. J., VENOOK, A.,
 HEINEMANN, V., VAN CUTSEM, E., PIGNON, J. P., TABERNERO, J., CERVANTES, A. &
 CIARDIELLO, F. 2017b. Prognostic and predictive value of primary tumour side in
 patients with RAS wild-type metastatic colorectal cancer treated with
 chemotherapy and EGFR directed antibodies in six randomized trials. *Ann Oncol*, 28, 1713-1729.
- ARTAC, M., COSKUN, H. S., DANE, F., KARABULUT, B., KORKMAZ, L., KARAAGAC, M., CABUK, D., KARABULUT, S., FARUK AYKAN, N., DORUK, H., AVCI, N. & TURHAL, N. S. 2016.
 Benefit of Bevacizumab-Based Frontline Therapy in Patients with Metastatic
 Colorectal Cancer (mCRC): a Turkish Oncology Group Study. J Gastrointest Cancer, 47, 264-72.
- AYKAN, N. F. & OZATLI, T. 2020. Objective response rate assessment in oncology: Current situation and future expectations. *World J Clin Oncol*, **11**, 53-73.
- BAI, L., WANG, F., LI, Z. Z., REN, C., ZHANG, D. S., ZHAO, Q., LU, Y. X., WANG, D. S., JU, H. Q., QIU, M. Z., WANG, Z. Q., WANG, F. H. & XU, R. H. 2016. Chemotherapy plus
bevacizumab versus chemotherapy plus cetuximab as first-line treatment for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: Results of a registry-based cohort analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore),* 95, e4531.

- BAI, L., ZHANG, D. S., WU, W. J., REN, C., WANG, D. S., WANG, F., QIU, M. Z. & XU, R. H.
 2015. Clinical outcomes of Chinese patients with metastatic colorectal cancer receiving first-line bevacizumab-containing treatment. *Med Oncol*, 32, 469.
- BAILLY, C. 2019. Irinotecan: 25 years of cancer treatment. *Pharmacol Res*, 148, 104398.
- BARANISKIN, A., BUCHBERGER, B., POX, C., GRAEVEN, U., HOLCH, J. W., SCHMIEGEL, W. & HEINEMANN, V. 2019. Efficacy of bevacizumab in first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cancer*, 106, 37-44.
- BARRAS, D. 2015. BRAF Mutation in Colorectal Cancer: An Update. *Biomark Cancer*, 7, 9-12.
- BAYLISS, E. A., EDWARDS, A. E., STEINER, J. F. & MAIN, D. S. 2008. Processes of care desired by elderly patients with multimorbidities. *Fam Pract*, 25, 287-93.
- BEGG, C. B. & MAZUMDAR, M. 1994. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics*, 50, 1088-101.
- BENCSIKOVA, B., BORTLICEK, Z., HALAMKOVA, J., OSTRIZKOVA, L., KISS, I., MELICHAR, B., PAVLIK, T., DUSEK, L., VALIK, D., VYZULA, R. & ZDRAZILOVA-DUBSKA, L. 2015.
 Efficacy of bevacizumab and chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: broadening KRAS-focused clinical view. *BMC Gastroenterol*, 15, 37.
- BENDELL, J. C., BEKAII-SAAB, T. S., COHN, A. L., HURWITZ, H. I., KOZLOFF, M., TEZCAN, H., ROACH, N., MUN, Y., FISH, S., FLICK, E. D., DALAL, D. & GROTHEY, A. 2012.
 Treatment patterns and clinical outcomes in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer initially treated with FOLFOX-bevacizumab or FOLFIRI-bevacizumab: results from ARIES, a bevacizumab observational cohort study. *Oncologist*, 17, 1486-95.
- BENITEZ MAJANO, S., DI GIROLAMO, C., RACHET, B., MARINGE, C., GUREN, M. G., GLIMELIUS, B., IVERSEN, L. H., SCHNELL, E. A., LUNDQVIST, K., CHRISTENSEN, J., MORRIS, M., COLEMAN, M. P. & WALTERS, S. 2019. Surgical treatment and survival from colorectal cancer in Denmark, England, Norway, and Sweden: a populationbased study. *The Lancet Oncology*, 20, 74-87.
- BENNOUNA, J., PHELIP, J. M., ANDRE, T., ASSELAIN, B., SEBASTIEN, K. & DUCREUX, M. 2017. Observational Cohort Study of Patients With Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Initiating Chemotherapy in Combination With Bevacizumab (CONCERT). *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 16, 129-140 e4.
- BÉRARD, A. 2021. Pharmacoepidemiology Research-Real-World Evidence for Decision Making. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12.
- BILLER, L. H. & SCHRAG, D. 2021. Diagnosis and Treatment of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Review. JAMA, 325, 669-685.
- BIRIM, O. 2003. Validation of the Charlson comorbidity index in patients with operated primary non-small cell lung cancer. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 23, 30-34.
- BISMUTH, H., ADAM, R., LEVI, F., FARABOS, C., WAECHTER, F., CASTAING, D., MAJNO, P. & ENGERRAN, L. 1996. Resection of nonresectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Ann Surg*, 224, 509-20; discussion 520-2.
- BLANKERS, M., KOETER, M. W. & SCHIPPERS, G. M. 2010. Missing data approaches in eHealth research: simulation study and a tutorial for nonmathematically inclined researchers. *J Med Internet Res*, 12, e54.
- BLICK, S. K. & SCOTT, L. J. 2007. Cetuximab: a review of its use in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck and metastatic colorectal cancer. *Drugs*, 67, 2585-607.

- BLOEM, L. T., DE ABREU LOURENCO, R., CHIN, M., LY, B. & HAAS, M. 2016. Factors Impacting Treatment Choice in the First-Line Treatment of Colorectal Cancer. *Oncol Ther*, 4, 103-116.
- BLONDE, L., KHUNTI, K., HARRIS, S. B., MEIZINGER, C. & SKOLNIK, N. S. 2018. Interpretation and Impact of Real-World Clinical Data for the Practicing Clinician. *Adv Ther*, 35, 1763-1774.
- BODY, A., PRENEN, H., LATHAM, S., LAM, M., TIPPING-SMITH, S., RAGHUNATH, A. & SEGELOV, E. 2021. The Role of Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Locally Advanced Colon Cancer. *Cancer Manag Res*, 13, 2567-2579.
- BOKEMEYER, C., BONDARENKO, I., HARTMANN, J. T., DE BRAUD, F., SCHUCH, G., ZUBEL, A., CELIK, I., SCHLICHTING, M. & KORALEWSKI, P. 2011. Efficacy according to biomarker status of cetuximab plus FOLFOX-4 as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: the OPUS study. *Ann Oncol*, 22, 1535-1546.
- BOKEMEYER, C., BONDARENKO, I., MAKHSON, A., HARTMANN, J. T., APARICIO, J., DE
 BRAUD, F., DONEA, S., LUDWIG, H., SCHUCH, G., STROH, C., LOOS, A. H., ZUBEL, A.
 & KORALEWSKI, P. 2009. Fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin with and without cetuximab in the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 27, 663-71.
- BOLAND, C. R. & GOEL, A. 2010. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 138, 2073-2087 e3.
- BORCOMAN, E., NANDIKOLLA, A., LONG, G., GOEL, S. & LE TOURNEAU, C. 2018. Patterns of Response and Progression to Immunotherapy. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book*, 38, 169-178.
- BORENSTEIN, M., HEDGES, L. V., HIGGINS, J. P. T. & ROTHSTEIN, H. R. 2009. *Introduction to Meta-Analysis*, Wiley Online Library.
- BORLAND, V. 2018. National Requirements for Laboratory Information Management Systems (LIMS) in NHS Scotland. 1.2 ed.
- BOS, J. 1989. Ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review. *Cancer research*, 49, 4682-9.
- BOTREL, T. E. A., CLARK, L. G. O., PALADINI, L. & CLARK, O. A. C. 2016. Efficacy and safety of bevacizumab plus chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone in previously untreated advanced or metastatic colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 677.
- BOUTTELL, J., TAN, Y. Y., CREED, D., MCGAFFIN, G., HAWKINS, N., MCLAUGHLIN, R., SMITH, G., WESTWOOD, P., WILLIAMS, N. & GRAHAM, J. 2019. Context-Specific Economic Evaluation for Molecular Pathology Tests: An Application in Colorectal Cancer in the West of Scotland. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care*, 35, 327-333.
- BRAY, F., FERLAY, J., SOERJOMATARAM, I., SIEGEL, R. L., TORRE, L. A. & JEMAL, A. 2018. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 68, 394-424.
- BRESLOW, N. E. 1975. Analysis of Survival Data under the Proportional Hazards Model. International Statistical Review / Revue Internationale de Statistique, 43.
- BROCKWELL, S. E. & GORDON, I. R. 2001. A comparison of statistical methods for metaanalysis. *Stat Med*, 20, 825-40.
- BRODY, T. 2012. Oncology Endpoints. *Clinical trials* :, 213-236.
- BUCHLER, T., PAVLIK, T., MELICHAR, B., BORTLICEK, Z., USIAKOVA, Z., DUSEK, L., KISS, I.,
 KOHOUTEK, M., BENESOVA, V., VYZULA, R., ABRAHAMOVA, J. & OBERMANNOVA,
 R. 2014. Bevacizumab with 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin versus
 bevacizumab with capecitabine and oxaliplatin for metastatic colorectal carcinoma:
 results of a large registry-based cohort analysis. *BMC Cancer*, 14, 323.

- BURZYKOWSKI, T., BUYSE, M., PICCART-GEBHART, M. J., SLEDGE, G., CARMICHAEL, J., LUCK, H. J., MACKEY, J. R., NABHOLTZ, J. M., PARIDAENS, R., BIGANZOLI, L., JASSEM, J., BONTENBAL, M., BONNETERRE, J., CHAN, S., BASARAN, G. A. & THERASSE, P. 2008. Evaluation of tumor response, disease control, progression-free survival, and time to progression as potential surrogate end points in metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 26, 1987-92.
- BYRNE, M. & SAIF, M. W. 2019. Selecting treatment options in refractory metastatic colorectal cancer. *Onco Targets Ther*, 12, 2271-2278.
- CAINAP, C., UNGUR, R. A., BOCHIS, O. V., ACHIMAS, P., VLAD, C., HAVASI, A., VIDREAN, A., FARCAS, A., TAT, T., GHERMAN, A., PICIU, A., BOTA, M., CONSTANTIN, A. M., POP, L. A., MANIU, D., CRISAN, O., CIOBAN, C. V., BALACESCU, O., COZA, O., BALACESCU, L., MARTA, M. M., DRONCA, E. & CAINAP, S. 2021. Partnering bevacizumab with irinotecan as first line-therapy of metastatic colorectal cancer improves progression free survival-A retrospective analysis. *PLoS One*, 16, e0248922.
- CAMPBELL, B. A., SCARISBRICK, J. J., KIM, Y. H., WILCOX, R. A., MCCORMACK, C. & PRINCE, H. M. 2020. Time to Next Treatment as a Meaningful Endpoint for Trials of Primary Cutaneous Lymphoma. *Cancers*, 12.
- CAMPBELL, D. T. 1957. Factors relevant to the validity of experiments in social settings. *Psychol Bull*, 54, 297-312.
- CANCER MEDICINES OUTCOMES PROGRAMME, NHS GREATER GLASGOW AND CLYDE & UNIVERSITY OF STRATHCLYDE GLASGOW 2020. Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme (CMOP) Phase 1 Report (October 2016 March 2020).
- CANCER MEDICINES OUTCOMES PROGRAMME TEAM 2020. Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme (CMOP) Phase 1 Report (October 2016 – March 2020).
- CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2021. *Bowel cancer incidence statistics* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/bowel-cancer/incidence#heading-Zero</u> [Accessed 13/06 2022].
- CARETHERS, J. M. & JUNG, B. H. 2015. Genetics and Genetic Biomarkers in Sporadic Colorectal Cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 149, 1177-1190 e3.
- CASSIDY, J. & MISSET, J. L. 2002. Oxaliplatin-related side effects: characteristics and management. *Semin Oncol*, 29, 11-20.
- CAVE, A., KURZ, X. & ARLETT, P. 2019. Real-World Data for Regulatory Decision Making: Challenges and Possible Solutions for Europe. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 106, 36-39.
- CHAKEDIS, J. & SCHMIDT, C. R. 2018. Surgical Treatment of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. Surgical Oncology Clinics of North America, 27, 377-399.
- CHAN, M., HUGH-YEUN, K., GRESHAM, G., SPEERS, C. H., KENNECKE, H. F. & CHEUNG, W. Y.
 2017. Population-Based Patterns and Factors Associated With Underuse of
 Palliative Systemic Therapy in Elderly Patients With Metastatic Colon Cancer. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 16, 147-153.
- CHARLSON, M. E., POMPEI, P., ALES, K. L. & MACKENZIE, C. R. 1987. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: Development and validation. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 40, 373-383.
- CHAU, I., FAKIH, M., GARCIA-ALFONSO, P., LINKE, Z., RUIZ CASADO, A., MARQUES, E. P., PICARD, P., CELANOVIC, M. & CARTWRIGHT, T. 2020. Safety and Effectiveness of Aflibercept + Fluorouracil, Leucovorin, and Irinotecan (FOLFIRI) for the Treatment of Patients with Metastatic Colorectal Cancer (mCRC) in Current Clinical Practice: OZONE Study. *Cancers (Basel)*, 12.
- CHEN, C. C., PARIKH, K., ABOUZAID, S., PURNOMO, L., MCGUINESS, C. B., HUSSEIN, M. & WADE, R. L. 2017. Real-World Treatment Patterns, Time to Next Treatment, and

Economic Outcomes in Relapsed or Refractory Multiple Myeloma Patients Treated with Pomalidomide or Carfilzomib. *J Manag Care Spec Pharm,* 23, 236-246.

- CHENG, Y. & SONG, W. 2015. Efficacy of FOLFOXIRI versus XELOXIRI plus bevacizumab in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Int J Clin Exp Med*, **8**, 18713-20.
- CHEUNG, M. W. 2019. A Guide to Conducting a Meta-Analysis with Non-Independent Effect Sizes. *Neuropsychol Rev*, 29, 387-396.
- CHEUNG, W. Y., NEVILLE, B. A. & EARLE, C. C. 2009. Etiology of delays in the initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy and their impact on outcomes for Stage II and III rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 52, 1054-63; discussion 1064.
- CHIARA, S., NOBILE, M. T., VINCENTI, M., LIONETTO, R., GOZZA, A., BARZACCHI, M. C., SANGUINETI, O., REPETTO, L. & ROSSO, R. 1998. Advanced colorectal cancer in the elderly: results of consecutive trials with 5-fluorouracil-based chemotherapy. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 42, 336-40.
- CHIBAUDEL, B., TOURNIGAND, C., ANDRÉ, T. & DE GRAMONT, A. 2011. Therapeutic strategy in unresectable metastatic colorectal cancer. *Therapeutic Advances in Medical Oncology*, 4, 75-89.
- CHO, W. K., CHOI, D. H., PARK, H. C., PARK, W., YU, J. I., PARK, Y. S., PARK, J. O., LIM, H. Y., KANG, W. K., KIM, H. C., CHO, Y. B., YUN, S. H. & LEE, W. Y. 2017. Elevated CEA is associated with worse survival in recurrent rectal cancer. *Oncotarget*, 8, 105936-105941.
- CIOMBOR, K. K. & BERLIN, J. 2014. Aflibercept--a decoy VEGF receptor. *Curr Oncol Rep,* 16, 368.
- CIS ONCOLOGY. 2018. ChemoCare Goes Live across NHS Scotland [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cis-healthcare.com/latest/chemocare-goes-live-across-nhs-scotland/</u> [Accessed 10/12 2020].
- CLANCY, C., BURKE, J. P., KALADY, M. F. & COFFEY, J. C. 2013. BRAF mutation is associated with distinct clinicopathological characteristics in colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Colorectal Dis*, 15, e711-8.
- CLARK, G. R., ANDERSON, A. S., GODFREY, T. G., STRACHAN, J. A., FRASER, C. G. & STEELE, R. J. 2020. Variation in changes in the incidence of colorectal cancer by age and association with screening uptake: an observational study. *BMJ Open*, 10, e037925.
- COCHRAN, W. G. 1954. The Combination of Estimates from Different Experiments. *Biometrics*, 10.
- COHN, L. D. & BECKER, B. J. 2003. How meta-analysis increases statistical power. *Psychol Methods*, 8, 243-53.
- COLLINS, L. M., SCHAFER, J. L. & KAM, C. M. 2001. A comparison of inclusive and restrictive strategies in modern missing data procedures. *Psychol Methods*, 6, 330-51.
- COOPER, H. & HEDGES, L. V. 1994. *The handbook of research synthesis.*, Russell Sage Foundation.
- CORTINA, J. 1993. Interaction, nonlinearity, and multicollinearity: Implications for multiple regression. *Journal of Management*, 19, 915-922.
- COX .D. R 1972. Regression Models and Life-Tables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological),* 34, 187-220.
- CRANEY, T. A. & SURLES, J. G. 2002. Model-Dependent Variance Inflation Factor Cutoff Values. *Quality Engineering*, 14, 391-403.
- CRESTAN, D., TROJNIAK, M. P., FRANCESCON, S., FORNASIER, G. & BALDO, P. 2020. Pharmacovigilance of anti-cancer medicines: opportunities and challenges. *Expert Opin Drug Saf,* 19, 849-860.

- CRONIN-FENTON, D. P., NORGAARD, M., JACOBSEN, J., GARNE, J. P., EWERTZ, M., LASH, T.
 L. & SORENSEN, H. T. 2007. Comorbidity and survival of Danish breast cancer patients from 1995 to 2005. *Br J Cancer*, 96, 1462-8.
- CUI, Y. & GUO, Y. 2022. Publisher Correction to: The effectiveness and safety of bevacizumab versus cetuximab in the treatment of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Clin Pharm*, 44, 1572.
- CUNNINGHAM, D., HUMBLET, Y., SIENA, S., KHAYAT, D., BLEIBERG, H., SANTORO, A., BETS, D., MUESER, M., HARSTRICK, A., VERSLYPE, C., CHAU, I. & VAN CUTSEM, E. 2004. Cetuximab monotherapy and cetuximab plus irinotecan in irinotecan-refractory metastatic colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 351, 337-45.
- CUNNINGHAM, D., LANG, I., MARCUELLO, E., LORUSSO, V., OCVIRK, J., SHIN, D. B., JONKER, D., OSBORNE, S., ANDRE, N., WATERKAMP, D. & SAUNDERS, M. P. 2013. Bevacizumab plus capecitabine versus capecitabine alone in elderly patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer (AVEX): an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *The Lancet Oncology*, 14, 1077-1085.
- CURTIS, J. R., FOSTER, P. J. & SAAG, K. G. 2019. Tools and Methods for Real-World Evidence Generation. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*, 45, 275-289.
- D. R. COX 1972. Regression Models and Life-Tables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological),* 34, 187-220.
- D'AGOSTINO, R. B., JR. & D'AGOSTINO, R. B., SR. 2007. Estimating treatment effects using observational data. *JAMA*, 297, 314-6.
- DA SILVA, W. C., DE ARAUJO, V. E., LIMA, E., DOS SANTOS, J. B. R., SILVA, M., ALMEIDA, P., DE ASSIS ACURCIO, F., GODMAN, B., KURDI, A., CHERCHIGLIA, M. L. & ANDRADE, E.
 I. G. 2018. Comparative Effectiveness and Safety of Monoclonal Antibodies (Bevacizumab, Cetuximab, and Panitumumab) in Combination with Chemotherapy for Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *BioDrugs*, 32, 585-606.
- DAI, J., CHEN, Y., GONG, Y., WEI, J., CUI, X., YU, H., ZHAO, W., GU, D. & CHEN, J. 2019. The efficacy and safety of irinotecan +/- bevacizumab compared with oxaliplatin +/- bevacizumab for metastatic colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*), 98, e17384.
- DE ANGELIS, R., SANT, M., COLEMAN, M. P., FRANCISCI, S., BAILI, P., PIERANNUNZIO, D., TRAMA, A., VISSER, O., BRENNER, H., ARDANAZ, E., BIELSKA-LASOTA, M., ENGHOLM, G., NENNECKE, A., SIESLING, S., BERRINO, F. & CAPOCACCIA, R. 2014. Cancer survival in Europe 1999–2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE-5 a population-based study. *The Lancet Oncology*, 15, 23-34.
- DE FALCO, V., NAPOLITANO, S., ROSELLO, S., HUERTA, M., CERVANTES, A., CIARDIELLO, F. & TROIANI, T. 2020. How we treat metastatic colorectal cancer. *ESMO Open*, 4, e000813.
- DE GRAMONT, A., BOSSET, J. F., MILAN, C., ROUGIER, P., BOUCHE, O., ETIENNE, P. L., MORVAN, F., LOUVET, C., GUILLOT, T., FRANCOIS, E. & BEDENNE, L. 1997a. Randomized trial comparing monthly low-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus with bimonthly high-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus plus continuous infusion for advanced colorectal cancer: a French intergroup study. *J Clin Oncol*, 15, 808-15.
- DE GRAMONT, A., BOSSET, J. F., MILAN, C., ROUGIER, P., BOUCHÉ, O., ETIENNE, P. L., MORVAN, F., LOUVET, C., GUILLOT, T., FRANÇOIS, E. & BEDENNE, L. 1997b. Randomized trial comparing monthly low-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus with bimonthly high-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus plus continuous

infusion for advanced colorectal cancer: a French intergroup study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, **15**, 808-815.

- DE GRAMONT, A., FIGER, A., SEYMOUR, M., HOMERIN, M., HMISSI, A., CASSIDY, J., BONI, C., CORTES-FUNES, H., CERVANTES, A., FREYER, G., PAPAMICHAEL, D., LE BAIL, N., LOUVET, C., HENDLER, D., DE BRAUD, F., WILSON, C., MORVAN, F. & BONETTI, A. 2000. Leucovorin and fluorouracil with or without oxaliplatin as first-line treatment in advanced colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 18, 2938-47.
- DE ROOCK, W., CLAES, B., BERNASCONI, D., DE SCHUTTER, J., BIESMANS, B., FOUNTZILAS, G., KALOGERAS, K. T., KOTOULA, V., PAPAMICHAEL, D., LAURENT-PUIG, P., PENAULT-LLORCA, F., ROUGIER, P., VINCENZI, B., SANTINI, D., TONINI, G., CAPPUZZO, F., FRATTINI, M., MOLINARI, F., SALETTI, P., DE DOSSO, S., MARTINI, M., BARDELLI, A., SIENA, S., SARTORE-BIANCHI, A., TABERNERO, J., MACARULLA, T., DI FIORE, F., GANGLOFF, A. O., CIARDIELLO, F., PFEIFFER, P., QVORTRUP, C., HANSEN, T. P., VAN CUTSEM, E., PIESSEVAUX, H., LAMBRECHTS, D., DELORENZI, M. & TEJPAR, S. 2010. Effects of KRAS, BRAF, NRAS, and PIK3CA mutations on the efficacy of cetuximab plus chemotherapy in chemotherapy-refractory metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective consortium analysis. *Lancet Oncol*, 11, 753-62.
- DE ROSA, M., PACE, U., REGA, D., COSTABILE, V., DURATURO, F., IZZO, P. & DELRIO, P. 2015. Genetics, diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer (Review). *Oncol Rep,* 34, 1087-96.
- DEEKS, J. J. & HIGGINS, J. P. 2010. *Statistical algorithms in Review Manager 5* [Online]. Available: <u>https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/statistical-methods-revman5</u> [Accessed 25/01 2022].
- DEEKS, J. J., HIGGINS, J. P. & ALTMAN, D. G. 2021. Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.2.* www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- DEGIRMENCIOGLU S, T. O., MENEKSE S, DOGAN M, HACIOGLU B, OKTAY E, ERDEM D, ARPACI E, ULUC BO, TURHAL S, YILMAZ M, PILANCI KN, SAKIN A, ARAZ M, COKMERT S, OZDEMIR O, SEN E, NAYIR E. A, 2019. A retrospective analysis on first-line bevacizumab, cetuximab, and panitumumab-containing regimens in patients with RASwild metastatic colorectal cancer: A Collaborative Study by Turkish Oncology Group (TOG). J. BUON, 24, 136-142.
- DENAXAS, S., DIREK, K., GONZALEZ-IZQUIERDO, A., PIKOULA, M., CAKIROGLU, A., MOORE, J., HEMINGWAY, H. & SMEETH, L. 2017. Methods for enhancing the reproducibility of biomedical research findings using electronic health records. *BioData Min*, 10, 31.
- DEVAUX, M., GERARD, L., RICHARD, C., BENGRINE-LEFEVRE, L., VINCENT, J., SCHMITT, A. & GHIRINGHELLI, F. 2019. Retrospective evaluation of FOLFIRI3 alone or in combination with bevacizumab or aflibercept in metastatic colorectal cancer. *World J Clin Oncol*, 10, 75-85.
- DIENSTMANN, R., SALAZAR, R. & TABERNERO, J. 2015. Overcoming Resistance to Anti-EGFR Therapy in Colorectal Cancer. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book*, e149-56.
- DOUILLARD, J. Y., CUNNINGHAM, D., ROTH, A. D., NAVARRO, M., JAMES, R. D., KARASEK, P., JANDIK, P., IVESON, T., CARMICHAEL, J., ALAKL, M., GRUIA, G., AWAD, L. & ROUGIER, P. 2000. Irinotecan combined with fluorouracil compared with fluorouracil alone as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: a multicentre randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 355, 1041-1047.
- DOUILLARD, J. Y., OLINER, K. S., SIENA, S., TABERNERO, J., BURKES, R., BARUGEL, M., HUMBLET, Y., BODOKY, G., CUNNINGHAM, D., JASSEM, J., RIVERA, F., KOCAKOVA, I., RUFF, P., BLASINSKA-MORAWIEC, M., SMAKAL, M., CANON, J. L., ROTHER, M.,

WILLIAMS, R., RONG, A., WIEZOREK, J., SIDHU, R. & PATTERSON, S. D. 2013. Panitumumab-FOLFOX4 treatment and RAS mutations in colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 369, 1023-34.

- DOUILLARD, J. Y., SIENA, S., CASSIDY, J., TABERNERO, J., BURKES, R., BARUGEL, M., HUMBLET, Y., BODOKY, G., CUNNINGHAM, D., JASSEM, J., RIVERA, F., KOCAKOVA, I., RUFF, P., BLASINSKA-MORAWIEC, M., SMAKAL, M., CANON, J. L., ROTHER, M., OLINER, K. S., TIAN, Y., XU, F. & SIDHU, R. 2014a. Final results from PRIME: randomized phase III study of panitumumab with FOLFOX4 for first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Ann Oncol*, 25, 1346-55.
- DOUILLARD, J. Y., SIENA, S., CASSIDY, J., TABERNERO, J., BURKES, R., BARUGEL, M., HUMBLET, Y., BODOKY, G., CUNNINGHAM, D., JASSEM, J., RIVERA, F., KOCAKOVA, I., RUFF, P., BLASINSKA-MORAWIEC, M., SMAKAL, M., CANON, J. L., ROTHER, M., OLINER, K. S., WOLF, M. & GANSERT, J. 2010. Randomized, phase III trial of panitumumab with infusional fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin (FOLFOX4) versus FOLFOX4 alone as first-line treatment in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer: the PRIME study. *J Clin Oncol*, 28, 4697-705.
- DOUILLARD, J. Y., ZEMELKA, T., FOUNTZILAS, G., BARONE, C., SCHLICHTING, M., HEIGHWAY, J., EGGLETON, S. P. & SRIMUNINNIMIT, V. 2014b. FOLFOX4 with cetuximab vs. UFOX with cetuximab as first-line therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer: The randomized phase II FUTURE study. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, **13**, 14-26 e1.
- DRISCOLL, J. J. & RIXE, O. 2009. Overall survival: still the gold standard: why overall survival remains the definitive end point in cancer clinical trials. *Cancer J*, 15, 401-5.
- DUBÉ, S., HEYEN, F. & JENICEK, M. 1997. Adjuvant chemotherapy in colorectal carcinoma. *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum,* 40, 35-41.
- DUDLEY, W. N., WICKHAM, R. & COOMBS, N. 2016. An Introduction to Survival Statistics: Kaplan-Meier Analysis. J Adv Pract Oncol, 7, 91-100.
- DUMA, N., KOTHADIA, S. M., AZAM, T. U., YADAV, S., PALUDO, J., VERA AGUILERA, J.,
 GONZALEZ VELEZ, M., HALFDANARSON, T. R., MOLINA, J. R., HUBBARD, J. M., GO, R.
 S., MANSFIELD, A. S. & ADJEI, A. A. 2019. Characterization of Comorbidities Limiting the Recruitment of Patients in Early Phase Clinical Trials. *Oncologist*, 24, 96-102.
- DUMMER, R., ASCIERTO, P. A., GOGAS, H. J., ARANCE, A., MANDALA, M., LISZKAY, G., GARBE, C., SCHADENDORF, D., KRAJSOVA, I., GUTZMER, R., CHIARION-SILENI, V., DUTRIAUX, C., DE GROOT, J. W. B., YAMAZAKI, N., LOQUAI, C., MOUTOUH-DE PARSEVAL, L. A., PICKARD, M. D., SANDOR, V., ROBERT, C. & FLAHERTY, K. T. 2018. Encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma (COLUMBUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 19, 603-615.
- DUNLOP, E., FERGUSON, A., MUELLER, T., BAILLIE, K., CLARKE, J., LASKEY, J., KURDI, A., WU,
 O., JONES, R., GLEN, H. & BENNIE, M. 2022. What matters to patients and clinicians when discussing the impact of cancer medicines on health-related quality of life?
 Consensus-based mixed methods approach in prostate cancer. *Support Care Cancer*, 30, 3141-3150.
- DUNN, C., WILSON, A. & SITAS, F. 2017. Older cancer patients in cancer clinical trials are underrepresented. Systematic literature review of almost 5000 meta- and pooled analyses of phase III randomized trials of survival from breast, prostate and lung cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol*, 51, 113-117.
- DURAN, A. O., KARACA, H., BESIROGLU, M., BAYOGLU, I. V., MENEKSE, S., YAPICI, H. S., YAZILITAS, D., BAHCECI, A., UYSAL, M., SEVINC, A., HACIBEKIROGLU, I., AKSOY, A., TANRIVERDI, O., ARPACI, E., INANC, M., DANE, F. & OZKAN, M. 2014. XELOX plus bevacizumab vs. FOLFIRI plus bevacizumab treatment for first-line chemotherapy in

metastatic colon cancer: a retrospective study of the Anatolian Society of Medical Oncology. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev,* **15,** 10375-9.

- DUVAL, S. & TWEEDIE, R. 2000. Trim and fill: A simple funnel-plot-based method of testing and adjusting for publication bias in meta-analysis. *Biometrics*, 56, 455-63.
- DWAN, K., GAMBLE, C., KOLAMUNNAGE-DONA, R., MOHAMMED, S., POWELL, C. & WILLIAMSON, P. R. 2010. Assessing the potential for outcome reporting bias in a review: a tutorial. *Trials*, 11, 52.
- EDWARDS, I. R. 1999. Spontaneous reporting--of what? Clinical concerns about drugs. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 48, 138-41.
- EGGER, M., DAVEY SMITH, G., SCHNEIDER, M. & MINDER, C. 1997. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ*, 315, 629-34.
- EGGER, M., SMITH, G. D. & STERNE, J. A. C. 2001. Uses and abuses of meta-analysis. *Clin Med JRCPL*, 478-84.
- EISENBERGER, A., WHELAN, R. L. & NEUGUT, A. I. 2008. Survival and symptomatic benefit from palliative primary tumor resection in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: a review. *Int J Colorectal Dis*, 23, 559-68.
- EISENHAUER, E. A., THERASSE, P., BOGAERTS, J., SCHWARTZ, L. H., SARGENT, D., FORD, R., DANCEY, J., ARBUCK, S., GWYTHER, S., MOONEY, M., RUBINSTEIN, L., SHANKAR, L., DODD, L., KAPLAN, R., LACOMBE, D. & VERWEIJ, J. 2009. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). *Eur J Cancer*, 45, 228-47.
- EKER, B., OZASLAN, E., KARACA, H., BERK, V., BOZKURT, O., INANC, M., DURAN, A. O. & OZKAN, M. 2015. Factors affecting prognosis in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*, 16, 3015-21.
- ELLIS, L. M. 2006. Mechanisms of action of bevacizumab as a component of therapy for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Semin Oncol*, 33, S1-7.
- ELLIS, L. M., BERNSTEIN, D. S., VOEST, E. E., BERLIN, J. D., SARGENT, D., CORTAZAR, P., GARRETT-MAYER, E., HERBST, R. S., LILENBAUM, R. C., SIMA, C., VENOOK, A. P., GONEN, M., SCHILSKY, R. L., MEROPOL, N. J. & SCHNIPPER, L. E. 2014. American Society of Clinical Oncology perspective: Raising the bar for clinical trials by defining clinically meaningful outcomes. J Clin Oncol, 32, 1277-80.
- EUROPEAN MEDICINES AGENCY. 2019. Avasrin [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/avastin#authorisation-details-section</u> [Accessed 27/11].
- FABBRI, A., LAI, A., GRUNDY, Q. & BERO, L. A. 2018. The Influence of Industry Sponsorship on the Research Agenda: A Scoping Review. *Am J Public Health*, 108, e9-e16.
- FAVORITI, P., CARBONE, G., GRECO, M., PIROZZI, F., PIROZZI, R. E. & CORCIONE, F. 2016. Worldwide burden of colorectal cancer: a review. *Updates Surg*, 68, 7-11.
- FDA. 2022. Advancing Real-World Evidence Program [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/development-resources/advancing-real-world-</u> <u>evidence-program</u> [Accessed 3/12 2022].
- FEARON, E. R. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 1990. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell*, 61, 759-67.
- FERGUSON, J. S., SUMMERHAYES, M., MASTERS, S., SCHEY, S. & SMITH, I. E. 2000. New treatments for advanced cancer: an approach to prioritization. *Br J Cancer*, 83, 1268-73.
- FERNANDEZ MONTES, A., CARLOS LÓPEZ, L., CARMONA, A., PAEZ, D., LOPEZ MUÑOZ ANA, M., GUTIERREZ ABAD, D., CARMEN CASTAÑÓN, L., MARIA, D. C. L. D., EVA MARTÍNEZ, D. C., MANUEL SÁNCHEZ, C., TOBEÑA, M., BEATRIZ LLORENTE, A., JUEZ MARTEL, I., MARIANA LÓPEZ, F., GARCÍA-PAREDES, B., CACHO LANVIN, D.,

SALGADO, M., VIRGILI, A. & BEATRIZ ARBEOLA, E. 2017. Efficacy and toxicity results of FOLFIRI-Aflibercept in advanced colorectal cancer (CRCm) in "real life", retrospective study. Prognostic factors and specific populations. *Annals of Oncology*, 28.

- FERNANDEZ MONTES, A., MARTINEZ LAGO, N., COVELA RUA, M., DE LA CAMARA GOMEZ, J., GONZALEZ VILLAROEL, P., MENDEZ MENDEZ, J. C., JORGE FERNANDEZ, M., SALGADO FERNANDEZ, M., REBOREDO LOPEZ, M., QUINTERO ALDANA, G., LUZ PELLON AUGUSTO, M., GRANA SUAREZ, B. & GARCIA GOMEZ, J. 2019. Efficacy and safety of FOLFIRI/aflibercept in second-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer in a real-world population: Prognostic and predictive markers. *Cancer Med*, 8, 882-889.
- FERRAND, F., MALKA, D., BOURREDJEM, A., ALLONIER, C., BOUCHE, O., LOUAFI, S., BOIGE, V., MOUSSEAU, M., RAOUL, J. L., BEDENNE, L., LEDUC, B., DEGUIRAL, P., FARON, M., PIGNON, J. P. & DUCREUX, M. 2013. Impact of primary tumour resection on survival of patients with colorectal cancer and synchronous metastases treated by chemotherapy: results from the multicenter, randomised trial Federation Francophone de Cancerologie Digestive 9601. *Eur J Cancer*, 49, 90-7.
- FERRUCCI, L., GIALLAURIA, F. & GURALNIK, J. M. 2008. Epidemiology of aging. *Radiol Clin North Am*, 46, 643-52, v.
- FIELD, A. P. 2003. The Problems in Using Fixed-Effects Models of Meta-Analysis on Real-World Data. *Understanding Statistics*, 2, 105-124.
- FITENI, F., WESTEEL, V., PIVOT, X., BORG, C., VERNEREY, D. & BONNETAIN, F. 2014. Endpoints in cancer clinical trials. *J Visc Surg*, 151, 17-22.
- FOLPRECHT, G., CUNNINGHAM, D., ROSS, P., GLIMELIUS, B., DI COSTANZO, F., WILS, J., SCHEITHAUER, W., ROUGIER, P., ARANDA, E., HECKER, H. & KOHNE, C. H. 2004.
 Efficacy of 5-fluorouracil-based chemotherapy in elderly patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: a pooled analysis of clinical trials. *Ann Oncol*, 15, 1330-8.
- FOLPRECHT, G., GROTHEY, A., ALBERTS, S., RAAB, H. R. & KOHNE, C. H. 2005. Neoadjuvant treatment of unresectable colorectal liver metastases: correlation between tumour response and resection rates. *Ann Oncol*, 16, 1311-9.
- FOLPRECHT, G., GRUENBERGER, T., BECHSTEIN, W. O., RAAB, H. R., LORDICK, F., HARTMANN, J. T., LANG, H., FRILLING, A., STOEHLMACHER, J., WEITZ, J., KONOPKE, R., STROSZCZYNSKI, C., LIERSCH, T., OCKERT, D., HERRMANN, T., GOEKKURT, E., PARISI, F. & KOHNE, C. H. 2010. Tumour response and secondary resectability of colorectal liver metastases following neoadjuvant chemotherapy with cetuximab: the CELIM randomised phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 11, 38-47.
- FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION. 2022. Advancing Real-World Evidence Program [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/development-resources/advancing-real-world-evidence-program</u> [Accessed 3/12 2022].
- FORCE, U. S. P. S. T., DAVIDSON, K. W., BARRY, M. J., MANGIONE, C. M., CABANA, M.,
 CAUGHEY, A. B., DAVIS, E. M., DONAHUE, K. E., DOUBENI, C. A., KRIST, A. H., KUBIK,
 M., LI, L., OGEDEGBE, G., OWENS, D. K., PBERT, L., SILVERSTEIN, M., STEVERMER, J.,
 TSENG, C. W. & WONG, J. B. 2021. Screening for Colorectal Cancer: US Preventive
 Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA, 325, 1965-1977.
- FORTIN, M., DIONNE, J., PINHO, G., GIGNAC, J., ALMIRALL, J. & LAPOINTE, L. 2006. Randomized controlled trials: do they have external validity for patients with multiple comorbidities? *Ann Fam Med*, 4, 104-8.
- FRACCARO, P., KONTOPANTELIS, E., SPERRIN, M., PEEK, N., MALLEN, C., URBAN, P., BUCHAN, I. E. & MAMAS, M. A. 2016. Predicting mortality from change-over-time in

the Charlson Comorbidity Index: A retrospective cohort study in a data-intensive UK health system. *Medicine (Baltimore),* 95, e4973.

- FRANCHI, M., BARNI, S., TAGLIABUE, G., RICCI, P., MAZZUCCO, W., TUMINO, R., CAPUTO, A., CORRAO, G. & GROUP, G. W. 2019. Effectiveness of First-Line Bevacizumab in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: The Observational Cohort Study GRETA. *Oncologist*, 24, 358-365.
- FRIEDEN, T. R. 2017. Evidence for Health Decision Making Beyond Randomized, Controlled Trials. *N Engl J Med*, 377, 465-475.
- FUKUCHI, M., ISHIBASHI, K., TAJIMA, Y., OKADA, N., YOKOYAMA, M., CHIKA, N., HATANO, S., MATSUZAWA, T., KUMAMOTO, K., KUMAGAI, Y., BABA, H., MOCHIKI, E. & ISHIDA, H. 2013. Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in patients aged 75 years or older with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Anticancer Res*, 33, 4627-30.
- GALFRASCOLI, E., PIVA, S., CINQUINI, M., ROSSI, A., LA VERDE, N., BRAMATI, A., MORETTI,
 A., MANAZZA, A., DAMIA, G., TORRI, V., MUSERRA, G., FARINA, G., GARASSINO, M.
 C. & GROUP, O. C. 2011. Risk/benefit profile of bevacizumab in metastatic colon cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dig Liver Dis*, 43, 286-94.
- GARCIA ALFONSO, P., GARCIA, G., GALLEGO, I., PELIGROS, I., CORCUERA, A., PUENTE, B.,
 LOBO DE MENA, M., RUPEREZ, A., AGUADO, G., SANDOVAL, C., BLANCO-CODESIDO,
 M., CALVO, A., MUÑOZ MARTÍN, A. J. & MARTIN, M. 2018. Prognostic and
 predictive factors in metastasic colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 36, 690-690.
- GEHAN, E. A. & SCHNEIDERMAN, M. A. 1990. Historical and methodological developments in clinical trials at the National Cancer Institute. *Stat Med*, 9, 871-80; discussion 903-6.
- GERSHMAN, B., GUO, D. P. & DAHABREH, I. J. 2018. Using observational data for personalized medicine when clinical trial evidence is limited. *Fertil Steril*, 109, 946-951.
- GIACCHETTI, S., PERPOINT, B., ZIDANI, R., LE BAIL, N., FAGGIUOLO, R., FOCAN, C., CHOLLET, P., LLORY, J. F., LETOURNEAU, Y., COUDERT, B., BERTHEAUT-CVITKOVIC, F., LARREGAIN-FOURNIER, D., LE ROL, A., WALTER, S., ADAM, R., MISSET, J. L. & LEVI, F. 2000. Phase III multicenter randomized trial of oxaliplatin added to chronomodulated fluorouracil-leucovorin as first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 18, 136-47.
- GOLSHANI, G. & ZHANG, Y. 2020. Advances in immunotherapy for colorectal cancer: a review. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol*, 13, 1756284820917527.
- GRANDIS, J. R. & SOK, J. C. 2004. Signaling through the epidermal growth factor receptor during the development of malignancy. *Pharmacol Ther*, 102, 37-46.
- GRESHAM, G., CHEUNG, W. Y., SPEERS, C., WOODS, R. & KENNECKE, H. 2015. Time to adjuvant chemotherapy and survival outcomes among patients with stage 2 to 3 rectal cancer treated with preoperative chemoradiation. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 14, 41-5.
- GROENWOLD, R. H. H. 2021. Trial Emulation and Real-World Evidence. JAMA Netw Open, 4, e213845.
- GUO, Y., ZHENG, T., ZHANG, C. & ZHANG, Y. 2020. A Study of the S-1 or Capecitabine as First-line Regimen in Patients with Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Real World Study. J Cancer, 11, 1839-1845.
- GUSELLA, M., CREPALDI, G., BARILE, C., BONONI, A., MENON, D., TOSO, S., SCAPOLI, D.,
 STIEVANO, L., FERRAZZI, E., GRIGOLETTO, F., FERRARI, M. & PADRINI, R. 2006.
 Pharmacokinetic and demographic markers of 5-fluorouracil toxicity in 181 patients on adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol, 17, 1656-60.

- GUYOT, P., ADES, A. E., OUWENS, M. J. & WELTON, N. J. 2012. Enhanced secondary analysis of survival data: reconstructing the data from published Kaplan-Meier survival curves. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 12, 9.
- GYAWALI, B., HEY, S. P. & KESSELHEIM, A. S. 2018. A Comparison of Response Patterns for Progression-Free Survival and Overall Survival Following Treatment for Cancer With PD-1 Inhibitors: A Meta-analysis of Correlation and Differences in Effect Sizes. JAMA Netw Open, 1, e180416.
- HAIDICH, A. B. 2010. Meta-analysis in medical research. *Hippokratia*, 14, 29-37.
- HALDANE, J. B. 1956. The estimation and significance of the logarithm of a ratio of frequencies. *Ann Hum Genet*, 20, 309-11.
- HALF, E., BERCOVICH, D. & ROZEN, P. 2009. Familial adenomatous polyposis. Orphanet J Rare Dis, 4, 22.
- HAMERS, P. A. H., ELFERINK, M. A. G., STELLATO, R. K., PUNT, C. J. A., MAY, A. M.,
 KOOPMAN, M. & VINK, G. R. 2021. Informing metastatic colorectal cancer patients by quantifying multiple scenarios for survival time based on real-life data. *Int J Cancer*, 148, 296-306.
- HAMILTON, W., ROUND, A., SHARP, D. & PETERS, T. J. 2005. Clinical features of colorectal cancer before diagnosis: a population-based case-control study. *Br J Cancer*, 93, 399-405.
- HAMMER, G. P., DU PREL, J. B. & BLETTNER, M. 2009. Avoiding bias in observational studies: part 8 in a series of articles on evaluation of scientific publications. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*, 106, 664-8.
- HAMMERMAN, A., GREENBERG-DOTAN, S., BATTAT, E., FELDHAMER, I., BITTERMAN, H. & BRENNER, B. 2015. The 'real-life' impact of adding bevacizumab to first-line therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer patients: a large Israeli retrospective cohort study. *Acta Oncol,* 54, 164-70.
- HANNA, C. R., LEMMON, E., ENNIS, H., JONES, R. J., HAY, J., HALLIDAY, R., CLARK, S., MORRIS, E. & HALL, P. 2021. Creation of the first national linked colorectal cancer dataset in Scotland: prospects for future research and a reflection on lessons learned. *Int J Popul Data Sci*, 6, 1654.
- HARDCASTLE, J. D., CHAMBERLAIN, J. O., ROBINSON, M. H. E., MOSS, S. M., AMAR, S. S., BALFOUR, T. W., JAMES, P. D. & MANGHAM, C. M. 1996. Randomised controlled trial of faecal-occult-blood screening for colorectal cancer. *The Lancet*, 348, 1472-1477.
- HARDY, R. J. & THOMPSON, S. G. 1998. Detecting and describing heterogeneity in metaanalysis. *Statistics in Medicine*, 17, 841-856.
- HASHIMOTO, R. E., BRODT, E. D., SKELLY, A. C. & DETTORI, J. R. 2014. Administrative database studies: goldmine or goose chase? *Evid Based Spine Care J*, 5, 74-6.
- HE, L., LI, H., CAI, J., CHEN, L., YAO, J., ZHANG, Y., XU, W., GENG, L., YANG, M., CHEN, P., ZHENG, J., YANG, Y. & GONG, S. 2018. Prognostic Value of the Glasgow Prognostic Score or Modified Glasgow Prognostic Score for Patients with Colorectal Cancer Receiving Various Treatments: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Cell Physiol Biochem*, 51, 1237-1249.
- HEALTH TECH NEWSPAPER. 2020. NHS Scotland opens £216 million laboratory information management system tender [Online]. Available: <u>https://htn.co.uk/2020/11/23/nhs-scotland-opens-216-million-laboratory-information-management-system-tender/</u> [Accessed 28/1 2021].
- HEDGES, L. V. 1983. A random effects model for effect sizes. *Psychological Bulletin*, 93, 388-395.

- HEDGES, L. V. & VEVEA, J. L. 1998. Fixed- and random-effects models in meta-analysis. *Psychological Methods*, **3**, 486-504.
- HEEDMAN, P. A., CANSLATT, E., HENRIKS, G., STARKHAMMAR, H., FOMICHOV, V. &
 SJODAHL, R. 2015. Variation at presentation among colon cancer patients with metastases: a population-based study. *Colorectal Dis*, 17, 403-8.
- HEINEMANN, V., VON WEIKERSTHAL, L. F., DECKER, T., KIANI, A., VEHLING-KAISER, U., AL-BATRAN, S. E., HEINTGES, T., LERCHENMULLER, C., KAHL, C., SEIPELT, G., KULLMANN, F., STAUCH, M., SCHEITHAUER, W., HIELSCHER, J., SCHOLZ, M., MULLER, S., LINK, H., NIEDERLE, N., ROST, A., HOFFKES, H. G., MOEHLER, M., LINDIG, R. U., MODEST, D. P., ROSSIUS, L., KIRCHNER, T., JUNG, A. & STINTZING, S. 2014. FOLFIRI plus cetuximab versus FOLFIRI plus bevacizumab as first-line treatment for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (FIRE-3): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 15, 1065-75.
- HERSHMAN, D. L., WRIGHT, J. D., LIM, E., BUONO, D. L., TSAI, W. Y. & NEUGUT, A. I. 2013. Contraindicated use of bevacizumab and toxicity in elderly patients with cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 31, 3592-9.
- HIGGINS, J., THOMPSON, S., DEEKS, J. & ALTMAN, D. 2002. Statistical heterogeneity in systematic reviews of clinical trials: a critical appraisal of guidelines and practice. *J Health Serv Res Policy*, **7**, 51-61.
- HIGGINS, J. P. & GREEN, S. 2011. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 5.1.0, The Cochrane collaboration.
- HIGGINS, J. P., THOMPSON, S. G., DEEKS, J. J. & ALTMAN, D. G. 2003. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ*, 327, 557-60.
- HIGGINS JPT, L. T., DEEKS JJ, 2016. Chapter 6: Choosing effect measures and computing estimates of effect. *In:* HIGGINS JPT, T. J., CHANDLER J, CUMPSTON M, LI T, PAGE MJ, WELCH VA, (ed.) *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*. Cochrane.
- HO, M. Y., RENOUF, D. J., CHEUNG, W. Y., LIM, H. J., SPEERS, C. H., ZHOU, C. & KENNECKE, H. F. 2016. Patterns of practice with third-line anti-EGFR antibody for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Curr Oncol*, 23, 329-333.
- HOFSETH, L. J., HEBERT, J. R., CHANDA, A., CHEN, H., LOVE, B. L., PENA, M. M., MURPHY, E.
 A., SAJISH, M., SHETH, A., BUCKHAULTS, P. J. & BERGER, F. G. 2020. Publisher
 Correction: Early-onset colorectal cancer: initial clues and current views. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 17, 517-517.
- HOHENBERGER, W., WEBER, K., MATZEL, K., PAPADOPOULOS, T. & MERKEL, S. 2009. Standardized surgery for colonic cancer: complete mesocolic excision and central ligation--technical notes and outcome. *Colorectal Dis*, 11, 354-64; discussion 364-5.
- HOLCH, J. W., DEMMER, M., LAMERSDORF, C., MICHL, M., SCHULZ, C., VON EINEM, J. C., MODEST, D. P. & HEINEMANN, V. 2017. Pattern and Dynamics of Distant Metastases in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Visc Med*, 33, 70-75.
- HOUTS, A. C., OGALE, S., SOMMER, N., SATRAM-HOANG, S. & WALKER, M. S. 2019a. Treatment Patterns and Outcomes in Patients with KRAS Wild-Type Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Treated in First Line with Bevacizumab- or Cetuximab-Containing Regimens. J Gastrointest Cancer, 50, 69-77.
- HOUTS, A. C., OGALE, S., ZAFAR, Y., HUBBARD, J. M., SATRAM-HOANG, S., SOMMER, N. & WALKER, M. S. 2019b. Progression-Free Survival in Patients Receiving Chemotherapy Alone (C) or Chemotherapy with Bevacizumab (CB) for First-Line Treatment of KRAS Mutant Metastatic Colorectal Cancer in Community Oncology Settings. J Gastrointest Cancer, 50, 16-22.

- HUANG, M. Y., CHEN, M. J., TSAI, H. L., KUO, C. H., MA, C. J., HOU, M. F., CHUANG, S. C., LIN, S. R. & WANG, J. Y. 2011. Prospective analysis of KRAS wild-type patients with metastatic colorectal cancer using cetuximab plus FOLFIRI or FOLFOX4 treatment regimens. *Genet Mol Res*, 10, 3002-12.
- HUEDO-MEDINA, T. B., SANCHEZ-MECA, J., MARIN-MARTINEZ, F. & BOTELLA, J. 2006. Assessing heterogeneity in meta-analysis: Q statistic or I2 index? *Psychol Methods*, 11, 193-206.
- HUNTER, J. E. & SCHMIDT, F. L. 1990. Dichotomization of continuous variables: The implications for meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 334-349.
- HUNTER, J. E. & SCHMIDT, F. L. 2008. Fixed Effects vs. Random Effects Meta-Analysis Models: Implications for Cumulative Research Knowledge. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 8, 275-292.
- HURWITZ, H., FEHRENBACHER, L., NOVOTNY, W., CARTWRIGHT, T., HAINSWORTH, J., HEIM, W., BERLIN, J., BARON, A., GRIFFING, S., HOLMGREN, E., FERRARA, N., FYFE, G., ROGERS, B., ROSS, R. & KABBINAVAR, F. 2004. Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 350, 2335-42.
- HURWITZ, H. I., TEBBUTT, N. C., KABBINAVAR, F., GIANTONIO, B. J., GUAN, Z. Z., MITCHELL, L., WATERKAMP, D. & TABERNERO, J. 2013. Efficacy and safety of bevacizumab in metastatic colorectal cancer: pooled analysis from seven randomized controlled trials. *Oncologist*, 18, 1004-12.
- HUTCHINS, L. F., UNGER, J. M., CROWLEY, J. J., COLTMAN, C. A., JR. & ALBAIN, K. S. 1999. Underrepresentation of patients 65 years of age or older in cancer-treatment trials. *N Engl J Med*, 341, 2061-7.
- IKOMA, N., RAGHAV, K. & CHANG, G. 2017. An Update on Randomized Clinical Trials in Metastatic Colorectal Carcinoma. *Surg Oncol Clin N Am*, 26, 667-687.
- INFORMATION SERVICE DIVISION SCOTLAND. 2016. SMR datasets: SMR Validation Section -Introduction [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/Data-</u> Dictionary/SMR-Datasets/SMR-Validation-Section/ [Accessed 09/11 2020].
- INFORMATION SERVICE DIVISION SCOTLAND. 2020a. Community Health Index (CHI) Number [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/Data-Dictionary/SMR-Datasets//Patient-Identification-and-Demographic-Information/Community-Health-Index-Number/</u> [Accessed 10/11 2020].
- INFORMATION SERVICE DIVISION SCOTLAND. 2020b. Data Dictionary A-Z: CHI number [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/Dictionary-A-</u> <u>Z/Definitions/index.asp?Search=C&ID=128&Title=CHI%20Number</u> [Accessed 10/11 2020].
- INFORMATION SERVICE DIVISION SCOTLAND. 2020c. General Acute Inpatient and Day Case - Scottish Morbidity Record (SMR01) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/National-Datasets/data.asp?SubID=5</u> [Accessed 08/11 2020].
- INFORMATION SERVICE DIVISION SCOTLAND. 2020d. National Records of Scotland (NRS) -Deaths Data [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/National-</u> Datasets/data.asp?SubID=13 [Accessed 09/11 2020].
- INFORMATION SERVICE DIVISION SCOTLAND. 2020e. Scottish Cancer Registry (SMR06) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/National-</u> Datasets/data.asp?SubID=8 [Accessed 11/08 2020].
- INFORMATION SERVICES DIVISION. 2017. Public benefit and privacy panel for health and social care-hsc-pbpp [Online]. [Accessed 18/01 2022].

- INFORMATION SERVICES DIVISION. 2019. Data Landscape Relevant to the Macmillan-ISD Partnership Objectives [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-</u> <u>Topics/Cancer/Macmillan-ISD/ docs/20190611-Data-Landscape-Relevant-to-the-</u> Macmillan-ISD-Partnership-Objectives-FINAL.pdf [Accessed 28/01 2021].
- INFORMATION SERVICES DIVISION. 2020a. National Data Catalogue: General Acute Inpatient and Day Case - Scottish Morbidity Record (SMR01) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/National-Datasets/data.asp?SubID=5</u> [Accessed 8/12 2020].
- INFORMATION SERVICES DIVISION. 2020b. SMR Datasets: SMR Record Type [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/Data-Dictionary/SMR-Datasets//Episode-Management/SMR-Record-Type/</u> [Accessed 18/02 2022].
- INTHOUT, J., IOANNIDIS, J. P., ROVERS, M. M. & GOEMAN, J. J. 2016. Plea for routinely presenting prediction intervals in meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*, 6, e010247.
- IRVING, M. H. & CATCHPOLE, B. 1992. ABC of colorectal diseases. Anatomy and physiology of the colon, rectum, and anus. *BMJ*, 304, 1106-8.
- JAKOBSEN, J. C., GLUUD, C., WETTERSLEV, J. & WINKEL, P. 2017. When and how should multiple imputation be used for handling missing data in randomised clinical trials a practical guide with flowcharts. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 17, 162.
- JÖRDENS, M. S., LABUHN, S., LUEDDE, T., HOYER, L., KOSTEV, K., LOOSEN, S. H. & RODERBURG, C. 2021. Prevalence of Lung Metastases among 19,321 Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Patients in Eight Countries of Europe and Asia. *Current Oncology*, 28, 5035-5040.
- KABBINAVAR, F. F., SCHULZ, J., MCCLEOD, M., PATEL, T., HAMM, J. T., HECHT, J. R., MASS,
 R., PERROU, B., NELSON, B. & NOVOTNY, W. F. 2005. Addition of bevacizumab to bolus fluorouracil and leucovorin in first-line metastatic colorectal cancer: results of a randomized phase II trial. J Clin Oncol, 23, 3697-705.
- KANG, H. 2013. The prevention and handling of the missing data. *Korean J Anesthesiol*, 64, 402-6.
- KARIM, S., XU, Y., KONG, S., ABDEL-RAHMAN, O., QUAN, M. L. & CHEUNG, W. Y. 2019. Generalisability of Common Oncology Clinical Trial Eligibility Criteria in the Real World. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)*, 31, e160-e166.
- KAWAI, S., TAKESHIMA, N., HAYASAKA, Y., NOTSU, A., YAMAZAKI, M., KAWABATA, T., YAMAZAKI, K., MORI, K. & YASUI, H. 2021. Comparison of irinotecan and oxaliplatin as the first-line therapies for metastatic colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. *BMC Cancer*, 21, 116.
- KAZAZI-HYSENI, F., BEIJNEN, J. H. & SCHELLENS, J. H. 2010. Bevacizumab. Oncologist, 15, 819-25.
- KENDRICK, S. 1997. The Development of Record Linkage in Scotland: The Responsive Application of Probability Matching. *Record linkage techniques*.
- KENDRICK, S. A. C., J. 1993. The Scottish Record Linkage System. *Health bulletin*, 51, 72-9.
- KHAKOO, S., CHAU, I., PEDLEY, I., ELLIS, R., STEWARD, W., HARRISON, M., BAIJAL, S., TAHIR, S., ROSS, P., RAOUF, S., OGRABEK, A., CUNNINGHAM, D. & INVESTIGATORS, A.
 2019. ACORN: Observational Study of Bevacizumab in Combination With First-Line Chemotherapy for Treatment of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer in the UK. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 18, 280-291 e5.
- KIM, H. S., LEE, S. & KIM, J. H. 2018. Real-world Evidence versus Randomized Controlled Trial: Clinical Research Based on Electronic Medical Records. J Korean Med Sci, 33, e213.
- KIM, S. E., PAIK, H. Y., YOON, H., LEE, J. E., KIM, N. & SUNG, M. K. 2015. Sex- and genderspecific disparities in colorectal cancer risk. *World J Gastroenterol*, 21, 5167-75.

- KIM, S. Y. & KIM, T. W. 2020. Current challenges in the implementation of precision oncology for the management of metastatic colorectal cancer. *ESMO Open*, 5.
- KIM, Y. H., ORTIZ-ROMERO, P. L., PRO, B., SOKOL, L., SCARISBRICK, J., MUSIEK, A., VERMEER, M., DUMMER, R., HALWANI, A., FIERRO, M., MORIYA, J., LEONI, M. & BAGOT, M. 2019. Time to Next Treatment in Patients with Previously Treated Cutaneous T-Cell Lymphoma (Ctcl) Receiving Mogamulizumab or Vorinostat: A Post-Hoc Analysis of the Mavoric Study. *Hematological Oncology*, 37, 285-286.
- KLUETZ, P. G., CHINGOS, D. T., BASCH, E. M. & MITCHELL, S. A. 2016. Patient-Reported Outcomes in Cancer Clinical Trials: Measuring Symptomatic Adverse Events With the National Cancer Institute's Patient-Reported Outcomes Version of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (PRO-CTCAE). Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book, 35, 67-73.
- KOCAKOVA, I., MELICHAR, B., KOCAK, I., BORTLICEK, Z., BUCHLER, T., DUSEK, L., PETRUZELKA, L., KOHOUTEK, M., PRAUSOVA, J., FINEK, J., MOHELNIKOVA-DUCHONOVA, B. & VYZULA, R. 2015. Bevacizumab with FOLFIRI or XELIRI in the First-line Therapy of Metastatic Colorectal Carcinoma: Results from Czech Observational Registry. *Anticancer Res*, 35, 3455-61.
- KÖHNE, C. H., CUNNINGHAM, D., DI COSTANZO, F., GLIMELIUS, B., BLIJHAM, G., ARANDA, E., SCHEITHAUER, W., ROUGIER, P., PALMER, M., WILS, J., BARON, B., PIGNATTI, F., SCHÖFFSKI, P., MICHEEL, S. & HECKER, H. 2002. Clinical determinants of survival in patients with 5-fluorouracil- based treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: results of a multivariate analysis of 3825 patients. *Annals of Oncology*, 13, 308-317.
- KOHNE, C. H., VAN CUTSEM, E., WILS, J., BOKEMEYER, C., EL-SERAFI, M., LUTZ, M. P., LORENZ, M., REICHARDT, P., RUCKLE-LANZ, H., FRICKHOFEN, N., FUCHS, R., MERGENTHALER, H. G., LANGENBUCH, T., VANHOEFER, U., ROUGIER, P., VOIGTMANN, R., MULLER, L., GENICOT, B., ANAK, O., NORDLINGER, B., EUROPEAN ORGANISATION FOR, R. & TREATMENT OF CANCER GASTROINTESTINAL, G. 2005. Phase III study of weekly high-dose infusional fluorouracil plus folinic acid with or without irinotecan in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Gastrointestinal Group Study 40986. J Clin Oncol, 23, 4856-65.
- KOPETZ, S., CHANG, G. J., OVERMAN, M. J., ENG, C., SARGENT, D. J., LARSON, D. W., GROTHEY, A., VAUTHEY, J. N., NAGORNEY, D. M. & MCWILLIAMS, R. R. 2009.
 Improved survival in metastatic colorectal cancer is associated with adoption of hepatic resection and improved chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol, 27, 3677-83.
- KOPETZ, S., GROTHEY, A., YAEGER, R., VAN CUTSEM, E., DESAI, J., YOSHINO, T., WASAN, H., CIARDIELLO, F., LOUPAKIS, F., HONG, Y. S., STEEGHS, N., GUREN, T. K., ARKENAU, H. T., GARCIA-ALFONSO, P., PFEIFFER, P., ORLOV, S., LONARDI, S., ELEZ, E., KIM, T. W., SCHELLENS, J. H. M., GUO, C., KRISHNAN, A., DEKERVEL, J., MORRIS, V., CALVO FERRANDIZ, A., TARPGAARD, L. S., BRAUN, M., GOLLERKERI, A., KEIR, C., MAHARRY, K., PICKARD, M., CHRISTY-BITTEL, J., ANDERSON, L., SANDOR, V. & TABERNERO, J. 2019. Encorafenib, Binimetinib, and Cetuximab in BRAF V600E-Mutated Colorectal Cancer. N Engl J Med, 381, 1632-1643.
- KOPPE, M. J., BOERMAN, O. C., OYEN, W. J. G. & BLEICHRODT, R. P. 2006. Peritoneal Carcinomatosis of Colorectal Origin. *Annals of Surgery*, 243, 212-222.
- KRISHNANKUTTY, B., BELLARY, S., KUMAR, N. B. & MOODAHADU, L. S. 2012. Data management in clinical research: An overview. *Indian J Pharmacol*, 44, 168-72.
- KWAK, C. & CLAYTON-MATTHEWS, A. 2002. Multinomial Logistic Regression. *Nursing Research*, 51, 404-10.

- LABRECQUE, J. A. & SWANSON, S. A. 2017. Target trial emulation: teaching epidemiology and beyond. *Eur J Epidemiol*, 32, 473-475.
- LAM, A. K.-Y. 2014. Synchronous colorectal cancer: Clinical, pathological and molecular implications. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 20.
- LAM, K. O., FU, M. C., LAU, K. S., LAM, K. M., CHOI, C. W., CHIU, W. H., YUEN, C. M., KWOK,
 L. H., TAM, F. K., CHAN, W. L., CHAN, S. Y., HO, P. Y., LEUNG, T. W. & LEE, H. F. 2019.
 Revisiting oral fluoropyrimidine with cetuximab in metastatic colorectal cancer:
 Real-world data in Chinese population. *World J Gastrointest Oncol*, 11, 1031-1042.
- LAMER, A., LAURENT, G., PELAYO, S., EL AMRANI, M., CHAZARD, E. & MARCILLY, R. 2020. Exploring Patient Path Through Sankey Diagram: A Proof of Concept. *Stud Health Technol Inform*, 270, 218-222.
- LEE, B., WONG, H. L., TACEY, M., TIE, J., WONG, R., LEE, M., NOTT, L., SHAPIRO, J., JENNENS, R., TURNER, N., TRAN, B., ANANDA, S., YIP, D., RICHARDSON, G., PARENTE, P., LIM, L., STEFANOU, G., BURGE, M., IDDAWELA, M., POWER, J. & GIBBS, P. 2017. The impact of bevacizumab in metastatic colorectal cancer with an intact primary tumor: Results from a large prospective cohort study. *Asia Pac J Clin Oncol*, 13, 314-321.
- LEE, E. T. & GO, O. T. 1997. Survival analysis in public health research. *Annu Rev Public Health*, 18, 105-34.
- LEE, S., 2ND, PARK, S. H., LIM, D. H., PARK, K. W., LEE, J., PARK, J. O., PARK, Y. S., LIM, H. Y. & KANG, W. K. 2011. A retrospective study of first-line combination chemotherapy in advanced colorectal cancer: a Korean single-center experience. *Cancer Res Treat*, 43, 96-101.
- LEMMON, E., HANNA, C., DIERNBERGER, K. & HALL, P. S. 2022.
- LENZ, H. J., STINTZING, S. & LOUPAKIS, F. 2015. TAS-102, a novel antitumor agent: a review of the mechanism of action. *Cancer Treat Rev*, 41, 777-83.
- LEVESQUE, L. E., HANLEY, J. A., KEZOUH, A. & SUISSA, S. 2010. Problem of immortal time bias in cohort studies: example using statins for preventing progression of diabetes. *BMJ*, 340, b5087.
- LIEVRE, A., BACHET, J. B., BOIGE, V., CAYRE, A., LE CORRE, D., BUC, E., YCHOU, M., BOUCHE, O., LANDI, B., LOUVET, C., ANDRE, T., BIBEAU, F., DIEBOLD, M. D., ROUGIER, P., DUCREUX, M., TOMASIC, G., EMILE, J. F., PENAULT-LLORCA, F. & LAURENT-PUIG, P. 2008. KRAS mutations as an independent prognostic factor in patients with advanced colorectal cancer treated with cetuximab. *J Clin Oncol*, 26, 374-9.
- LIGHT, R. J. & PILLEMER, D. B. 1986. *Summing up: The science of reviewing research.*, Harvard University Press.
- LIN, L., SHI, L., CHU, H. & MURAD, M. H. 2020. The magnitude of small-study effects in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews: an empirical study of nearly 30 000 meta-analyses. *BMJ Evid Based Med*, 25, 27-32.
- LIN, M., LUCAS, H. C. & SHMUELI, G. 2013. Research Commentary—Too Big to Fail: Large Samples and the p-Value Problem. *Information Systems Research*, 24, 906-917.
- LIU, N., ZHOU, Y. & LEE, J. J. 2021. IPDfromKM: reconstruct individual patient data from published Kaplan-Meier survival curves. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 21, 111.
- LOCKHART, E., BAK, K., SCHREINER, L. J., HODGSON, D. C., GUTIERREZ, E., WARDE, P. & SHARPE, M. B. 2017. Best Practice Recommendations for the Retention of Radiotherapy Records. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol),* 29, e195-e202.
- LONGLEY, D. B., HARKIN, D. P. & JOHNSTON, P. G. 2003. 5-fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies. *Nat Rev Cancer*, **3**, 330-8.
- LOUPAKIS, F., BRIA, E., VACCARO, V., CUPPONE, F., MILELLA, M., CARLINI, P., CREMOLINI, C., SALVATORE, L., FALCONE, A., MUTI, P., SPERDUTI, I., GIANNARELLI, D. & COGNETTI,

F. 2010. Magnitude of benefit of the addition of bevacizumab to first-line chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer: meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res*, 29, 58.

- LOUPAKIS, F., CREMOLINI, C., SALVATORE, L., MASI, G., SENSI, E., SCHIRRIPA, M., MICHELUCCI, A., PFANNER, E., BRUNETTI, I., LUPI, C., ANTONIOTTI, C., BERGAMO, F., LONARDI, S., ZAGONEL, V., SIMI, P., FONTANINI, G. & FALCONE, A. 2014. FOLFOXIRI plus bevacizumab as first-line treatment in BRAF mutant metastatic colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer*, 50, 57-63.
- LOUPAKIS, F., MORETTO, R., APRILE, G., MUNTONI, M., CREMOLINI, C., IACONO, D., CASAGRANDE, M., FERRARI, L., SALVATORE, L., SCHIRRIPA, M., ROSSINI, D., DE MAGLIO, G., FASOLA, G., CALVETTI, L., PILOTTO, S., CARBOGNIN, L., FONTANINI, G., TORTORA, G., FALCONE, A., SPERDUTI, I. & BRIA, E. 2016. Clinico-pathological nomogram for predicting BRAF mutational status of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Br J Cancer*, 114, 30-6.
- LUND, J. L., RICHARDSON, D. B. & STURMER, T. 2015. The active comparator, new user study design in pharmacoepidemiology: historical foundations and contemporary application. *Curr Epidemiol Rep*, *2*, 221-228.
- LV, C., WU, S., ZHENG, D., WU, Y., YAO, D. & YU, X. 2013. The efficacy of additional bevacizumab to cytotoxic chemotherapy regimens for the treatment of colorectal cancer: an updated meta-analysis for randomized trials. *Cancer Biother Radiopharm*, 28, 501-9.
- LYNCH, H. T., SNYDER, C. L., SHAW, T. G., HEINEN, C. D. & HITCHINS, M. P. 2015. Milestones of Lynch syndrome: 1895-2015. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 15, 181-94.
- MACEDO, L. T., DA COSTA LIMA, A. B. & SASSE, A. D. 2012. Addition of bevacizumab to firstline chemotherapy in advanced colorectal cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis, with emphasis on chemotherapy subgroups. *BMC Cancer*, 12, 89.
- MANDEL, J. S., BOND, J. H., CHURCH, T. R., SNOVER, D. C., BRADLEY, G. M., SCHUMAN, L. M. & EDERER, F. 1993. Reducing mortality from colorectal cancer by screening for fecal occult blood. Minnesota Colon Cancer Control Study. *N Engl J Med*, 328, 1365-71.
- MANDEL, J. S., CHURCH, T. R., BOND, J. H., EDERER, F., GEISSER, M. S., MONGIN, S. J., SNOVER, D. C. & SCHUMAN, L. M. 2000. The effect of fecal occult-blood screening on the incidence of colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 343, 1603-7.
- MANFREDI, S., LEPAGE, C. M., HATEM, C., COATMEUR, O., FAIVRE, J. & BOUVIER, A.-M. 2006. Epidemiology and Management of Liver Metastases From Colorectal Cancer. *Annals of Surgery*, 244, 254-259.
- MANTEL, N. 1966. Evaluation of survival data and two new rank order statistics arising in its consideration. *Cancer Chemother Rep*, 50, 163-70.
- MARSCHNER, N., ARNOLD, D., ENGEL, E., HUTZSCHENREUTER, U., RAUH, J., FREIER, W., HARTMANN, H., FRANK, M. & JANICKE, M. 2015. Oxaliplatin-based first-line chemotherapy is associated with improved overall survival compared to first-line treatment with irinotecan-based chemotherapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer - Results from a prospective cohort study. *Clin Epidemiol*, 7, 295-303.
- MATTIUZZI, C., SANCHIS-GOMAR, F. & LIPPI, G. 2019. Concise update on colorectal cancer epidemiology. *Ann Transl Med*, **7**, 609.
- MAYER, R. J., VAN CUTSEM, E., FALCONE, A., YOSHINO, T., GARCIA-CARBONERO, R., MIZUNUMA, N., YAMAZAKI, K., SHIMADA, Y., TABERNERO, J., KOMATSU, Y., SOBRERO, A., BOUCHER, E., PEETERS, M., TRAN, B., LENZ, H. J., ZANIBONI, A., HOCHSTER, H., CLEARY, J. M., PRENEN, H., BENEDETTI, F., MIZUGUCHI, H., MAKRIS,

L., ITO, M., OHTSU, A. & GROUP, R. S. 2015. Randomized trial of TAS-102 for refractory metastatic colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 372, 1909-19.

- MAZAKI, J., KATSUMATA, K., KASAHARA, K., TAGO, T., WADA, T., KUWABARA, H., ENOMOTO, M., ISHIZAKI, T., NAGAKAWA, Y. & TSUCHIDA, A. 2020. Neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio is a prognostic factor for colon cancer: a propensity score analysis. *BMC Cancer*, 20, 922.
- MCFADDEN, J. H. D. 1984. Specification Tests for the Multinomial Logit Model. *The Econometric Society*, 52, 1219-1240.
- MCGUINNESS, L. A. & HIGGINS, J. P. T. 2021. Risk-of-bias VISualization (robvis): An R package and Shiny web app for visualizing risk-of-bias assessments. *Res Synth Methods*, 12, 55-61.
- MCNAB, D., MCKAY, J., SHORROCK, S., LUTY, S. & BOWIE, P. 2020. Development and application of 'systems thinking' principles for quality improvement. *BMJ Open Qual*, 9.
- MCNEIL, J. J., GRABSCH, E. A. & MCDONALD, M. M. 1999. Postmarketing surveillance: strengths and limitations. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 170, 270-273.
- MCNEILL, D., KARAPETIS, C. S., PRICE, T. J., MEAGHER, P., PIANTADOSI, C., QUINN, S., RODER, D., PADBURY, R., MADDERN, G., TOWNSEND, A., JAYAWARDANA, M. W. & ROY, A. C. 2021. Treatment and outcomes of metastatic colorectal cancer patients in public and private hospitals: results from the South Australian Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Registry. *Intern Med J*, 51, 69-77.
- MEGE D, O. M., FUKS D, METELLUS P, PELTIER J, DUFOUR H, REGIMBEAU JM, DAHAN L, SIELEZNEFF I, SASTRE B. 2013. Patients with Brain Metastases from Colorectal Cancer Are Not Condemned. *Anticancer Research*, 33.
- MESSERSMITH, W. A. 2019. NCCN Guidelines Updates: Management of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw, 17, 599-601.
- MEYBOOM, R. H. B., EGBERTS, A. C. G., EDWARDS, I. R., HEKSTER, Y. A., DE KONING, F. H. P. & GRIBNAU, F. W. J. 1997. Principles of Signal Detection in Pharmacovigilance. *Drug Safety*, 16, 355-365.
- MEYERHARDT, J. A., LI, L., SANOFF, H. K., CARPENTER, W. & SCHRAG, D. 2012a. Effectiveness of Bevacizumab With First-Line Combination Chemotherapy for Medicare Patients With Stage IV Colorectal Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 30, 608-615.
- MEYERHARDT, J. A., LI, L., SANOFF, H. K., CARPENTER, W. T. & SCHRAG, D. 2012b. Effectiveness of bevacizumab with first-line combination chemotherapy for Medicare patients with stage IV colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 30, 608-15.
- MICHAEL BORENSTEIN, L. V. H., J. P. T. HIGGINS AND H. R. ROTHSTEIN 2009. Introduction to Meta-Analysis. . *In:* JOHN WILEY & SONS, L. (ed.). Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, United Kingdom: TJ International, Padstow, Cornwall.
- MICHEL, P., ROQUE, I., DI FIORE, F., LANGLOIS, S., SCOTTE, M., TENIÈRE, P. & PAILLOT, B. 2004. Colorectal cancer with non-resectable synchronous metastases: should the primary tumor be resected? *Gastroentérologie Clinique et Biologique*, 28, 434-437.
- MIKOLAJEWICZ, N. & KOMAROVA, S. V. 2019. Meta-Analytic Methodology for Basic Research: A Practical Guide. *Front Physiol*, 10, 203.
- MILLAN, M., MERINO, S., CARO, A., FELIU, F., ESCUDER, J. & FRANCESCH, T. 2015. Treatment of colorectal cancer in the elderly. *World J Gastrointest Oncol*, **7**, 204-20.
- MILLER, A. B., HOOGSTRATEN, B., STAQUET, M. & WINKLER, A. 1981. Reporting results of cancer treatment. *Cancer*, 47, 207-214.
- MILLER, J. 2002. The Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). *The British Journal* of Diabetes & Vascular Disease, 2.

- MILLER, J. 2016. The Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). *The British Journal* of Diabetes & Vascular Disease, 2, 47-49.
- MOCELLIN, S., BARETTA, Z., ROQUE, I. F. M., SOLA, I., MARTIN-RICHARD, M., HALLUM, S. & BONFILL COSP, X. 2017. Second-line systemic therapy for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, **1**, CD006875.
- MOHER, D., LIBERATI, A., TETZLAFF, J., ALTMAN, D. G. & GROUP, P. 2009. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ*, 339, b2535.
- MOIEL, D. & THOMPSON, J. 2011. Early detection of colon cancer-the kaiser permanente northwest 30-year history: how do we measure success? Is it the test, the number of tests, the stage, or the percentage of screen-detected patients? *Perm J*, 15, 30-8.
- MONTASTRUC, J. L., BENEVENT, J., MONTASTRUC, F., BAGHERI, H., DESPAS, F., LAPEYRE-MESTRE, M. & SOMMET, A. 2019. What is pharmacoepidemiology? Definition, methods, interest and clinical applications. *Therapie*, 74, 169-174.
- MUELLER, F., BUCHEL, B., KOBERLE, D., SCHURCH, S., PFISTER, B., KRAHENBUHL, S., FROEHLICH, T. K., LARGIADER, C. R. & JOERGER, M. 2013. Gender-specific elimination of continuous-infusional 5-fluorouracil in patients with gastrointestinal malignancies: results from a prospective population pharmacokinetic study. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 71, 361-70.
- MUELLER, T., LASKEY, J., BAILLIE, K., CLARKE, J., CREARIE, C., KAVANAGH, K., GRAHAM, J., GRAHAM, K., WATERSON, A., JONES, R., KURDI, A., MORRISON, D. & BENNIE, M.
 2022. Opportunities and challenges when using record linkage of routinely collected electronic health care data to evaluate outcomes of systemic anti-cancer treatment in clinical practice. *Health Informatics Journal*, 28.
- MURO, K., ITABASHI, M., HASHIDA, H., MASUISHI, T., BANDO, H., DENDA, T., YAMANAKA, T., OHASHI, Y. & SUGIHARA, K. 2019. Observational study of first-line chemotherapy including cetuximab in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: CORAL trial. *Jpn J Clin Oncol*, 49, 339-346.
- MURTHY, V. H., KRUMHOLZ, H. M. & GROSS, C. P. 2004. Participation in cancer clinical trials: race-, sex-, and age-based disparities. *JAMA*, 291, 2720-6.
- NATIONAL CANCER INSITUTE. 2017. Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) [Online]. Available:

https://ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/electronic_applications/docs/CTCAE v5_Quick_Reference_8.5x11.pdf [Accessed 22/1 2022].

- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE DIGITAL. 2016. National Clinical Coding Standards OPCS-4 [Online]. Available: <u>https://hscic.kahootz.com/gf2.ti/f/762498/27837541.1/PDF/-/NCCSOPCS42017.pdf</u> [Accessed 27/01 2021].
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE GREATER GLASGOW AND CLYDE 2015. Access and Data Sharing Agreement: Chemotherapy Prescribing and Administration System (CEPAS).
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE GREATER GLASGOW AND CLYDE. 2020a. Carcinoembryonic Antigen (CEA) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/about-us/professional-support-sites/laboratory-medicine/laboratory-disciplines/biochemistry/nhsggc-specialist-endocrine-laboratory/tumour-markers/cea/</u> [Accessed 02/02 2021].
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE GREATER GLASGOW AND CLYDE. 2020b. *Glasgow Safe Haven governance* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/about-us/professional-</u> <u>support-sites/glasgow-safe-haven/governance/</u> [Accessed 18/09 2021].
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE GREATER GLASGOW AND CLYDE. 2020c. North Glasgow Hospitals Department of Haematology Service Users Handbook [Online]. Available:

https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/media/264369/north-glasgow-hospitals-userhandbook-30.pdf [Accessed 2/2 2021].

- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE GREATER GLASGOW AND CLYDE. 2021. *Glasgow Safe Haven* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/about-us/professional-support-</u> <u>sites/glasgow-safe-haven/</u> [Accessed 17/09 2021].
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE NATIONAL SERVICES SCOTLAND. 2012. Scottish government records management:nhs code of practice (Scotland) [Online]. [Accessed 14/12 2020].
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE NATIONAL SERVICES SCOTLAND. 2015. *Data Quality Assurance: Assessment of SMR01 Data Scotland 2014-2015* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.isdscotland.org/Products-and-Services/Data-</u> <u>Quality/docs/Assessment-of-SMR01-Data-2014-15-report-181019.pdf</u> [Accessed 8/12 2020].
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE NATIONAL SERVICES SCOTLAND. 2016. SCI Store Product Overview [Online]. Available:

https://www.sci.scot.nhs.uk/products/store/General/SCI%20Store%20-%20Product%20Description.pdf [Accessed 9/12 2020].

- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE NATIONAL SERVICES SCOTLAND. 2022. What are national networks? [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nss.nhs.scot/specialist-</u> <u>healthcare/national-networks/what-are-national-networks/cancer-networks/</u> [Accessed 7/9/2022].
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE SCOTLAND. 2010. *NHSScotland Caldicott Guardians: Principles into Practice* [Online]. Available:

https://www.ohb.scot.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/2016-

<u>09/NHS Scotland Caldicott Guardians Principles in Practice.pdf</u> [Accessed 21/01 2021].

- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE SCOTLAND 2019. NHS Scotland Public Benefit and Privacy Panel for Health and Social Care.
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE SCOTLAND & MACMILLAN CANCER SUPPORT 2017. Deprivation and Survival from Colorectal Cancer in Scotland.
- NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE SCOTLAND NORTH. 2021. North of Scotland Clinical Management Guideline (CMG): Colorectal Cancer [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nhsscotlandnorth.scot/uploads/tinymce/NCA/CMGs/NCA-CMG-COL21%20Colorectal%20Cancer%20CMG%20FINAL.pdf</u> [Accessed 18/09 2022].

NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE WEST OF SCOTLAND CANCER NETWORK 2019. Clinical Management Guideline for Metastatic Colorectal Cancer.

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE (NICE) 2020. colorectal cancer guidline.

NATIONAL RECORDS OF SCOTLAND. 2016. *About us* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-</u> <u>theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-background-information/quality-of-nrs-data-on-</u> <u>deaths</u> [Accessed 9/12 2020].

- NATIONAL RECORDS OF SCOTLAND. 2020. Quality of National Records of Scotland (NRS) Data on Deaths [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-background-information/quality-of-nrs-data-on-deaths</u> [Accessed 9/12 2020].
- NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL 1992. *combining information: statistical issues and opportunities for research,* Washington, D.C, National academy press.

NAZHA, B., MOUSSALY, E., ZAAROUR, M., WEERASINGHE, C. & AZAB, B. 2015. Hypoalbuminemia in colorectal cancer prognosis: Nutritional marker or inflammatory surrogate? *World J Gastrointest Surg*, 7, 370-7.

NEBULONI, D. R., MAK, M. P., SOUZA, F. H., SARAGIOTTO, D. F., JULIO, T., D. E. CASTRO G, J., SABBAGA, J. & HOFF, P. M. 2013. Modified FLOX as first-line chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer patients in the public health system in Brazil: Effectiveness and cost-utility analysis. *Mol Clin Oncol*, 1, 175-179.

NEUGUT, A. I., LIN, A., RAAB, G. T., HILLYER, G. C., KELLER, D., O'NEIL, D. S., ACCORDINO, M. K., KIRAN, R. P., WRIGHT, J. & HERSHMAN, D. L. 2019. FOLFOX and FOLFIRI Use in Stage IV Colon Cancer: Analysis of SEER-Medicare Data. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 18, 133-140.

- NEWCOMBE, H. B., KENNEDY, J. M., AXFORD, S. J. & JAMES, A. P. 1959. Automatic linkage of vital records. *Science*, 130, 954-9.
- NHS NATIONAL SERVICES SCOTLAND 2019. Data Landscape Relevant to the Macmillan-ISD Partnership Objectives. ISD Scotland
- Macmillan cancer support.
- NHS WEST OF SCOTLAND CANCER NETWORK 2019. Clinical Management Guideline for Metastatic Colorectal Cancer.

NICE. 2022. NICE real-world evidence framework [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/corporate/ecd9/resources/nice-realworld-evidence-framework-pdf-1124020816837</u> [Accessed 3/12 2022].

- NICOLSON, T. J., MELLOR, H. R. & ROBERTS, R. R. 2010. Gender differences in drug toxicity. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 31, 108-14.
- NIKOLAOU, S., QIU, S., FIORENTINO, F., RASHEED, S., TEKKIS, P. & KONTOVOUNISIOS, C. 2019. The prognostic and therapeutic role of hormones in colorectal cancer: a review. *Mol Biol Rep*, 46, 1477-1486.
- NORDMANN, A. J., KASENDA, B. & BRIEL, M. 2012. Meta-analyses: what they can and cannot do. *Swiss Med Wkly*, 142, w13518.
- NORMAND, S.-L. T. 1999. Meta-analysis: formulating, evaluating, combining, and reporting. *Statistics in Medicine*, 18, 321-359.
- OCVIRK, J., REBERSEK, M. & BOC, M. 2011. Bevacizumab in first-line therapy of metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective comparison of FOLFIRI and XELIRI. *Anticancer Res*, 31, 1777-82.
- OKEN, M. M., CREECH, R. H., TORMEY, D. C., HORTON, J., DAVIS, T. E., MCFADDEN, E. T. & CARBONE, P. P. 1982. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 5, 649-656.
- ORIMO, H., ITO, H., SUZUKI, T., ARAKI, A., HOSOI, T. & SAWABE, M. 2006. Reviewing the definition of "elderly". *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 6, 149-158.
- OSBURN, H. G., CALLENDER, J. C., GREENER, J. M. & ASHWORTH, S. 1983. Statistical power of tests of the situational specificity hypothesis in validity generalization studies: A cautionary note. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 68, 115-122.
- OSBURN, H. G., CALLENDER, JOHN 1992. A note on the sampling variance of the mean uncorrected correlation in meta-analysis and validity generalization. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77, 115-22.
- OST, L. G. 2014. The efficacy of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Behav Res Ther*, 61, 105-21.

OVERMAN, M. J., LONARDI, S., WONG, K. Y. M., LENZ, H. J., GELSOMINO, F., AGLIETTA, M., MORSE, M. A., VAN CUTSEM, E., MCDERMOTT, R., HILL, A., SAWYER, M. B., HENDLISZ, A., NEYNS, B., SVRCEK, M., MOSS, R. A., LEDEINE, J. M., CAO, Z. A., KAMBLE, S., KOPETZ, S. & ANDRE, T. 2018. Durable Clinical Benefit With Nivolumab Plus Ipilimumab in DNA Mismatch Repair-Deficient/Microsatellite Instability-High Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 36, 773-779.

- PAPAMICHAEL, D., AUDISIO, R., HORIOT, J. C., GLIMELIUS, B., SASTRE, J., MITRY, E., VAN CUTSEM, E., GOSNEY, M., KOHNE, C. H., AAPRO, M. & SIOG 2009. Treatment of the elderly colorectal cancer patient: SIOG expert recommendations. *Ann Oncol*, 20, 5-16.
- PARMAR, M. K. B., TORRI, V. & STEWART, L. 1998. Extracting summary statistics to perform meta-analyses of the published literature for survival endpoints. *Statistics in Medicine*, 17, 2815-2834.
- PAUL, S. R. & DONNER, A. 1992. Small sample performance of tests of homogeneity of odds ratios in K 2 x 2 tables. *Stat Med*, 11, 159-65.
- PEIXOTO, R. D., KUMAR, A. & LIM, H. J. 2015a. Palliative oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy after exposure to oxaliplatin in the adjuvant setting for colon cancer. *J Gastrointest Oncol*, 6, 487-91.
- PEIXOTO, R. D., KUMAR, A., SPEERS, C., RENOUF, D., KENNECKE, H. F., LIM, H. J., CHEUNG, W. Y., MELOSKY, B. & GILL, S. 2015b. Effect of delay in adjuvant oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 14, 25-30.
- PETERS, J. L., SUTTON, A. J., JONES, D. R., ABRAMS, K. R. & RUSHTON, L. 2007. Performance of the trim and fill method in the presence of publication bias and between-study heterogeneity. *Stat Med*, 26, 4544-62.
- PETRELLI, N., DOUGLASS, H. O., JR., HERRERA, L., RUSSELL, D., STABLEIN, D. M., BRUCKNER, H. W., MAYER, R. J., SCHINELLA, R., GREEN, M. D., MUGGIA, F. M. & ET AL. 1989.
 The modulation of fluorouracil with leucovorin in metastatic colorectal carcinoma: a prospective randomized phase III trial. Gastrointestinal Tumor Study Group. J Clin Oncol, 7, 1419-26.
- PHILLIPS, R., HAZELL, L., SAUZET, O. & CORNELIUS, V. 2019. Analysis and reporting of adverse events in randomised controlled trials: a review. *BMJ Open*, 9, e024537.
- PINEDO, H. M. & PETERS, G. F. 1988. Fluorouracil: biochemistry and pharmacology. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology, 6, 1653-1664.
- PRAGER, G. W., BRAEMSWIG, K. H., MARTEL, A., UNSELD, M., HEINZE, G., BRODOWICZ, T., SCHEITHAUER, W., KORNEK, G. & ZIELINSKI, C. C. 2014. Baseline carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) serum levels predict bevacizumab-based treatment response in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Sci*, 105, 996-1001.
- PRIGERSON, H. G., BAO, Y., SHAH, M. A., PAULK, M. E., LEBLANC, T. W., SCHNEIDER, B. J., GARRIDO, M. M., REID, M. C., BERLIN, D. A., ADELSON, K. B., NEUGUT, A. I. & MACIEJEWSKI, P. K. 2015. Chemotherapy Use, Performance Status, and Quality of Life at the End of Life. JAMA Oncology, 1.
- PRIMROSE, J. N., FALK, S., FINCH-JONES, M., VALLE, J. W., SHERLOCK, D., HORNBUCKLE, J., GARDNER-THORPE, J., SMITH, D., IMBER, C., HICKISH, T., DAVIDSON, B., CUNNINGHAM, D., POSTON, G. J., MAUGHAN, T., REES, M., STANTON, L., LITTLE, L., BOWERS, M., WOOD, W. & BRIDGEWATER, J. A. 2013. A randomized clinical trial of chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy in combination with cetuximab in k-RAS wild-type patients with operable metastases from colorectal cancer: The new EPOC study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 31, 3504-3504.
- PUBLIC HEALTH INFORMATION FOR SCOTLAND. 2021. Colorectal cancer: key points [Online]. Public health information for Scotland. Available: <u>https://www.scotpho.org.uk/health-wellbeing-and-disease/cancer-colorectal/key-points/</u> [Accessed 12/6 2022].

- PUBLIC HEALTH SCOTLAND. 2015. Cancer Statistics: Incidence Projections [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Cancer-Statistics/Incidence-Projections/</u> [Accessed 12/06 2022].
- PUBLIC HEALTH SCOTLAND. 2020a. *Data and intelligence: A Z Subject Index* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.isdscotland.org/A-to-Z-index/</u> [Accessed 11/11 2020].
- PUBLIC HEALTH SCOTLAND. 2020b. National Data Catalogue: National Datasets [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndc.scot.nhs.uk/National-Datasets/index.asp</u> [Accessed 11/11 2020].
- PUBLIC HEALTH SCOTLAND. 2020c. Use of the National Safe Haven [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.isdscotland.org/Products-and-Services/eDRIS/Use-of-the-National-Safe-Haven/</u> [Accessed 17/09 2021].
- PUBLIC HEALTH SCOTLAND. 2021. Coding & Terminology Systems [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.isdscotland.org/Products-and-Services/Terminology-Services/Coding-and-Terminology-Systems/</u> [Accessed 13/01 2021].
- QUAN, H., SUNDARARAJAN, V., HALFON, P., FONG, A., BURNAND, B., LUTHI, J. C., SAUNDERS, L. D., BECK, C. A., FEASBY, T. E. & GHALI, W. A. 2005. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. *Med Care*, 43, 1130-9.
- RAHM, E. D., H. 2000. *Data Cleaning: Problems and Current Approaches* [Online]. Available: <u>https://dbs.uni-leipzig.de/file/TBDE2000.pdf</u> [Accessed 12/09 2021].
- RAMAMOORTHY, A. & HUANG, S. M. 2019. What Does It Take to Transform Real-World Data Into Real-World Evidence? *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 106, 10-18.
- RAO, D. & JAYARAMAN, S. 2011. Metachronous Colorectal Malignancies. *Indian Journal of Surgery*, 73, 368-369.
- RAY, W. A. 2003. Evaluating medication effects outside of clinical trials: new-user designs. *Am J Epidemiol*, 158, 915-20.
- RAYMOND, E., FAIVRE, S., WOYNAROWSKI, J. M. & CHANEY, S. G. 1998. Oxaliplatin: mechanism of action and antineoplastic activity. *Semin Oncol*, 25, 4-12.
- RAZENBERG, L. G., VAN GESTEL, Y. R., DE HINGH, I. H., LOOSVELD, O. J., VREUGDENHIL, G., BEEREPOOT, L. V., CREEMERS, G. J. & LEMMENS, V. E. 2016. Bevacizumab for metachronous metastatic colorectal cancer: a reflection of community based practice. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 110.
- REN, T., WANG, S., SHEN, Z., XU, C., ZHANG, Y., HUI, F., QI, X. & ZHAO, Q. 2021. Efficacy and Safety of Bevacizumab Plus Oxaliplatin- or Irinotecan-Based Doublet Backbone Chemotherapy as the First-Line Treatment of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Drug Saf*, 44, 29-40.
- RENNERT, G. 2017. Reproductive factors, hormones and colorectal cancer-still unresolved. *Br J Cancer*, 116, 1-3.
- RIEDL, J. M., POSCH, F., MOIK, F., BEZAN, A., SZKANDERA, J., SMOLLE, M. A., KASPAREK, A. K., PICHLER, M., STOGER, H., STOTZ, M. & GERGER, A. 2017. Inflammatory biomarkers in metastatic colorectal cancer: prognostic and predictive role beyond the first line setting. *Oncotarget*, *8*, 96048-96061.
- RIIHIMAKI, M., HEMMINKI, A., SUNDQUIST, J. & HEMMINKI, K. 2016. Patterns of metastasis in colon and rectal cancer. *Sci Rep,* 6, 29765.
- ROCKMAN, J. 2010. Electronic surgical record management. *J Med Pract Manage*.
- RODRIGUEZ-BIGAS, M. A., LIN, E. H. & CRANE, C. H. 2003. Stage IV Colorectal Cancer. *In:* KUFE;, D. W., POLLOCK;, R. E., WEICHSELBAUM, R. R., ROBERT C BAST, J., GANSLER, T. S., HOLLAND, J. F. & EMIL FREI, I. (eds.) *Holland-Frei Cancer Medicine.*

- ROSEN, S. A., BUELL, J. F., YOSHIDA, A., KAZSUBA, S., HURST, R., MICHELASSI, F., MILLIS, J.
 M. & POSNER, M. C. 2000. Initial presentation with stage IV colorectal cancer: how aggressive should we be? *Arch Surg*, 135, 530-4; discussion 534-5.
- ROSENTHAL, R. 1979. The file drawer problem and tolerance for null results. *Psychological Bulletin*, 86, 638-641.
- ROUGIER, P. & MITRY, E. 2009. [Targeted biotherapy: a revolution in the management of patients with colorectal cancer?]. *Gastroenterol Clin Biol*, 33, 672-80.
- ROUGIER, P., VAN CUTSEM, E., BAJETTA, E., NIEDERLE, N., POSSINGER, K., LABIANCA, R., NAVARRO, M., MORANT, R., BLEIBERG, H., WILS, J., AWAD, L., HERAIT, P. & JACQUES, C. 1998. Randomised trial of irinotecan versus fluorouracil by continuous infusion after fluorouracil failure in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Lancet*, 352, 1407-12.
- RUBIN, D. B. 1976. Inference and Missing Data. *Biometrika*, 63.
- RUO, L., GOUGOUTAS, C., PATY, P. B., GUILLEM, J. G., COHEN, A. M. & WONG, D. W. 2003. Elective Bowel Resection for Incurable Stage IV Colorectal Cancer: Prognostic Variables for Asymptomatic Patients. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons*, 196, 722-728.
- SACKETT, P. R., HARRIS, M. M. & ORR, J. M. 1986. On seeking moderator variables in the meta-analysis of correlational data: A Monte Carlo investigation of statistical power and resistance to Type I error. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71, 302-310.
- SAESEN, R., KANTIDAKIS, G., MARINUS, A., LACOMBE, D. & HUYS, I. 2022. How do cancer clinicians perceive real-world data and the evidence derived therefrom? Findings from an international survey of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer. *Front Pharmacol*, 13, 969778.
- SAFIRI, S., SEPANLOU, S. G., IKUTA, K. S., BISIGNANO, C., SALIMZADEH, H., DELAVARI, A., ANSARI, R., ROSHANDEL, G., MERAT, S., FITZMAURICE, C., FORCE, L. M., NIXON, M. R., ABBASTABAR, H., ABEGAZ, K. H., AFARIDEH, M., AHMADI, A., AHMED, M. B., AKINYEMIJU, T., ALAHDAB, F., ALI, R., ALIKHANI, M., ALIPOUR, V., ALJUNID, S. M., ALMADI, M. A. H., ALMASI-HASHIANI, A., AL-RADDADI, R. M., ALVIS-GUZMAN, N., AMINI, S., ANBER, N. H., ANSARI-MOGHADDAM, A., ARABLOO, J., AREFI, Z., ASGHARI JAFARABADI, M., AZADMEHR, A., BADAWI, A., BAHEIRAEI, N., BÄRNIGHAUSEN, T. W., BASALEEM, H., BEHZADIFAR, M., BEHZADIFAR, M., BELAYNEH, Y. M., BERHE, K., BHATTACHARYYA, K., BIADGO, B., BIJANI, A., BIONDI, A., BJØRGE, T., BORZÌ, A. M., BOSETTI, C., BOU-ORM, I. R., BRENNER, H., BRIKO, A. N., BRIKO, N. I., CARRERAS, G., CARVALHO, F., CASTAÑEDA-ORJUELA, C. A., CERIN, E., CHIANG, P. P.-C., CHIDO-AMAJUOYI, O. G., DARYANI, A., DAVITOIU, D. V., DEMOZ, G. T., DESAI, R., DIANATI NASAB, M., EFTEKHARI, A., EL SAYED, I., ELBARAZI, I., EMAMIAN, M. H., ENDRIES, A. Y., ESMAEILZADEH, F., ESTEGHAMATI, A., ETEMADI, A., FARZADFAR, F., FERNANDES, E., FERNANDES, J. C., FILIP, I., FISCHER, F., FOROUTAN, M., GAD, M. M., GALLUS, S., GHASENI-KEBRIA, F., GHASHGHAEE, A., GORINI, G., HAFEZI-NEJAD, N., HAJ-MIRZAIAN, A., HAJ-MIRZAIAN, A., HASANPOUR-HEIDARI, S., HASANZADEH, A., HASSANIPOUR, S., HAY, S. I., HOANG, C. L., HOSTIUC, M., HOUSEH, M., ILESANMI, O. S., ILIC, M. D., INNOS, K., IRVANI, S. S. N., ISLAMI, F., JACA, A., JAFARI BALALAMI, N., et al. 2019. The global, regional, and national burden of colorectal cancer and its attributable risk factors in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 4, 913-933.

- SAHIN, I. H., AKCE, M., ALESE, O., SHAIB, W., LESINSKI, G. B., EL-RAYES, B. & WU, C. 2019. Immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of MSI-H/MMR-D colorectal cancer and a perspective on resistance mechanisms. *Br J Cancer*, 121, 809-818.
- SALTZ, L. B. 2010. Adjuvant therapy for colon cancer. Surg Oncol Clin N Am, 19, 819-27.
- SALTZ, L. B., CLARKE, S., DIAZ-RUBIO, E., SCHEITHAUER, W., FIGER, A., WONG, R., KOSKI, S., LICHINITSER, M., YANG, T. S., RIVERA, F., COUTURE, F., SIRZEN, F. & CASSIDY, J.
 2008. Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy as firstline therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer: a randomized phase III study. J Clin Oncol, 26, 2013-9.
- SALTZ, L. B., COX, J. V., BLANKE, C., ROSEN, L. S., FEHRENBACHER, L., MOORE, M. J., MAROUN, J. A., ACKLAND, S. P., LOCKER, P. K., PIROTTA, N., ELFRING, G. L. & MILLER, L. L. 2000. Irinotecan plus fluorouracil and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. Irinotecan Study Group. N Engl J Med, 343, 905-14.
- SALTZ, L. B., MEROPOL, N. J., LOEHRER, P. J., SR., NEEDLE, M. N., KOPIT, J. & MAYER, R. J. 2004. Phase II trial of cetuximab in patients with refractory colorectal cancer that expresses the epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Clin Oncol*, 22, 1201-8.
- SARGENT, D. J., KOHNE, C. H., SANOFF, H. K., BOT, B. M., SEYMOUR, M. T., DE GRAMONT, A., PORSCHEN, R., SALTZ, L. B., ROUGIER, P., TOURNIGAND, C., DOUILLARD, J. Y., STEPHENS, R. J., GROTHEY, A. & GOLDBERG, R. M. 2009. Pooled safety and efficacy analysis examining the effect of performance status on outcomes in nine first-line treatment trials using individual data from patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol, 27, 1948-55.
- SARRAZIN, M. S. & ROSENTHAL, G. E. 2012. Finding pure and simple truths with administrative data. *JAMA*, 307, 1433-5.
- SATRAM-HOANG, S., LEE, L., YU, S., GUDURU, S. R., GUNUGANTI, A. R., REYES, C. & MCKENNA, E. 2013. Comparative effectiveness of chemotherapy in elderly patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *J Gastrointest Cancer*, 44, 79-88.
- SCHIRRIPA, M., BIASON, P., LONARDI, S., PELLA, N., PINO, M. S., URBANO, F., ANTONIOTTI,
 C., CREMOLINI, C., CORALLO, S., PIETRANTONIO, F., GELSOMINO, F., CASCINU, S.,
 ORLANDI, A., MUNARI, G., MALAPELLE, U., SAGGIO, S., FONTANINI, G., RUGGE, M.,
 MESCOLI, C., LAZZI, S., REGGIANI BONETTI, L., LANZA, G., DEI TOS, A. P., DE
 MAGLIO, G., MARTINI, M., BERGAMO, F., ZAGONEL, V., LOUPAKIS, F. & FASSAN, M.
 2019. Class 1, 2, and 3 BRAF-Mutated Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Detailed
 Clinical, Pathologic, and Molecular Characterization. *Clin Cancer Res*, 25, 3954-3961.
- SCHMIDT, F. L. & HUNTER, J. E. 1998. The validity and utility of selection methods in personnel psychology: Practical and theoretical implications of 85 years of research findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124, 262-274.
- SCHMOLL, H. J., VAN CUTSEM, E., STEIN, A., VALENTINI, V., GLIMELIUS, B., HAUSTERMANS, K., NORDLINGER, B., VAN DE VELDE, C. J., BALMANA, J., REGULA, J., NAGTEGAAL, I. D., BEETS-TAN, R. G., ARNOLD, D., CIARDIELLO, F., HOFF, P., KERR, D., KOHNE, C. H., LABIANCA, R., PRICE, T., SCHEITHAUER, W., SOBRERO, A., TABERNERO, J., ADERKA, D., BARROSO, S., BODOKY, G., DOUILLARD, J. Y., EL GHAZALY, H., GALLARDO, J., GARIN, A., GLYNNE-JONES, R., JORDAN, K., MESHCHERYAKOV, A., PAPAMICHAIL, D., PFEIFFER, P., SOUGLAKOS, I., TURHAL, S. & CERVANTES, A. 2012. ESMO Consensus Guidelines for management of patients with colon and rectal cancer. a personalized approach to clinical decision making. *Ann Oncol*, 23, 2479-516.
- SCHOENFELD, D. 1982. Partial residuals for the proportional hazards regression model. *Biometrika*, 69, 239-241.

- SCHULZ, K. F., ALTMAN, D. G., MOHER, D. & GROUP, C. 2010. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomized trials. *Ann Intern Med*, 152, 726-32.
- SCOGGINS, C. R., MESZOELY, I. M., BLANKE, C. D., BEAUCHAMP, R. D. & LEACH, S. D. 1999. Nonoperative management of primary colorectal cancer in patients with stage IV disease. Ann Surg Oncol, 6, 651-7.
- SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT EHEALTH DIVISION 2013. The use of the CHI (Community Health Index) to support integrated care across the NHS in Scotland. 1.1 ed.
- SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT EHEALTH DIVISION 2013. The use of the CHI (Community Health Index) to support integrated care across the NHS in Scotland. 1.1 ed.
- SCOTTISH HEALTH INFORMATICS PROGRAM. 2012. A Blueprint for Health Records Research in Scotland [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.scot-</u> <u>ship.ac.uk/sites/default/files/Reports/SHIP_BLUEPRINT_DOCUMENT_final_100712.</u> pdf [Accessed 21/01 2021].
- SCOTTISH INTERCOLLEGIATE GUIDELINES NETWORK. 2011a. *Diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/sign-126-diagnosis-and-management-of-colorectal-cancer.html</u> [Accessed 30/11 2019].
- SCOTTISH INTERCOLLEGIATE GUIDELINES NETWORK 2011b. SIGN 126 Diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer: A national clinical guideline. Edinburgh.
- SCOTTISH MEDICINE CONSORTIUM. 2005. *Cetuximab (Erbitux)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/cetuximab-erbitux-irp-15505/</u> [Accessed 16/06 2022].
- SCOTTISH MEDICINE CONSORTIUM. 2006. *Bevacizumab (Avastin®)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/bevacizumab-avastin-resubmission-22105/</u> [Accessed 16/06 2022].
- SCOTTISH MEDICINE CONSORTIUM. 2014. *aflibercept (Zaltrap)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/aflibercept-zaltrap-resubmission-87813/</u> [Accessed 13/09 2022].
- SCOTTISH MEDICINE CONSORTIUM. 2021. *encorafenib (Braftovi®)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/encorafenib-braftovi-full-smc2312/</u> [Accessed 16/06 2022].
- SCOTTISH MEDICINE CONSORTIUM. 2022. A Guide to the Scottish Medicines Consortium [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/media/3574/20180712-</u> <u>a-guide-to-the-scottish-medicines-consortium.pdf</u> [Accessed 2/1 2023].
- SEHGAL, R. & COFFEY, J. C. 2014. Historical development of mesenteric anatomy provides a universally applicable anatomic paradigm for complete/total mesocolic excision. *Gastroenterology Report*, 2, 245-250.
- SELIGMANN, J. F., FISHER, D., SMITH, C. G., RICHMAN, S. D., ELLIOTT, F., BROWN, S., ADAMS, R., MAUGHAN, T., QUIRKE, P., CHEADLE, J., SEYMOUR, M. & MIDDLETON, G. 2017. Investigating the poor outcomes of BRAF-mutant advanced colorectal cancer: analysis from 2530 patients in randomised clinical trials. *Ann Oncol,* 28, 562-568.
- SENN, S. J. 2009. Overstating the evidence: double counting in meta-analysis and related problems. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 9, 10.
- SHIBUTANI, M., MAEDA, K., NAGAHARA, H., EIJI NODA, H. O., NISHIGUCHI, Y. & HIRAKAWA,
 K. 2013. A High Preoperative Neutrophil–to–lymphocyte Ratio Is Associated with
 Poor Survival in Patients with Colorectal Cancer. *Anticancer Res*, 33, 3291-4.
- SHUSTER, J. J. 1991. Median follow-up in clinical trials. J Clin Oncol, 9, 191-2.

- SIEGEL, R. L., TORRE, L. A., SOERJOMATARAM, I., HAYES, R. B., BRAY, F., WEBER, T. K. & JEMAL, A. 2019. Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence in young adults. *Gut*, 68, 2179-2185.
- SINGH, B., BHAYA, M., STERN, J., ROLAND, J. T., ZIMBLER, M., ROSENFELD, R. M., HAR-EL, G.
 & LUCENTE, F. E. 1997. Validation of the Charlson comorbidity index in patients with head and neck cancer: a multi-institutional study. *Laryngoscope*, 107, 1469-75.
- SKOVLUND, E., LEUFKENS, H. G. M. & SMYTH, J. F. 2018. The use of real-world data in cancer drug development. *Eur J Cancer*, 101, 69-76.
- SLOAN, J. A., GOLDBERG, R. M., SARGENT, D. J., VARGAS-CHANES, D., NAIR, S., CHA, S. S., NOVOTNY, P. J., POON, M. A., O'CONNELL, M. J. & LOPRINZI, C. L. 2002. Women experience greater toxicity with fluorouracil-based chemotherapy for colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 20, 1491-8.
- SLOAN, J. A., LOPRINZI, C. L., NOVOTNY, P. J., OKUNO, S., NAIR, S. & BARTON, D. L. 2000. Sex differences in fluorouracil-induced stomatitis. *J Clin Oncol*, 18, 412-20.
- SOGABE, S., KOMATSU, Y., YUKI, S., KUSUMI, T., HATANAKA, K., NAKAMURA, M., KATO, T., MIYAGISHIMA, T., HOSOKAWA, A., IWANAGA, I., SAKATA, Y. & ASAKA, M. 2011. Retrospective cohort study on the safety and efficacy of bevacizumab with chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer patients: the HGCSG0801 study. *Jpn J Clin Oncol*, 41, 490-7.
- SOLDIN, O. P., CHUNG, S. H. & MATTISON, D. R. 2011. Sex differences in drug disposition. *J* Biomed Biotechnol, 2011, 187103.
- SOMMET, A. & PARIENTE, A. 2019. Methods in pharmacoepidemiology. *Therapie*, 74, 187-197.
- SONG, F., PAREKH, S., HOOPER, L., LOKE, Y. K., RYDER, J., SUTTON, A. J., HING, C., KWOK, C.
 S., PANG, C. & HARVEY, I. 2010. Dissemination and publication of research findings: an updated review of related biases. *Health Technol Assess*, 14, iii, ix-xi, 1-193.
- STEC, R., BODNAR, L. & SZCZYLIK, C. 2010. Feasibility and efficacy of capecitabine and FOLFIRI in patients aged 65 years and older with advanced colorectal cancer: a retrospective analysis. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 136, 283-92.
- STEELE, R. J., MCCLEMENTS, P. L., LIBBY, G., BLACK, R., MORTON, C., BIRRELL, J., MOWAT, N. A., WILSON, J. A., KENICER, M., CAREY, F. A. & FRASER, C. G. 2009. Results from the first three rounds of the Scottish demonstration pilot of FOBT screening for colorectal cancer. *Gut*, 58, 530-5.
- STEIN, A. & ARNOLD, D. 2012. Oxaliplatin: a review of approved uses. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*, 13, 125-37.
- STEIN, A., PETERSEN, V., SCHULZE, M., SERAPHIN, J., HOEFFKES, H.-G., VALDIX, A. R., SCHROEDER, J., HERRENBERGER, J., BOXBERGER, F., LEUTGEB, B., HINKE, A., KUTSCHEIDT, A. & ARNOLD, D. 2015a. Bevacizumab plus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: Results from a large German community-based observational cohort study. *Acta Oncologica*, 54, 171-178.
- STEIN, A., PETERSEN, V., SCHULZE, M., SERAPHIN, J., HOEFFKES, H. G., VALDIX, A. R.,
 SCHROEDER, J., HERRENBERGER, J., BOXBERGER, F., LEUTGEB, B., HINKE, A.,
 KUTSCHEIDT, A. & ARNOLD, D. 2015b. Bevacizumab plus chemotherapy as first-line
 treatment for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: results from a large
 German community-based observational cohort study. *Acta Oncol*, 54, 171-8.
- STEIN, B. N., PETRELLI, N. J., DOUGLASS, H. O., DRISCOLL, D. L., ARCANGELI, G. & MEROPOL,
 N. J. 1995. Age and sex are independent predictors of 5-fluorouracil toxicity.
 Analysis of a large scale phase III trial. *Cancer*, 75, 11-7.

- STERNE, J., HIGGINS, J., ELBERS, R. & REEVES, B. 2016a. Risk Of Bias In Non-randomized Studies of Interventions (ROBINS-I): detailed guidance [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.riskofbias.info</u> [Accessed 11/11 2022].
- STERNE, J. A., HERNAN, M. A., REEVES, B. C., SAVOVIC, J., BERKMAN, N. D., VISWANATHAN, M., HENRY, D., ALTMAN, D. G., ANSARI, M. T., BOUTRON, I., CARPENTER, J. R., CHAN, A. W., CHURCHILL, R., DEEKS, J. J., HROBJARTSSON, A., KIRKHAM, J., JUNI, P., LOKE, Y. K., PIGOTT, T. D., RAMSAY, C. R., REGIDOR, D., ROTHSTEIN, H. R., SANDHU, L., SANTAGUIDA, P. L., SCHUNEMANN, H. J., SHEA, B., SHRIER, I., TUGWELL, P., TURNER, L., VALENTINE, J. C., WADDINGTON, H., WATERS, E., WELLS, G. A., WHITING, P. F. & HIGGINS, J. P. 2016b. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ*, 355, i4919.
- STERNE, J. A., SUTTON, A. J., IOANNIDIS, J. P., TERRIN, N., JONES, D. R., LAU, J., CARPENTER, J., RUCKER, G., HARBORD, R. M., SCHMID, C. H., TETZLAFF, J., DEEKS, J. J., PETERS, J., MACASKILL, P., SCHWARZER, G., DUVAL, S., ALTMAN, D. G., MOHER, D. & HIGGINS, J. P. 2011. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ*, 343, d4002.
- STERNE, J. A., WHITE, I. R., CARLIN, J. B., SPRATT, M., ROYSTON, P., KENWARD, M. G., WOOD, A. M. & CARPENTER, J. R. 2009. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. *BMJ*, 338, b2393.
- STERNE, J. A. C. & EGGER, M. 2001. Funnel plots for detecting bias in meta-analysis. *Journal* of Clinical Epidemiology, 54, 1046-1055.
- STERNE, J. A. C., GAVAGHAN, D. & EGGER, M. 2000. Publication and related bias in metaanalysis. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 53, 1119-1129.
- STIDHAM, R. W. & HIGGINS, P. D. R. 2018. Colorectal Cancer in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Clin Colon Rectal Surg*, 31, 168-178.
- STILLWELL, A. P., HO, Y. H. & VEITCH, C. 2011. Systematic review of prognostic factors related to overall survival in patients with stage IV colorectal cancer and unresectable metastases. *World J Surg*, 35, 684-92.
- STINTZING, S., MODEST, D. P., ROSSIUS, L., LERCH, M. M., VON WEIKERSTHAL, L. F., DECKER, T., KIANI, A., VEHLING-KAISER, U., AL-BATRAN, S.-E., HEINTGES, T., LERCHENMÜLLER, C., KAHL, C., SEIPELT, G., KULLMANN, F., STAUCH, M., SCHEITHAUER, W., HELD, S., GIESSEN-JUNG, C., MOEHLER, M., JAGENBURG, A., KIRCHNER, T., JUNG, A. & HEINEMANN, V. 2016. FOLFIRI plus cetuximab versus FOLFIRI plus bevacizumab for metastatic colorectal cancer (FIRE-3): a post-hoc analysis of tumour dynamics in the final RAS wild-type subgroup of this randomised open-label phase 3 trial. *The Lancet Oncology*, 17, 1426-1434.
- SUENAGA, M., MIZUNUMA, N., MATSUSAKA, S., SHINOZAKI, E., UENO, M. & YAMAGUCHI, T. 2014. Retrospective analysis on the efficacy of bevacizumab with FOLFOX as a first-line treatment in Japanese patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Asia Pac J Clin Oncol*, 10, 322-9.
- SUISSA, S. 2009. Statistical methods in pharmacoepidemiology: advances and challenges. *Stat Methods Med Res,* 18, 3-6.
- SUISSA, S., MOODIE, E. E. & DELL'ANIELLO, S. 2017. Prevalent new-user cohort designs for comparative drug effect studies by time-conditional propensity scores. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf*, 26, 459-468.
- SUSMAN, E. 2005. Anemia Worsens Prognosis for Colorectal Cancer Patients on FOLFOX Regimens. *Oncology Times*, 27.
- SUTTON, A. J., ABRAMS, K. R., JONES, D. R., SHELDON, T. A. & SONG, F. 2000. *Methods for Meta-Analysis in Medical Research*.

- SVEEN, A., KOPETZ, S. & LOTHE, R. A. 2020. Biomarker-guided therapy for colorectal cancer: strength in complexity. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, **17**, **11**-32.
- ŚWIDERSKA, M., CHOROMAŃSKA, B., DĄBROWSKA, E., KONARZEWSKA-DUCHNOWSKA, E., CHOROMAŃSKA, K., SZCZURKO, G., MYŚLIWIEC, P., DADAN, J., ŁADNY, J. R. & ZWIERZ, K. 2014. Review The diagnostics of colorectal cancer. Współczesna Onkologia, 1, 1-6.

SZUMILAS, M. 2010. Explaining odds ratios. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 19, 227-9.

- TABERNERO, J., GROTHEY, A., VAN CUTSEM, E., YAEGER, R., WASAN, H., YOSHINO, T., DESAI, J., CIARDIELLO, F., LOUPAKIS, F., HONG, Y. S., STEEGHS, N., GUREN, T. K., ARKENAU, H. T., GARCIA-ALFONSO, P., ELEZ, E., GOLLERKERI, A., MAHARRY, K., CHRISTY-BITTEL, J. & KOPETZ, S. 2021. Encorafenib Plus Cetuximab as a New Standard of Care for Previously Treated BRAF V600E-Mutant Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: Updated Survival Results and Subgroup Analyses from the BEACON Study. J Clin Oncol, 39, 273-284.
- TABERNERO, J., VAN CUTSEM, E., LAKOMY, R., PRAUSOVA, J., RUFF, P., VAN HAZEL, G. A., MOISEYENKO, V. M., FERRY, D. R., MCKENDRICK, J. J., SOUSSAN-LAZARD, K., CHEVALIER, S. & ALLEGRA, C. J. 2014. Aflibercept versus placebo in combination with fluorouracil, leucovorin and irinotecan in the treatment of previously treated metastatic colorectal cancer: prespecified subgroup analyses from the VELOUR trial. *Eur J Cancer*, 50, 320-31.
- TABERNERO, J., YOSHINO, T., COHN, A. L., OBERMANNOVA, R., BODOKY, G., GARCIA-CARBONERO, R., CIULEANU, T. E., PORTNOY, D. C., VAN CUTSEM, E., GROTHEY, A., PRAUSOVA, J., GARCIA-ALFONSO, P., YAMAZAKI, K., CLINGAN, P. R., LONARDI, S., KIM, T. W., SIMMS, L., CHANG, S. C., NASROULAH, F. & INVESTIGATORS, R. S. 2015. Ramucirumab versus placebo in combination with second-line FOLFIRI in patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma that progressed during or after first-line therapy with bevacizumab, oxaliplatin, and a fluoropyrimidine (RAISE): a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol,* 16, 499-508.
- TEBBUTT, N. C., NORMAN, A. R., CUNNINGHAM, D., HILL, M. E., TAIT, D., OATES, J., LIVINGSTON, S. & ANDREYEV, J. 2003. Intestinal complications after chemotherapy for patients with unresected primary colorectal cancer and synchronous metastases. *Gut*, 52, 568-73.
- TENG, C. L., WANG, C. Y., CHEN, Y. H., LIN, C. H. & HWANG, W. L. 2015. Optimal Sequence of Irinotecan and Oxaliplatin-Based Regimens in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Population-Based Observational Study. *PLoS One*, 10, e0135673.
- TERRIN, N., SCHMID, C. H. & LAU, J. 2005. In an empirical evaluation of the funnel plot, researchers could not visually identify publication bias. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 58, 894-901.
- TERRIN, N., SCHMID, C. H., LAU, J. & OLKIN, I. 2003. Adjusting for publication bias in the presence of heterogeneity. *Stat Med*, 22, 2113-26.
- THE BEATSON WEST OF SCOTLAND CANCER CENTRE. 2017. Radiotherapy Information Systems [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.beatson.scot.nhs.uk/content/default.asp?page=s22_1_7</u> [Accessed

12/12 2020].

THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2010. Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin and either fluorouracil plus folinic acid or capecitabine for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta212/chapter/4-Consideration-of-the-evidence</u> [Accessed 13/09 2022].

- THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2022. *NICE real-world* evidence framework [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/corporate/ecd9/resources/nice-realworld-evidence-</u> framework-pdf-1124020816837 [Accessed 3/12 2022].
- THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT. 2011. *NHSScotland Caldicott Guardians: Principles into Practice* [Online]. Available: NHSScotland Caldicott Guardians: Principles into Practice [Accessed 17/01 2021].
- THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT. 2012a. Joined up data for better decisions: A strategy for improving data access and analysis [Online]. Available:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategyplan/2012/11/joined-up-data-better-decisions-strategy-improving-data-accessanalysis/documents/joined-up-data-better-decisions-strategy-improving-dataaccess-analysis/joined-up-data-better-decisions-strategy-improving-data-accessanalysis/govscot%3Adocument/00408151.pdf [Accessed 17/09 2021].

- THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT. 2012b. A policy on sustainable development for NHS Scotland 2012 [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/mels/CEL2012_02.pdf</u> [Accessed 15/1 2021].
- THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT. 2012c. A Scotland-wide Data Linkage Framework for Statistics and Research: Consultation Paper on the Aims and Guiding Principles [Online]. Available:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/consultat ion-analysis/2012/08/scotland-wide-data-linkage-framework-statistics-researchconsultation-analysis/documents/00400972-pdf/00400972pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00400972.pdf [Accessed 2021 18/09].

- THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT. 2015. A Charter for Safe Havens in Scotland [Online]. Available: file:///C:/Users/mhb19110/Desktop/00489000.pdf [Accessed 19/09 2021].
- THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT. 2016. Beating cancer: Ambition and action: Scottish Government Cancer Strategy Update [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/beating-cancer-ambition-action/</u> [Accessed
- 12/09 2021]. THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT; COSLA. 2019. A consultation on the new National Public Health Body 'Public Health Scotland' [Online]. Available: RGHPB-8E5VJ-XDBL3-FJURW-JBGDH [Accessed 12/09 2021].
- THE SCOTTISH INTERCOLLEGIATE GUIDELINES NETWORK (SIGN). 2006. *bevacizumab* (Avastin) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-</u> advice/bevacizumab-avastin-resubmission-22105/ [Accessed].
- THERASSE, P., ARBUCK, S. G., EISENHAUER, E. A., WANDERS, J., KAPLAN, R. S., RUBINSTEIN,
 L., VERWEIJ, J., VAN GLABBEKE, M., VAN OOSTEROM, A. T., CHRISTIAN, M. C. &
 GWYTHER, S. G. 2000. New guidelines to evaluate the response to treatment in
 solid tumors. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer,
 National Cancer Institute of the United States, National Cancer Institute of Canada.
 J Natl Cancer Inst, 92, 205-16.
- THYGESEN, S. K., CHRISTIANSEN, C. F., CHRISTENSEN, S., LASH, T. L. & SORENSEN, H. T. 2011. The predictive value of ICD-10 diagnostic coding used to assess Charlson comorbidity index conditions in the population-based Danish National Registry of Patients. BMC Med Res Methodol, 11, 83.
- TOURNIGAND, C., ANDRE, T., ACHILLE, E., LLEDO, G., FLESH, M., MERY-MIGNARD, D., QUINAUX, E., COUTEAU, C., BUYSE, M., GANEM, G., LANDI, B., COLIN, P., LOUVET, C. & DE GRAMONT, A. 2004a. FOLFIRI followed by FOLFOX6 or the reverse

sequence in advanced colorectal cancer: a randomized GERCOR study. *J Clin Oncol*, 22, 229-37.

- TOURNIGAND, C., ANDRÉ, T., ACHILLE, E., LLEDO, G., FLESH, M., MERY-MIGNARD, D.,
 QUINAUX, E., COUTEAU, C., BUYSE, M., GANEM, G., LANDI, B., COLIN, P., LOUVET,
 C. & DE GRAMONT, A. 2004b. FOLFIRI Followed by FOLFOX6 or the Reverse
 Sequence in Advanced Colorectal Cancer: A Randomized GERCOR Study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 22, 229-237.
- TOWNSEND, P. 1987. Deprivation. *Journal of Social Policy*, 16, 125-146.
- TOYOTA, M., AHUJA, N., OHE-TOYOTA, M., HERMAN, J. G., BAYLIN, S. B. & ISSA, J. P. 1999. CpG island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 8681-6.
- TRAVERS, A., JALALI, A., BEGBIE, S., SEMIRA, C., KOSMIDER, S., ANANDA, S., WONG, R., LEE,
 M., SHAPIRO, J., BURGE, M., YIP, D., TORRES, J., MA, B., NOTT, L., DEAN, A., TIE, J.,
 KHATTAK, A., LIM, S., WONG, H. L. & GIBBS, P. 2021. Real-World Treatment and
 Outcomes of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Patients With a Poor or Very Poor
 Performance Status. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*, 20, e21-e34.
- TWELVES, C., WONG, A., NOWACKI, M. P., ABT, M., BURRIS, H., 3RD, CARRATO, A., CASSIDY, J., CERVANTES, A., FAGERBERG, J., GEORGOULIAS, V., HUSSEINI, F., JODRELL, D., KORALEWSKI, P., KRONING, H., MAROUN, J., MARSCHNER, N., MCKENDRICK, J., PAWLICKI, M., ROSSO, R., SCHULLER, J., SEITZ, J. F., STABUC, B., TUJAKOWSKI, J., VAN HAZEL, G., ZALUSKI, J. & SCHEITHAUER, W. 2005. Capecitabine as adjuvant treatment for stage III colon cancer. N Engl J Med, 352, 2696-704.
- UNIVERSITY OF ABERDEEN. 2015. Grampian Data Safe Haven [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.abdn.ac.uk/iahs/facilities/grampian-data-safe-haven.php</u> [Accessed 17/09 2021].
- UNIVERSITY OF DUNDEE. 2021. *HIC Trusted Research Environment* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.dundee.ac.uk/hic/hic-trusted-research-environment/</u> [Accessed 17/09 2021].
- UNIVERSITY OF OXFORD. 2020. *UK Colorectal Cancer Intelligence Hub CORECT-R* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ndph.ox.ac.uk/corectr/corect-r</u> [Accessed 13/09 2022].
- UYGUN, K., BILICI, A., KAYA, S., OVEN USTAALIOGLU, B. B., YILDIZ, R., TEMIZ, S., SEKER, M., AKSU, G., CABUK, D. & GUMUS, M. 2013. XELIRI plus bevacizumab compared with FOLFIRI plus bevacizumab as first-line setting in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: experiences at two-institutions. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*, 14, 2283-8.
- VAN ASSEN, M. A., VAN AERT, R. C. & WICHERTS, J. M. 2015. Meta-analysis using effect size distributions of only statistically significant studies. *Psychol Methods*, 20, 293-309.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., CERVANTES, A., ADAM, R., SOBRERO, A., VAN KRIEKEN, J. H., ADERKA, D., ARANDA AGUILAR, E., BARDELLI, A., BENSON, A., BODOKY, G., CIARDIELLO, F., D'HOORE, A., DIAZ-RUBIO, E., DOUILLARD, J. Y., DUCREUX, M., FALCONE, A., GROTHEY, A., GRUENBERGER, T., HAUSTERMANS, K., HEINEMANN, V., HOFF, P., KOHNE, C. H., LABIANCA, R., LAURENT-PUIG, P., MA, B., MAUGHAN, T., MURO, K., NORMANNO, N., OSTERLUND, P., OYEN, W. J., PAPAMICHAEL, D., PENTHEROUDAKIS, G., PFEIFFER, P., PRICE, T. J., PUNT, C., RICKE, J., ROTH, A., SALAZAR, R., SCHEITHAUER, W., SCHMOLL, H. J., TABERNERO, J., TAIEB, J., TEJPAR, S., WASAN, H., YOSHINO, T., ZAANAN, A. & ARNOLD, D. 2016a. ESMO consensus guidelines for the management of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Ann Oncol*, 27, 1386-422.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., CERVANTES, A., NORDLINGER, B., ARNOLD, D. & GROUP, E. G. W. 2014a. frMetastatic colorectal cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol*, 25 Suppl 3, iii1-9.

- VAN CUTSEM, E., CERVANTES, A., NORDLINGER, B., ARNOLD, D. & GROUP, E. G. W. 2014b. Metastatic colorectal cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol*, 25 Suppl 3, iii1-9.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., HOFF, P. M., HARPER, P., BUKOWSKI, R. M., CUNNINGHAM, D., DUFOUR, P., GRAEVEN, U., LOKICH, J., MADAJEWICZ, S., MAROUN, J. A., MARSHALL, J. L., MITCHELL, E. P., PEREZ-MANGA, G., ROUGIER, P., SCHMIEGEL, W., SCHOELMERICH, J., SOBRERO, A. & SCHILSKY, R. L. 2004. Oral capecitabine vs intravenous 5fluorouracil and leucovorin: integrated efficacy data and novel analyses from two large, randomised, phase III trials. *Br J Cancer*, 90, 1190-7.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., JOULAIN, F., HOFF, P. M., MITCHELL, E., RUFF, P., LAKOMY, R., PRAUSOVA, J., MOISEYENKO, V. M., VAN HAZEL, G., CUNNINGHAM, D., ARNOLD, D., SCHMOLL, H. J., TEN TIJE, A. J., MCKENDRICK, J., KRONING, H., HUMBLET, Y., GRAVALOS, C., LE-GUENNEC, S., ANDRIA, M., DOCHY, E., VISHWANATH, R. L., MACARULLA, T. & TABERNERO, J. 2016b. Aflibercept Plus FOLFIRI vs. Placebo Plus FOLFIRI in Second-Line Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: a Post Hoc Analysis of Survival from the Phase III VELOUR Study Subsequent to Exclusion of Patients who had Recurrence During or Within 6 Months of Completing Adjuvant Oxaliplatin-Based Therapy. *Target Oncol*, 11, 383-400.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., KOHNE, C. H., HITRE, E., ZALUSKI, J., CHANG CHIEN, C. R., MAKHSON, A., D'HAENS, G., PINTER, T., LIM, R., BODOKY, G., ROH, J. K., FOLPRECHT, G., RUFF, P., STROH, C., TEJPAR, S., SCHLICHTING, M., NIPPGEN, J. & ROUGIER, P. 2009. Cetuximab and chemotherapy as initial treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 360, 1408-17.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., KOHNE, C. H., LANG, I., FOLPRECHT, G., NOWACKI, M. P., CASCINU, S., SHCHEPOTIN, I., MAUREL, J., CUNNINGHAM, D., TEJPAR, S., SCHLICHTING, M., ZUBEL, A., CELIK, I., ROUGIER, P. & CIARDIELLO, F. 2011. Cetuximab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: updated analysis of overall survival according to tumor KRAS and BRAF mutation status. J Clin Oncol, 29, 2011-9.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., LENZ, H. J., KOHNE, C. H., HEINEMANN, V., TEJPAR, S., MELEZINEK, I., BEIER, F., STROH, C., ROUGIER, P., VAN KRIEKEN, J. H. & CIARDIELLO, F. 2015.
 Fluorouracil, leucovorin, and irinotecan plus cetuximab treatment and RAS mutations in colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 33, 692-700.
- VAN CUTSEM, E., TABERNERO, J., LAKOMY, R., PRENEN, H., PRAUSOVA, J., MACARULLA, T., RUFF, P., VAN HAZEL, G. A., MOISEYENKO, V., FERRY, D., MCKENDRICK, J., POLIKOFF, J., TELLIER, A., CASTAN, R. & ALLEGRA, C. 2012. Addition of aflibercept to fluorouracil, leucovorin, and irinotecan improves survival in a phase III randomized trial in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer previously treated with an oxaliplatin-based regimen. *J Clin Oncol*, 30, 3499-506.
- VAN DEN BROECK, J., CUNNINGHAM, S. A., EECKELS, R. & HERBST, K. 2005. Data cleaning: detecting, diagnosing, and editing data abnormalities. *PLoS Med*, 2, e267.
- VAN DER GEEST, L. G., LAM-BOER, J., KOOPMAN, M., VERHOEF, C., ELFERINK, M. A. & DE WILT, J. H. 2015. Nationwide trends in incidence, treatment and survival of colorectal cancer patients with synchronous metastases. *Clin Exp Metastasis*, 32, 457-65.
- VANHOEFER, U., HARSTRICK, A., ACHTERRATH, W., CAO, S., SEEBER, S. & RUSTUM, Y. M. 2001. Irinotecan in the treatment of colorectal cancer: clinical overview. *J Clin Oncol*, 19, 1501-18.

- VAROL, U., DIRICAN, A., YILDIZ, I., OKTAY, E., DEGIRMENCI, M., ALACACIOGLU, A., BARUTCA, S., KARABULUT, B. & USLU, R. 2014. First-line mono-chemotherapy in frail elderly patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*, **15**, 3157-61.
- VEDAT BAYOGLU, I., YILDIZ, I., VAROL, U., COKMERT, S., KUCUKZEYBEK, Y., ALACACIOGLU,
 A., DEMIR, L., DIRICAN, A., AKYOL, M., YILDIZ, Y. & OKTAY TARHAN, M. 2015.
 Comparison of first-line bevacizumab in combination with mFOLFOX6 or XELOX in metastatic colorectal cancer. J BUON, 20, 460-7.
- VENOOK, A. P., NIEDZWIECKI, D., LENZ, H.-J., INNOCENTI, F., MAHONEY, M. R., O'NEIL, B. H., SHAW, J. E., POLITE, B. N., HOCHSTER, H. S., ATKINS, J. N., GOLDBERG, R. M., MAYER, R. J., SCHILSKY, R. L., BERTAGNOLLI, M. M. & BLANKE, C. D. 2014.
 CALGB/SWOG 80405: Phase III trial of irinotecan/5-FU/leucovorin (FOLFIRI) or oxaliplatin/5-FU/leucovorin (mFOLFOX6) with bevacizumab (BV) or cetuximab (CET) for patients (pts) with KRAS wild-type (wt) untreated metastatic adenocarcinoma of the colon or rectum (MCRC). *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 32, LBA3-LBA3.
- VERA, R., ALONSO, V., GALLEGO, J., GONZALEZ, E., GUILLEN-PONCE, C., PERICAY, C., RIVERA, F., SAFONT, M. J. & VALLADARES-AYERBES, M. 2015. Current controversies in the management of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 76, 659-77.
- VEVEA, J. L. & WOODS, C. M. 2005. Publication bias in research synthesis: sensitivity analysis using a priori weight functions. *Psychol Methods,* 10, 428-43.
- VINCENZI, B., SCHIAVON, G., SILLETTA, M., SANTINI, D. & TONINI, G. 2008. The biological properties of cetuximab. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 68, 93-106.
- VLAHOVIC-PALCEVSKI, V. & MENTZER, D. 2011. Postmarketing surveillance. *Handb Exp Pharmacol,* 205, 339-51.
- VOGEL, J. D., ESKICIOGLU, C., WEISER, M. R., FEINGOLD, D. L. & STEELE, S. R. 2017. The American Society of Colon and Rectal Surgeons Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Colon Cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 60, 999-1017.
- WAGNER, A. D., RAKEZ, M., CHIBAUDEL, B., ADAMS, R., ZALCBERG, J. R., SALTZ, L. B.,
 VENOOK, A. P., SCHMOLL, H.-J., DOUILLARD, J.-Y., TOURNIGAND, C., HEINEMANN,
 V., GOLDBERG, R. M., HECHT, J. R., CREMOLINI, C., DIAZ-RUBIO, E., GROTHEY, A.,
 SHI, Q. & DE GRAMONT, A. 2020. Sex differences in efficacy and toxicity of first-line
 treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer (CRC): An analysis of 18,399 patients in
 the ARCAD database. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 38, 4029-4029.
- WALESBY, K. E., HARRISON, J. K. & RUSS, T. C. 2017. What big data could achieve in Scotland. *J R Coll Physicians Edinb*, 47, 114-119.
- WALSH, S. R., COOK, E. J., GOULDER, F., JUSTIN, T. A. & KEELING, N. J. 2005. Neutrophillymphocyte ratio as a prognostic factor in colorectal cancer. *J Surg Oncol*, 91, 181-4.
- WANG, J., LI, S., LIU, Y., ZHANG, C., LI, H. & LAI, B. 2020. Metastatic patterns and survival outcomes in patients with stage IV colon cancer: A population-based analysis. *Cancer Med*, 9, 361-373.
- WANG, T. F. & LOCKHART, A. C. 2012. Aflibercept in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Clin Med Insights Oncol*, 6, 19-30.
- WATKINS, M. W. & PACHECO, M. 2000. Journal of Behavioral Education, 10, 205-212.
- WEBER, F., KNAPP, G., ICKSTADT, K., KUNDT, G. & GLASS, A. 2020. Zero-cell corrections in random-effects meta-analyses. *Res Synth Methods*, 11, 913-919.
- WEISER, M. R. 2018. AJCC 8th Edition: Colorectal Cancer. Annals of Surgical Oncology, 25, 1454-1455.
- WELCH, S., SPITHOFF, K., RUMBLE, R. B., MAROUN, J. & GASTROINTESTINAL CANCER DISEASE SITE, G. 2010. Bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy for patients with advanced colorectal cancer: a systematic review. *Ann Oncol*, 21, 1152-1162.

- WEST, H. J. & JIN, J. O. 2015. JAMA Oncology Patient Page. Performance Status in Patients With Cancer. *JAMA Oncol*, **1**, 998.
- WETTERMARK, B. 2013. The intriguing future of pharmacoepidemiology. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol,* 69 Suppl 1, 43-51.
- WHITEHEAD, M. & DAHLGREN, G. 1991. What can be done about inequalities in health? *The Lancet*, 338, 1059-1063.
- WILD, C., GROSSMANN, N., BONANNO, P. V., BUCSICS, A., FURST, J., GARUOLIENE, K.,
 GODMAN, B., GULBINOVIC, J., JONES, J., POMORSKI, M. K. & EMPRECHTINGER, R.
 2016. Utilisation of the ESMO-MCBS in practice of HTA. *Ann Oncol*, 27, 2134-2136.
- WILDES, T. M., AUGUSTIN, K. M., SEMPEK, D., ZHANG, Q. J., VIJ, R., DIPERSIO, J. F. & DEVINE, S. M. 2008. Comorbidities, not age, impact outcomes in autologous stem cell transplant for relapsed non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 14, 840-6.
- WILSON, D. B. 2017. *Practical Meta-Analysis Effect Size Calculator* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.campbellcollaboration.org/escalc/html/EffectSizeCalculator-OR-main.php</u> [Accessed 13/02 2022].
- WORMALD, R. & EVANS, J. 2018. What Makes Systematic Reviews Systematic and Why are They the Highest Level of Evidence? *Ophthalmic Epidemiol*, 25, 27-30.
- WU, W., YAN, S., LIAO, X., XIAO, H., FU, Z., CHEN, L., MOU, J., YU, H., ZHAO, L. & LIU, X.
 2017. Curative versus palliative treatments for colorectal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*, 8, 113202-113212.
- XI, Y. & XU, P. 2021. Global colorectal cancer burden in 2020 and projections to 2040. *Transl* Oncol, 14, 101174.
- XIE, Y. H., CHEN, Y. X. & FANG, J. Y. 2020. Comprehensive review of targeted therapy for colorectal cancer. *Signal Transduct Target Ther*, 5, 22.
- XU, Y. & VILLALONA-CALERO, M. A. 2002. Irinotecan: mechanisms of tumor resistance and novel strategies for modulating its activity. *Ann Oncol*, **13**, 1841-51.
- YAMAGUCHI, T., IWASA, S., NAGASHIMA, K., IKEZAWA, N., HAMAGUCHI, T., SHOJI, H., HONMA, Y., TAKASHIMA, A., OKITA, N., KATO, K., YAMADA, Y. & SHIMADA, Y. 2016.
 Comparison of Panitumumab Plus Irinotecan and Cetuximab Plus Irinotecan for KRAS Wild-type Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Anticancer Res*, 36, 3531-6.
- YANG, Y. H., LIN, J. K., CHEN, W. S., LIN, T. C., YANG, S. H., JIANG, J. K., LAN, Y. T., LIN, C. C., YEN, C. C., TZENG, C. H. & TENG, H. W. 2014. Comparison of cetuximab to bevacizumab as the first-line bio-chemotherapy for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: superior progression-free survival is restricted to patients with measurable tumors and objective tumor response--a retrospective study. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 140, 1927-36.
- YARDEN, Y. 2001. The EGFR family and its ligands in human cancer. signalling mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. *Eur J Cancer*, 37 Suppl 4, S3-8.
- YOSHIMATSU, K., YOKOMIZO, H., FUJIMOTO, T., UMEHARA, A., OTANI, T., MATSUMOTO, A., OSAWA, G., SHIOZAWA, S., KATSUBE, T., NARITAKA, Y. & OGAWA, K. 2007. First-line chemotherapy with low-dose leucovorin plus 5-fluorouracil (LV/5-FU) for elderly patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Anticancer Res*, 27, 1641-4.
- ZACHARAKIS, M., XYNOS, I. D., LAZARIS, A., SMARO, T., KOSMAS, C., DOKOU, A.,
 FELEKOURAS, E., ANTONIOU, E., POLYZOS, A., SARANTONIS, J., SYRIOS, J.,
 ZOGRAFOS, G., PAPALAMBROS, A. & TSAVARIS, N. 2010. Predictors of survival in
 stage IV metastatic colorectal cancer. *Anticancer Res*, 30, 653-60.
- ZALCBERG, J., KERR, D., SEYMOUR, L. & PALMER, M. 1998. Haematological and nonhaematological toxicity after 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin in patients with

advanced colorectal cancer is significantly associated with gender, increasing age and cycle number. *European Journal of Cancer*, 34, 1871-1875.

- ZHANG, G., ZHOU, X. & LIN, C. 2015. Efficacy of chemotherapy plus bevacizumab as firstline therapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis and update. *Int J Clin Exp Med*, 8.
- ZHANG, J. & YU, K. F. 1998. What's the relative risk? A method of correcting the odds ratio in cohort studies of common outcomes. *JAMA*, 280, 1690-1.
- ZHANG, S., LIANG, F. & TANNOCK, I. 2016. Use and misuse of common terminology criteria for adverse events in cancer clinical trials. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 392.
- ZHENG, B., WANG, X., WEI, M., WANG, Q., LI, J., BI, L., DENG, X. & WANG, Z. 2019. First-line cetuximab versus bevacizumab for RAS and BRAF wild-type metastatic colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Cancer*, 19, 280.
- ZHOU, Y. W., LONG, Y. X., CHEN, Y., LIU, J. Y., PU, D., HUANG, J. Y., BI, F., LI, Q., GOU, H. F. & QIU, M. 2021. First-line therapy of bevacizumab plus chemotherapy versus cetuximab plus chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer patients with mucinous adenocarcinoma or mucinous component. *Cancer Med*, 10, 3388-3402.
- ZUBROD, C. G., SCHNEIDERMAN, M., FREI, E., BRINDLEY, C., LENNARD GOLD, G., SHNIDER,
 B., OVIEDO, R., GORMAN, J., JONES, R., JONSSON, U., COLSKY, J., CHALMERS, T.,
 FERGUSON, B., DEDERICK, M., HOLLAND, J., SELAWRY, O., REGELSON, W.,
 LASAGNA, L. & OWENS, A. H. 1960. Appraisal of methods for the study of
 chemotherapy of cancer in man: Comparative therapeutic trial of nitrogen mustard
 and triethylene thiophosphoramide. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 11, 7-33.
- ZUBROD CG, S. S., FREI E III, BRINDLEY C, GOLD GL, SCHNIDER B, ET AL., 1960. Appraisal of methods for the study of chemotherapy of cancer in man: Comparative therapeutic trial of nitrogen mustard and triethylene thiophosphoramide *J Chronic Dis*, 11, 7-33.

9 Appendices

Appendix I.

The search strategy for MEDLINE (OVID)

Database(s): **Ovid MEDLINE(R) ALL** 1946 to January 03, 2020 Search Strategy:

#	Searches	Results
1	Epidemiologic Studies/	8182
2	exp Case-Control Studies/	1046179
3	exp Cohort Studies/	1942154
4	Case control.tw.	120801
5	(cohort adj (study or studies)).tw.	192132
6	Cohort analy\$.tw.	7561
7	(Follow up adj (study or studies)).tw.	48134
8	(observational adj (study or studies)).tw.	99949
9	Longitudinal.tw.	234492
10	Retrospective.tw.	501907
11	Cross sectional.tw.	332432
12	Cross-Sectional Studies/	314756
13	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12	2898133
14	Colorectal Neoplasms/	83937
	(metastatic Colorectal Neoplasm or metastatic Colorectal Tumo*r or metastatic Colorectal	
	Carcinoma* or metastatic Colorectal Cancer or Advanced Colorectal Neoplasm or advanced	
	Colorectal Tumo*r or advanced Colorectal Carcinoma* or advanced Colorectal Cancer* or	
15	Stage 4 Colorectal Neoplasm or stage 4 Colorectal Tumo*r or stage 4 Colorectal Carcinoma* or	12005
	stage 4 Colorectal Cancer or Stage IV Colorectal Neoplasm or stage IV Colorectal Tumo*r or	
	stage IV Colorectal Carcinoma* or stage IV Colorectal Cancer* or advanced bowel cancer or	
	advanced bowel carcinoma or advanced colorectal carcinoma).ti,ab.	
16	14 or 15	87433
17	treatment outcome/ or disease-free survival/ or progression-free survival/ or response	
	evaluation criteria in solid tumors/	990073
	(disease free survival or progression-free survival or overall survival or relapse-free survival or	
18	objective response rate or DFS or PFS or OS or RFS or effectiveness or safetyor treatment	695320
	outcome* or healthcare outcome*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance	
	word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism	
----	--	---------
	supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease	
	supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]	
	((adverse or dangerous or harmful or indirect or injurious or secondary or side or undesirable)	
19	adj1 (complication* or consequence* or effect* or event* or impact* or outcome* or	2195823
	reaction*)).ti,ab. or exp "Drug-Related Side Effects and Adverse Reactions"/ or ae.fs.	
20	17 or 18 or 19	3360582
	(FOLFOX or FOLFIRI or FUFIRI or FOLFOXIRI or IFL or IROX or XELIRI or capecitabine or CAPIRI	
	or CAPEIRI or XELIRI or CAPEOX or CAPOX or XELOX or FUFOL or TEGAFUR or GIMERACIL or	
	OTERACIL or 5FU or leucoverin or folinic acid or oxaliplatin or fluorouracil or irinotecan or	
21	Bevacizumab or Regorafenib or Ziv-aflibercept or aflibercept or Cetuximab or Panitumumab or	124167
	pembrolizumab or Nivolumab or ipilimumab or tegafur uracil or UFT or tegafur gimeracil	124167
	teracil or S1 or TAS or trifludine tipiracil hydrochloride or Adrucil or Xeloda or UFT or Eloxatin	
	or Camptosar or Avastin or Erbitux or Vectibix or Keytruda or Opdivo or Yervoy or Stivarga or	
	Cyramza or Tomudex or zaltrap).ti,ab.	
22	13 and 16 and 20 and 21	2151
23	limit 22 to (english language and humans and yr="1860 - 2019")	1897

Appendix II.

The characteristics of included studies in the review.

Author, year	Comparisons	Total	Study design	Data source	setting	Country	Study	Funding source
		sample					duration	
							(months)	
Stec,2010 (Stec et al., 2010)	Capecitabine/ FOLFIRI	123	Retrospective cohort	Medical charts	Single centre	Poland	66	The Military Institute of the Health Services
Guo, 2020 (Guo et al., 2020)	Capecitabine/ S-1	1066	Retrospective cohort	EMR	Multicentric	China	36	The National Natual Science Foundation of China and Science Foundation of Heilongjiang
Satram-Hoang ,2013 (Satram- Hoang et al., 2013)	Capecitabine/ 5FU FOLFOX/ XELOX	4250	Retrospective cohort	SEER registry	Multicentric	USA	84	Genentech
Neugut, 2019 (Neugut et al., 2019)	FOLFIRI (± Bevacizumab)/FOLFOX (± Bevacizumab)	3785	Retrospective cohort	SEER registry	Multicentric	USA	96	National Cancer Institute, the Breast Cancer Research Foundation/Conquer Cancer Foundation
Marschner, 2015 (Marschner et al., 2015)	Oxaliplatin based CT/ irinotecan- based CT	605	Prospective cohort	TKK registry	Multicentric	Germany	67	The TKK is funded by iOMEDICO
Hammerman,2015 (Hammerman et al., 2015)	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	1739	Prospective cohort	Clalit Health Services' (CHS) administrative database	Multicentric	Israel	48	Non declared
Franchi,2019 (Franchi et al., 2019)	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	480	Observational cohort	population- based cancer registries	Multicentric	Italy	36	Novartis, GlaxoSmithKline, Roche, Amgen, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Roche.

Author, year	Comparisons	Total	Study design	Data source	setting	Country	Study	Funding source
		sample					duration	
							(months)	
Houts,2019 (Houts	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	373	Retrospective	Vector	Multicentric	USA	NR	
et al., 2019b)			cohort	Oncology Data				Genentech
				Warehouse EMR				
Meyerhardt, 2012	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	2526	NR	SEER registry	Multicentric	USA	72	Sanofi-Aventis, Bayer
(Meyerhardt et al., 2012b)								Pharmaceuticals
Razenberg, 2016	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	361	Retrospective	Netherlands	Multicentric	Netherlands	60	the Netherlands
(Razenberg et al.,			cohort	Cancer				Organisation for
2016)				Registry (NCR)				Health Research and
								(ZonMw)
Lee, 2017 (Lee et	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	826	Prospective	TRACC registry	Multicentric	Australia	72	Roche
al., 2017)			cohort					
Suenaga, 2014	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX/ FOLFOX	213	retrospective	EMR	Single	Japan	39	NR
(Suenaga et al.,			cohort		centre			
2014)		4550					45	
Bendell, 2012	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI/	1550	prospective	Avastin	Multicentric	USA	15	Genentech
(Benden et al., 2012)			conore	registiy				
Duran,2014 (Duran	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI/	409	retrospective	EMR	Multicentric	Turkey	88	NR
et al., 2014)	Bevacizumab + XELOX		cohort			-		
Khakoo, 2019	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI/	677	prospective	EMR	Multicentric	UK	17	Roche
(Khakoo et al.,	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX		cohort					
2019)	Bevacizumab + Capecitabine /							
	Bevacizumab + XELOX	122	prospective	EMD	Multicontric	Turkov	60	
(Ilvgun et al	Bevacizumab + XELIRI	152	cohort		wullicentric	титкеу	ΟU	Non declared
2013)								
Kocakova,2015	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI/	558	retrospective	CORRECT	Multicentric	Czech	96	Roche
(Kocakova et al.,	Bevacizumab + XELIRI		cohort	registry				
2015)								

Author, year	Comparisons	Total	Study design	Data source	setting	Country	Study	Funding source
		sample					duration	
							(months)	
Ocvirk, 2011	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI/	139	retrospective	Medical charts	Single	Slovenia	34	
(Ocvirk et al.,	Bevacizumab + XELIRI		cohort		centre			Non declared
2011)								
Bai, 2015 (Bai et	Bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based	175	retrospective	Medical charts	Single	China	84	
al., 2015)	CT/ Bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin based CT		cohort		centre			Non declared
Cainap, 2021	Bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based	151	retrospective	Medical charts	Single	Romania	108	BIOGENONCO
(Cainap et al.,	CT/ Bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin		cohort		centre			
2021)	based CT							
Artac, 2016 (Artac	Bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based	625	retrospective	NR	Multicentric	Turkey	132	
et al., 2016)	CT/ Bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin		cohort					Non declared
	based CT							
Stein,2015 (Stein	Bevacizumab+ irinotecan-based	1777	Observational	Registry	Multicentric	Germany	42	Hoffman La-Roche
et al., 2015a)	CT/ Bevacizumab+ oxaliplatin		cohort					
	based CT							
Buchler, 2014	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX /	2191	retrospective	CORRECT	Multicentric	Czech	76	Roche, Amgen, and
(Buchler et al.,	Bevacizumab + XELOX		cohort	registry				Merck
2014)								
Cheng, 2015	Bevacizumab + FOLFOXIRI/	138	retrospective	NR	Single	China	53	
(Cheng and Song,	Bevacizumab + XELOXIRI		cohort		centre			Non declared
2015)								
Yang, 2014 (Yang	Cetuximab+ CT/ Bevacizumab+	158	retrospective	Medical charts	Single	Taiwan	84	
et al., 2014)			cohort		centre			Non declared
Houts, 2019 (Houts	Cetuximab+ CT/ Bevacizumab+	400	retrospective	Data	Multicentric	USA	NR	Genentech
et al., 2019a)			cohort	warehouse				
Bai, 2016 (Bai et	Cetuximab+ CT/ Bevacizumab+	289	retrospective	Registry	Single	China	60	
al., 2016)		600	cohort		centre		76	Non declared
Zhou, 2021 (Zhou	Cetuximab+ CT/ Bevacizumab+	620	retrospective	database	Single	China	76	the National Key
et al., 2021)			cohort		centre			Development Plan
								tor Precision
								Medicine Research

Author, year	Comparisons	Total	Study design	Data source	setting	Country	Study	Funding source		
		sample					duration			
							(months)			
Degirmencioglu ,	Cetuximab+ CT/ Bevacizumab+	238	retrospective	Medical charts	Multicentric	Turkey	NR			
2019	СТ		cohort					Non declared		
(Degirmencioglu S, 2019)										
Zhou, 2021 (Zhou	Cetuximab+ CT/ Bevacizumab+	620	retrospective	database	Single	China	76	the National Key		
et al., 2021)	СТ		cohort		centre			Development Plan		
								for Precision		
								Medicine Research		
KEY: CT= chemotherapy; ECOG PS= eastern cooperative group performance status; FOLFOX=5FU/ leucovorin/ oxaliplatinFOLFIRI= 5FU/ leucovorin/ irinotecan; FOLFOXIRI= 5FU/ leucovorin/										
oxaliplatin/ irinotecan; NR= Not reported; XELIRI= Capecitabine/ XELIRI; XELOX= Capecitabine/ oxaliplatin; XELOXIRI= Capecitabine / oxaliplatin/ irinotecan; EMR= electronic medical										
record; NR= not reported										

Appendix II.

Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics for the patients enrolled in the included studies.

Author, (year)	Comparisons	Female (%)	Age group (elderly / non-elderly	PS (0-1)/ PS ≥2 (%)	KRAS-wild / KRAS- mutant (%)	Primary location (Colon/rectum /sigmoid) (%)	Primary resection (%)	1 metastasis/ ≥2 metastasis (%)	Metastasis (Liver/lung/ peritoneum/ lymph nodes) (%)
Stec,2010 (Stec et	Capecitabine/	35.8	<u>Elderly</u>	88.6 /	NR	39.8/ 28.5/ 31.7	NR	48.8/ 51.2	69.1/ 38.2/ NR
al., 2010)	FOLFIRI			11.4					
Guo, 2020 (Guo et	Capecitabine/ S-1	22.7	Non-elderly	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
al., 2020)									
Satram-Hoang	Capecitabine/ 5FU	53.9	<u>Elderly</u>	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
,2013 (Satram-	FOLFOX/ XELOX								
Hoang et al., 2013)									
Neugut, 2019	FOLFIRI (±	48.3	<u>Elderly</u>	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
(Neugut et al.,	bevacizumab)/								
2019)	FOLFOX (±								
	bevacizumab)								
Marschner, 2015	Oxaliplatin based	36.4	Non-elderly	56/ 11.7	22.6/ 15.7	60.7/39/NR	87.4	NR	48.6/ 16.9/ 11
(Marschner et al.,	CT/ irinotecan-based								
2015)	СТ								
Hammerman,2015	Bevacizumab + CT/	51.2	Non-elderly	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
(Hammerman et	СТ								
al., 2015)									
Franchi,2019	Bevacizumab + CT/	36.4	Non-elderly	NR	NR	75/17.1/7.9	59.4	NR	NR
(Franchi et al.,	СТ								
2019)									

Author, (year)	Comparisons	Female (%)	Age group (elderly / non-elderly	PS (0-1)/ PS ≥2 (%)	KRAS-wild / KRAS- mutant (%)	Primary location (Colon/rectum /sigmoid) (%)	Primary resection (%)	1 metastasis/ ≥2 metastasis (%)	Metastasis (Liver/ lung/ peritoneum/ lymph nodes) (%)
Houts,2019 (Houts et al.,	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	27.2	Non-elderly	93.6/ 6.4	0/ <u>100</u>	NR	63	NR	72.9/ 35.1 / 17.2
2019b)									
Meyerhardt, 2012	Bevacizumab + CT/	47	<u>Elderly</u>	NR	NR	77.7/ 22.3	75.4	NR	NR
(Meyerhardt et al., 2012b)	СТ								
Razenberg, 2016 (Razenberg et al., 2016)	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	59.3	Non-elderly	NR	NR	57.6/ 42.2/ NR	NR	43.5/ 56.5	NR
Lee, 2017a (Lee et al., 2017)	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	40.9	Non-elderly	84.3/ 15.7	NR	54.3/ 38/ NR	<u>0</u>	NR	77.3/ 31.6/ 14.7
Lee, 2017b (Lee et al., 2017)	Bevacizumab + CT/ CT	40.7	Non-elderly	86.9/ 14	NR	71.5/ 24/ NR	<u>100</u>	NR	58.5/ 22.2/ 8.8
Suenaga, 2014 (Suenaga et al., 2014)	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX/ FOLFOX	47.9	Non-elderly	98.6/ 1.4	36.6/8.9	65.7/ 34.3/ NR	84	34.7/ 65.3	52.6/37.6/ 27.2/ 46.9
Bendell, 2012 (Bendell et al., 2012)	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI/ Bevacizumab + FOLFOX	43.2	Non-elderly	91.6/ 8.4	36.6/ 8.9	76.1/ 23.6/ NR	80.4	NR	NR
Duran,2014 (Duran et al., 2014)	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI/ Bevacizumab + XELOX	39.6	Non-elderly	93.6/ 6.4	NR	NR	NR	NR	55.3/ 13.7. 5.4/ 3.4

Author, (year)	Comparisons	Female (%)	Age group (elderly / non-elderly	PS (0-1)/ PS ≥2 (%)	KRAS-wild / KRAS- mutant (%)	Primary location (Colon/rectum /sigmoid) (%)	Primary resection (%)	1 metastasis/ ≥2 metastasis (%)	Metastasis (Liver/ lung/ peritoneum/ lymph nodes) (%)
Khakoo, 2019	Bevacizumab +	42.7	Non-elderly	91.3/ 8.4	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
(Khakoo et al.,	FOLFIRI/								
2019)	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX								
	Bevacizumab +								
	Capecitabine /								
	Bevacizumab +								
	XELOX								
Uygun, 2013	Bevacizumab +	41.7	Non-elderly	90.9/9.1	NR	50.8/ 49.2	61.4	NR	59/ 7.6
(Uygun et al.,	FOLFIRI/								
2013)	Bevacizumab +								
	XELIRI								
Kocakova,2015	Bevacizumab +	42.8	Non-elderly	60.4/ 0.7	28.3/ 19.4	62.9/ 37.1	86.7	NR	NR
(Kocakova et al.,	FOLFIRI/								
2015)	Bevacizumab +								
	XELIRI								
Ocvirk, 2011	Bevacizumab +	38	Non-elderly	100/0	NR	71/29	NR	NR	62/7
(Ocvirk et al.,	FOLFIRI/								
2011)	Bevacizumab +								
	XELIRI								
Bai, 2015 (Bai et	Bevacizumab+	36.6	Non-elderly	95.4/ 4.6	NR	63.4/ 36.6	60.5	57.1/ 38.9	32.6/ 10.3/ 28.6/
al., 2015)	irinotecan-based CT/								7.7
	Bevacizumab+								
	oxaliplatin based CT								

Author, (year)	Comparisons	Female (%)	Age group (elderly / non-elderly	PS (0-1)/ PS ≥2 (%)	KRAS-wild / KRAS- mutant (%)	Primary location (Colon/rectum /sigmoid) (%)	Primary resection (%)	1 metastasis/ ≥2 metastasis (%)	Metastasis (Liver/ lung/ peritoneum/ lymph nodes)
									(%)
Cainap, 2021	Bevacizumab+	43	Non-elderly	NR	NR	NR	NR	72.8/ 27.2	59/ 12.3/ 15.1/
(Cainap et al.,	irinotecan-based CT/								5.3
2021)	Bevacizumab+								
	oxaliplatin based CT								
Artac, 2016 (Artac	Bevacizumab+	39.2	Non-elderly	83.8/	NR	NR	NR	NR	46.9/ 6.4/ 7/ 5.4
et al., 2016)	irinotecan-based CT/			15.7					
	Bevacizumab+								
	oxaliplatin based CT								
Stein,2015 (Stein	Bevacizumab+	38	Non-elderly	89/11	NR	NR	NR	68/11	81/28
et al., 2015a)	irinotecan-based CT/								
	Bevacizumab+								
	oxaliplatin based CT								
Buchler, 2014	Bevacizumab +	36.6	Non-elderly	44.8/ 2.3	NR	60/40/	NR	NR	NR
(Buchler et al.,	FOLFOX/								
2014)	Bevacizumab +								
	XELOX								
Cheng, 2015	Bevacizumab +	44.9	Non-elderly	100/0	NR	73.2/ 26.8/ NR	NR	55/45	NR
(Cheng and Song,	FOLFOXIRI/								
2015)	Bevacizumab +								
	XELOXIRI								
Yang, 2014 (Yang	Cetuximab+ CT/	38.6	Non-elderly	NR	23.4/ 76.6	60.1/ 39.9	NR	NR	39.8
et al., 2014)	Bevacizumab+ CT								
Houts, 2019	Cetuximab+ CT/	41.8	Non-elderly	92.5/ 7.5	100/ 0	NR	39	NR	65.3/26.8/18.3
(Houts et al.,	Bevacizumab+ CT								
2019a)									

Author, (year)	Comparisons	Female (%)	Age group (elderly / non-elderly	PS (0-1)/ PS ≥2 (%)	KRAS-wild / KRAS- mutant (%)	Primary location (Colon/rectum /sigmoid) (%)	Primary resection (%)	1 metastasis/ ≥2 metastasis (%)	Metastasis (Liver/lung/ peritoneum/ lymph nodes) (%)
Bai, 2016 (Bai et	Cetuximab+ CT/	34.7	Non-elderly	95.8/ 4.2	NR	63.1/ 36.9	70.1	59/41	35.6/ 10.4/ 26.4
al., 2016)	Bevacizumab+ CT								
Zhou, 2021 (non-	Cetuximab+ CT/	40.7	Non-elderly	NR	48/ 30.9	NR	67.6	53/ 47	70.8/ 33.9/ 13.2/
mucinous	Bevacizumab+ CT								24.8
histology) (Zhou									
et al., 2021)									
Zhou, 2021	Cetuximab+ CT/	41.1	Non-elderly	NR	43.3/ 33.3	NR	70.9	51.8/ 48.2	54.6/ 25.5/ 33.3/
(mucinous	Bevacizumab+ CT								35.9
histology) (Zhou									
et al., 2021)									
Degirmencioglu ,	Cetuximab+ CT/	35.7	Non-elderly	NR	100/0	34.9/ 37.4 / NA	NR	NR	52.5/ 14.7/ 13.4
2019	Bevacizumab+ CT								
(Degirmencioglu									
S, 2019)									
KEY: CT= chemothera	by; ECOG PS= eastern coo	perative grou	p performance sta	tus; FOLFOX=	=5FU/ leucovorin,	/ oxaliplatinFOLFIRI= 5	FU/ leucovorin/ i	rinotecan; FOLFOX	IRI= 5FU/ leucovorin/
oxaliplatin/ irinotecan	; NR= Not reported; XELIR	l= Capecitabi	ne/ XELIRI; XELOX	= Capecitabin	e/ oxaliplatin; XE	LOXIRI= Capecitabine	/ oxaliplatin/ irind	otecan; NR= not re	ported;

Appendix III.

The brief answers to the signaling questions of the assessment of risk of bias for the studies included in the overall survival meta-analysis.

	Study ID	ID 1	ID 2	ID 3	ID 4	ID 5	ID 6	ID 7
	Author, year	Stec, 2009	Guo, 2020	Satram-Hoang ,2013a	Neugut, 2019	Marschner, 2015	Hammerman,2015	Franchi,2019
	Intervention	Capecitabine	Capecitabine	Capecitabine/ 5-FU	OLFIRI ± Bevacizumal	Oxaliplatin based CT	Bevacizumab + CT	Bevacizumab + CT
	Comparator	FOLFIRI	S-1	FOLFOX/ XELOX	OLFOX ± Bevacizuma	irinotecan based CT	СТ	CT
Bias domain	Signalling questions	Stec, 2009	Guo, 2020	Satram-Hoang ,2013a	Neugut, 2019	Marschner, 2015	Hammerman,2015	Franchi,2019
Bias due to confounding	1.1. Is there potential for confounding of the effect of intervention in this study?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
-	If N/PN to 1.1: the study can be considered to be at low risk of bias due to confounding and no further signalling questions need be considered	Dracood to 1.2	Dressed to 1.2	Dressed to 1.2	Dressed to 1.2	Dracood to 1.2	Dracood to 1.2	Dressed to 1.2
	If Y/PY to 1.1: determine whether there is a need to assess time-varying confounding:	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2
	1.2. Was the analysis based on splitting participants' follow up time according to intervention received?	N	N	N	N	N	N	PY
	If N/PN, answer questions relating to baseline confounding (1.4 to 1.6)	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Proceed to 1.3
	If Y/PY, proceed to question 1.3.	741541011410110	741541011410110	741541011.41011.0	741541011410110	74154161 2.4 60 2.0	74154161 1.4 10 1.0	1100000 10 1.5
	1.3. Were intervention discontinuations or switches likely to be related to factors that are prognostic for the outcome?	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI
	If N/PN, answer questions relating to baseline confounding (1.4 to 1.6)							
	If Y/PY, answer questions relating to both baseline and time-varying confounding (1.7 and 1.8)							
	Questions relating to baseline contounding only							
	1.4. Did the authors use an appropriate analysis method that controlled for all the important contouring domains?	<u>PY</u>	<u><u>Y</u></u>	<u>Y</u>	N	<u><u> </u></u>	<u><u>Y</u></u>	<u>Y</u>
	 If Y/YY to 1.4: Were contouning domains that were controlled for measured validly and reliably by the variables available in this study? If the available in the second of the second seco	PN DN	NI DN	PN	NA NA	<u><u>Y</u></u>	PN	<u>PY</u>
	1.6. Did the autors control for any post-intervention variables that could have been affected by the intervention? Outstiene relating to beselve and king using a service as enforced as	PN	PN	PN	<u>N</u>	PN	PN	<u>PN</u>
	Usestions relating to daseline and time-varying contouring 1.7. Did the authors use an expression early is early at the table of the important confounding demains and factime upping confounding)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA NA	NIA
	1.7. Did the addross use an appropriate analysis mention and adjusted for measured uplidue under an adjusted to the study.	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA
	1.5. In // PF to 1.7. Were comoting domains that were adjusted for measured variety and reliably by the variables available in this study:	Sorious	Soriour	Sorious	Sorious	Moderate	Sorious	Moderate
L	lank of any landement for two landement rarie 1)	Jenous	Jenous	3011003	J Jenous	Moderate	Jenous	Wouchate
Bias in selection of	2.1 Was selection of participants into the study (or into the analysis) based on participant characteristics observed after the start of intervention?	PV	PV	PV	PN	PN	NI	PN
participants into the study	f N/PN to 2.1: go to 2.4	Proceed to 2.2	Proceed to 2.2	Proceed to 2.2	Go to 2.4	Go to 2.4		Go to 2.4
	2.2. If Y/PY to 2.1: Were the post-intervention variables that influenced selection likely to be associated with intervention?	PY	PN	PN				
	2.3. If Y/PY to 2.2: Were the post-intervention variables that influenced selection likely to be influenced by the outcome or a cause of the outcome?	PY	PY	PY				
	2.4. Do start of follow-up and start of intervention coincide for most participants?	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	NI	PY
	2.5. If Y/PY to 2.2 and 2.3, or N/PN to 2.4: Were adjustment techniques used that are likely to correct for the presence of selection biases?							
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Serious	Serious	Serious	Moderate	Low	NI	Moderate
Bias in classification of	3.1. Were intervention groups clearly defined?	<u>Y</u>	N	N	N	PN	PN	N
interventions	3.2. Was the information used to define intervention groups recorded at the start of the intervention?	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	PY	PY	PY
	3.3. Could classification of intervention status have been affected by knowledge of the outcome or risk of the outcome?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	jRisk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Moderate	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious
Piec due to douistions from	4.1. More these deviations from the intervented intervention beyond what you'd be expected in you'd section?	NI	NI	L NI	NII NII	NI	I NI	NI
bias due to deviations from	4.1. Were there deviations from the internet on internet internet internet on the second s	NI NI	INI	NI NI	NI NI	INI		INI
intended interventions	4.2. If (PFT to 4.1. Were these deviations from interface intervention initialized between groups and merry to have anected the outcome?							
	43 Were important co-interventions halanced across intervention groups?		1					
	44. Was the intervention implemented successfully for most participants?							
	4.5. Did study participants adhere to the assigned intervention regimen?							
	4.6. If N/PN to 4.3, 4.4 or 4.5: Was an appropriate analysis used to estimate the effect of starting and adhering to the intervention?							
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI
Bias due to missing data	5.1. Were outcome data available for all, or nearly all, participants?	N	N	PY	PN	PY	PY	PY
	5.2. Were participants excluded due to missing data on intervention status?	Y	Y	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	5.3. Were participants excluded due to missing data on other variables needed for the analysis?	PY	Y	PN	NI	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>
	5.4. If PN/N to 5.1, or Y/PY to 5.2 or 5.3: Are the proportion of participants and reasons for missing data similar across interventions?	NI	PY	NI	N	NA	NA	NA
	5.5. If PN/N to 5.1, or Y/PY to 5.2 or 5.3: Is there evidence that results were robust to the presence of missing data?	NI	NI	NI	NI	NA	NA	NA
I	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Serious	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Low
Dia la management of	2.4. Could the subsets measure have been influenced by includes of the intervention section 2.							
plas in measurement of	Could the outcome measure have been initialenced by knowledge of the intervention received; Could use outcome creaters and the intervention received by church participants?	<u>IN</u> DNI	DN DN	DNI DNI	DN DN	<u>N</u>	DNI DNI	<u>N</u> DN
outcomes	2.2. Were outcome assessors aware or the intervention received or study participants:	V V	V V	DV DV	DV DV	PV	PV PV	PV
	64. Were any systematic errors in measurement of the outcome related to intervention received?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
L		·					•	
Bias in selection of the	Is the reported effect estimate likely to be selected, on the basis of the results, from							
reported result	7.1 multiple outcome measurements within the outcome domain?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	7.2 multiple analyses of the intervention-outcome relationship?	N	PN	PY	N	N	PY	Y
	7.3 different subgroups?	N	N	PN	N	N	РҮ	Y
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Serious
г	F	,		*	*	-	*	
Overall bias	(Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 3)	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious

Risk of bias assessment	(cohort-type studies)							
	Study ID	ID 8	ID 9	ID 10	ID 11	ID 12	ID 13	ID 14
	Author, year	Houts, 2019	Meyerhardt, 2012	Razenberg, 2016	Lee, 2017	Suenaga, 2014	Bendell, 2012	Duran, 2015
	Intervention	Bevacizumab + CT	Bevacizumab + CT	Bevacizumab + CT	Bevacizumab + CT	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX	Bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI
	Comparator	СТ	СТ	СТ	СТ	FOLFOX	Bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI	Bevacizumab+ XELOX
Bias domain	Signalling questions	Houts, 2019	Meyerhardt, 2012	Razenberg, 2016	Lee, 2017	Suenaga, 2014	Bendell, 2012	Duran, 2015
Bias due to confounding	1.1. Is there potential for confounding of the effect of intervention in this study?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
_	If N/PN to 1.1: the study can be considered to be at low risk of bias due to confounding and no further signalling questions need be considered	Descenden 4.2	Descender 4.2	Durandar 4.2	Descenden 4.2	Descendes 4.2	Descenden 4.2	Descendes 4.2
	If Y/PY to 1.1: determine whether there is a need to assess time-varying confounding:	Ploceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	PIOLEEU LO 1.2
	1.2. Was the analysis based on splitting participants' follow up time according to intervention received?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	If N/PN, answer questions relating to baseline confounding (1.4 to 1.6)	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6				
	if Y/Yr, proceed to question 1.3. 12 Ware intervention discontinuitions or switches likely to be related to factor: that are proportion for the outcome?	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA		
	If N/N assertion and the intervention of a whether is the string of the table of the table of the string of the st			100				
	if V/VX, answer questions relating to busine conjourning (1-40 U.) If V/VX answer questions relating to both baseline and time-varying confounding (1.7 and 1.8)							
	Questions relating to baseline confounding only							1
	1.4. Did the authors use an appropriate analysis method that controlled for all the important confounding domains?	Y	Y	Y	<u>Y</u>	Y	Y	N
	1.5. If Y/PY to 1.4: Were confounding domains that were controlled for measured validly and reliably by the variables available in this study?	PN	N	PN	PY	PN	PN	NA
	1.6. Did the authors control for any post-intervention variables that could have been affected by the intervention?	<u>PN</u>	PN	<u>PN</u>	PN	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>
	Questions relating to baseline and time-varying confounding							
	1.7. Did the authors use an appropriate analysis method that adjusted for all the important confounding domains and for time-varying confounding?	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA		
	1.8. If Y/PY to 1.7: Were contounding domains that were adjusted for measured validly and reliably by the variables available in this study?	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Man da sa ta	Carlous
L	ikisk of blas judgement (see Kob judgement table 1)	Serious	Serious	Serious	ivioderate	woderate	Woderate	Serious
Bias in selection of	2.1. Was selection of participants into the study (or into the analysis) based on participant characteristics observed after the start of intervention?	PN	PN	PN	NI	PY	PN	PY
participants into the study	If N/PN to 2.1: ao to 2.4	Go to 2.4	Go to 2.4	Go to 2.4		Proceed to 2.2	Go to 2.4	Proceed to 2.2
	2.2. If Y/PY to 2.1: Were the post-intervention variables that influenced selection likely to be associated with intervention?					PN		PY
	2.3. If Y/PY to 2.2: Were the post-intervention variables that influenced selection likely to be influenced by the outcome or a cause of the outcome?					PY		PY
	2.4. Do start of follow-up and start of intervention coincide for most participants?	PY	PY	PY	NI	PY	N	NI
	2.5. If Y/PY to 2.2 and 2.3, or N/PN to 2.4: Were adjustment techniques used that are likely to correct for the presence of selection biases?						PN	
L	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	NI	Serious	Serious	Serious
Piecia electification of	2.1 More intervention groups cloudy defined?	N	N	N	N	v	DN	v
interventions	 3.1. Were intervention groups clearly defined: 3.2. Was the information used to define intervention groups recorded at the start of the intervention? 3.2. Was the information used to define intervention groups recorded at the start of the intervention? 	PV	PV	PY	PV	<u></u>	PN	v v
	3.3. Could classification of intervention status have been affected by knowledge of the outcome or risk of the outcome?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate
Bias due to deviations from	4.1. Were there deviations from the intended intervention beyond what would be expected in usual practice?	NI	NI	NI	NI	PN	PN	NI
intended interventions	4.2. If Y/PY to 4.1: Were these deviations from intended intervention unbalanced between groups and likely to have affected the outcome?]						
	If your aim for this study is to assess the effect of starting and adhering to intervention, answer questions 4.3 to 4.5							
	4.5. Were important co-interventions balanced across intervention groups?							
	4.5. Did study participants adhere to the accessional to intervention regimen?	-						
	4.6. If N/PN to 4.3, 4.4 or 4.5: Was an appropriate analysis used to estimate the effect of starting and adhering to the intervention?							
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	NI	NI	NI	NI	Moderate	Moderate	NI
		•						
Bias due to missing data	5.1. Were outcome data available for all, or nearly all, participants?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	5.2. Were participants excluded due to missing data on intervention status?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	5.4 if DN Nt to 51 or V/DY to 52 or 53 are the proportion of natificiants and reasons for missing data similar across interventions?	PIN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	5.5. If PMN to 5.1. or YPPY to 5.2 or 5.3: Is there evidence that results were robust to the presence of missing data?	+	1	1			1	
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
				•	•		•	
Bias in measurement of	6.1. Could the outcome measure have been influenced by knowledge of the intervention received?	N	N	N	N	N	N	N
outcomes	6.2. Were outcome assessors aware of the intervention received by study participants?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	6.3. Were the methods of outcome assessment comparable across intervention groups?	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY
	b.4. Were any systematic errors in measurement of the outcome related to intervention received?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
L	Kisk of bias judgement (see Kob judgement table 2)	LOW	LOW	LOW	LOW	LOW	LOW	LOW
Bias in selection of the	Is the reported effect estimate likely to be selected, on the basis of the results, from	1			1			
reported result	7.1 multiple outcome measurements within the outcome domain?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	7.2 multiple analyses of the intervention-outcome relationship?	N	Y	PY	N	N	N	N
	7.3 different subgroups?	Y	Y	PN	N	N	N	N
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Serious	Serious	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
			-	,	*	*	*	
(Iverall hias	KISK OT DIAS HIDREMENT ISEE KON HIDREMENT TABLE 31	Norious	Nerious	Norious	Norious	Norious	Norious -	Nerious

Risk of bias assessment	cohort-type studies)							
	Study ID	ID 15	ID 16	ID 17	ID 18	ID 19	ID 20	ID 21
	Author, year	Khakoo, 2019a	Uygun, 2013	Kocakova, 2015	Ocvirk, 2011	Bai, 2015	Cainap, 2021	Artac, 2016
	Intervention	Bevacizumab+ FOLFIRI	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	Bevacizumab + FOLFIRI	Bevacizumab + Irinotecan-ba	Bevacizumab + Irinote	Bevacizumab + Irinoteca
	Comparator	Bevacizumab + FOLFOX	Bevacizumab + XELIRI	Bevacizumab + XELIRI	Bevacizumab + XELIRI	Bevacizumab +Oxaliplatin-ba	Bevacizumab +Oxalip	Bevacizumab +Oxaliplat
Bias domain	Signalling questions	Khakoo, 2019a	Uygun, 2013	Kocakova, 2015	Ocvirk, 2011	Bai, 2015	Cainap, 2021	Artac, 2016
Bias due to confounding	1.1. Is there potential for confounding of the effect of intervention in this study?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	If N/PN to 1.1: the study can be considered to be at low risk of bias due to confounding and no further signalling questions need be considered	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2				
	If Y/PY to 1.1: determine whether there is a need to assess time-varying confounding:	100000 1.2	1100000 1.2	FIOCEEU TO 1.2	FIOCEEU IO 1.2	100000101.2	100000 10 1.2	100000 10 1.2
	1.2. Was the analysis based on splitting participants' follow up time according to intervention received?	PY	PN	PN	PN	PY	PN	PN
	If N/PN, answer questions relating to baseline confounding (1.4 to 1.6) If Y/PY, proceed to question 1.3.	Proceed to 1.3	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Proceed to 1.3	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6
	1.3. Were intervention discontinuations or switches likely to be related to factors that are prognostic for the outcome?	N				PN		
	If N/PN, answer questions relating to baseline confounding (1.4 to 1.6)	Answer 1.4 to 1.6				Answer 1.4 to 1.6		
	If Y/PY, answer questions relating to both baseline and time-varying confounding (1.7 and 1.8)	Answer 1.4 to 1.0				Answer 1.4 to 1.0		
	Questions relating to baseline confounding only							
	1.4. Did the authors use an appropriate analysis method that controlled for all the important confounding domains?	<u>Y</u>	N	<u>Y</u>	N	<u>Y</u>	PN	<u>PY</u>
	1.5. If Y/PY to 1.4: Were confounding domains that were controlled for measured validly and reliably by the variables available in this study?	Ϋ́	NA	PN	NA	<u>PY</u>	NA	<u>PY</u>
	1.6. Did the authors control for any post-intervention variables that could have been affected by the intervention?	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	PN	PN	PN	N
	Questions relating to baseline and time-varying confounding							
	1.7. Did the authors use an appropriate analysis method that adjusted for all the important confounding domains and for time-varying confounding?					ļ		
	1.8. If Y/PY to 1.7: Were confounding domains that were adjusted for measured validly and reliably by the variables available in this study?							
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate
Placin coloction of	2.1. Was selection of participants into the study (as into the applysic) based on participant characteristics observed after the study (as into vontion)	DN	DV	DN	DV	DN	DV	DN
Bias in selection of	2.1. Was selection of participants into the study (or into the analysis) based on participant characteristics observed after the start or intervention?	<u>PN</u> Coto 2.4	PY Dressed to 2.2	<u>PN</u>	PT Droscod to 2.2	<u>PN</u> Coto 2.4	PY Dresond to 2.2	PN Coto 2.4
participants into the study	J MYPN 10 21. 90 10 2.4 21 If View to 21.1 90 10 2.4	G0 t0 2.4	Proceed to 2.2	60 10 2.4	Proceed to 2.2	60 t0 2.4	PIOCEEU to 2.2	60 10 2.4
	2.3 If Y/Y to 22.1 Were the post-intervention variables that influenced selection likely to be associated with metvention: 2.3 If Y/Y to 22.1 Were the post-intervention variables that influenced selection likely to be associated with environme or a cause of the autrome?		PV		PY		PY	
	24. Do start of following and start of intervention coincide for most participants?	PV	NI	PV	NI	py	NI	PY
	2.5. If V/PY to 2.2 and 2.3 or V/PN to 2.4: Were adjustment techniques used that are likely to correct for the presence of selection biases?	·	PN	<u></u>	PN	<u></u>	PN	
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate
. <u></u>	,							
Bias in classification of	3.1. Were intervention groups clearly defined?	PN	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
interventions	3.2. Was the information used to define intervention groups recorded at the start of the intervention?	PY	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	3.3. Could classification of intervention status have been affected by knowledge of the outcome or risk of the outcome?	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	PN	PN	PN	PN
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
r								
Bias due to deviations from	4.1. Were there deviations from the intended intervention beyond what would be expected in usual practice?	<u>PN</u>	NI	NI	NI	<u>PN</u>	NI	NI
intended interventions	4.2. If Y/PY to 4.1: Were these deviations from intended intervention unbalanced between groups and likely to have affected the outcome?							
	If your aim for this study is to assess the effect of starting and adhering to intervention, answer questions 4.3 to 4.6							
	4.3. Were important co-interventions balanced across intervention groups?							
	4.4. Was the intervention implemented successfully for most participants?							
	4.5. Did study participants adhere to the assigned intervention regimen?							
	4.6. If N/PN to 4.3, 4.4 of 4.5: Was an appropriate analysis used to estimate the effect of starting and adhering to the intervention?	Madarata	NI	NII	NI	Mederate	NI	NI
L	insk of bias judgement (see koo judgement table z)	woderate	INI	INI		Woderate	INI INI	191
Bias due to missing data	5.1. Were outcome data available for all. or nearly all. participants?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	5.2. Were participants excluded due to missing data on intervention status?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	5.3. Were participants excluded due to missing data on other variables needed for the analysis?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	5.4. If PN/N to 5.1, or Y/PY to 5.2 or 5.3: Are the proportion of participants and reasons for missing data similar across interventions?							
	5.5. If PN/N to 5.1, or Y/PY to 5.2 or 5.3: Is there evidence that results were robust to the presence of missing data?							
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Bias in measurement of	6.1. Could the outcome measure have been influenced by knowledge of the intervention received?	<u>N</u>	N	N	N	N	N	N
outcomes	6.2. Were outcome assessors aware of the intervention received by study participants?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	6.3. Were the methods of outcome assessment comparable across intervention groups?	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY
	6.4. Were any systematic errors in measurement of the outcome related to intervention received?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	KISK OT DIAS JUdgement (see Kob Judgement table 2)	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Placin coloction of the	to the senanted offeet estimate likely to be colorted, on the basis of the secult from	1			1	1	11	
pids in selection of the	s the reported effect estimate inkery to be selected, on the basis of the results, from 71 multiple automa massurements within the automa domaio2	DN	DN	DN	PN	DN	DN	DN
reported result	72 multiple analyses of the intervention-untrome relationship?	N	N	N	N	N	PN	PN
	7.3different subgroups?	Y Y	N	N	N	N	Y	Υ
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Serious
<u></u>							A	
Overall bias	Risk of hiss judgement (see RoB judgement table 3)	Serious	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Serious

•

	Study ID	ID 22	ID 23	ID 24	ID 25	ID 26	ID 27	ID 28	ID 29
	Author, year	Stein,2015	Buchler, 2014	Cheng, 2015	Yang, 2014	Houts, 2019	Bai, 2016	Zhou, 2021	Degirmencioglu, 2019
	Intervention	Bevacizumab + Irinotecan-ba	Bevacizumab + FOLFIOX	Bevacizumab + FOLFOXIRI	Cetuximab+ CT	Cetuximab+CT	Cetuximab+ CT	Cetuximab+ CT	Cetuximab+ CT
	Comparator	Bevacizumab +Oxaliplatin-ba	Bevacizumab + XELOX	Bevacizumab + XELOXIRI	Bevacizumab+CT	Bevacizumab+CT	Bevacizumab+ CT	Bevacizumab+CT	Bevacizumab+CT
Bias domain	Signalling questions	Stein,2015	Buchler, 2014	Cheng, 2015	Yang, 2014	Houts, 2019	Bai, 2016	Zhou, 2021	Degirmencioglu, 2019
Bias due to confounding	1.1. Is there potential for confounding of the effect of intervention in this study?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	If N/PN to 1.1: the study can be considered to be at low risk of bias due to confounding and no further signalling questions need be considered	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2	Proceed to 1.2
	If Y/PY to 1.1: determine whether there is a need to assess time-varying confounding:								
	1.2. Was the analysis based on splitting participants' follow up time according to intervention received?	PN	PN	PN					
	if V/PV, once to question 1.2	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6	Answer 1.4 to 1.6					
	 ii) iii) iii) iii) iiii) iiiii) iiii) iii) iiii) iiii iii iiii								
	If N/PN . answer questions relating to baseline confounding (1.4 to 1.6)								
	If Y/PY, answer questions relating to both baseline and time-varying confounding (1.7 and 1.8)								
	Questions relating to baseline confounding only								
	1.4. Did the authors use an appropriate analysis method that controlled for all the important confounding domains?	N	Y	Y	Y	PY	PY	PY	PN
	1.5. If Y/PY to 1.4: Were confounding domains that were controlled for measured validly and reliably by the variables available in this study?	NA	PN	N	PN	<u>PY</u>	<u>PY</u>	<u>PY</u>	NA
	1.6. Did the authors control for any post-intervention variables that could have been affected by the intervention?	PN	PN	PN	PN	N	N	N	PN
	Questions relating to baseline and time-varying confounding								
	1.7. Did the authors use an appropriate analysis method that adjusted for all the important confounding domains and for time-varying confounding?	1							
	1.8. If Y/PY to 1.7: Were confounding domains that were adjusted for measured validly and reliably by the variables available in this study?								
L	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Serious
Bias in selection of	L.L. was selection or participants into the study (or into the analysis) based on participant characteristics observed after the start of intervention? Environment in 2-3 the active active active study (or into the analysis) based on participant characteristics observed after the start of intervention?	PN Coto 2.4	PN Coto 2.4	PY Dressed to 2.2	PN Coto 2.4	PN Coto 2.4	PY Dracod to 2.2	PY Dressed to 2.2	NI
participants into the study	If N/PN to 2.1 go to 2.4 2.1 if V/PN to 2.1 go to 2.4	G0 t0 2.4	G0 t0 2.4	Proceed to 2.2	GO tO 2.4	G0 t0 2.4	Proceed to 2.2	Proceed to 2.2	
	2.2. If ((r) (a) 2.1. Were the post-intervention variables that influenced selection neerly to be associated with intervention:			P1			DV	PN DV	
	2.5. If (PT to 2.2, were the post-intervention variables that intervention extractionants) to be initiated by the outcome of a cause of the outcome?	PV.	DV	V V	PV.	DV	PY DV	PY	NI
	25 If V/V to 23 and 23 or V/D to 24: Were adjustment techniques used that are likely to correct for the presence of selection biases?		<u></u>	PN	<u></u>	<u></u>	PN	PN	141
	lisk of bis indement (see Roll indement table 1)	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Serious	NI
Bias in classification of	3.1. Were intervention groups clearly defined?	PN	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	Y	PN	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	PN
interventions	3.2. Was the information used to define intervention groups recorded at the start of the intervention?	<u>PY</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	PY	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>PY</u>
	3.3. Could classification of intervention status have been affected by knowledge of the outcome or risk of the outcome?	<u>PN</u>	PN	<u>PN</u>	PN	PN	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 1)	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Serious
		•		1					
Bias due to deviations from	4.1. Were there deviations from the intended intervention beyond what would be expected in usual practice?	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI
intended interventions	4.2. If Y/PY to 4.1: Were these deviations from intended intervention unbalanced between groups and likely to have affected the outcome?								
	If your aim for this study is to assess the effect of starting and adhering to intervention, answer questions 4.3 to 4.6								
	4.3. Were important co-linerventions balanced across intervention groups: A.4. Was the intervention implemented succed across intervention groups:								
	45 Did study participants adherer to the ascessioned intervention periodimen?								
	4.6. If N/PN to 4.3. 4.4 or 4.5: Was an anonyopirate analysis used to estimate the effect of starting and adhering to the intervention?								
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI
Bias due to missing data	5.1. Were outcome data available for all, or nearly all, participants?	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	PY	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>	<u>Y</u>
	5.2. Were participants excluded due to missing data on intervention status?	<u>PN</u>	PN	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	Y	<u>PN</u>	PN	<u>PN</u>
	5.3. Were participants excluded due to missing data on other variables needed for the analysis?	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	<u>PN</u>	Y	<u>PN</u>	Y	<u>PN</u>
	5.4. If PN/N to 5.1, or Y/PY to 5.2 or 5.3: Are the proportion of participants and reasons for missing data similar across interventions?					N		NI	
	5.5. If PN/N to 5.1, or Y/PY to 5.2 or 5.3: Is there evidence that results were robust to the presence of missing data?					NI		NI	
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Moderate	Serious	Moderate
Placin measurement of	6.1. Could the autome measure have been influenced by knowledge of the intervention received?	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N
bias in measurement of	Count are outcome measure nave been influenced by knowledge of the intervention received? Count one outcome service and the intervention exclude by characterized and the service and	N DN	<u>IN</u> DN	<u>N</u> DN	<u>IN</u> DN	<u>N</u>	<u>IN</u> DNI	<u>IN</u> DNI	<u>N</u> DN
outcomes	63 Were the methods of autrome assessment comparation received by addy participants:	PY	PV	PV	PV	PY	PV	PV	PV
	64. Were any systematic errors in measurement of the outcome related to intervention received?	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
h	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								
Bias in selection of the	Is the reported effect estimate likely to be selected, on the basis of the results, from								
reported result	7.1 multiple outcome measurements within the outcome domain?	PN	PN	<u>PN</u>	PN	PN	PN	PN	<u>PN</u>
	7.2 multiple analyses of the intervention-outcome relationship?	PN	N	N	N	N	N	N	N
	7.3 different subgroups?	Y	N	N	N	N	N	PY	N
	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 2)	Serious	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Serious	Moderate
				*				-	
Overall bias	Risk of bias judgement (see RoB judgement table 3)	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious	Serious

The detailed answers to the signalling questions of the assessment of risk of bias for the studies included in the overall survival metaanalysis.

Basic	information				Bias	due to confounding				
Stud y ID	Author Year	1.1	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.8	RoB judgemen t
ID 1	Stec, 2009 (Stec et al., 2010)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	adjustment for several confounders was used	confounding domains included age, gender, number of Mets, primary location pre- treatment CEA, performance status , regimen. However, the non-significant results in MV analysis were not shown including regimen. Also, resection was not included	the adjustment was only performed for baseline characteristic s prior to intervention	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 2	Guo, 2020 (Guo et al., 2020)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	propensity score matching	propensity score matching was performed. However, the variables in which the matching was performed for were not reported in the study	the adjustment was only performed for baseline characteristic s prior to intervention	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 3	Satram-Hoang ,2013 (Satram- Hoang et al., 2013)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	adjustment for several confounders was used	confounding variables included treatment, age, sex, race, positive lymph nodes, tumour grade, comorbidity score, geographic region, and income. However, PS and prior resection were not included	the adjustment was only performed for baseline characteristic s prior to intervention	adjustment was considered for all important domains	Not applicabl e	Serious

Basic	information				Bias c	lue to confounding				
ID 4	Neugut, 2019 (Neugut et al., 2019)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the study authors did not adjust for potential confounders	Not applicable	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authirs did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 5	Marschner, 2015 (Marschner et al., 2015)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Cox proportional hazards model was used to verify the difference in Kaplan–Meier curves adjusted for potentially confounding variables.	variables are consistent with the pre-determined in the protocol and they are: sex, age at start of treatment, BMI, PS, RAS status, surgery, number of metastatic sites, time form diagnosis to treatment	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Moderate
ID 6	Hammerman,2 015 (Hammerman et al., 2015)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the authors did use an appropriate method which was cox proportional hazards regression.	the authors did not include all important confounders including PS and prior resection	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	Time- varying confounder was not applicable in this study	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 7	Franchi,2019 (Franchi et al., 2019)	inherent by design	participants in both groups switched to different regimens over the course of follow up as stated in the treatment pattern section of the results	NI	the primary endpoint of the study, was calculated by means of the Kaplan-Meier estimator, and the log-rank test was used for testing survival differences between patients starting on B+CT or CT alone. Predictors of OS	the authors did not include all important confounders including PS and liver mets. However, a propensity score matching to account for residual confounders was performed. As stated in the methods section of the study, In this analysis, propensity scores were calculated using, besides the covariates listed above,	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken.	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Moderate

Basic	information				Bias c	lue to confounding				
					were evaluated by fitting a Cox proportional hazard model.	the following: diabetes, hypertension, cerebrovascular/ischemi c heart/respiratory/renl diseases, time to treat (i.e., duration of time between mCRC diagnosis and start of first-line treatment), number of hospitalizations, outpatient services, and drug prescriptions in the 3 years prior to the index date				
ID 8	Houts,2019 (Houts et al., 2019b)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the authors stated that the sample of C patients was likely to be older and have some performance status impairment, factors that may have led to the decision to treat without adding bevacizumab. It is also possible that these "selection" differences accounted for the apparent efficacy advantages of adding B to C. the authors have not used propensity score matching to	covariates included: age, gender, race, BMI), PS, liver metastasis, lung metastasis , stage at diagnosis, chemotherapy backbone. However, prior resection was not accounted for	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken.	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Serious

Basic	information				Bias d	due to confounding				
					account for the imbalance in these covariates. however, the authors used cox regression to control for the imbalance and to adjust for the confounders					
ID 9	Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt et al., 2012b)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the study adjusted for potential confounders Also propensity score matching was used to address the confounding	the covariates adjusted for were not reported in the study	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken.	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 10	Razenberg, 2016 (Razenberg et al., 2016)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the study adjusted for potential confounders Also propensity score matching was used to address the confounding	age, comorbidity, primary tumor location, adjuvant chemotherapy, time to metastases, period of diagnosed metastases, number of metastases). however, study did not adjust for PS and surgical resection	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken.	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 11	Lee, 2017 (Lee et al., 2017)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the authors used an appropriate method which was cox proportional hazards regression.	age, primary resection, ECOG PS, number of metastatic sites, and the addition of bevacizumab to therapy	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken.	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Moderate
ID 12	Suenaga, 2014 (Suenaga et al., 2014)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Multivariate analysis of the factors was conducted based on the Cox	treatment, age, ECOG PS, primary site, number of mets, liver involvement. however,	no adjustment post intervention	Time- varying confounder was not	Not applicabl e	Serious

Basic	information				Bias d	lue to confounding				
					proportional hazards model to identify factors associated with PFS and OS.	study did not adjust for surgical resection	was undertaken.	analysed in this study		
ID 13	Bendell, 2012 (Bendell et al., 2012)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	A multivariate Cox proportional hazards model was used to assess the effect of first-line chemotherapy with bevacizumab OS outcome, adjusting for potential confounding factors	treatment, age, sex, race, ECOG PS, serum albumin and alkaline phosphatase levels, site of primary tumour, adjuvant therapy, disease-free interval, and history of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, hypertension, or hypercholesterolemia. however, study did not adjust for surgical resection	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken.	Time- varying confounder was not analysed in this study	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 14	Duran,2014 (Duran et al., 2014)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the study authors did not adjust for potential confounders	Not applicable	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 15	Khakoo, 2019 (Khakoo et al., 2019)	inherent by design	one of the study's endpoints was reason for discontinuatio n of treatment with bevacizumab	reasons for discontinuatio n included: disease progression, investigator's decision, and Aes. None of which is prognostic for the outcome	A multivariable Cox proportional hazard regression model was used to model OS in terms of baseline and chemotherapy and bevacizumab administration covariates	age, ECOG PS, resection, regimen	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Moderate

Basic	information				Bias c	lue to confounding				
ID 16	Uygun, 2013 (Uygun et al., 2013)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the study authors did not adjust for potential confounders	Not applicable	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 17	Kocakova,201 5 (Kocakova et al., 2015)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Multivariable Cox proportional hazards model was used to quantify the effect of chemotherapy regimens on survival in the presence of other potential predictive and prognostic factors	treatment, age, gender, primary tumour location, initial stage, number of metastatic sites. however, study did not adjust for PS and surgical resection	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 18	Ocvirk, 2011 (Ocvirk et al., 2011)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the study authors did not adjust for potential confounders	Not applicable	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 19	Bai, 2015 (Bai et al., 2015)	inherent by design	one of the study's endpoints was reason for discontinuatio n of treatment with bevacizumab	reasons for discontinuatio n included: disease progression, investigator's decision, and Aes. None of which is prognostic for the outcome	The association between potential confounding pre- and on-treatment factors and OS was examined by multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression model	relevant: treatment backbone, maintenance treatment, resection of mets, recurrent mets). PS was not adjusted for	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious

Basic	information				Bias c	lue to confounding				
ID 20	Cainap, 2021 (Cainap et al., 2021)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	the study used cox regression to estimate HR. however, no reporting for adjustment for potential confounders	Not applicable	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 21	Artac, 2016(Artac et al., 2016)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	multivariate Cox proportional hazards models were used to quantify the influence of the treatment regimens on survival in the presence of other potential predictive and prognostic factors. However, there was a need to reconstruct KM curves since the study has not reported the confidence intervals associated with the HR	ECOG PS, mastectomy, age, adverse events, gender , RAS, stage at diagnosis	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Moderate
ID 22	Stein,2015 (Stein et al., 2015a)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	ome more limitations must be considered, particularly the bias when selecting patients for specific treatment,	Not applicable	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious

Basic	information				Bias c	lue to confounding				
ID 23	Buchler, 2014 (Buchler et al., 2014)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Multivariable Cox proportional hazards model was used to quantify the influence of the considered treatment modalities on survival in the presence of other potential predictive and prognostic factors	treatment, age, gender, primary tumour location, stage, number of Mets- no adjustment for PS and primary tumour resection	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 24	Cheng, 2015 (Cheng and Song, 2015)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Cox proportional- hazards modelling was performed as supportive analyses	only significant values were reported - the effect of treatment on OS was not reported	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 25	Yang, 2014 (Yang et al., 2014)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Cox proportional hazards models were used for univariate and multivariate analyses to determine the independent influence of clinical and pathological factors on survival endpoints	only significant values were reported - the effect of treatment on OS was not reported	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 26	Houts, 2019 (Houts et al., 2019a)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Multivariate Cox regression models were also used to examine OS.	age, gender, race [minority vs. white], body mass index (BMI), number of metastatic sites, performance	no adjustment post intervention	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying	Not applicabl e	Serious

Basic	information				Bias c	lue to confounding				
						status. no adjustment for primary tumour resection	was undertaken	confounder s		
ID 27	Bai, 2016 (Bai et al., 2016)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	In order to estimate the prognostic value of baseline clinicopathologica I features, Cox proportional hazards models were used in univariate and multivariate analyses and to generate the HR and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs).	gender, primary tumour location, pathological differentiation, number of metastatic sites, peritoneal metastases, backbone chemotherapy, primary tumour resection. However, PS was not adjusted for	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 28	Zhou, 2021 (Zhou et al., 2021)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Cox regression model was used to estimate hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI)	age, sex, primary tumour location, number of metastatic sites, sites of Mets, tumour differentiation, primary tumour resection, backbone chemotherapy, RAS status. However, PS was not adjusted for	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious
ID 29	Degirmenciogl u , 2019 (Degirmenciog lu S, 2019)	inherent by design	no switching involved	Not applicable	Univariate and multivariate analyses were carried out using Spearman's correlation analysis. This is a	Not applicable	no adjustment post intervention was undertaken	the authors did not adjust for baseline or time varying confounder s	Not applicabl e	Serious

Basic information	Bias due to confounding					
		bivariate				
		evaluation.				
		However, a				
		multivariate				
		evaluation of the				
		effect of different				
		covariates on				
		survival was not				
		demonstrated				

Risk of selection bias of the included studies

Basic	information		Bias in selectio	n of participants into	the study		
Study	Author Year	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	RoB judgement
ID 1	Stec, 2009 (Stec et al., 2010)	aged ≥65 years had a good performance status (i.e. WHO 0–2 or Karnofsky ≥80%) and had metastatic CRC (TMN stage IV) confirmed by histopathology with a measurable lesion	patients with better PS are expected to receive intensified therapy whereas patients with poorer PS are expected to receive monotherapy	patients with better PS are expected to have a better survival compared to those with poorer PS	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Serious
ID 2	Guo, 2020 (Guo et al., 2020)	"the selection criteria indicated the exclusion of patients who were receiving certain co-interventions. patients were excluded on the following basis treated with immunotherapy or targeted therapy concurrent with chemotherapy; 2) patients with radical surgery or local treatment during chemotherapy; both aspects relate to at or post intervention"	the eligibility criteria are not associated with the intervention	according to the exclusion criteria, patients whose survival was less than 3 months were excluded from the study which leads to overestimating OS	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Serious
ID 3	Satram-Hoang ,2013 (Satram- Hoang et al., 2013)	Only patients whose survival time ≥60 days following the date of first-line chemotherapy initiation were included	the eligibility criteria are not associated with the intervention	according to the exclusion criteria, patients whose survival was less less than 60 days were excluded from the study which leads to overestimating OS	patients in first-line settings-	Not applicable	Serious
ID 4	Neugut, 2019 (Neugut et al., 2019)	no indication whether selection was made according to post intervention variables	Not applicable	Not applicable	since patients are newly diagnosed and are in first-line settings. Then probably the start of intervention was used as the start of follow-up. Also, there was no reporting for lead time	Not applicable	Moderate

Basic	information		Bias in selectio	n of participants into	o the study		
Study ID	Author Year	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	RoB judgement
ID 5	Marschner, 2015 (Marschner et al., 2015)	Patients with histologically confirmed colorectal cancer signed informed consent no longer than 4 weeks after the start of systemic neoadjuvant/adjuvant treatment for nonmetastatic or first-line treatment for metastatic/inoperable disease were not included in the study	Not applicable	Not applicable	adjustment for immortal time bias by elimination of patients who did not consent within 4 weeks was used to coincide follow up with time of intervention	Not applicable	Low
ID 6	Hammerman, 2015 (Hammerman et al., 2015)	the study has not provided enough information on the selection and eligibility criteria of the included patients	Not applicable	Not applicable	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	NI
ID 7	Franchi,2019 (Franchi et al., 2019)	the cohort selection flow chart and details provided in the methods section do not show selection after start of intervention	Not applicable	Not applicable	starting from the index date, all the prescriptions of antineoplastic drugs in the next 21 days (i.e., the plausible duration of a CT cycle, that is, every 14 or 21 days) were selected.	Not applicable	Moderate
ID 8	Houts,2019 (Houts et al., 2019b)	no indication whether selection was made according to post intervention variables. minimal selection criteria used	Not applicable	Not applicable	since patients are newly diagnosed and are in first-line settings. Then probably the start of intervention was used as the start of follow-up. Also, there was no reporting for incretion time	Not applicable	Moderate
ID 9	Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt et al., 2012b)	no indication whether selection was made according to post intervention variables minimal selection criteria used	Not applicable	Not applicable	since patients are newly diagnosed and are in first-line settings. Then probably the start of intervention was used as the start of follow-up. Also, there was no	Not applicable	Moderate

Basic	information		Bias in selecti	on of participants into	the study		
Study ID	Author Year	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	RoB judgement
					reporting for incretion time		
ID 10	Razenberg, 2016 (Razenberg et al., 2016)	no indication whether selection was made according to post intervention variables minimal selection criteria used	Not applicable	Not applicable	since patients are newly diagnosed and are in first-line settings. Then probably the start of intervention was used as the start of follow-up. Also, there was no reporting for inception time	Not applicable	Moderate
ID 11	Lee, 2017 (Lee et al., 2017)	the study has not provided enough information on the selection and eligibility criteria of the included patients	Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable	NI
ID 12	Suenaga, 2014 (Suenaga et al., 2014)	The study selected patients whose PS is less than or equal 2	Not applicable	Patients whose PS is better are expected to survive longer	since patients are newly diagnosed and are in first-line settings. Then probably the start of intervention was used as the start of follow-up. Also, there was no reporting for incetion time	Not applicable	Serious

Basic	information		Bias in selection	n of participants into	the study		
Study	Author Year	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	RoB judgement
ID ID 12	Davidall 2012		Neterstele	Nataraliashia	in manufal time him on	ine ne e stal	Contours
10 13	Bendell, 2012	no treatments, assessments, or exclusions specified by the	Not applicable	Not applicable	indicated in the discussion	immortai time bias	Serious
	(Bendell et al.,	protocol, including the dose and			as following: because	was not	
	2012)	frequency of bevacizumab or			patients could be enrolled	adjusted for	
		regimens of chemo-therapy			up to 4 months after the	,	
		(including biologic agents) and the			initiation of treatment,		
		method or frequency of clinical			the timing of enrollment		
		assessments. Notably, no			may have affected the		
		exclusions were made on the basis			inclusion of patients with		
		of the sites of metastasis, the use			early progression or death		
		of concur-rent anticoagulation, or			events		
		the Eastern Cooperative Oncology					
		Group (ECOG) performance status					
15.14	D 2014	SCORE	Detiente whenese inc	Detiente with	Neterslieskie	Net	Carlaus
ID 14	Duran,2014	significant cardiovascular honotic	Patients who receive	Patients with	Not applicable	NOT	Serious
	(Duran et al.,	and renal diseases, hypertension	bevacizuitiab are expected to	expected to survive		applicable	
	2014)	haemorrhagic diathesis or	hypertension Excluding natients	shorter			
		coagulopathy	with hypertension might bias the	Shorter			
		coagaropatity	outcome				
ID 15	Khakoo, 2019	the eligibility criteria do not	Not applicable	Not applicable	the following was	Not	Serious
	(Khakoo et al.,	indicate the selection of the cohort			reported in the study	applicable	
	2019)	based on post intervention			methods: "Bevacizumab		
	/	variables			had to have been initiated		
					at the same time as the		
					first-line chemotherapy		
					regimen or within 3		
					months, if delayed		
					administration of		
					bevacizumab was part of		
					the standard of care of		
					access to hevacizumah"-		
					indicating inception hias		

Basic	information		Bias in selectio	n of participants into t	the study		
Study	Author Year	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	RoB judgement
ID 16	Uygun, 2013 (Uygun et al., 2013)	the study selected healthy and fit patients only. Also, the study excluded patients with comorbidities such as cardiovascular diseases or infection	the selection criteria were probably associated with the intervention which is bevacizumab, which is administered for healthy and fit patients with no co existing cardiovascular diseases	the selection criteria included the following: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status (PS) of 0-2,. all of those are prognostics and associated with the outcome	patients in first-line settings	the study did not adjust for selection bias	Serious
ID 17	Kocakova,201 5 (Kocakova et al., 2015)	selection bias cannot be excluded as only patients considered medically fit and with good performance status were selected for treatment with bevacizumab- containing combination therapy.	Patients with better PS are eligible to take bevacizumab	Patients whose PS is better are expected to survive longer	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Serious
ID 18	Ocvirk, 2011 (Ocvirk et al., 2011)	the study selected healthy and fit patients only. Also, the study excluded patients with comorbidities such as cardiovascular diseases or infection	the selection criteria were probably associated with the intervention which is bevacizumab, which is administered for healthy and fit patients with no co existing cardiovascular diseases	the selection criteria included the following: patients were required to have an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (ECOG PS) of 0 or 1, with adequate hematological and organ function	patients in first-line settings	the study did not adjust for selection bias	Serious
ID 19	Bai, 2015 (Bai et al., 2015)	Patients needed to have an ECOG PS of 0–2, adequate hematologic, liver, and renal function (i.e., neutrophils C1.5 9 109 /l; creatinine clearance C30 ml/min; total bilirubin concentrationB2 times the upper limit of normal; and liver transaminase B2.5 times the upper limit of normal).	patients were selected based on certain characteristics post intervention	patients with the selected criteria are expected to survive longer	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Serious

Basic	information		Bias in selectio	n of participants into	the study		
Study ID	Author Year	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	RoB judgement
ID 20	Cainap, 2021 (Cainap et al., 2021)	the study selected healthy and fit patients only.	the selection criteria were probably associated with the intervention which is bevacizumab, which is administered for healthy and fit patients with no co existing cardiovascular diseases	the selection criteria included the following criteria: histological confirmed CRC, lab tests adequate for chemotherapy: . no medical contraindication to chemotherapy (according to treatment characteristics and recommendations), at least one metastatic site, ECOG PS of 0 to 2,	patients in first-line settings	no adjustment techniques were used to account for selection bias	Serious
ID 21	Artac, 2016(Artac et al., 2016)	the eligibility criteria do not indicate the selection of the cohort based on post intervention variables	Not applicable	Not applicable	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Moderate
ID 22	Stein,2015 (Stein et al., 2015a)	minimal patient selection criteria were used and all patients scheduled to be treated with bevacizumab were included in the study; as a result, the population is more likely to be representative of the mCRC patient population eligible for palliative chemotherapy in combination with bevacizumab	Not applicable	Not applicable	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Moderate
ID 23	Buchler, 2014 (Buchler et al., 2014)	Selection bias cannot be excluded as fitter patients could have been preferentially allocated to XELOX chemotherapy	Not applicable	capecitabine is associated with more toxicities than 5FU	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Serious
ID 24	Cheng, 2015 (Cheng and Song, 2015)	the study selected healthy patients to assess their response to treatment	the selection criteria were probably associated with the intervention which is bevacizumab, which is administered for healthy and fit	the study imposed restrictive inclusion criteria as follow: ECOG PS of 1 or lower, presence of a measurable	The follow up time was measured from the day of first treatment administration to the time of the present analysis	no adjustment techniques were used to account	Serious

Basic	information		Bias in selectio	n of participants into	the study		
Study ID	Author Year	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	RoB judgement
			patients with no co existing cardiovascular diseases	lesion according to WHO criteria.	(for patients still alive) or death for deceased patients.	for selection bias	
ID 25	Yang, 2014 (Yang et al., 2014)	the eligibility criteria do not indicate the selection of the cohort based on post intervention variables	Not applicable	Not applicable	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Moderate
ID 26	Houts, 2019 (Houts et al., 2019a)	the eligibility criteria do not indicate the selection of the cohort based on post intervention variables	Not applicable	Not applicable	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	Moderate
ID 27	Bai, 2016 (Bai et al., 2016)	the eligibility criteria depicted in Figure 1 shows the exclusion of patients with brain metastases and those who underwent surgery or radiotherapy within 6 months	post-intervention variables are not associated with the intervention	patients with brain metastases have poorer survival	patients in first-line settings	no adjustment for selection bias was performed	Serious
ID 28	Zhou, 2021 (Zhou et al., 2021)	Patients were excluded if they were lack of imaging evaluation or complete clinical materials; had underwent local treatment (surgery or radiotherapy) on measurable lesions before the first evaluation; had signet ring cells or undifferentiated components	post-intervention variables are not associated with the intervention	patients who underwent local treatment are expected to have better prognosis	patients in first-line settings	no adjustment for selection bias was performed	Serious
ID 29	Degirmenciogl u , 2019 (Degirmenciog lu S, 2019)	no indication whether selection was made according to post intervention variables	Not applicable	Not applicable	patients in first-line settings	Not applicable	NI

Basic in	formation		Bias in classification of inter	ventions	
Study ID	Author Year	3.1	3.2	3.3	RoB judgement
ID 1	Stec, 2009 (Stec et al., 2010)	Information about the treatment dose, duration, frequency and method of administration was clearly explained in the study	the source of this information is not likely to be affected by the outcome and is likely sufficient to record intervention at start of intervention	the use of medical charts and medical records offer an element of objectivity of the way of data collection which would minimize the bias	Moderate
ID 2	Guo, 2020 (Guo et al., 2020)	information about the treatment was not clearly explained in the study	the source of this information is not likely to be affected by the outcome and is likely sufficient to record intervention at start of intervention	the use of medical charts and medical records offer an element of objectivity of the way of data collection which would minimize the bias	Serious
ID 3	Satram-Hoang ,2013 (Satram-Hoang et al., 2013)	Dose selection was at the discretion of the physician and dosing information could not be determined retrospectively from available data within the claims dataset	the source of this information is not likely to be affected by the outcome and is likely sufficient to record intervention at start of intervention	the use of medical charts and medical records offer an element of objectivity of the way of data collection which would minimize the bias	Serious
ID 4	Neugut, 2019 (Neugut et al., 2019)	information about the treatment was not clearly explained in the study	the source of this information is not likely to be affected by the outcome and is likely sufficient to record intervention at start of intervention	the use of medical charts and medical records offer an element of objectivity of the way of data collection which would minimize the bias	Serious
ID 5	Marschner, 2015 (Marschner et al., 2015)	Information about the treatment dose, duration, frequency and method of administration was clearly explained in the study	the source of this information is not likely to be affected by the outcome and is likely sufficient to record intervention at start of intervention	the use of medical charts and medical records offer an element of objectivity of the way of data collection which would minimize the bias	Serious
ID 6	Hammerman,2015 (Hammerman et al., 2015)	Information about the treatment dose, duration, frequency and method of administration was clearly explained in the study	the source of this information is not likely to be affected by the outcome and is likely sufficient to record intervention at start of intervention	the use of medical charts and medical records offer an element of objectivity of the way of data	Serious

Risk of classification of intervention bias of the included studies

				collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 7	Franchi,2019	he information on chemotherapy (i.e.,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	(Franchi et al.,	irinotecan, oxaliplatin, capecitabine, and	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2019)	fluorouracil) of inpatients was not available in	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		our database	Intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
10.0			the course of this information is not	the blas	Cariaua
10.8	Houts, 2019 (Houts	duration frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	modical records offer an element	Serious
	et al., 2019b)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
		Study		the bias	
ID 9	Meyerhardt, 2012	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	(Meyerhardt et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2012b)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
	,	study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 10	Razenberg, 2016	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	(Razenberg et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2016)	administration was clearly explained in the	intervention at start of intervention	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study		the bias	
ID 11	lee 2017 (lee et	Information about the treatment dose.	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	al 2017	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	01., 2017	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 12	Suenaga, 2014	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	(Suenaga et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2014)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
	,	study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 13	Bendell 2012	Information about the treatment dose.	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	(Bendell et al	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2012)	administration was not clearly explained in	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
	2012,	the study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	

ID 14	Duran,2014 (Duran	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	et al., 2014)	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
		administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 15	Khakoo, 2019	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	(Khakoo et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2019)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
	/	study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 16	Uygun, 2013	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	(Uygun et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2013)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
	,	study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 17	Kocakova,2015	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	(Kocakova et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2015)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 18	Ocvirk, 2011	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	(Ocvirk et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2011)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 19	Bai, 2015 (Bai et	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	al., 2015)	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
		administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study.	Intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
10.20	Cainan 2021	Information about the treatment doce	the course of this information is not	the use of modical shorts and	Madarata
10 20	Cainap, 2021	duration about the treatment dose,	likely to be affected by the outcome	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	(Cainap et al.,	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
	2021)	autimistration was clearly explained in the	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
		study		the bias	
ID 21	Artac 2016/Artac	Information about the treatment doco	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
		duration frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	wouldtate
	et al., 2016)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
		Study		the bias	
1	1				

ID 22	Stein.2015 (Stein	information about the treatment was not	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	et al 2015a)	clearly explained in the study	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
			and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
			intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 23	Buchler, 2014	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	(Buchler et al.,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2014)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
	- /	study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 24	Cheng, 2015	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	(Cheng and Song,	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	2015)	administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 25	Yang, 2014 (Yang	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	et al., 2014)	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
		administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 26	Houts, 2019 (Houts	information about the treatment was not	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	et al., 2019a)	clearly explained in the study	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
			and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
			intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 27	Bai, 2016 (Bai et	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	al., 2016)	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
		administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the bias	
ID 28	Zhou, 2021 (Zhou	Information about the treatment dose,	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Moderate
	et al., 2021)	duration, frequency and method of	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
		administration was clearly explained in the	and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
		study	Intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	
				the blas	
ID 29	Degirmencioglu ,	information about the treatment was not	the source of this information is not	the use of medical charts and	Serious
	2019	clearly explained in the study	likely to be affected by the outcome	medical records offer an element	
	(Degirmencioglu S,		and is likely sufficient to record	of objectivity of the way of data	
1					
	2019)		intervention at start of intervention	collection which would minimize	

Risk of missing data bias of the included studies

Basic information		Bias due to missing data					
Study ID	Author Year	5.1	5.2	5.3	5.4	5.5	RoB
							judgement
ID 1	Stec, 2009 (Stec et	patients had incomplete data	patients were excluded from	patients had incomplete data	NI	Na	Serious
	al., 2010)	that precluded their objective	analysis for various reasons	that precluded their			
		analysis - out of 214 patients		objective analysis			
		identified to comply with the					
		eligibility criteria, 91 (42%)					
		were excluded from the					
		analysis					
ID 2	Guo, 2020 (Guo et	upon propensity score	after propensity score	upon propensity score	the percentages of	Na	Serious
	al., 2020)	matching, before matching, all	matching was performed, a	matching, Before matching,	missing data was		
		the observations with missing	significant number of	all the observations with	calculated and		
		values of matching variables	patients were dropped from	missing values of matching	deemed similar		
		would be Eliminated.	the outcome analysis	variables would be	between the studies		
				eliminated.			
ID 3	2013, Satram-Hoang	for the patients who were	2,811 patients were	patients had incomplete data	NI	NI	Serious
	(Satram-Hoang et	included in analysis, outcome	excluded out of 7061, about	that precluded their			
	al., 2013)	data were complete	28 % received irinotecan-	objective analysis			
			based therapy, 57 %				
			received other types of				
			chemotherapy, and 15 %				
			received an unknown type				
			of chemotherapy				
ID 4	Neugut, 2019	for the patients who were	missing in data was rather in	NI	missing in data in CCI	NI	Moderate
	(Neugut et al., 2019)	included in analysis, outcome	variables rather in treatment		and in treatment		
		data were complete	details. However, variables		settings was confined		
			are not essential		to patients who		
					received folfiri not		
					folofx		
ID 5	Marschner, 2015	for the patients who were	no patients were excluded	although there were missing	Na	Na	Moderate
	(Marschner et al.,	included in analysis, outcome	based on intervention status	in data in baseline variables			
	2015)	data were complete		such as PS stage at dx, and			
	,			RAS status, outcome was			
				calculated and missing data			
Bas	ic information		Bias	due to missing data			
----------	---	--	--	---	-----	-----	------------------
Study ID	Author Year	5.1	5.2	5.3	5.4	5.5	RoB judgement
				were included in the model as missing			
ID 6	Hammerman,2015 (Hammerman et al., 2015)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 7	Franchi,2019 (Franchi et al., 2019)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	after the identification of the clean cohort, no patients were excluded from the a based on intervention status	sensitivity analysis was undertaken to account for missing in data in data needed for further analysis. In the study it is stated the following: because information on cancer size, lymph node status and grading was missing in about 24% of cohort patients, a multiple imputation technique (i.e., the fully condition applicable specification) was used to account for missing data	Na	Na	Low
ID 8	Houts,2019 (Houts et al., 2019b)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	there were missing in data in some characteristics such as liver resection. The authors have not performed sensitivity analysis to account for the missing in data	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 9	Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt et al., 2012b)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	there were missing in data in some characteristics such as liver resection.	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 10	Razenberg, 2016 (Razenberg et al., 2016)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate

Basi	c information		Bias	due to missing data			
Study ID	Author Year	5.1	5.2	5.3	5.4	5.5	RoB judgement
ID 11	Lee, 2017 (Lee et al., 2017)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 12	Suenaga, 2014 (Suenaga et al., 2014)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 13	Bendell, 2012 (Bendell et al., 2012)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 14	Duran,2014 (Duran et al., 2014)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 15	Khakoo, 2019 (Khakoo et al., 2019)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 16	Uygun, 2013 (Uygun et al., 2013)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 17	Kocakova,2015 (Kocakova et al., 2015)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	although there was a significant missing in data in PS, which is an important prognostic variable, patients were not excluded from analysis on that basis. The proportion of missing in data between 2 groups was not statistically significant	Na	Na	Moderate

Basi	c information		Bias	due to missing data			
Study ID	Author Year	5.1	5.2	5.3	5.4	5.5	RoB judgement
ID 18	Ocvirk, 2011 (Ocvirk et al., 2011)	for the patients who were included in analysis, outcome data were complete	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	although there was a significant missing in data in PS, which is an important prognostic variable, patients were not excluded from analysis on that basis. The proportion of missing in data between 2 groups was not statistically significant	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 19	Bai, 2015 (Bai et al., 2015)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no exclusions were made on the items of ECOG PS, age, organ function	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 20	Cainap, 2021 (Cainap et al., 2021)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 21	Artac, 2016(Artac et al., 2016)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 22	Stein,2015 (Stein et al., 2015a)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 23	Buchler, 2014 (Buchler et al., 2014)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 24	Cheng, 2015 (Cheng and Song, 2015)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate

Basi	c information		Bias	due to missing data			
Study ID	Author Year	5.1	5.2	5.3	5.4	5.5	RoB judgement
ID 25	Yang, 2014 (Yang et al., 2014)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 26	Houts, 2019 (Houts et al., 2019a)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	screening process Figure shows that a considerable number of patients were excluded as treatment status was not confirmed	screening process Figure shows that a considerable number of patients were excluded as RAS status was not confirmed	70% of initial cetuximab smple vs 24% of initial bevacizumab sample were excluded due to missing data on intervention status. Also, 46.3% of bevacizumab sample vs 3% of cetuximab sample were excluded due to missing data on RAS status	NI	Serious
ID 27	Bai, 2016 (Bai et al., 2016)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate
ID 28	Zhou, 2021 (Zhou et al., 2021)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	according to Figure 1, patients were excluded for lacking of complete material	NI	NI	Serious
ID 29	Degirmencioglu , 2019 (Degirmencioglu S, 2019)	For patients who were alive at final analysis, data on survival were censored at the last contact	no patients were excluded based on intervention status	no patients were excluded on the basis of missing data needed for analysis	Na	Na	Moderate

Basi	c information		Bias in measureme	ent of outcomes		
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB judgement
ID 1	Stec, 2009 (Stec et al., 2010)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 2	Guo, 2020 (Guo et al., 2020)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 3	Satram-Hoang ,2013 (Satram-Hoang et al., 2013)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low

Risk of measurement of outcome bias of the included studies

Basi	c information		Bias in measureme	ent of outcomes		
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB judgement
ID 4	Neugut, 2019 (Neugut et al., 2019)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a sudjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 5	Marschner, 2015 (Marschner et al., 2015)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 6	Hammerman,2015 (Hammerman et al., 2015)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 7	Franchi,2019 (Franchi et al., 2019)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low

Basi	c information		Bias in measureme	ent of outcomes		
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB judgement
ID 8	Houts,2019 (Houts et al., 2019b)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 9	Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt et al., 2012b)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 10	Razenberg, 2016 (Razenberg et al., 2016)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 11	Lee, 2017 (Lee et al., 2017)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low

Basic	c information		Bias in measureme	ent of outcomes		
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB judgement
ID 12	Suenaga, 2014 (Suenaga et al., 2014)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 13	Bendell, 2012 (Bendell et al., 2012)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 14	Duran,2014 (Duran et al., 2014)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 15	Khakoo, 2019 (Khakoo et al., 2019)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low

Basic	c information		Bias in measureme	ent of outcomes		
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB judgement
ID 16	Uygun, 2013 (Uygun et al., 2013)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 17	Kocakova,2015 (Kocakova et al., 2015)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 18	Ocvirk, 2011 (Ocvirk et al., 2011)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 19	Bai, 2015 (Bai et al., 2015)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low

Basic	c information		Bias in measureme	ent of outcomes		
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB judgement
ID 20	Cainap, 2021 (Cainap et al., 2021)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 21	Artac, 2016(Artac et al., 2016)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 22	Stein,2015 (Stein et al., 2015a)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 23	Buchler, 2014 (Buchler et al., 2014)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low

Basi	c information		Bias in measureme	ent of outcomes		
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB judgement
ID 24	Cheng, 2015 (Cheng and Song, 2015)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 25	Yang, 2014 (Yang et al., 2014)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 26	Houts, 2019 (Houts et al., 2019a)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low
ID 27	Bai, 2016 (Bai et al., 2016)	the outcome measured here is overall survival - the occurrence or non- occurrence of death is not a subjective outcome	because data were collected from electronic records are probably the identity of the patients was anonymized, there is a probability that assessors were blinded (outcome assessors may be unaware of the interventions being received by participants despite there being no active blinding by the study investigators)	overall survival was defined similarly for both groups. And the way survival was measured was also similar	the outcome measured is the occurrence of death. The error can arise from wrong reporting of time of death but not necessarily related to intervention	Low

Basic	c information	Bias in measurement of outcomes						
Study ID	Author Year	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4	RoB		
						judgement		
ID 28	Zhou, 2021 (Zhou		because data were collected from electronic	overall survival was	the outcome measured is	Low		
	et al., 2021)		records are probably the identity of the	defined similarly for both	the occurrence of death.			
			patients was anonymized, there is a	groups. And the way	The error can arise from			
			probability that assessors were blinded	survival was measured	wrong reporting of time of			
			(outcome assessors may be unaware of the	was also similar	death but not necessarily			
			interventions being received by participants		related to intervention			
			despite there being no active blinding by the					
			study investigators)					
ID 29	Degirmencioglu ,	the outcome measured	because data were collected from electronic	overall survival was	the outcome measured is	Low		
	2019	here is overall survival - the	records are probably the identity of the	defined similarly for both	the occurrence of death.			
	(Degirmencioglu S	occurrence or non-	patients was anonymized, there is a	groups. And the way	The error can arise from			
	2010)	occurrence of death is not a	probability that assessors were blinded	survival was measured	wrong reporting of time of			
	2019)	subjective outcome	(outcome assessors may be unaware of the	was also similar	death but not necessarily			
			interventions being received by participants		related to intervention			
			despite there being no active blinding by the					
			study investigators)					

Basic information			Bias in selection of the reported result							
	Study ID	Author Year	7.1	7.2	7.3	RoB judgement				
ID 1 Stec, 2009 (Stec et al., 2010)		Stec, 2009 (Stec et al., 2010)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
	ID 2 Guo, 2020 (Guo et al., 2020)		overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
ID 3 Satram-Hoang ,202 (Satram-Hoang et a 2013)		Satram-Hoang ,2013 (Satram-Hoang et al., 2013)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported adjusted, unadjusted and the backwards elimination findings	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Serious				
ID 4 Neugut, 2019 (Ne al., 2019)		Neugut, 2019 (Neugut et al., 2019)	overall survival was only measured by KM method. The study used the same method to study the effect of different covariates on OS	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
	ID 5	Marschner, 2015 (Marschner et al., 2015)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
	ID 6	Hammerman,2015 (Hammerman et al., 2015)	KM method was used to measure outcome	the authors provided both adjusted and crude estimates	a sub-analysis was performed to compare outcomes between the cohorts, restricting the results only to patients receiving irinotecan-based protocols in both cohorts. A second sub-analysis was performed among patients in Cohort B, to compare outcomes between oxaliplatin- and irinotecan-based regimens, to evaluate a possible interaction of benefit from bevacizumab therapy and the chemotherapy backbone.	Serious				
	ID 7	Franchi,2019 (Franchi et al., 2019)	KM method was used to measure outcome	the authors reported the results of the adjusted, crude, before and after sensitivity analysis was performed	separate results were presented according to different subgrouping; the age (<70 years vs. ≥70 years) or surgery (yes vs. no) and then by first-line treatment (B+CT vs. CT alone)	Serious				
ID 8 Houts,2019 (Houts et al., 2019b)		Houts,2019 (Houts et al., 2019b)	only KM method was used to measure outcome	the authors only reported the adjusted HR for OS. They have not reported the unadjusted HR for OS.	the authors conducted subset analyses of OS within each regimen group where patients were divided into those with left- vs. right-sided tumors	Serious				

В	asic information	Bias in selection of the reported result							
Study Author Year		7.1	7.2	7.3	RoB judgement				
ID 9	Meyerhardt, 2012 (Meyerhardt et al., 2012b)	KM method was used to measure outcome	the authors reported the results of the adjusted, crude, before and after sensitivity analysis was performed	separate results were presented according to different subgrouping; the age (<70 years vs. ≥70 years) or surgery (yes vs. no) and then by first-line treatment (B+CT vs. CT alone)	Serious				
ID 10	Razenberg, 2016 (Razenberg et al., 2016)	only KM method was used to measure outcome	the authors only reported the adjusted HR for OS. They have not reported the unadjusted HR for OS.	the authors conducted subset analyses of OS within each regimen group where patients were divided into those with left- vs. right-sided tumors	Serious				
ID 11	Lee, 2017 (Lee et al., 2017)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
ID 12	Suenaga, 2014 (Suenaga et al., 2014)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
ID 13	Bendell, 2012 (Bendell et al., 2012)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
ID 14	Duran,2014 (Duran et al., 2014)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				
ID 15	Khakoo, 2019 (Khakoo et al., 2019)	only KM method was used to measure outcome	the authors only reported the adjusted HR for OS. They have not reported the unadjusted HR for OS.	the authors conducted subset analyses of OS within each regimen group where patients were divided into those with left- vs. right-sided tumors	Serious				
ID 16	16 Uygun, 2013 (Uygun et al., 2013) overall survival was solely measured by KM method the authors reported only the results for the full cohort		no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate					

В	asic information		Bias in s	selection of the reported result	
Study Author Year ID		7.1	7.2	7.3	RoB judgement
ID 17 Kocakova,2015 (Kocakova et al., 2015)		overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate
ID 18	Ocvirk, 2011 (Ocvirk et al., 2011)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate
ID 19	Bai, 2015 (Bai et al., 2015)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate
ID 20	D 20 Cainap, 2021 (Cainap overall survival was et al., 2021) measured by KM m		the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	overall survival was compared between standard chemotherapy and double dose chemotherapy	Serious
ID 21	Artac, 2016(Artac et al., 2016)	overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	the authors conducted subset analyses of OS within each regimen group where patients were divided into those with subgroups within the main groups	Serious
ID 22 Stein,2015 (Stein et al., 2015a)		overall survival was solely measured by KM method	the authors only reported the crude survival analysis	Exploratory post-hoc subgroup analyses were performed to evaluate the effects of different induction and de-escalating maintenance regimens on OS	Serious
ID 23	Buchler, 2014 (Buchler et al., 2014)overall survival was solely measured by KM methodthe authors reported only the results for the full cohort		no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate	
ID 24 Cheng, 2015 (Cheng and Song, 2015)		Survival curves were plotted by using the Kaplan-Meier method and compared by using the log-rank test	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate

В	asic information	Bias in selection of the reported result						
Study Author Year		7.1	7.2	7.3	RoB judgement			
ID 25 Yang, 2014 (Yang et al., 2014)		The Kaplan–Meier method and log-rank test were used to analyze survival	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate			
ID 26 Houts, 2019 (Houts et al., 2019a)		Unadjusted OS was calculated using Kaplan– Meier with a log rank test.	the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate			
ID 27	 Bai, 2016 (Bai et al., 2016) Survival curves were plotted by using the Kaplan-Meier method and compared by using the log-rank test 		the authors reported only the results for the full cohort	no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate			
ID 28	Zhou, 2021 (Zhou et al., 2021) Survival curves were plotted by using the Kaplan-Meier method and compared by using the log-rank test full cohort		the study evaluated Survival times according to combined chemotherapy e regimens.					
ID 29	ID 29 Degirmencioglu , 2019 while PFS and OS were evaluated with Kaplan-Meier only the results for the full cohort		no subgroup analysis was undertaken	Moderate				

Appendix IV.

The permission from the Caldicott Guardian to access the linked datasets.

Application for Caldicott Guardian Approval



and Clyde

1

NOTE: You must address the 6 Caldicott principles (Appendix A) when submitting this application.

Study / Project Title

Cancer Medicines Outcomes Programme – Colorectal cancer CMOP is a collaborative project between NHS GGC and University of Strathclyde – funded by Scottish Government.

Please tick the type of study/project you are undertaking

Audit Research Service Improvement Other Here In Other In O

Greater Glasgow and Clyde and Strathclyde University. The vision for the project is to create a national clinical effectiveness oncology resource to measure the clinical and patient reported outcomes of cancer medicines used in the real world and provide rapid feedback of findings to inform clinical decision making.

In year two, the aim is to test the connectivity and linkage of current and evolving local and national electronic datasets to determine clinical outcome data for two specified groups of cancer patients; gynaecological cancer (group 1) and colorectal cancer (group 2). This application is for group 2, an application has already been submitted for group 1.

3. Who is providing clinical support for the study / project Name: Janet Graham Designation: Consultant Medical Oncologist

Email Address or Telephone Number: janet.graham@ggc.scot.nhs.uk

Name: Jennifer Laskey

Designation: Lead Clinical Effectiveness Pharmacist

Email Address or Telephone Number: Jennifer.laskey@ggc.scot.nhs.uk

4. Details of individual / organisation requesting data

Name: Julie Clarke Designation: Clinical Effectiveness Pharmacist Work/University Address: JB Russell House

Contact Number: 0141 201 4795

5. Purpose for which data are to be used (Principle 1)

To quantify uptake of treatments colorectal cancer for patients within NHS GGC

- To compare response of treatments to the pivotal trials (via both individual patient level data retrieval and use of linkage to current local electronic datasets)
- To compare and contrast the quality and quantity of data obtained from individual patient level data retrieval and use of linkage of current local electronic datasets

An application has been submitted to the local NHS GGC Safe Haven for access to electronic data sets (data linkage arm of study). This application is for the individual patient level data retrieval aspect of the study.

A Public Benefit Privacy Panel application will be made to access records for patients residing outwith NHS GGC

6	Which identifiable data item	is are required?	Please detail	why these a	are required.
υ.	(Principles 2 and 3)				

٦

2

Thropped a set of	1.1	Justification
PID Required		To identify eligible patients
CHI Number	×	To mentity engine patiente
Forename		
		A second s
Surname		
DOB	x	To identify age at diagnosis, on initiation of treatment and at death (if applicable)
Age		
Gender	x	To identify gender
Address		
		•
Post code (full)	x	To identify SIMD score
Post code (partial)		
Clinical data	×	To evaluate treatment outcomes
Other (please specify)		

7. Who will have access to this information? (Principle 4) Internal: Julie Clarke, Kelly Baillie, Christine Crearle, Jennifer Laskey

External: Limited staff within Strathclyde University will have access to anonymised data

Storage and use of personal data during the audit/project (Principle 5)
 Will you be undertaking any of the following activities at any stage (including the

identification of potential participants)? Please tick as appropriate.
identification of potential participants)? Please tick as appropriate. Access to Health Record (paper) Access to Health Record (electronic) Sharing of identifiable data with other organisations (provide further detail below) Publication of data (if this could identify individuals provide further detail below) Use of audio/visual recording devices Storage of personal identifiable data on any of the following: Manual files, including x-rays Home or other personal computers University computer
Laptop computer (or any other mobile device) NHS Laptop
USB Flash Drive
Additional Information:
Data shared with colleagues from University of Strathclyde and any data published will be robustly anonymised.
9. Destruction of Data
How long will the data be held? Until project is completed and results have been published. Any data held thereafter will have patient identifiers removed
How will the data be destroyed? Files containing patient identifiable information will be deleted

10. Please provide your organisation's Data Protection Registration Number (if external to NHSGGC)

Note:

- Copies of any other relevant supporting documentation (e.g. ethics approval, patient information leaflet etc.) should be attached to this application
- Appendix A details the Caldicott Principles

Person responsible for the requested data

3

Name Julie Clarke

Designation Clinical Effectiveness Pharmacist

10 Signature:

18 Date: 22

4

The release of data as described above is: approved - not approved

Date Caldicott Guardian

Accredited certificate for the course in information governance to access the linked data

5/29/2019

Results





This is to certify that:

Haya Yasin

Passed

Research, GDPR and confidentiality Quiz

Date / Time	Student Score	Passing Score	Result
May 29, 2019 10:17 am	77.77	70	Pass

(Click here to print this page)

Appendix V.

Baseline characteristics table generated after applying the last observation carried	d forward and multiple imputations for the missing valu	ies.
--	---	------

Variable	categories	Full cohort	5FU/leucoverine	FOFLOX	FOLFIRI	Aflibercept+	Cetuximab+
		(N=220)	(n=49)	(n= 68)	(n=47)	FOLFIRI	FOLFIRI
						(n=11)	(n=43)
Gender	Male	115(52.3)	21(42.9)	32(47.1)	25(53.2)	6(54.5)	31(72.1)
	Female	105(47.7)	28(57.1)	36(52.9)	22(46.8)	5(45.5)	12(27.9)
Age group	≥ 65	118(53.6)	43(87.8)	36(52.9)	22(46.8)	*(*)	13(30.2)
	< 65	102(46.4)	6(12.2)	32(47.1)	25(53.2)	8(72.7)	30(69.8)
SIMD_2012	1	69(31.4)	13(26.5)	25(36.8)	13(27.7)	*(*)	14(32.6)
	2	43(19.5)	15(30.6)	8(11.8)	11(23.4)	*(*)	8(18.6)
	3	25(11.4)	7(14.3)	5(7.4)	9(19.1)	*(*)	*(*)
	4	38(17.3)	6(12.2)	10(14.7)	7(14.9)	*(*)	11(25.6)
	5	45(20.5)	8(16.3)	20(29.4)	7(14.9)	*(*)	6(14)
Charlson comorbidity	0	162(73.6)	33(67.3)	52(76.5)	34(72.3)	10(90.9)	31(72.1)
index	1	50(22.7)	12(24.5)	13(19.1)	13(27.7)	*(*)	11(25.6)
	2	8(3.6)	*(*)	*(*)	*(*)	*(*)	*(*)
Tumour sidedness	Left	135(61.4)	26(53.1)	42(61.8)	28(59.6)	*()	34(79.1)
	Right	74(33.6)	19(38.8)	23(33.8)	17(36.2)	6(54.5)	8(18.6)
	Transverse	11(5)	*(*)	*(*)	*(*)	*(*)	*(*)
Type of mutation	Mutant RAS	106(48.2)	24(49)	46(67.6)	27(57.4)	8(72.7)	*(*)
	Wild RAS	92(41.8)	16(32.7)	18(26.5)	12(25.5)	*(*)	42(97.7)
	Mutant BRAF	22(10)	9(18.4)	*(*)	8(17)	*(*)	*(*)
Performance status	0	63(28.6)	8(16.3)	19(27.9)	15(31.9)	*(*)	16(37.2)
	1	142(64.5)	36(73.5)	42(61.8)	31(66)	8(72.7)	25(58.1)
	≥ 2	15(6.8)	5(10.2)	7(10.3)	*(*)	*(*)	*(*)
albumin	< 34	119(54.1)	37(75.5)	40(58.8)	18(38.3)	*(*)	19(44.2)
	≥ 34	101(45.9)	12(24.5)	28(41.2)	29(61.7)	7(63.6)	24(55.8)
		1					

NLR	≤ 5	158(71.8)	35(71.4)	50(73.5)	31(66)	11(100)	31(72.1)
	>5	62(28.2)	14(28.6)	18(26.5)	16(34)	*(*)	12(27.9)
CEA	≤ 5	47(21.4)	7(14.3)	12(17.6)	11(23.4)	7(63.6)	13(30.2)
	> 5	173(78.6)	42(85.7)	56(82.4)	36(76.6)	8(72.7)	30(69.8)
haemoglobin	0	108(49.1)	21(42.9)	28(41.2)	27(57.4)	*(*)	23(53.5)
	1	112(50.9)	28(57.1)	40(58.8)	20(42.6)	*(*)	20(46.5)
Primary tumour	No	161(73.2)	35(71.4)	59(86.8)	28(59.6)	7(63.6)	33(76.7)
resection	Yes	59(26.8)	14(28.6)	9(13.2)	19(40.4)	*(*)	10(23.3)

Appendix VI.

R code sample used for the meta-analysis and fieldwork analysis

Meta-analysis script

R-code used to process the extracted data points from reconstructed Kaplan-Meier curves and to estimate the Hazard ratio and its corresponding standard error.

```
library(dplyr)
library(ggplot2)
library(gridExtra)
library(readbitmap)
library(IPDfromKM)
###FOLFIRI
S352 FOLFIRI <- read.csv("C:/Users/mhb19110/Desktop/MA- KM curves/MA- KM
curves/PFS/OS 352/S352 FOLFIRI.csv", header=FALSE)
####preprocess raw coordinates to reconstruct IPD
pre S352 FOLFIRI <- preprocess(dat=S352 FOLFIRI, totalpts=785, maxy=100)
#reconstruct the IPD
est S352 FOLFIRI <- getIPD(prep=pre S352 FOLFIRI,armID=0,tot.events=NULL)
head(est S352 FOLFIRI$IPD)
plot(est S352 FOLFIRI)
####graph KM curves and cumulative HR
sur <- survreport(ipd1 = est S352 FOLFIRI$IPD, arms = 1, interval =
10,s=c(0.75,0.5,0.25),showplots=FALSE)
print(sur)
###FOLFOX
S352 FOLFOX <- read.csv("C:/Users/mhb19110/Desktop/MA- KM curves/MA- KM
curves/PFS/OS 352/S352 FOLFOX.csv", header=FALSE)
pre S352 FOLFOX <- preprocess(dat=S352 FOLFOX, totalpts=3000,maxy=100)
est S352 FOLFOX <- getIPD(prep=pre S352 FOLFOX,armID=1,tot.events=NULL)
head(est S352 FOLFOX$IPD)
plot(est S352 FOLFOX)
sur1 <- survreport(ipd1 = est_S352_FOLFOX$IPD, arms = 1, interval =
6,s=c(0.75,0.5,0.25),showplots=FALSE)
print(sur1)
survreport(ipd1 = est S352 FOLFIRI$IPD, ipd2 = est S352 FOLFOX$IPD, arms = 2,
interval=6,s=c(0.75,0.5,0.25),showplots=TRUE)
### perform the MA for first-line
library(metafor)
```

library(forestplot) library(ggplot2) OS <- read.csv("C:/Users/mhb19110/Desktop/Meta analysis/OS/OS analysis sheet.csv") full.model <- rma(Ln.HR.,Vi.HR., data = OS)</pre> summary(full.model) predict(full.model, transf = exp) ## conducting MA BevaCT <- read.csv("C:/Users/mhb19110/Desktop/Meta analysis/OS/BevaCT.csv") full.model <- rma(LnHR, ViHR, data = BevaCT) summary(full.model) predict(full.model,transf = exp) #### Forest plot for OS of first line full.first <- read.csv("C:/Users/mhb19110/Desktop/Meta analysis/OS/full-first.csv") full.first\$study type <- as.factor(full.first\$study type)</pre> OS.model <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first) summary(OS.model) predict(OS.model,transf = exp) res.1 <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, subset = (study_type == "1")) ## pooled estimated for beva group res.2 <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, subset = (study type == "2")) ## pooled estimate for cetux subgroup res.3 <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, subset = (study type == "3")) ## pooled estimate for cetux subgroup res.4 <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, subset = (study_type == "4")) ## pooled estimate for cetux subgroup measure <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, mods = ~ X.M.E.-1) summary(measure) predict(measure,transf = exp) stype <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, mods = ~ study_type-1)</pre> summary(stype) predict(stype,transf = exp) forest(OS.model, annotate = TRUE, addfit = TRUE, slab = paste(full.first\$Author, full.first\$year, sep = ","), atransf = exp, xlim = c(-4,4), cex = 0.9, ylim = c(-2, 46), efac = 0.4, yaxs = "i", order = order(full.first\$study type), showweights = TRUE, rows = c(42:37,33:27,23:11, 7:2)) text(-4,45,"Author,Year",pos = 4) ##title of left coloumns text(4,45, "Weight, HR [95% CI]", pos=2) ## title of right coloumn res.OS <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, mods = ~ study type-1) # moderator analysis according to subgroup text(-4, -1.8, pos=4, cex=0.8, bquote(paste("Test for Subgroup Differences: ", Q[M], " = ", .(formatC(res.OS\$QM, digits=2, format="f")), ", df = ", .(res.OS\$p - 1), ", p = ", .(formatC(res.OS\$QMp, digits=2, format="f"))))) ## add results of moderator analysis to FP op <- par(cex=0.9, font=4) ## to make title bold text(-4, c(43,34,24, 8), pos=4, c("CT vs CT","Bevacizumab+CT vs CT", "Bevacizumab+CT Vs Bevacizumab+CT", "Cetuximab+CT Vs Bevacizumab+CT")) # assign subtitles to subgroups

```
addpoly(res.1, row=1, col = "Red", cex=1, atransf=exp, mlab="") # assign and calculate
pooled estimate for each subgroup
addpoly(res.2, row=10, col = "Red", cex=1, atransf=exp, mlab="")
addpoly(res.3, row=26, col = "Red", cex=1, atransf=exp, mlab="")
addpoly(res.4, row=36, col = "Red", cex=1, atransf=exp, mlab="")
text(-4, 1, pos=4, cex=0.75, bquote(paste("RE Model for Subgroup (Q =
",.(formatC(res.4$QE, digits=2, format="f")),
                        ", df = ", .(res.4$k - res.4$p),", p = ",
                        .(formatC(res.4$QEp, digits=2, format="f")), "; ", I^2, " = "
                        ,.(formatC(res.4$12, digits=1, format="f")), "%)")))
text(-4, 10, pos=4, cex=0.75, bquote(paste("RE Model for Subgroup (Q =
",.(formatC(res.3$QE, digits=2, format="f")),
                        ", df = ", .(res.3$k - res.3$p),", p = ",
                        .(formatC(res.3$QEp, digits=2, format="f")), "; ", I^2, " = "
                        ,.(formatC(res.3$I2, digits=1, format="f")), "%)")))
text(-4, 26, pos=4, cex=0.75, bquote(paste("RE Model for Subgroup (Q =
",.(formatC(res.2$QE, digits=2, format="f")),
                         ", df = ", .(res.2$k - res.2$p),", p = ",
                        .(formatC(res.2$QEp, digits=2, format="f")), "; ", I^2, " = "
                        ..(formatC(res.2$I2, digits=1, format="f")), "%)")))
text(-4, 36, pos=4, cex=0.75, bquote(paste("RE Model for Subgroup (Q =
",.(formatC(res.1$QE, digits=2, format="f")),
                        ", df = ", .(res.1$k - res.1$p),", p = ",
                        .(formatC(res.1$QEp, digits=2, format="f")), "; ", I^2, " = "
                        ,.(formatC(res.1$I2, digits=1, format="f")), "%)")))
OSmodel.measure <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = full.first, mods = ~ X.M.E.-1)
summary(OSmodel.measure)
funnel(OS.model, level = c(90,95,99), shade = c("white", "grey55", "grey75"), refline = 0,
    xlab = "log(HR)", yaxis ="vinv")
regtest(OS.model)
# no possibility for publication bias
full.first$upperci <- full.first$Ln.HR.+1.96*sqrt(full.first$Vi.HR.)
full.first$lowerci <- full.first$Ln.HR.-1.96*sqrt(full.first$Vi.HR.)
full.first$outlier <- full.first$upperci < OS.model$ci.lb | full.first$lowerci > OS.model$ci.ub
full.first[full.first$outlier, c("Ln.HR.", "upperci", "lowerci")]
## Fixed effect-test
full.model.2 <- rma(LnHR, ViHR, data = BevaCT, method ="FE")
summary(full.model.2)
## forest plot
forest(full.model, annotate = TRUE, addfit = TRUE, slab = paste(BevaCT$Author,
BevaCT$year, sep = ","), atransf = exp,
    xlim = c(-4,6), cex = 0.9, ylim = c(-2, 9.5), efac = 0.4, yaxs = "i", order =
order(BevaCT$year), showweights = TRUE)
```

text(-4,8,"Author,Year",pos = 4) text(6,8, "Weight, HR [95% CI]", pos=2)

moderator analysis according to the trype of ES measurement model.mod.measure <- rma(LnHR, ViHR, data = BevaCT, mods = ~ M.E-1) summary(model.mod.measure)

assess the pooled estimate according to type of measurment
res.m <- rma(LnHR, ViHR, data = BevaCT, subset = (M.E == "M"))
predict(res.m, transf = exp)</pre>

res.e <- rma(LnHR, ViHR, data = BevaCT, subset = (M.E == "E"))
predict(res.e, transf = exp)</pre>

funnel plot for overall estimate

to test for publication bias, we can either do that by visually inspecting the funnel plot or by undertakin eagers test

regtest(full.model)

checking for outliers OS\$upperci <- OS\$Ln.HR.+1.96*sqrt(OS\$Vi.HR.) OS\$lowerci <- OS\$Ln.HR.-1.96*sqrt(OS\$Vi.HR.) OS\$outlier <- OS\$upperci < full.model\$ci.lb | OS\$lowerci > full.model\$ci.ub OS[OS\$outlier, c("Ln.HR.", "upperci", "lowerci")]

```
# plotting outliers
ggplot(data = OS, aes(x = Ln.HR., colour = outlier, fill = outlier))+
geom_histogram(alpha = .2) +
geom_vline(xintercept = full.model$b[1]) +
theme bw()
```

cooks distance to measure influential cases in the MA model
x <- cooks.distance(full.model)
plot(x, type = "o", pch = 19, ylab = "cooks distance")</pre>

BC <- read.csv("C:/Users/mhb19110/Desktop/Meta analysis/OS/BC.csv") BC\$year <- as.numeric(BC\$year) BC\$study_type <- as.factor(BC\$study_type) full <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = BC) predict(full, transf = exp) ## subgroup analysis according to regimen mod.regimen <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = BC, mods = ~ study_type-1) mod.regimen res.B <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = BC, subset = (study_type == "1")) ## pooled estimated
for beva group
res.c <- rma(Ln.HR., Vi.HR., data = BC, subset = (study_type == "2")) ## pooled estimate for
cetux subgroup</pre>

library(reshape2) library(dplyr) library(lubridate) library(survival)

1. demographics

cohort_colo <- read.csv("Cohort_Colorectal.csv", stringsAsFactors=FALSE)
names(cohort_colo)[names(cohort_colo) == "SafeHavenID"] <- "ID"</pre>

2-mCRC demographics
demo_colo <- read.csv(" 01_Demographics_Colorectal.csv", stringsAsFactors=FALSE)
demo <- subset(demo_colo, select=c(SafeHavenID, OBF_DOB, SEX, PCSECTOR,
SIMD_2012_QUINTILE, MARITAL_STATUS_DESC))
demo\$OBF_DOB <- as.Date(demo\$OBF_DOB, format = "%Y-%m-%d")
demo\$SEX <- as.factor(demo\$SEX)
names(demo)[1:6] <- c("ID", "DOB", "sex", "postcode", "simd5_2012", "marital_status")</pre>

death records from NRS
death_colo <- read.csv(" 02_Deaths_Colorectal.csv", stringsAsFactors=FALSE)
death <- subset(death_colo, select=c(SafeHavenID, DOD, COD, COD0, COD1, COD2, COD3,
COD4, COD5, COD6, COD7, COD8))
death\$DOD <- as.Date(death\$DOD, format = "%Y-%m-%d")
is.na(death[3:12]) <- death[3:12] == ""</pre>

names(death)[1:12] <- c("ID", "date_death", "cause_death", "other.COD1", "other.COD2", "other.COD3", "other.COD4", "other.COD5", "other.COD6", "other.COD7", "other.COD8", "other.COD9")

2. cancer registry

SMR6_colo <- read.csv(" 13_SMR06_Colorectal_WOS_GGC.csv", stringsAsFactors=FALSE) SMR6 <- subset(SMR6 colo, select=c(SafeHavenID, INCIDENCE DATE, ICD10S CANCER SITE, ICD10S CANCER SITE DESC, ICD02 ICD02, ICD02 ICD02 DESC, GRADE CELL TYPE, STAGE CLINICAL T, STAGE CLINICAL N, STAGE CLINICAL M, STAGE PATHOLOGIC T, STAGE PATHOLOGIC N, STAGE PATHOLOGIC M, STAGE COLORECTAL DESC, SURGERY, DATE 1ST SURGERY, REF TO RAD, TREATED WITH RAD, DATE 1ST RAD, CHEMO, DATE 1ST CHEMO, OTHER THERAPY, TYPE OTHER THERAPY, THERAPY OBJECTIVES DESC)) SMR6 <- as.data.frame(SMR6 %>% mutate at(vars(STAGE CLINICAL T, STAGE CLINICAL N, STAGE CLINICAL M, STAGE PATHOLOGIC T, STAGE PATHOLOGIC N, STAGE PATHOLOGIC M, STAGE COLORECTAL DESC, TYPE OTHER THERAPY, THERAPY OBJECTIVES DESC), list(as.factor))) SMR6 <- as.data.frame(SMR6 %>% mutate at(vars(INCIDENCE DATE, DATE 1ST SURGERY, DATE 1ST RAD, DATE 1ST CHEMO), list(ymd)))

is.na(SMR6[8:14]) <- SMR6[8:14] == ""
is.na(SMR6[23]) <- SMR6[23] == ""
SMR6\$TYPE_OTHER_THERAPY[SMR6\$TYPE_OTHER_THERAPY %in% c("Stent", "stent insert",
"STENT INSERT", "Stent insertion")] <- "stent"
SMR6\$TYPE_OTHER_THERAPY[SMR6\$TYPE_OTHER_THERAPY %in% c("enteric stent
insertion", "Enteric stent insertion", "Enteric stent insertion ")] <- "Enteric stent"
SMR6 = droplevels(SMR6)</pre>

```
levels(SMR6$stage_colo) = c("distant mets", "not known", "regional positive, apical
negative", "regional positive, apical positive", "tumour invasive, regional negative", "tumour
limited, regional negative")
```

levels(SMR6\$intent) = c("curative", "palliative", "not known")

SMR6 <- as.data.frame(SMR6 %>%

mutate(primary_site = case_when(ICDO2_desc == "Appendix" ~ "appendix", ICDO2_desc %in% c("Cecum", "Ascending colon", "Colon, NOS", "Descending colon", "Hepatic flexure of colon", "Overlapping lesion of colon", "Sigmoid colon", "Splenic flexure of colon",

"Transverse colon") ~ "colon", ICDO2 desc %in% c("Anal canal", "Overlapping lesion of

rectum, anus and anal canal", "Rectosigmoid junction", "Rectum, NOS") ~ "rectum", ICDO2_desc %in% c("Gastrointestinal tract, NOS", "Ileum", "Intestinal tract, NOS", "Liver", "Small intestine, NOS", "Stomach, NOS") ~ "other GI", ICDO2_desc == "Unknown primary site" ~ "unknown", TRUE ~ "other")))

SMR6_include <- as.data.frame(SMR6 %>% filter(primary_site %in% c("colon", "rectum", "unknown"))) SMR6_exclude <- as.data.frame(SMR6 %>% filter(primary_site %in% c("appendix", "other", "other GI"))) SMR6 <- SMR6[!duplicated(SMR6),] SMR6_base <- subset(SMR6, SMR6\$primary_site %in% c("colon", "rectum", "unknown"), select =c("ID", "date_inc", "ICD10", "ICD10_desc", "side", "primary_site")) SMR6_base <- SMR6_base[!duplicated(SMR6_base\$ID),]

SMR6_other.ID <- setdiff(cohort_colo\$ID, SMR6_base\$ID) SMR6_other <- subset(SMR6, ID %in% SMR6_other.ID, select=c("ID", "date_inc", "ICD10", "ICD02_desc", "primary_site", "side", "clin_T", "clin_N", "clin_M", "path_T", "path_N", "path_M", "stage_colo", "chemo", "date_chemo", "surgery", "date_surgery", "radio_treated", "date_radio")) SMR6_other <- SMR6_other[order(SMR6_other\$ID, SMR6_other\$date_inc),] SMR6_other <- subset(SMR6_other, SMR6_other\$primary_site != "other")</pre>

```
SMR6_base.all <- rbind(SMR6_base, SMR6_other)</pre>
```

```
# SMR6_OP <- subset(SMR6, select=c(ID, surgery, date_surgery, ICD10,ICDO2, ICDO2_desc))
```



```
# 8. baseline dataframe
cohortID <- unique(chemo base$ID)
demo sub <- subset(demo, ID %in% cohortID)</pre>
baseline <- merge(demo_sub, chemo_base, c("ID"), all=TRUE)</pre>
baseline$cycles.numbers <- ifelse(baseline$cycles < 5,1, ifelse(baseline$cycles >=5 &
baseline$cycles <10,2, ifelse(baseline$cycles >=10 & baseline$cycles <15,3, ifelse
(baseline$cycles >=15 & baseline$cycles <20,4, ifelse(baseline$cycles >=20,5,NA)))))
baseline <- as.data.frame(baseline %>%
               mutate(REG3 = case when(treat == "AFLIB" ~ "AFLIB",
                            treat %in% c("RALTITREXED", "CAP5FU MONO") ~ "CAP5FU
MONO",
                            treat %in% c("CET FOLFOX", "CET FOLFIRI") ~ "CET FOLFIRI",
                            treat == "CETUX" ~ "CETUX",
                            treat %in% c ("FOLFIRI", "IRINOTECAN") ~ "FOLFIRI",
                            treat == "XFOX" ~ "XFOX",
                            treat == "FOLFOXIRI" ~ "FOLFOXIRI")))
                                  treat %in% c("AFLIB", "CET FOLFIRI", "CET FOLFOX",
"FOLFOXIRI") ~ "triplet")))
```

surgery_sub <- subset(surgery.all.new, ID %in% cohortID, select=c(ID, date_OP.OPERA, OPCS4.OPERA, site.OPERA, site.OPERA, date_OP.SMR1, OPCS4.SMR1, site.SMR1)) baseline <- merge(baseline, surgery_sub, c("ID"), all=TRUE)</pre> baseline\$surgery <- ifelse(baseline\$site.OPERA %in% c("abdomen", "colon", "hemicolon", "liver", "other", "rectum","sigmoid colon") | baseline\$site.SMR1 %in% c("abdomen", "colon", "hemicolon", "liver", "other", "rectum","sigmoid colon"),1,0)

```
SMR6_base_sub <- subset(SMR6_base, ID %in% cohortID)
## delete the first observation for patient 549 (duplicated, second record relevant to CC and
OPERA)
SMR6_base_sub <- SMR6_base_sub[-c(260),]
SMR6_base_sub <- SMR6_base_sub[!duplicated(SMR6_base_sub$ID),]
### primary site from OPERA or death records for 400,466 and 641. for 433 and 665 primary
site from SMR1 - C19</pre>
```

```
baseline <- merge(baseline, SMR6_base_sub, c("ID"), all=TRUE)
baseline <- merge(baseline, ECOG.PS, c("ID"), all=TRUE)
dod_sub <- subset(death, ID %in% cohortID, select=c(ID, date_death))
baseline <- merge(baseline, dod_sub, c("ID"), all=TRUE)</pre>
```

```
lab_sub <- subset(lab, ID %in% cohortID)
baseline <- merge(baseline, lab_sub, c("ID"), all=TRUE)
baseline <- as.data.frame(baseline %>%
baseline$NLR <- ifelse(baseline$value_neu / baseline$value_lym < 5, 0, 1)
baseline$CEA <- ifelse(baseline$value_CEA <= 4.9, 0, 1)
baseline$hemoglobin <- ifelse(baseline$sex == "F" & baseline$value_Haemoglobin > 115 &
baseline$value_Haemoglobin <= 165, 0, ifelse(baseline$sex == "M" &
baseline$value_Haemoglobin > 130 & baseline$value_Haemoglobin <= 180, 0,1))</pre>
```

```
mutation type == "failed analysis" ~ "")))
```

```
baseline$mutation_type [baseline$mutation_type == ""] <- NA</pre>
```

baseline <- as.data.frame(baseline %>%

```
mutate(PS2 = case_when(PS2 == "0" ~ "0",
PS2== "1" ~ "1",
PS2 %in% c("2", "3") ~ "2+")))
prevalent <- unique(prior2015$ID)
```

```
baseline.prevelant <- subset(baseline, ID %in% baseline.prevelant)
```

baseline.incident <- subset(baseline, !ID %in% baseline.incident)</pre>

baseline.incident\$cond <- "incident"

```
baseline.prevelant$cond <- "prevelant"
```

cond <- c("cond")

```
baseline[cond] <- lapply(cond, function (x) baseline.prevelant[[x]][match(baseline$ID,</pre>
```

baseline.prevelant\$ID)])

```
baseline$cond[is.na(baseline$cond)] <- "incident"</pre>
```

Multinomial logstic regression analysis (chapter 5)

```
library(nnet)
library(mlogit)
library(withr)
library(mice)
t est<- subset(reg new, select =
            c("treat", "REG3", "sex", "age", "simd5 2012", "charlson2",
             "PS2", "mutation_type", "primary_site.y", "surg"))
reg new$REG3 <- as.factor(reg new$REG3)</pre>
reg new$sex <- as.factor(reg new$sex)</pre>
uni age <- multinom(REG3 ~ age, data= reg_new, model = TRUE)
summary(uni age)
exp(coef(uni age))
# imputation
imp method = make.method(reg1)
predM = make.predictorMatrix(reg1)
predM[, "ID"] <- 0
imp_method[c("PS2")]<- "polyreg"</pre>
imp method[c("mutation type")] <- "polyreg"</pre>
imp_method[c("simd5_2012")] <- "polyreg"</pre>
imp method[c("charlson2")] <- "polyreg"</pre>
imp method[c("primary site.y")] <- "pol"</pre>
imp_method[c("REG3")] <- ""</pre>
imp method[c("age")] <- ""</pre>
imp method[c("sex")] <- ""</pre>
imp method[c("surg")] <- ""</pre>
imp_method[c("cond")] <- ""</pre>
imputed <- mice(reg1, method = imp_method, predictorMatrix = predM, m = 5, print =
FALSE)
imp sing2 <- complete(reg single2)</pre>
imp sing2$REG3 <- relevel(imp sing2$REG3, ref = "XFOX")</pre>
imp sing2sex <- relevel(imp sing2<math>sex, ref = "M")
imp sing2$mutation type <- relevel(imp sing2$mutation type, ref = "wild RAS")
imp sing2$charlson2 <- as.factor(imp sing2$charlson2)</pre>
imp sing2$simd5 2012 <- as.factor(imp sing2$simd5 2012)</pre>
imp_back<- multinom(REG3 ~. - simd5_2012 - charlson2 - PS2, data= imp_sing2, model =</pre>
TRUE)
summary(imp back)
```

```
exp(coef(imp_back))
```

```
exp(confint(imp_back))
```

z multiple imputed <summary(imp back)\$coefficients/summary(imp back)\$standard.errors p_back <- (1- pnorm(abs(z_multiple_imputed),0,1))*2</pre> p_back imp back age <- multinom(REG3 ~. -age , data= imp sing2, model = TRUE) anova(imp_back, imp_back_age) imp_multiple <- mice(reg1, m=5, method = "polyreg", maxit = 20)</pre> data multiple <- complete(imp multiple, "repeated", include = TRUE) data multiple1 <- data.frame(data multiple[, 1:6], data[, 2:5]) reg simd <- subset(reg, simd5 2012 %in% c("1", "2", "3", "4", "5")) reg mutation <- subset(reg simd, mutation type %in% c("wild RAS", "mutant BRAF", "mutant RAS")) reg PS reduced model <- subset(reg, select = c("ID", "REG3", "sex", "age", "mutation type", "surg", "cond")) reg\$REG1 <- as.factor(reg\$REG1)</pre> reg\$sex <- as.character(reg\$sex)</pre> reg[is.na(reg\$sex),"sex"] <- "unknown"</pre> reg\$sex <- as.factor(reg\$sex)</pre> table(reg\$simd5 2012,exclude = NULL) reg\$simd5 2012 <- as.character(reg\$simd5 2012)</pre> reg[is.na(reg\$simd5 2012),"simd5 2012"] <- "unknown" reg\$simd5 2012 <- as.factor(reg\$simd5 2012)</pre> back sex multi <- multinom(REG3 ~ age+ simd5 2012+charlson2+PS2+surg+ mutation type + primary site.y, data= reg, model = TRUE) summary(back sex multi) z_back_sex <summary(back sex multi)\$coefficients/summary(back sex multi)\$standard.errors p back sex <- (1- pnorm(abs(z back sex),0,1))*2</pre> p back sex anova(back multi, back sex multi) ##IIA test mydata <- mlogit.data(reg, choice = "REG3", shape = "wide") mlogit.model <- mlogit(REG3 ~1, data = mydata, reflevel = "XFOX") m1 <- mlogit(REG3~1, data = mydata, reflevel = "XFOX") m2 <- mlogit(REG3~1, data = mydata, reflevel = "XFOX", alt.subset = c("XFOX", "AFLIB", "CET FOLFIRI", "FOLFIRI")) hmftest(m1,m2) table(reg\$re)

```
## reduced model
red mo <- multinom(REG3 ~1 , data= reduced model, model = TRUE)
summary(red mo)
exp(coef(red mo))
z red <- summary(red mo)$coefficients/summary(red mo)$standard.errors
z red
p_red <- (1- pnorm(abs(z_red),0,1))*2
p red
red mo1 <- multinom(REG3 ~sex , data= reduced model, model = TRUE)
summary(red mo1)
exp(coef(red mo1))
z red1 <- summary(red mo1)$coefficients/summary(red mo1)$standard.errors
z red1
p red1 <- (1- pnorm(abs(z red1),0,1))*2
p red1
anova(red mo1, red mo)
imp_model <- multinom(REG3 ~sex +age+ mutation_type +surg+ cond , data= imp_sing,
model = TRUE)
summary(imp model)
exp(coef(imp_model))
z_imp <- summary(imp_model)$coefficients/summary(imp_model)$standard.errors
z imp
p_imp <- (1- pnorm(abs(z_imp),0,1))*2
p_imp
#collinearity_test
#assume the dependent variable as contineous - concert to dummy variable- run linear
logistic model then variance inflation factor
impute3 <- as.data.frame(impute3 %>% mutate(REG4 =case when(REG3 == "CAP5FU
MONO" ~ 1,
                               REG3 == "XFOX" ~ 2,
                               REG3 == "FOLFIRI" ~ 3,
                               REG3 == "AFLIB" \sim 4,
                               REG3 == "CET FOLFIRI" ~ 5)))
linear <- lm(REG4~ sex+ age+ surg+ mutation type , data = impute3)
car::vif(linear)
reg2 <- as.data.frame(reg2 %>% mutate(REG4 =case when(REG3 == "CAP5FU MONO" ~ 1,
                               REG3 == "XFOX" ~ 2,
                               REG3 == "FOLFIRI" ~ 3,
                               REG3 == "AFLIB" ~ 4 ,
                               REG3 == "CET FOLFIRI" ~ 5)))
full <- Im(REG4~ surg+ mutation type*sex+ primary site.y+cond + age* PS2, data = reg2)
car::vif(full)
```

. .

listwise deletion

```
GVIF Df GVIF^{(1/(2*Df))}
        1.024345 1
                       1.012099
sex
age
        1.026870 1
                       1.013346
         1.066220 1
                       1.032579
surg
mutation type 1.090852 2
                             1.021978
original
GVIF Df GVIF^{(1/(2*Df))}
sex
         1.033461 1
                       1.016593
         1.062238 1
                        1.030649
age
         1.210202 1
                        1.100092
surg
mutation type 1.297364 3
                             1.044344
primary site.y 1.046394 2
                            1.011402
```

####Sankey

library(dplyr)
library(networkD3)
Sankey_inc <-subset (CC2.rec_red2, ID %in% SACTID) ### obtain the DF
S <- dcast(Sankey_inc, ID ~ number_regimen, value.var= "treat"). ### convert long format
to wide format
names(S) [2:4] <- c("t1", "t2", "t3"). ## change the names of the variables
S <- S[order(S\$t1,S\$t2,S\$t3),]</pre>

S <- as.data.frame(S %>% group_by(t1,t2) %>% mutate(seq1=1:n())) ### grouping similar
pathways for treatment 1 and treatment 2
S <- as.data.frame(S %>% group_by(t1,t2) %>% filter(seq1 == max(seq1))) ### grouping
similar pathways for treatment 1 and treatment 2 and take the maximum number
S <- as.data.frame(S %>% group_by(t1,t2,t3) %>% mutate(seq2=1:n())) ### grouping similar
pathways for treatment 1 and treatment 2 and 3 and take the maximum number

links\$source <- match(links\$source, nodes\$\$) - 1
links\$target <- match(links\$target, nodes\$S) - 1
sankeyNetwork(Links = links, Nodes = nodes, Source = 'source', Target = 'target', Value =
'value', NodeID = 'S', fontSize = 12, nodeWidth = 20, sinksRight = FALSE)</pre>

saveWidget(p, file = "U:.html", selfcontained = FALSE)

library(survival) library(ggplot2) library(coxphf) library(survminer)

```
base2 <- subset(baseline, select=c(ID, DOB, sex, treat, start, stop, date death, simd5 2012,
age.group, age.group1,
                   REG1, REG2, REG3, surgery, primary_site, side, mutation_type,
other.cancer, years.since.diag, PS2, mGPS, NLR,
                   CEA, hemoglobin, SIS, charlson.x, charlson.2, NSAID_use, PPI_use,
statin use, antiplatelets use, antihyper use
                   , treatment.number.new, charlson2))
baseline <- subset(baseline, !is.na(baseline$start))</pre>
baseline$date_death[is.na(baseline$date_death)] <- as.Date("2018-02-28")
baseline$date death[baseline$date death > "2018-02-28"] <- as.Date("2018-02-28")
baseline$time death <- as.numeric(baseline$date death - baseline$start)/30.4
baseline$event <- ifelse(baseline$date death == "2018-02-28", 0, 1)</pre>
OS <- Surv(baseline$time_death, baseline$event)
summary(survfit(OS~1, baseline))
#################
OS<-Surv(baseline$time death, baseline$event)
```

summary(survfit(OS~1, baseline))
survfit(OS~1, baseline)
##follow up
summary(baseline\$time_death)
##reverse KM for follow up
baseline\$event2<-ifelse(baseline\$event==0,1,0)
FU<-Surv(baseline\$time_death, baseline\$event2)
summary(survfit(FU~1, baseline))</pre>

```
F <- survfit(FU~1, baseline)
summary(FU)
plot(survfit(FU~1,data = baseline), mark.time = TRUE, main= "Overall Survival (n=68)", xlab =
"months", ylab = "proportion survived")
survfit(FU~1,baseline)
```


summary(OS)
survfit(OS ~ 1, baseline)
survfit(OS ~ treat, baseline)
survfit(OS ~ REG1, baseline)
)
survfit(OS ~ cond, baseline)

```
v.cox <- coxph(OS~REG3, data = baseline)
summary(v.cox)
cox.zph(v.cox)</pre>
```

```
plot(survfit(OS~1,data = baseline), mark.time = TRUE, main= "Overall Survival (n=287)", xlab
= "months", ylab = "proportion survived")
survfit(OS~REG1, baseline)
abline(h=0.5,col="red",lty=2)
```

```
plot(survfit(OS~REG1,data = baseline), mark.time = TRUE, main= "Overall Survival (by intial treatment) (n=287)", xlab = "time in months", ylab = "proportion survived", col = 1:3) legend("topright", legend = unique(base2$REG1), lty = 1,col = 1:3, cex = 0.5) abline(h=0.5,col="red",lty=2) legend("topright",levels(baseline$REG1),lty=1,col = 1:7,cex=0.8)
```

```
plot(survfit(OS~REG3,data = baseline), mark.time = TRUE, main= "Overall Survival (by intial treatment) (n=287)", xlab = "months", ylab = "proportion survived", col = 1:3) legend("topright", legend = unique(baseline$REG3), lty = 1,col = 1:3, cex = 0.5) abline(h=0.5,col="red",lty=2)
```

```
plot(survfit(OS~REG2,data = baseline), mark.time = TRUE, main= "Overall Survival (by intial treatment) (n=297)", xlab = "months", ylab = "proportion survived", col = 1:3) legend("topright", legend = unique(base2$REG3), lty = 1,col = 1:3, cex = 0.5) abline(h=0.5,col="red",lty=2)
```

```
z.var <- c("sex", "simd5_2012", "age.group", "primary_site", "side", "mutation_type", "PS2",
"mGPS", "NLR", "CEA", "hemoglobin", "charlson2", "surgery")
for(i in 1:length(z.var)){z.cox <- coxph(OS~get(z.var[i]),z)
z.cox <- summary(z.cox)
sf <- summary(survfit(OS~get(z.var[i]),z))</pre>
```

```
dimnames(z.rr)[[1]] <- 1:nrow(z.rr)
z.rr$mediansurvCl <- paste(z.rr$medianSurv, "(" ,z.rr$medianSurvLower, "-",
z.rr$medianSurvUpper, ")",sep="")</pre>
```